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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Reportgrtains forward-looking statements. These forwaiking statements include,
without limitation, predictions regarding the follong aspects of our future:

* Success in the markets of our products and sereicear customers' produc

» Sources of competitio

« Research and development costs and improvemetgstinology

* Sources, amounts and concentration of revenueidimg royalties

* Success in signing and renewing license agreen

e Technology product developme

» Outcome and effect of current and potential futotellectual property litigation and other signéitt litigation
« Dispositions, acquisitions, mergers or strategiogactions and our related integration eff
« Impairment of goodwill and lonljved asset:

» Pricing policies of our custome

« Changes in our strategy and business m

« Deterioration of financial health of commercial oterparties and their ability to meet their obligas to us
» Engineering, marketing and general and adminisinaixpense

¢ Contract revenu

e Operating result

« International licenses and operatic

» Effects of changes in the economy and credit mavketur industry and busine
< Ability to identify, attract, motivate and retaingified personne

e Growth in our busines

* Methods, estimates and judgments in accountingips

< Adoption of new accounting pronounceme

« Effective tax rate:

» Realization of deferred tax assets/release of oefeax valuation allowanc

e Trading price of our common sto

¢ Internal control environmet

» Corporate governanc

e The level and terms of our outstanding d

* Resolution of the governmental agency matters inmglus

 Litigation expense

« Protection of intellectual proper

» Terms of our licenses and amounts owed under kcagssement

« Indemnification and technical support obligatic

« Refinancing deb
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« Issuances of our securities, which could invohadrietive covenants or be dilutive to our existstgckholders; ar
« Likelihood of paying dividends or repurchasing séas.

You can identify these and other forward-lookingtesments by the use of words such as “may,” “fytushall,” “should,” “expects,”
“plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” fgdicts,” “intends,” “potential,” “continue,” “pr@jcting” or the negative of such terms, or othe
comparable terminology. Forward-looking statemaihgs include the assumptions underlying or relatingny of the foregoing statements.

” w

Actual results could differ materially from thosetiaipated in these forwaridoking statements as a result of various faciaduding thos:
set forth under Iltem 1A, “Risk Factors.” All forwdktooking statements included in this documentta®ed on our assessment of information
available to us at this time. We assume no obbgatib update any forward-looking statements.
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Rambus, RDRAM™, XDR™  FlexlO™, FlexPhasé", R+™ CryptoFirewal™, Imerz™, and MicroLen$ are trademarks, registered
trademarks or copyrights of Rambus Inc. Other traat&s or copyrights that may be mentioned in thisual report on Form 10-K are the

property of their respective owners.

Industry terminology, used widely throughout thisaal report, has been abbreviated and, as swege #bbreviations are defined below

your convenience

Differential Power Analysis

Double Data Rate

Dynamic Random Access Memory

Field Programmable Gate Arrays

Graphics Double Data Rate

High Definition Television

Input/Output

Light Emitting Diodes

Liquid Crystal Display

Low-Power Double Data Rate

Peripheral Component Interconnect
Rambus Dynamic Random Access Memory
Simple Power Analysis

Single Data Rate

Synchronous Dynamic Random Access Memory
eXtreme Data Rate

DPA
DDR
DRAM
FPGA
GDDR
HDTV
I/0

LED
LCD
LPDDR
PCI
RDRAM ™
SPA
SDR
SDRAM
XDR ™
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On occasion we will refer to the abbreviated naofe=ertain entities and, as such, have provideliat ¢o indicate the full names of those

entities for your convenience.

Advanced Micro Devices Inc.
Broadcom Corporation

Cooper Lighting, LLC
Cryptography Research, Inc.
Elpida Memory, Inc.

Freescale Semiconductor Inc.
Fujitsu Limited

General Electric Company
Hewlett-Packard Company
Infineon Technologies AG
Inotera Memories, Inc.

Intel Corporation

International Business Machines Corporation
Joint Electronic Device Engineering Councils
Lighting and Display Technology
LSI Corporation

MediaTek Inc.

Memory and Interfaces Division
Micron Technology, Inc.

Mobile Technology Division
Nanya Technology Corporation
NVIDIA Corporation

Qimonda AG (formerly Infineon’s DRAM operations)

Panasonic Corporation
Renesas Electronics
Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd.
SK hynix, Inc.

Sony Computer Electronics
ST Microelectronics N.V.
Toshiba Corporation

AMD

Broadcom
Cooper Lighting
CRI

Elpida
Freescale
Fujitsu

GE
Hewlett-Packard
Infineon
Inotera

Intel

IBM

JEDEC

LDT

LSI

MediaTek

MID

Micron

MTD

Nanya

NVIDIA
Qimonda
Panasonic
Renesas
Samsung

SK hynix

Sony
STMicroelectronics
Toshiba
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Iltem 1. Business

Rambus Inc., referred to as we, us or Rambus, swawded in 1990 and reincorporated in Delaware inckd997. Our principal executive
offices are located at 1050 Enterprise Way, SW& Bunnyvale, California. Our website is www.ramsisom. You can obtain copies of our
Forms 10-K, 10-Q, 8-K, and other filings with thE@, and all amendments to these filings, free afgh, from our website as soon as
reasonably practicable following our filing of aafthese reports with the SEC. In addition, you megd and copy any material we file with
the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 1%t0elet NE, Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. iawy obtain information on the
operation of the Public Reference Room by callimg$EC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintaivesbaite that contains reports, proxy,
and information statements, and other informategarding registrants that file electronically witle SEC at www.sec.gov.

We are an innovative technology solutions compaay Ibrings invention to market. Our customers lagerour customizable platforms,
services and tools to improve, differentiate anckfarate the development of products and servi@esextensive technology portfolio
addresses the evolving power, performance andigecequirements of the mobile, cloud computing andnected device markets. Today,
we’'re driving innovations in smart memory, chiparfaces and architectures, end-to-end securityadadnced LED lighting, while Rambus
Labs looks to disruptions and opportunities in tomw’s high-growth markets. We generate revenuéd@nsing our inventions and solutions
and providing services to market-leading companies.

While we have historically focused our efforts be development of technologies for electronics nrgraad chip interfaces, we have been
expanding our portfolio of inventions and solutidosddress additional markets in chip and sysesuarity as well as LED-based lighting. We
also are exploring new areas within the semicorafigfiace such as computational sensing and imagiadgntend to continue to identify
disruptions and opportunities in both traditionadlanew technology fields, consistent with our gefatreating great value through our
innovations and to make those technologies availdisbugh both our licensing and non-licensing hes$ models. Key to our efforts, both in
our current businesses and in any new area ofstiigation, will be hiring and retaining world-clfventors, scientists and engineers to lead
the development of inventions and technology sohgifor these fields of focus, and the managemahbasiness support personnel necessat
to execute our plans and strategies.

Rambus has four main operational units: (1) Menaod Interfaces Division, or MID, which focuses e tlesign, development and
licensing of technology that is related to memanry @nterfaces; (2) Cryptography Research, IncCRI, which focuses on the design,
development and licensing of technologies for @nd system security and anti-counterfeiting; (jhting and Display Technologies, or LDT,
which focuses on the design, development and lingrsf technologies for lighting; and (4) Chief Tewlogy Office, or CTO, which focuses
on the design, development and productization arging technologies.

Our inventions and technology solutions are offécedur customers through either a patent licemseswlutions license. Royalties from
licenses accounted for 97%, 99% and 96% of ouralm@ed revenue for the years ended December®13,2012 and 2011, respectively.
Today, a majority of our revenues are derived fgatent licenses, through which we provide our qusits a license to use a certain portion o
our broad portfolio of patented inventions. Thefise provides our customers with a defined righiseour innovations in the customer's own
digital electronics products, systems or serviassapplicable. The licenses may also define theifapéeld of use where our customers may
use or employ our inventions in their products elnise agreements are structured with fixed, variabéehybrid of fixed and variable royalty
payments over certain defined periods ranging forouten years. The majority of our intellectuadperty in MID was developed in-house and
we intend to expand our business strategy of mzingtour MID intellectual property to include thale of select intellectual property. In 2013,
we signed patent license agreements with custofoeeggregate revenues of up to $1.2 billion, tghil over the next ten years.

While patent licensing makes up the majority of mwenue today, our goal is to migrate more ofeftorts toward providing solutions
licenses where our technologies are incorporatedanr customers’ products and/or systems. Outtisaisi licenses are designed to support th
implementation and adoption of our technology imiiw customers’ products or services. As part afehafferings, we can provide a range of
services that can include access to technical emaivanced system design and analysis, hardwdrsaitware to enhance design and
validation, system IP and specifications, and mecmecific hard and soft macros, along with osieevices. These solutions license
agreements may have both a fixed price (non-rewgirgomponent and ongoing royalties. Further, usadgrtions licenses, our customers
typically receive licenses to our patents necestaipplement these solutions in their producthwsipecific rights and restrictions to the
applicable patents elaborated in their individuaiteacts with us.

Background




The demand for increased performance and improweapefficiency in computers, tablets, smartphoneasumer electronics and other
electronic systems rises dramatically with eaclsipgsyear. Semiconductor and system designerskiacehallenges in sustaining this pace of
innovation. We strive to offer compelling techndkgythat provide value to our customers. A key congmt of our current business model is
intellectual property licensing. Our intellectuabperty broadly includes (but is not limited to)rdaechnologies, solutions, and patents that
incorporate our innovations. We focus on intellatfroperty that has the potential to enable fuhigh-volume, mass-market platforms.

Memory and Interfaces

There are three main areas of focus in our Memnodylaterface Division: mobile memory, server memanyg links, and custom solutions.
The main markets for these memory types include ongfDRAM today, NAND in the future), System-on-du@ (SoCs) that connect to
memory (DRAM controllers), and SoCs that use hégked serial link interfaces. Since battery teahgoimproves modestly over time, mot
device designers face adding increased functignafitl higher performance with only small increasgsower budget. For plug-in systems,
there is a strong desire to reduce power consumfidioboth economic and environmental reasons vhilleproviding increased computing
capability and more visually compelling displays.the chip level, it becomes increasingly diffictdtmaintain signal integrity and power
efficiency as data transfer speeds rise to supporé powerful, multi-core processors.

To address these challenges and enable the comiimpeovement of electronics systems, ongoing imiown is required. The many
contributions and patented innovations developeRdmybus scientists and engineers have been, atidwto be, critical in addressing some
of the most difficult chip and system challenges.riaximize the value of our intellectual propewtig have adopted a licensing strategy that
takes advantage of the adoption life cycle of neshhologies. During early adoption, we enable aigtamers to utilize our innovations
through technology solutions that offer value ilglaand/or emerging markets. Working with industgders positions our inventions for brt
market adoption. As our innovations reach broagtdn, we also pursue patent licensing to monetipelucts not covered by our solutions
licenses.

We have developed technologies, advanced desigdsievelopment tools for building high-performaace low-power memory and
serial-link interface cores for semiconductor chiye develop both proprietary and industry-standatetfaces that we provide to our
customers under solutions license agreements. $éeoffler a range of services as part of our salgticenses which can include know-how
and technology transfer, product design and dewedop, system integration, and other services. iB2®e introduced a set of solutions unde
the name R+ enhanced standard solutions. Fully compatible imitlustry standards, R+ solutions offer compelliegéfits that enable our
customers to differentiate their products. Als@@13, we announced the first R+ solution, the RDDR3 memory architecture. The R+
LPDDR3 architecture includes improvements to pogfiiciency and performance that enable longer batife and enhanced mobile device
functionality for streaming HD video, gaming andadamtensive applications. We continue to focus sigaiit resources and effort to help br
products to market under solutions license agreesmeith leading companies in the industry.

Chip and System Security Technology

Security challenges are increasingly prevalentimutitude of industries, including high-growth s&s such as mobile and content
distribution, providing a variety of opportunitiés our hardware-based security technologies andcss. This market trend provides us with
the opportunity to provide critical technologieadave are deploying and developing products to lenabto achieve this objective. Through
CRI, we own a portfolio of patented inventions &chnology solutions that are needed for creatiogii®e tamper-resistant electronic devices
and systems. CRI's patented DPA countermeasuresitizal in protecting devices against side chadiattacks such as differential power
analysis, which involve monitoring the variationspower consumption or electromagnetic emissiorsddvice. In addition, CRI's
CryptoFirewall™ cores provide a robust hardwareeblasolution to protect electronics systems frorntereiting, piracy, and other attacks.
We believe the hardware based security that cachieved with our technologies is vastly supemominy software-based security solutions.

For DPA countermeasures, our business model isoidde a combination of patent licenses, technalaegysulting services (training,
evaluation, and design), and test equipment. Weeaagnized worldwide for our expertise in thisaarand our strategy is to strengthen our
offering beyond stand-alone patent licensing. e alrered the existence of SPA and DPA vulneradsliin the 1990s, and patented the
fundamental techniques for preventing againstrtteshod of attack. DPA protections are a criticalusity ingredient in tamper-resistant
products, and are important or required for a braage of applications and devices (including sroartls, mobile devices, FPGAs,
government/defense applications, consumer setdgpd) postage meters and security tokens).

In addition to the DPA countermeasures portfolie,lvave developed technologies, expertise, advatesigns, and development tools for
building highly secure cryptographic semiconductmres. We provide semiconductor cores under ouptGRrrewall™ brand. We have
successfully deployed these cores in two primapliegtion areas where effective security is




valued and paid for by customers: content protaciod antieounterfeiting. For CryptoFirewall™ cores, our mostnmon business model is
partner with chip manufacturers to integrate ouht®logy, and then license it to downstream custeme

Lighting and Display Technolog

The continued evolution of LED as a bright, rel@abhd energy-efficient light source creates sigaift market opportunities in consumer
electronics and in general lighting. Harnessingltbeefits of LEDs, however, presents a new sehafl@enges for companies that offer and
provide electronics and lighting products and sohd. Our technology allows customers to efficigathd uniformly spread the point source of
light emitted from an LED over a large area in eyvepst effective way. Moreover, we can control airéct the emitted light to improve the
overall product performance or application efficgnThis technology enables class-leading pricédperance and freedom of design in the
general lighting field. We believe our patentechtemogy, software and know-how, which enables peplacement of MicroLens® optics on
light guides, provides our customers with a fundatalecompetitive advantage over alternative proslutthe market. We continue to focus
resources and effort to help our customers brivg pr@ducts to market under solutions license agezgsn Our business model is a blend of
patent and technology licensing, product salessandces to help bring innovative products to marke

Design and Manufacturing

Our technology solutions are developed with highuwree commercial manufacturing processes in mind.gdlutions can be delivered in a
number of ways, from reference designs to full kesncustom development deliverables. A referensigdeengagement might include an
architectural specification, data sheet, theorgpsration and implementation guides. A custom dgpraknt project would entail a specific
design implementation optimized for the custommi@nufacturing process. In some cases, we may @augply chain enablement services
where we assist our customers in designing antbledtang certain manufacturing processes to implamer technologies in their product
offerings. We often develop testchips of our designd, in some cases, may deliver our solutiotisetanarket through physical product.

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to evolve from providing primanigtent licenses to providing additional technolqgyducts and services while creating
and leveraging strategic synergies to increasea/é/Ne believe that the successful executionisfstinategy requires an exceptional busines:
model that relies on the skills and talent of cmpéoyees. Accordingly, we seek to hire and retadmlgivclass scientific and engineering
expertise in all of our fields of technological s as well as the executive management and apgiagrsonnel required to successfully
execute our business strategy. In order to atthectjuality of employees required for this businesslel, we have created an environment anc
culture that encourages, fosters and supportsn@dseadevelopment and innovation in breakthroughretogies with significant opportunities
for broad industry adoption. We believe we havatae a compelling company for inventors and innongatvho are able to work within a
business model and platform that focuses on teclygalevelopment to drive strong future growth.

Research and Development and Employees

Our ability to compete in the future will be sulgtally dependent on our ability to develop keyamations that meet the future needs of a
dynamic market. To this end, we have assembledra & highly skilled inventors, engineers and sii# whose activities are focused on
continually developing new innovations within otrosen technology fields. Using this foundationrofdvations, our technical teams develop
new solutions that enable increased performaneatgr power efficiency, increased levels of seguais well as other improvements and
benefits. Our solution design and development m®cea multi-disciplinary effort requiring expssgiin multiple fields across all of our
operational units.

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately 30pleyees in our engineering departments, reprasgapproximately 70 % of our
total number of 447 employees. None of our emplsye covered by collective bargaining agreemégsioted, we believe our future
success is dependent on our continued abilityantify, attract, motivate and retain qualified pemsel. To date, we believe that we have beer
successful in recruiting qualified employees arat thur relationship with our employees is good.

A significant number of our scientists and engisesgrend all or a portion of their time on reseancti development. For the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, research antbgevent expenses were $118.0 million, $140.5 nmlkod $115.7 million, respectively,
including stock-based compensation of approximekély million, $9.5 million and $10.5 million, resgtively. For the years ended December
31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, research and developemeenses also included $8.6 million, $20.5 milléord $15.7 million, respectively, for the
accrual of retention bonuses for engineers. Simgewvation is critical to our future success, weestfo continue to invest substantial funds in
research and development activities. In additi@eabise our customer agreements often call for peotade engineering support, a portion of
our total engineering costs are allocated to tls abcontract revenue.




Competition

Our selected industries are intensely competithetlzave been impacted by price erosion, rapid tdolgical change, short product life
cycles, cyclical market patterns and increasingifpr and domestic competition. We face competifiom semiconductor and digital
electronics products and systems companies, ogineicenductor intellectual property companies thavje security cores and non-edge lit
LED lighting options that are available to the n&trk

We believe the principal competition for our teclugies may come from our prospective customersgsofwvhom are evaluating and
developing products based on technologies thatdbatend or may contend will not require a licefisen us. Some of our competitors use a
system-level design approach similar to ours, uiclg activities such as board and package des@mmepand signal integrity analysis, and
thermal management. Many of these companies agerland may have better access to financial, teahand other resources than we pos

To the extent that alternatives might provide corapke system performance at lower than or simibest to our technologies, or are
perceived to require the payment of no or loweatdys, or to the extent other factors influenaeitidustry, our customers and prospective
customers may adopt and promote alternative teobied. Even to the extent we determine that suehnative technologies infringe our
patents, there can be no assurance that we woultlbé¢o negotiate agreements that would resutiyalties being paid to us without litigatic
which could be costly and the results of which vaddog uncertain. In the past, litigation has beeahiarnhe future may be required to enforce
and protect our intellectual property rights, adlae the substantial investments undertaken teareti and develop our innovations and
technologies.

In 2013, we continued our recent focus of puttiegibd us years of legal disputes with competitoid @pening doors for future
cooperation. In 2013, we settled all outstanditigdtion with LSI, Micron, SK hynix, and STMicroagonics, and we entered into license
agreements with each of them, and we renewed agrtlerm license agreement with Samsung.  Weirectanmitted to developing
innovative technology and furthering a more opefiaborative relationship with the broader industry

Patents and Intellectual Property Protection

We maintain and support an active program to ptatecintellectual property, primarily through tfiking of patent applications and the
defense of issued patents against infringementfAecember 31, 2013, our semiconductor, lightsegurity and other technologies are
covered by 1,837 U.S. and foreign patents, havkpiy&tion dates ranging from 2014 to 2037. Additityy, we have 837 patent applications
pending. Some of the patents and pending patetitappns are derived from a common parent patpptieation or are foreign counterpart
patent applications. We believe our patented intiona provide our customers with the ability to i@ele improved performance, lower risk,
greater cost-effectiveness and other benefitsain iroducts and services.

We have a program to file applications for and wbpeatents in the United States and in selectegldarcountries where we believe filing
for such protection is appropriate and would furiwer overall business strategy and objectivesolme instances, obtaining appropriate level
of protection may involve prosecuting continuatéord counterpart patent applications based on a conparent application. In addition, we
attempt to protect our trade secrets and otherjgtapy information through agreements with currmdl prospective customers, and
confidentiality agreements with employees and chasts and other security measures. We also relyaslemarks and trade secret laws to
protect our intellectual property.

Information concerning revenue, results of operetiand revenue by geographic area is set fortieim 6, “Selected Financial Data,” in
Item 7, “Management's Discussion and Analysis ofRtial Condition and Results of Operations,” anblote 7, “Segments and Major
Customers,” of Notes to Consolidated Financialeédtesnts of this Form 10-K, all of which are incomued herein by reference. Information
concerning identifiable assets and segment regpidialso set forth in Note 7, “Segments and M@jostomers,” of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements of this Form KOinformation on customers that comprise 10% oreraf our consolidated revenue and risks attentie
our foreign operations is set forth below in Itef 1Risk Factors”

Our Executive Officers

Information regarding our executive officers anditlages and positions as of February 28, 201ebritained in the table below. Our
executive officers are appointed by, and servlatiscretion of, our Board of Directors. Theraasfamily relationship between any of our
executive officers.
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Name

Age

Position and Business Experience

Ronald D. Black, Ph.D.

Kevin Donnelly

Jae Kim

50

52

43

Chief Executive Officer and President. Dr. Blacls Isarved as our chief executive
officer and president since June 2012 and as atdireince July 2012. Dr. Black was
previously the Managing Director of R.D. Black & @pany, a consulting firm, since
August 2011. From September 2010 to August 2011Bck was the Chief Executi
Officer of MobiWire, formerly Sagem Wireless, avaiely-held mobile handset
company headquartered near Paris, France thas @ifeducts and services to original
equipment manufacturers and mobile network opesatothe mobile phone
marketplace. From June 2009 to October 2010, kxciBserved as Chairman and CEO
of UPEK, Inc. Dr. Black currently serves as a baaember of EnOcean GmbH, a
German-based company that manufactures and maketgy harvesting technology,
sensors, and radio frequency communication. FropteBeer 2010 to November 20:
he served as a board member of AuthenTec, Incchie joined following the
AuthenTec-UPEK merger in September 2010 and froiy 26 2013, he served as a
board member of Inside Contactless, a France-tmsagany engaged in the
semiconductors and information technology indugtrpm September 2004 to June
2009, he was chief executive officer of Wavecom.Safpublicly traded French
wireless solutions company. Dr. Black holds a B&mhef Science, a Masters of
Science, and a Ph.D. in materials science and eeging from Cornell University in
Ithaca, N.Y.

Senior Vice President, GM, Memory & Interfaces. laonnelly joined us in 1993. Mr.
Donnelly has served in his current position sincgést 2012. From November 2008 to
August 2012, Mr. Donnelly served as Senior Vicesklent, IP Strategy, from March
2006 to November 2008, as Senior Vice Presidergirteering and from January 2005
to March 2006, as co-vice president of Engineerfirgm October 2002 to January
2005 he served as vice president, Logic Interfagésion. Mr. Donnelly held various
engineering and management positions before begpwiie president, Logic Interface
Division in October 2002. Before joining us, Mr. Deelly held engineering positions
National Semiconductor, Sipex, and Memorex, ovegight year period. He holds a
B.S. in Electrical Engineering and Computer Scisrfcem the University of

California, Berkeley, and an M.S. in Electrical Ergering from San Jose State
University.

Senior Vice President and General Counsel. Mr. Kia served as the senior vice
president and general counsel since February 20d 2@ our vice president, corporate
legal since joining us in July 2010. Prior to lestre at Rambus, Mr. Kim held senior
legal positions at Aricent Inc., a privately-helshemunications technology company
and Electronics for Imaging Inc., a digital prirgitechnology company. Mr. Kim has
also had significant experience in private practiith the law firm of Wilson Sonsini
Goodrich & Rosati, P.C., where he advised highriettgy and emerging growth
companies on mergers and acquisitions, privatefimgs, public offerings, securities
compliance, public company reporting and corpogateernance. Mr. Kim began his
legal career as an attorney with the United Staezsurities and Exchange Commission,
Division of Corporation Finance, in Washington, IMI. Kim is a member of both the
California State Bar and New York State Bar, arcéieed a J.D. from the American
University, Washington College of Law, and his belon's degree from Boston
University.
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Name

Age

Position and Business Experience

Satish Rishi

Martin Scott, Ph.D.

Laura Stark

54

58

45

Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Finar@féiter. Mr. Rishi joined us in his
current position in April 2006. Prior to joining ,udr. Rishi held the position of
executive vice president of Finance and chief fai@rofficer of Toppan Photomasks,
Inc., (formerly DuPont Photomasks, Inc.) one ofwrld’s leading photomask
providers, from November 2001 to April 2006. Durimig 27-year career, Mr. Rishi has
held senior financial management positions at sentiactor and electronic
manufacturing companies. He served as vice presatehassistant treasurer at Dell
Inc. Prior to Dell, Mr. Rishi spent 13 years atlnCorporation, where he held financial
management positions both in the United Stateaadseas, including assistant
treasurer. Mr. Rishi holds a B.S. with honors indii@nical Engineering from Delhi
University in Delhi, India and an M.B.A. from theniversity of California at

Berkeley’s Haas School of Business. He also sasesdirector of Measurement
Specialties, Inc.

Senior Vice President, Chief Technology Officer. Beott has served in his current
position since August 2012. From August 2010 uktiyust 2012, Dr. Scott served as
our Senior Vice President, GM, New Business Graugppfeom December 2006 to
August 2010, as our Senior Vice President, EngingebDr. Scott joined us from PMC-
Sierra, Inc., a provider of broadband communicatiand storage integrated circuits,
where he was most recently vice president and genmeznager of its Microprocessor
Products Division from March 2006. Dr. Scott was tice president and general
manager for the 1/0 Solutions Division (which wasghased by PMC-Sierra) of
Avago Technologies Limited, an analog and mixeda&igemiconductor components
and subsystem company, from October 2005 to Ma@éle 2Dr. Scott held various
positions at Agilent Technologies, including aseviresident and general manager for
the 1/0O Solutions division from October 2004 to @agr 2005, when the division was
purchased by Avago Technologies, vice presideng@méral manager of the ASSP
Division from March 2002 until October 2004, andfdre that, Network Products
operation manager. Dr. Scott started his care2®@1 as a member of the technical
staff at Hewlett Packard Laboratories and heldoterimanagement positions at
Hewlett Packard and was appointed ASIC businessmamager in 1998. He earned a
B.S. from Rice University and holds both an M.Sd &i.D. from Stanford University.

Senior Vice President, Corporate Strategy and MBIA. Stark has served in her
current position since August 2012. From April 2@6&\ugust 2012, Ms. Stark served
as Senior Vice President, Corporate Developmemnt) fFebruary 2005 to April 2008 as
Senior Vice President, Platform Solutions and f©@otober 2002 to February 2005 as
vice president, Memory Interface Division. Ms. &taeld various business and
management positions before becoming vice presidiégrnory Interface Division in
October 2002. Prior to joining us, Ms. Stark heddious positions in the semiconductor
products division of Motorola, a communications ipquent company, during a Six ye
tenure, including technical sales engineer forApple sales team and field application
engineer for the Sun and SGI sales teams. Ms. Stdds a B.S. in Electrical
Engineering from the Massachusetts Institute ohhetogy.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

RISK FACTORS

Because of the following factors, as well as otraiables affecting our operating results, pastiial performance may not be a reliable
indicator of future performance, and historicahtie should not be used to anticipate results odgén future periods. See also “Special Note
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” elsewhetéisreport.

Risks Associated With Our Business, Industry and Miket Conditions

The success of our business depends on sustainingrowing our licensing revenue and the failure echieve such revenue would lead to a
material decline in our results of operations.

Our revenue consists mainly of patent and techydiognse fees paid for access to our patents,ldeed technology and development anc
support services provided to our customers. Odityabd secure the licenses from which our revenaresderived depends on our customers
adopting our technology and using it in the prodibey sell. If we do not achieve our revenue gamls results of operations could decline.

We have traditionally operated in industries thateahighly cyclical and competitive.

Our target customers are companies that developnankiet high volume business and consumer prodiustesmiconductors, computing,
tablets, handheld devices, mobile applications,iggrand graphics, high-definition televisions amgpthys, general lighting, cryptography and
data security. The electronics industry is intepseimpetitive and has been impacted by price enpsépid technological change, short prot
life cycles, cyclical market patterns and increggoreign and domestic competition. We are sulifgahany risks beyond our control that
influence whether or not we are successful in wigrtarget customers or retaining existing custopmectuding, primarily, competition in a
particular industry, market acceptance of sucharusts' products and the financial resources of sustomers. In particular, DRAM
manufacturers, which make up many of our histoustemers, have suffered material losses and ottverse effects to their businesses,
leading to industry consolidation that may resulioiss of revenues under our existing license agee¢s or loss of target customers. As a r¢
of ongoing competition in the industries in whick wperate and the economic downturn of the pastrakyears, we may achieve a reduced
number of licenses or experience tightening ofamstrs' operating budgets, difficulty or inabilityaur customers to pay our licensing fees,
extensions of the approval process for new liceasésconsolidation among our customers, all of winiay adversely affect the demand for
our technology and may cause us to experienceatiatfluctuations in our operating results.

We may have to invest more resources in researcti davelopment than anticipated, which could increasur operating expenses and
negatively impact our operating results.

If new competitors, technological advances by égstompetitors, and/or development of new techgiel® or other competitive factors
require us to invest significantly greater resosrten anticipated in our research and developefémts, our operating expenses could
increase. If we are required to invest significagileater resources than anticipated in researdhil@nelopment efforts without an increase in
revenue, our operating results could decline. Weeekkthese expenses to increase in the foresefeiinie as our technology development
efforts continue.

Our revenue is concentrated in a few customers, @nae lose any of these customers through terminat or acquisitions, our revenue
may decrease substantially.

We have a high degree of revenue concentrationtd@puiive customers for each reporting period repnéed approximately 62%, 68%, and
66% of our revenues for the years ended Decemhe&(3B, 2012, and 2011, respectively. For the gaded December 31, 2013 and 2012,
revenues from Samsung accounted for more than ¥G%o® of our revenue. For the year ended DeceBihe2011, revenues from Elpida,
NVIDIA and Samsung, each accounted for 10% or nobiur revenue. We extended our license agreemigmiSamsung in December 20
for ten years, and we expect Samsung to continaedount for a significant portion of our licensimyenue. We also entered into settlement
agreements with each of SK hynix and Micron (whiatiuded Elpida, which Micron had acquired in JA813) in June 2013 and December
2013, respectively. As a result of the renewal sunch settlements, we expect each of Samsung, SiK agd Micron to account for a
significant portion of our licensing revenue in fature. We expect to continue to experience sigaift revenue concentration for the
foreseeable future as a result of the additionesf nontracts, expiration or termination of existoaptracts, renewal of existing contracts, and
industry consolidation.

In addition, our license agreements are complexsanae of our license agreements contain termgéiaire us to provide certain
customers with the lowest royalty rate that we mtewto other customers for similar technologiedyur@es and
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schedules. These clauses may be subject to intatipreand may limit our ability to effectively pe differently among our customers, to
respond quickly to market forces, or otherwisedmpete on the basis of price. These clauses mayexdsiire us to reduce royalties payable b
existing customers when we enter into or amendesageats with other customers. Any adjustment thduges royalties from current custom

or licensees may have a material adverse effeotioperating results and financial condition.

We continue to be in negotiations with customers piospective customers to enter into license agee¢s. Furthermore, any future
agreement, as well as our recent agreements withiSkKShynix, STMicroelectronics, Micron and Samsuntay trigger our obligation to offer
comparable terms or modifications to agreementis @t existing customers, which may be less favertbus than the existing license terms.
We expect licensing fees will continue to vary lshea our success in renewing existing license ageeé¢s and adding new customers, as wel
as the level of variation in our customers' regbgiipment volumes, sales price and mix, offsgtirt by the proportion of customer payments
that are fixed. In particular, under our licensesagnent with Samsung, the license fees payablebs@ng are subject to certain adjustments
and conditions, and we therefore cannot providarasses that the revenues generated by this liaeitigeot decline in the future. In addition,
some of our material license agreements may coritgits by the customer to terminate for convenéerme upon certain other events, such as
change of control, material breach, insolvencyamlsuptcy proceedings. If we are unsuccessful terarg into license agreements with new
customers or renewing license agreements withiegisustomers, on favorable terms or at all, ¢héfy are terminated, our results of
operations may decline significantly.

If our counterparties are unable to fulfill theirihancial and other obligations to us, our busineasd results of operations may be affect
adversely.

Any downturn in economic conditions or other busséactors could threaten the financial healthusfapunterparties, including compan
with whom we have entered into licensing and/ctlesgient agreements, and their ability to fulfilethfinancial and other obligations to us.
Such financial pressures on our counterparties emantually lead to bankruptcy proceedings or o#ttimpts to avoid financial obligations
that are due to us. Because bankruptcy courts thaveower to modify or cancel contracts of thetfmter which remain subject to future
performance and alter or discharge payment obtigatielated to pre-petition debts, we may receaigs than all of the payments that we woul
otherwise be entitled to receive from any such tenparty as a result of bankruptcy proceedings.

Our business and operations could suffer in the avef security breaches.

Attempts by others to gain unauthorized accessitanormation technology systems are becoming nsoghisticated. These attempts,
which might be related to industrial or other espige, include covertly introducing malware to oomputers and networks and impersonating
authorized users, among others. We seek to detddhaestigate all security incidents and to prékair recurrence, but in some cases, we
might be unaware of an incident or its magnitude: effiects. While we have not identified any matdriaidents of unauthorized access to d
the theft, unauthorized use or publication of eueliectual property and/or confidential businegsrimation could harm our competitive
position, reduce the value of our investment irraesh and development and other strategic inigatin otherwise adversely affect our
business. To the extent that any future securiadin results in inappropriate disclosure of outausrs' confidential information, we may
incur liability.

Failures in our products and services or in the ghacts of our customers, including those resultingpin security vulnerabilities, defects or
errors, could harm our business.

Because the techniques used by hackers to acceabatage secure chip and other technologies cHerggeently and generally are not
recognized until launched against a target, we bgaynable to anticipate these techniques and miagdabess them in our data security
technologies. Furthermore, our data security teldgies may fail to detect or prevent security brescdue to a number of reasons such as th
evolving nature of such threats and the continoadrgence of new threats. An actual or perceivedriggdreach of our customers or their end
customers, regardless of whether the breach ibwttble to the failure of our data security tedbgees, could adversely affect the market's
perception of our security technologies. We maylieoable to correct any security flaws or vulnditds promptly, or at all. Any breaches,
defects, errors or vulnerabilities in our data siégtiechnologies could result in:

« expenditure of significant financial and reséaand development resources in efforts to analyaeect, eliminate or work-around
breaches, errors or defects or to address andnalienvulnerabilities;

« financial liability to customers for breach of art contract provision

» loss of existing or potential custome

« delayed or lost revent

« delay or failure to attain market accepta

* negative publicity, which would harm our reputatianc

« litigation, regulatory inquiries or investigatiotisat would be costly and harm our reputal
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Some of our revenue is subject to the pricing p@iof our customers over whom we have no cont

We have no control over our customers' pricinghefrtproducts and there can be no assurance teatkd products will be competitively
priced or will sell in significant volumes. Any préum charged by our customers in the price of mgnaod controller chips over alternatives
must be reasonable. If the benefits of our techgyotto not match the price premium charged by ostauers, the resulting decline in sales of
products incorporating our technology could harmaperating results.

Our licensing cycle is lengthy and costly, and omarketing and licensing efforts may be unsuccessful

The process of persuading customers to adopt easié our chip interface, lighting, data secuetyd other technologies can be lengthy.
Even if successful, there can be no assurancetinaeéchnologies will be used in a product thatlignately brought to market, achieves
commercial acceptance or results in significanahigs to us. We generally incur significant maitkgtand sales expenses prior to entering int
our license agreements, generating a license féestablishing a royalty stream from each custoifiee.length of time it takes to establish a
new licensing relationship can take many monthsven years. We may incur costs in any particuleiogeéefore any associated revenue
stream begins, if at all. If our marketing and saéorts are very lengthy or unsuccessful, thermag face a material adverse effect on our
business and results of operations as a resudilafé to obtain or an undue delay in obtainingatbgs.

Future revenue is difficult to predict for severatasons, and our failure to predict revenue accuebt may result in our stock price
declining.

Our lengthy license negotiation cycles could malkefature revenue difficult to predict because weymot be successful in entering into
licenses with our customers on our estimated timasli

In addition, while some of our license agreementwide for fixed, quarterly royalty payments, masfyour license agreements provide for
volumebased royalties, and may also be subject to capsyatdties in a given period. The sales volume aiices of our customers' products
any given period can be difficult to predict. Asesult, our actual results may differ substantifityn analyst estimates or our forecasts in any
given quarter.

Furthermore, a portion of our revenue comes fromeligment and support services provided to ourotnsts. Depending upon the nature
of the services, a portion of the related revenayg be recognized ratably over the support periodhay be recognized according to contract
accounting. Contract revenue accounting may ré@suléferral of the service fees to the completibthe contract, or may be recognized over
the period in which services are performed on agréange-of-completion basis. There can be no asseitaat the product development
schedule for these projects will not be changedietayed.

We may fail to meet our publicly announced guidanaeother expectations about our business, whichultblikely cause our stock price to
decline.

We provide guidance regarding our expected findmcid business performance including our anticgh&téure revenues and operating
expenses. Correctly identifying the key factoreetfihg business conditions and predicting futurenévis inherently an uncertain process.

Such guidance may not always be accurate or mayfi@n actual results due to our inability to meat assumptions and the impact on
financial performance that could occur as a redulhe various risks and uncertainties to our bessras set forth in these risk factors. We offe
no assurance that such guidance will ultimatelpd=irate, and investors should treat any such go@aith appropriate caution. If we fail to
meet our guidance or if we find it necessary toseguch guidance, even if such failure or revissoseemingly insignificant, investors and
analysts may lose confidence in us and the madaevof our common stock could be materially adefgraffected.

We have in the past made and may in the future makeuisitions or enter into mergers, strategic tigactions, sales of assets or other
arrangements that may not produce expected opegtind financial results.

From time to time, we engage in acquisitions, sg@ttransactions and strategic investments. Weptaiad a number of acquisitions from
2009 to 2012, including the acquisition of CRI 012, our largest acquisition to date. Many of cequasitions or strategic investments entail a
high degree of risk, and such investments may acbime liquid for several years after the date efitivestment, if at all. Our acquisitions or
strategic investments may not generate the finaretiarns we expect, and we may be subject tolifeds that either are not covered by
indemnification protection we may obtain or becaubject to litigation. Achieving the anticipatedhieéits of business acquisitions depends ir
part upon our ability to integrate the acquiredibesses in an efficient and effective manner. Titbegration of companies that have previously
operated
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independently may result in significant challengesluding, among others: retaining key employasescessfully integrating new employees,
business systems and technology; retaining cussofehe acquired business; minimizing the divarsbmanagement's attention from
ongoing business matters; coordinating geograghisaparate organizations; consolidating reseanchdevelopment operations; and
consolidating corporate and administrative infractires.

Our strategic investments in new areas of techryohogy involve significant risks and uncertaintiesluding distraction of management
from current operations, greater than expectedlilials and expenses, inadequate return of caitad, unidentified issues not discovered in
diligence. These investments are inherently rigky may not be successful.

In addition, we may record impairment charges eglab our acquisitions (in the third quarter of 20We recorded an impairment of
goodwill related to our MTD reporting unit) or skegic investments. Any losses or impairment chatigaswe incur related to acquisitions,
strategic investments or sales of assets will laanegative impact on our financial results, andwag continue to incur new or additional
losses related to acquisitions or strategic invests

We may have to incur debt or issue equity secsritiepay for any future acquisition, which debequity securities could involve restrict
covenants or be dilutive to our existing stockhadde

From time to time, we may also divest certain assehere we may be required to provide certainesgmtations, warranties and covenants
to their buyers. While we would seek to ensureaitmuracy of such representations and warrantie$udfiltnent of any ongoing obligations,
we may not be completely successful and consequeray be subject to claims by a purchaser of ssshta.

A substantial portion of our revenue is derived frosources outside of the United States and thiseraxe and our business generally a
subject to risks related to international operatisithat are often beyond our contrc

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, atid 28venue received from our international custsnsenstituted approximately 70%,
73%, and 67%, respectively, of our total revenue.&ipect that future revenue derived from inteamati sources will continue to represent a
significant portion of our total revenue.

To date, all of the revenue from international oustrs has been denominated in U.S. dollars. Howé&véne extent that such customers'
sales are not denominated in U.S. dollars, anyltiegavhich are based on a percentage of the cesgisales that we receive as a result of
such sales could be subject to fluctuations inesway exchange rates. In addition, if the effecfiviee of licensed products sold by our foreign
customers were to increase as a result of fluanstin the exchange rate of the relevant currendesand for licensed products could fall,
which in turn would reduce our royalties. We do use financial instruments to hedge foreign exckamate risk.

We currently have international design operationndia and France and business development opesati Japan, Korea and Taiwan. (
international operations and revenue are subjeztvi@riety of risks which are beyond our contnotluding:

< hiring, maintaining and managing a workforce aradiliftées remotely and under various legal syste

* natural disasters, acts of war, terrorism, widesgpiness or security breach

« export controls, tariffs, import and licensing regtons and other trade barrie

» profits, if any, earned abroad being subjedbtal tax laws and not being repatriated to thetéthBtates or, if repatriation is possible,
limited in amount;

» adverse tax treatment of revenue from intermatisources and changes to tax codes, including®eibject to foreign tax laws and
being liable for paying withholding, income or othiaxes in foreign jurisdictions;

* unanticipated changes in foreign government lavasragulations

« lack of protection of our intellectual propeggd other contract rights by jurisdictions in whigh may do business to the same extent ¢
the laws of the United States;

e social, political and economic instabili

« geopolitical issues, including changes in diplomatid trade relationships; ¢

« cultural differences in the conduct of businlkesth with customers and in conducting businessimiternational facilities and
international sales offices.

We and our customers are subject to many of the described above with respect to companies wdriehocated in different countries.
There can be no assurance that one or more oifsteeassociated with our international operatioflsnet result in a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition or results ofragiens.

Weak global economic conditions may adversely dffésemand for the products and services of our custos.

Our operations and performance depend significantlworldwide economic conditions. Uncertainty abglobal
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economic conditions poses a risk as consumers agiddsses may postpone spending in response tertiggiedit, negative financial news and
declines in income or asset values, which coulelzmaterial negative effect on the demand foptbducts of our customers in the
foreseeable future. If our customers experienceaed demand for their products as a result of emdmoonditions or otherwise, this could
result in reduced royalty revenue and our busiaesisresults of operations could be harmed.

If we are unable to attract and retain qualified pgonnel, our business and operations could suff

Our success is dependent upon our ability to iflerattract, compensate, motivate and retain gedlipersonnel, especially engineers,
senior management and other key personnel. Ourogieplturnover has accelerated after our reductidorice efforts in 2012 and 2013 and
subsequent voluntary and involuntary separatiohs.|®@ss of the services of any key employees doaldisruptive to our development efforts
or business relationships and could cause our essiand operations to suffer.

We are subject to various government restrictiomgaegulations, including on the sale of productsi@ services that use encryption
technology and those related to privacy and othensumer protection matters.

Regulatory initiatives throughout the world cancatseate new and unforeseen regulatory obligationgs and the technology we develop.
The impact of these potential obligations variesdolaon the jurisdiction, but any such changes ciouéict whether we enter, maintain or
expand our presence in a particular market or pattiicular potential customers.

Various countries have adopted controls, licengairements and restrictions on the export, impod ase of products or services that
contain encryption technology. In addition, goveemtal agencies have proposed additional requiresrienencryption technology, such as
requiring the escrow and governmental recoveryriobfe encryption keys. Restrictions on the saldisiribution of products or services
containing encryption technology may impact thdighof CRI to license its data security technolegto the manufacturers and providers of
such products and services in certain markets grretuire CRI or its customers to make changebdditensed data security technology that
is embedded in such products to comply with sustriotions. Government restrictions, or changethéoproducts or services of CRI's
customers to comply with such restrictions, cowdthg or prevent the acceptance and use of suchroast’ products and services. In addition,
the United States and other countries have impegpdrt controls that prohibit the export of encigpttechnology to certain countries, entities
and individuals. Our failure to comply with exparid use regulations concerning encryption techiyobd@RI could subject us to sanctions
and penalties, including fines, and suspensioewraation of export or import privileges.

We are subject to a variety of laws and regulatiarthe United States, the European Union and atbentries that involve, for example,
user privacy, data protection and security, corseitconsumer protection. A number of proposalgpaneling before federal, state, and fore
legislative and regulatory bodies that could siigaifitly affect our business. Existing and propds&g and regulations can be costly to comply
with and can delay or impede the development of pewlucts, result in negative publicity, increase @perating costs and subject us to cle
or other remedies.

Our operations are subject to risks of natural dars, acts of war, terrorism, widespread illnesssecurity breach at our domestic and
international locations, any one of which could relt in a business stoppage and negatively affect operating results.

Our business operations depend on our ability tmtaia and protect our facilities, computer systemd personnel, which are primarily
located in the San Francisco Bay Area and Bangdlodéa. The San Francisco Bay Area is in closeipndy to known earthquake fault zones.
Our facilities and transportation for our employaes susceptible to damage from earthquakes awed odtural disasters such as fires, floods
and similar events. Should a catastrophe disabléagilities, we do not have readily available aitgtive comprehensive facilities from which
we could conduct our business, so any resultarit stoppage could have a negative effect on ouratiper results. We also rely on our
network infrastructure and technology systems fmrational support and business activities, whiehsabject to damage from malicious code
and other related vulnerabilities common to netwakd computer systems, including acts of vandadisdhpotential security breach by third
parties. Acts of terrorism, widespread illness, aad any event that causes failures or interruptiarur network infrastructure and technology
systems could have a negative effect at our intienmal and domestic facilities and could harm ousibess, financial condition, and operating
results.

We do not have extensive experience in manufactgrand marketing products, and as a result, willyedn sales and distribution channels
for selling certain products. If we are unable gecure sales and distribution channels or do notmage them successfully, our operatii
results could be adversely affected.

In order to grow and in some cases maintain ouinkss, we need to work with various partners tdoknthem to sell and deploy our
solutions. We may be unable to successfully esalzlihd expand the effectiveness of our distributitemnels. If
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our channel partners do not effectively market seltlour solutions, if they choose to place greatephasis on products of their own or those
offered by our competitors, or if they fail to meéle¢ needs of our customers, our ability to growlnisiness and our operating results may be
adversely affected.

Our business and operating results could be harniledle undertake any restructuring activities.

From time to time, we may undertake restructurioigsur business. There are several factors thdt@ause restructurings to have adverse
effects on our business, financial condition armliits of operations. These include potential digompof our operations, the development of
our technology, the deliveries to our customersa@her aspects of our business. Loss of salescsaand engineering talent, in particular,
could damage our business. Any restructuring weetdghire substantial management time and attentidma@ay divert management from other
important work. Employee reductions or other regtrting activities also would cause us to incutrteguring and related expenses such as
severance expenses. Moreover, we could encourtgrsda executing any restructuring plans, whichldaause further disruption and
additional unanticipated expense.

Risks Related to Capitalization Matters and Corporde Governance
The price of our common stock may continue to fluete.

Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ GlobaleseMarket under the symbol “RMBS.” The tradingcerof our common stock has
at times experienced price volatility and may comgi to fluctuate significantly in response to vasidactors, some of which are beyond our
control. These factors include:

e any progress, or lack of progress, real or peeck in the development of products that incorpm@ur innovations and technology
companies' acceptance of our products, includiegdbults of our efforts to expand into new targatkets;

e our signing or not signing new licenses and the tifsstrategic relationships with any custor

« announcements of our technological innovationsesv products by us, our customers or our compej

» changes in our strategies, including changesliirlicensing focus and/or acquisitions of companmuh business models or target
markets different from our own;

* positive or negative reports by securities analgst® our expected financial results and busidegslopment:

« developments with respect to patents or propriaights and other events or fact

* new litigation and the unpredictability of litigati results or settlemer

 trading activity related to our share repurchasmglan

« issuance of additional securities by us, includmgcquisitions

In addition, the stock market in general, and @rifce companies in our industry in particular, haxperienced extreme volatility that often
has been unrelated to the operating performansaaif companies. These broad market and industiufitions may adversely affect the price
of our common stock, regardless of our operatinfpp@mance.

We have outstanding senior convertible notes iaggregate principal amount totaling $310.5 milliBecause these notes are convertible
into shares of our common stock, volatility or degsed prices of our common stock could have aairffect on the trading price of such
notes. In addition, the existence of these notgsanaourage short selling in our common stock byketgoarticipants because the conversion
of the notes could depress the price of our comstock.

We have been party to, and may in the future bejsabto, lawsuits relating to securities law matsewhich may result in unfavorable
outcomes and significant judgments, settlements daghl expenses which could cause our businessfficial condition and results of
operations to suffer.

We and certain of our current and former officard directors, as well as our current auditors, veetgect to several stockholder derivative
actions, securities fraud class actions and/owviddal lawsuits filed in federal court against uslaertain of our current and former officers
directors. The complaints generally alleged thatdbfendants violated the federal and state sexul#ws and stated state law claims for frauc
and breach of fiduciary duty. For more informatadout this litigation, see Note 18, “Litigation afAdserted Claims,bf Notes to Consolidate
Financial Statements contained in this FornKL@&lthough to date these complaints have eithentsettled or dismissed, the amount of tin
resolve any future lawsuits is uncertain, and tmeatters could require significant management arahtial resources. Unfavorable outcomes
and significant judgments, settlements and legpéerges in litigation related to any future secesitaw claims could have material adverse
impacts on our business, financial condition, rssod operations, cash flows and the trading pofoeur common stock.

We are leveraged financially, which could adverselffect our ability to adjust our business to reggbto competitive pressures and to obt
sufficient funds to satisfy our future research ardkvelopment needs, to protect and enforce
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intellectual property, and to meet other needs.

We have material indebtedness. In 2009, we isstigd.$ million aggregate principal amount of our 2Motes, all of which remains
outstanding and will mature in June 2014. In Au@@k3, we issued $138.0 million aggregate princgmabunt of our 2018 Notes (together
with the 2014 Notes, the "Notes"), all of which @@ms outstanding. The degree to which we are lgesf@ould have negative consequences,
including, but not limited to, the following:

* we may be more vulnerable to economic downtuess able to withstand competitive pressures essliflexible in responding to
changing business and economic conditions;

» our ability to obtain additional financing inetfiuture for working capital, capital expenditurasquisitions, litigation, general corporate
or other purposes may be limited,;

» asubstantial portion of our cash flows from mpiens in the future may be required for the paynwoé the principal amount of our
existing indebtedness when it becomes due, indutlia remaining aggregate principal amount of i42Notes at maturity in June
2014 and the remaining aggregate principal amoitits02018 Notes at maturity in August 2018; and

* we may be required to make cash payments uponamecsion of the Notes, which would reduce our aashanc

A failure to comply with the covenants and othesyisions of our debt instruments could result iere¢ of default under such instruments,
which could permit acceleration of all of our oatsling Notes. Any required repurchase of the Nases result of a fundamental change or
acceleration of the Notes would reduce our casham such that we would not have those funds dlaifar use in our business.

If we are at any time unable to generate suffictash flows from operations to service our indelésd when payment is due, we may be
required to attempt to renegotiate the terms ofriteguments relating to the indebtedness, see#ftoance all or a portion of the indebtedness
or obtain additional financing. There can be naesmsce that we will be able to successfully reniag@such terms, that any such refinancing
would be possible or that any additional finanatogld be obtained on terms that are favorable ce@table to us.

Compliance with changing regulation of corporate gernance and public disclosure may result in addital expenses.

Changing laws, regulations and standards relatimgptporate governance and public disclosure haterltally created uncertainty for
companies such as ours. Any new or changed lagslatons and standards are subject to varyingpreations due to their lack of
specificity, and as a result, their applicatiopractice may evolve over time as new guidanceasiged by regulatory and governing bodies.
This could result in continuing uncertainty regaglcompliance matters and higher costs necessitgtedgoing revisions to disclosure and
governance practices.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, Delawalaw and our outstanding convertible notes comtgirovisions that could discourage
transactions resulting in a change in control, whianay negatively affect the market price of our coran stock.

Our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws andi@eare law contain provisions that might enable management to discourage, delay or
prevent a change in control. In addition, thesevigions could limit the price that investors wobld willing to pay in the future for shares of
our common stock. Pursuant to such provisions:

« our board of directors is authorized, withoubpstockholder approval, to create and issue predestock, commonly referred to as
“blank check” preferred stock, with rights seniorthose of common stock, which means that a stddkhoights plan could be
implemented by our board;

« our board of directors is staggered into two classely one of which is elected at each annual img;

» stockholder action by written consent is prohib;

< nominations for election to our board of dirgstand the submission of matters to be acted upatdekholders at a meeting are subject
to advance notice requirements;

« certain provisions in our bylaws and certificaféncorporation such as notice to stockholddrs,ability to call a stockholder meeting,
advance notice requirements and action of stoclensldy written consent may only be amended withafiproval of stockholders
holding 66 2/3% of our outstanding voting stock;

» our stockholders have no authority to call spetiaétings of stockholders; e

» our board of directors is expressly authorized &ken alter or repeal our byla

We are also subject to Section 203 of the Delavaneeral Corporation Law, which provides, subjectriamerated exceptions, that if a

person acquires 15% or more of our outstandingigattock, the person is an “interested stockholdad’ may not engage in any “business
combination” with us for a period of three yeawsnirthe time the person acquired 15% or more obatstanding voting stock.
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Certain provisions of our outstanding Notes coulikenit more difficult or more expensive for a thparty to acquire us. Upon the
occurrence of certain transactions constitutingraddmental change, holders of such Notes will hlageight, at their option, to require us to
repurchase, at a cash repurchase price equal % #0the principal amount plus accrued and unpatiekést on such Notes, all or a portion of
their Notes. We may also be required to increasetimversion rate of such Notes in the event dhsefundamental changes.

Warranty and product liability claims brought agast us could cause us to incur significant costs aadversely affect our operating results
as well as our reputation and relationships with stomers.

We may from time to time be subject to warranty prmtuct liability claims with regard to productrfimance and effects of our lighting
solutions. We could incur losses as a result odireggnd replacement costs in response to custoomeplaints or in connection with the
resolution of contemplated or actual legal procegslrelating to such claims. In addition to potaitsses arising from claims and related |
proceedings, product liability claims could affectr reputation and our relationship with customers.

Unanticipated changes in our tax rates or in thextéaws and regulations could expose us to additibimecome tax liabilities which could
affect our operating results and financial conditio

We are subject to income taxes in both the UniteteS and various foreign jurisdictions. Significardgment is required in determining
our worldwide provision for income taxes and, ie tirdinary course of business, there are manyacdiogss and calculations where the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Our effextax rate could be adversely affected by chaitgése mix of earnings in countries with
differing statutory tax rates, changes in the vidweof deferred tax assets and liabilities, changdax laws and regulations as well as other
factors. Our tax determinations are regularly stiifie audit by tax authorities and developmenthase audits could adversely affect our
income tax provision, and we are currently undergauch audits of certain of our tax returns. Altjlo we believe that our tax estimates are
reasonable, the final determination of tax auditer disputes may be different from what is re#elcin our historical income tax provisions
which could affect our operating results.

Litigation, Regulation and Business Risks Relatecbtour Intellectual Property

We face current and potential adverse determinasan litigation stemming from our efforts to proté@and enforce our patents and
intellectual property and make other claims, whiclould broadly impact our intellectual property righ, distract our management and cau
substantial expenses and declines in our revenue atock price

We seek to diligently protect our intellectual peofy rights. In connection with the extension of beensing program to SDR SDRAM-
compatible and DDR SDRAM-compatible products, wedmee involved in litigation related to such effatsainst different parties in multiple
jurisdictions. In each of these cases, we haveneldiinfringement of certain of our patents, while manufacturers of such products h
generally sought damages and a determinationhbaidtents in suit are invalid, unenforceable astdnfringed. Among other things, the
opposing parties have alleged that certain of atemnts are unenforceable because we engaged imdatspoliation, litigation misconduct
and/or acted improperly during our 1991 to 1995ipgation in the JEDEC standard setting organizafincluding allegations of antitrust
violations and unfair competition). We have alsodree involved in litigation related to infringemeaftour patents related to products having
certain peripheral interfaces. In addition, we wid prevail at jury trial in our antitrust suit agst certain memory manufacturers in
November 2011, which caused the market price obstagk to drop significantly. Notwithstanding theoae, we have settled and dismisse
patent lawsuits against all parties except Nanyahate also dismissed the antitrust suit agaihphdies.

Any future intellectual property litigation, whether not determined in our favor or settled byissostly, may cause delays (including
delays in negotiating licenses with other actugdatential customers), will tend to discourage featdesign partners, will tend to impair
adoption of our existing technologies and diveet é¢ffiforts and attention of our management and teahpersonnel from other business
operations. In addition, we may be unsuccessfahinlitigation if we have difficulty obtaining th@operation of former employees and agent:
who were involved in our business during the rehtyseriods related to our litigation and are nowde to assist in cases or testify on our
behalf. Furthermore, any adverse determinatiortleeraesolution in litigation could result in owsing certain rights beyond the rights at issue
in a particular case, including, among other thirgs being effectively barred from suing others\fmlating certain or all of our intellectual
property rights; our patents being held invaliduioenforceable or not infringed; our being subjecttesignificant liabilities; our being required
to seek licenses from third parties; our being pneed from licensing our patented technology; arlming required to renegotiate with current
customers on a temporary or permanent basis.

Even if we are successful in our litigation, or aytlement of such litigation, there is no guagarihat the applicable opposing parties will
be able to pay any damages awards or licensingifeely or at all as a result of financial diffi¢igs or
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otherwise. Delay or any or all of these adversaltegsould cause substantial expenses or declnesrirevenue and stock price.

From time-to-time, we are subject to proceedingsgmwernment agencies that may result in adverseedetnations against us and could
cause our revenue to decline substantially.

An adverse resolution by or with a governmentahagecould result in severe limitations on our d@hitd protect and license our intellect
property, and could cause our revenue to declibstantially. Third parties have and may attemptde adverse findings by a government
agency to limit our ability to enforce or licensar patents in private litigations, to challengeotrerwise act against us with respect to such
government agency proceedings.

Further, third parties have sought and may sedkweand reconsideration of the patentability ofdntions claimed in certain of our patents
by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (“PTO”)/anthe European Patent Office (the “EPO”"). Thesexamination proceedings may be
reviewed by the PTO's Board of Patent Appeals atetferences (“BPAI”). The BPAI has previously issudecisions in a few cases, finding
the challenged claims of Rambus' patents to bdithuaecisions of the BPAI are subject to furthd@proceedings and/or appeal to the Cour
of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. A final advedsision , not subject to further review and/qpoedd, could invalidate some or all of the
challenged patent claims and could also resultiititeonal adverse consequences affecting otheteicbld.S. or European patents, including in
any intellectual property litigation. If a sufficienumber of such patents are impaired, our aliditgnforce or license our intellectual property
would be significantly weakened and could causereuenue to decline substantially.

The pendency of any governmental agency actingssrithed above may impair our ability to enforcdiagnse our patents or collect
royalties from existing or potential customersaay litigation opponents may attempt to use suockgrdings to delay or otherwise impair any
pending cases and our existing or potential custemay await the final outcome of any proceedirgfote agreeing to new licenses or to
paying royalties.

Litigation or other third-party claims of intellectual property infringemertould require us to expend substantial resourcesiaould
prevent us from developing or licensing our techogly on a coseffective basis.

Our research and development programs are in haghpetitive fields in which numerous third parties/e issued patents and patent
applications with claims closely related to thejgabmatter of our programs. We have also been damthe past, and may in the future be
named, as a defendant in lawsuits claiming thateehnology infringes upon the intellectual propeights of third parties. As we develop
additional products and technology, we may facendaf infringement of various patents and othégllactual property rights by third parties.
In the event of a third-party claim or a successffringement action against us, we may be requioguhy substantial damages, to stop
developing and licensing our infringing technolotgydevelop non-infringing technology, and to obtiééenses, which could result in our
paying substantial royalties or our granting ofssrticenses to our technologies. We may not betaldbtain licenses from other parties at a
reasonable cost, or at all, which could cause expend substantial resources, or result in detgys the cancellation of, new products.

If we are unable to protect our inventions succadsf through the issuance and enforcement of patepbur operating results could k
adversely affected.

We have an active program to protect our propnetarentions through the filing of patents. Theasm de no assurance, however, that:

« any current or future U.S. or foreign patent aggilans will be approved and not be challenged byl tharties

* our issued patents will protect our intellectuadpgerty and not be challenged by third par

« the validity of our patents will be uphe

« our patents will not be declared unenforce:

« the patents of others will not have an adverseceéfe our ability to do busine:

e Congress or the U.S. courts or foreign countriisnot change the nature or scope of rights raféal patents or patent owners or alter in
an adverse way the process for seeking or enfopatents;

« changes in law will not be implemented, or cles interpretation of such laws will occur, thall affect our ability to protect and
enforce our patents and other intellectual propéntsiuding as a result of the passage of the Acadnivents Act of 2011 (which codifi
several significant changes to the U.S. patent,lawetuding changing from a “first to invent” to“first inventor to file” system, limiting
where a patentee may file a patent suit, requitiegapportionment of patent damages, replacingfarence proceedings with derivati
actions, and creating a post-grant opposition @m®te challenge patents after they have issued);

* new legal theories and strategies utilized by ampuetitors will not be successi

» others will not independently develop similar omgzeting chip interfaces or design around any patiait may be issued to us
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« factors such as difficulty in obtaining coop@atfrom inventors, pre-existing challenges ogktiion, or license or other contract issues
will not present additional challenges in secumngtection with respect to patents and other ietéllal property that we acquire.

If any of the above were to occur, our operatirgults could be adversely affected.

Furthermore, policymakers, including the Presidastwell as certain industry stakeholders, havpgwed reforming U.S. patent laws and
regulations to address perceived issues surrounditent litigation initiated by non-practicing digs. The U.S. International Trade
Commission has also recently taken certain actioaishave been viewed as unfavorable to patenésdsng recourse in this forum. While we
cannot predict what form any new patent reform lawsegulations may ultimately take, or what impi&ety may have on our business, any
laws or regulations that restrict our ability td@ee our patent rights against third parties cdwdde a material adverse effect on our business

In addition, our patents will continue to expireaiding to their terms, with expiration dates ramggirom 2014 to 2037. Our failure to
continuously develop or acquire successful innovetiand obtain patents on those innovations cogihdfisantly harm our business, financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

Our inability to protect and own the intellectualrpperty we create would cause our business to suffe

We rely primarily on a combination of license, deyenent and nondisclosure agreements, trademade secret and copyright law and
contractual provisions to protect our non-patergétellectual property rights. If we fail to protehese intellectual property rights, our
customers and others may seek to use our technuelitiggut the payment of license fees and royaltidsch could weaken our competitive
position, reduce our operating results and incréasdkelihood of costly litigation. The growth ofir business depends in large part on the us
of our intellectual property in the products ofrthparty manufacturers, and our ability to enfdntellectual property rights against them to
obtain appropriate compensation. In addition, ¢iifedrade secret protection may be unavailabléngted in certain foreign countries.
Although we intend to protect our rights vigoroysfywe fail to do so, our business will suffer.

We rely upon the accuracy of our customers' recoediping, and any inaccuracies or payment disputesgmounts owed to us under our
licensing agreements may harm our results of opévas.

Many of our license agreements require our custettedocument the manufacture and sale of prodliatsncorporate our technology and
report this data to us on a quarterly basis. Whinses with such terms give us the right to abnditks and records of our customers to verify
this information, audits rarely are undertaken biseahey can be expensive, time consuming, anahiimite detrimental to our ongoing
business relationship with our customers. Therefoeetypically rely on the accuracy of the repdrten customers without independently
verifying the information in them. Our failure tadit our customers' books and records may reswltifrreceiving more or less royalty revenue
than we are entitled to under the terms of ounbeeagreements. If we conduct royalty audits irfubgre, such audits may trigger
disagreements over contract terms with our custermed such disagreements could hamper customéonsladivert the efforts and attention
of our management from normal operations and impacbusiness operations and financial condition.

Any dispute regarding our intellectual property magquire us to indemnify certain customers, the to$ which could severely hamper ol
business operations and financial condition.

In any potential dispute involving our patents traw intellectual property, our customers coule dscome the target of litigation. While
we generally do not indemnify our customers, sofmeuo license agreements provide limited indemsjtend some require us to provide
technical support and information to a customer ihavolved in litigation involving use of ourdbnology. In addition, we may agree to
indemnify others in the future. Any of these inddfication and support obligations could result ubstantial expenses. In addition to the time
and expense required for us to indemnify or sugpbh support to our customers, a customer's dewelop marketing and sales of licensed
semiconductors, lighting, mobile communications dath security technologies could be severely gtedior shut down as a result of
litigation, which in turn could severely hamper dwsiness operations and financial condition assalt of lower or no royalty payments.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties
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As of December 31, 2013, we occupied offices inl¢lased facilities described below:

Number of
Offices
Under Lease Location Primary Use
6 United States
Sunnyvale, CA (2) (Corporate Executive and administrative offices, research@entlopment, sales and markei
Headquarters) and service functions
Chapel Hill, NC Research and development
Brecksville, OH (2) Research and development and prototyping facility
San Francisco, CA Research and development
1 Bangalore, India Administrative offices, research and developmeunt sarvice functions
1 Tokyo, Japan Business development
1 Seoul, Korea Business development
1 Paris, France Research and development
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

For the information required by this item regardiegal proceedings, see Note 18 “Litigation ande&tesl Claims,” of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-K

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Skbwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities

Our Common Stock is listed on The NASDAQ GlobaleseMarket under the symbol “RMBS.” The followirgpte sets forth for the
periods indicated the high and low sales pricespare of our common stock as reported on The NAS[DAgpal Select Market.

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
High Low High Low
First Quarter $ 627 $ 48 $ 92¢ $ 6.2¢
Second Quarter $ 89 $ 531 $ 648 $ 4.1¢
Third Quarter $ 108 $ 79t $ 6.1C $ 3.7¢
Fourth Quarter $ 1057 $ 81t $ 568 $ 4.01

The graph below compares the cumulative 5-yeal tetarn of holders of Rambus Inc.'s common stoitk the cumulative total returns of
the NASDAQ Composite index and the RDG Semiconductimposite index. The graph tracks the performarfiee$100 investment in our
common stock and in each of the indexes (with ¢irevestment of all dividends) from December 31,2@0December 31, 2013.
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Rambus Inc., the NASDAQ Composite Index,
and the RDG Semiconductor Composite Index
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=100 invested on 12/31/08 in stockor index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fizcal vear ending December 31.

Fiscal years ending:

12/08 12/09 12/10 12/11 12/12 12113
Rambus Inc. 100.00 153.27 128.64 47.42 30.59 59.48
NASDAQ Composite 100.04 144.84 170.54 171.30 199.99 283.39
RDG Semiconductor Composite 100.0q 159.69 182.24 176.00 178.51] 236.96

The stock price performance included in this graphot necessarily indicative of future stock pneformance.

Information regarding our securities authorizedifsuance under equity compensation plans wilhbkided in Item 12, “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Manageraed Related Stockholder Matters,” of this reporf~orm 10-K.

As of January 31, 2014, there were 624 holdereadnd of our common stock. Since many of the shafresir common stock are held by
brokers and other institutions on behalf of stod#trs, we are unable to estimate the total numbbkeweficial stockholders represented by
these record holders.

We have never paid or declared any cash dividendsiocommon stock or other securities.
Share Repurchase Program

In October 2001, our Board of Directors (the “Bdampproved a share repurchase program of our camstuaxk, principally to reduce the
dilutive effect of employee stock options. Undés tbrogram, the Board approved the authorizatiaeparchase up to 19.0 million shares of
our outstanding common stock over an undefinedpesf time. On February 25, 2010, the Board appit@vaeew share repurchase program
authorizing the repurchase of up to an additio2ah nillion shares. Share repurchases under trgrgamomay be made through open market,
established plan or privately negotiated transastio accordance with all applicable securitiesslamles, and regulations. There is no
expiration date applicable to the program. The skare repurchase program replaces the programrengithdn October 2001. In addition, on
August 19, 2010, we entered into a share repurdigeement (the “Share Repurchase Agreement”)dsthMorgan Securities Inc. JP
Morgan delivered to us approximately 4.8 milliorasds of common stock at an average price of $18.88 completion of the Share
Repurchase Agreement in December 2010.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201&idwvet repurchase any shares of our common stoedknour share repurchase
program. As of December 31, 2013, we had repurchaseimulative total of approximately 26.3 millishares of our common stock with an
aggregate price of approximately $428.9 milliorcsithe commencement of the program in 2001.
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As of December 31, 2013, there remained an outstgradithorization to repurchase approximately 5illan shares of our outstanding
common stock.

We record stock repurchases as a reduction tohsttadrs’ equity. We record a portion of the purehpsce of the repurchased shares as ¢
increase to accumulated deficit when the pricénefshares repurchased exceeds the average opgicakeds per share received from the
issuance of common stock.

Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial dataand as of the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was derivec
from our consolidated financial statements. Thifeing selected consolidated financial data shdmédead in conjunction with Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations,” and ltemRnancial Statements and
Supplementary Datagnd other financial data included elsewhere inrp®rt. Our historical results of operations asemecessarily indicati
of results of operations to be expected for anyriuperiod.

Years Ended December 31,

2013 (1) (2) 2012 (1) 2011 (2) 2010 (2) 2009
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Total revenue $ 271,50 $ 234,05. $ 312,36 $ 323,39( % 113,00
Net income (loss) $ (33,749 $ (134,33) $ (43,05) $ 150,91 $ (92,18¢)
Net income (loss) per share:

Basic $ (0.30 $ .21 $ (0.39 $ 134 % (0.8¢)
Diluted $ (0.30 $ (1.2)) $ (0.39 $ 1.3C $ (0.8¢)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securites $ 387,66: $ 203,33( $ 28945t $ 512,006 $  460,19:
Total assets $ 713,37¢ $ 587,81. $ 693,65 $ 663,17 $ 555,86¢
Convertible notes $ 273,67t $ 147,55¢ $ 133,49 $ 121,50C $ 248,04«
Stockholders’ equity $ 340,22¢ $ 32159: % 429,79:  $ 334,780 % 255,32

(1) The net loss for the years ended Decembe2@il3 and 2012 included $17.8 million and $35.5iomll respectively, of impairment of
goodwill and long-lived assets.

(2) The netincome (loss) for the years ended Bxbee 31, 2013, 2011 and 2010 included $0.5 mill&&2 million and $126.8 million,
respectively, of gain from settlement which wasaakd as a reduction of operating costs and exgens

Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

This report contains forward-looking statementshimitthe meaning of Section 27A of the SecuritieoAt933 and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statemelatte to our expectations for future events ane topariods. All statements other than
statements of historical fact are statements tbaldbe deemed to be forward-looking statementdiding any statements regarding trends ir
future revenue or results of operations, gross rimaogy operating marginexpenses, earnings or losses from operations, giggeor other
financial items; anstatements of the plans, strategies and objectifesanagement for future operations; any statemesgerning
developments, performance or industry ranking; stayements regarding future economic conditionpesformance; any statements
regarding pending investigations, claims or disjgiiny statements of expectation or belief; andstatements of assumptions underlying an
of the foregoing. Generally, the words “anticipdtéelieves,” “plans,” “expects,” “future,” “intend s,” “may,” “should,” “estimates,”
“predicts,” “potential,” “continue” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. Gumvrd-looking statements are based on
current expectations, forecasts and assumptionsaaadubject to risks, uncertainties and changesoimdition, significance, value and effect.
As a result of the factors described herein, anthexdocumentincorporated herein by reference, including, in fi@rlar, those factors
described under “Risk Factors,” we undertake noigdtion to publicly disclose any revisions to thésmvard-looking statements to reflect
events or circumstances occurring subsequentitgfthis report with the Securities and Exchangen@uossion.
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Business Overview

We are an innovative technology solutions compaay Ibrings invention to market. Our customers lagerour customizable platforms,
services and tools to improve, differentiate anckfarate the development of products and servi@esextensive technology portfolio
addresses the evolving power, performance andigecequirements of the mobile, cloud computing andnected device markets. Today, we
are driving innovations in memory, chip interfaeesl architectures, end-to-end security, and adwhbE® lighting, while Rambus Labs looks
to disruptions and opportunities in tomorrow’s higfowth markets. We generate revenue by licensimgnwventions and solutions and
providing services to market-leading companies.

While we have historically focused our efforts e tlevelopment of technologies for electronics nrgraad chip interfaces, we have been
expanding our portfolio of inventions and solutidasaddress additional markets in lighting, chig agstem security, as well as new areas
within the semiconductor industry, such as compuortat sensing and imaging. We intend to continuegvawth into new technology fields,
consistent with our mission to create great vaeugh our innovations and to make those technetogvailable through both our licensing
and non-licensing business models. Key to our &ffdmoth in our current businesses and in any mew af diversification, will be hiring and
retaining world-class inventors, scientists andieggys to lead the development of inventions aolrtelogy solutions for these fields of focus,
and the management and business support persaoeslgary to execute our plans and strategies.

We have four operational units: (1) Memory and tfatees Division, or MID, which focuses on the desidevelopment and licensing of
technology that is related to memory and interfa@sCryptography Research, Inc., or CRI, whicbuges on the design, development and
licensing of technologies for chip and system s&cand anticounterfeiting; (3) Lighting and Display Technolesj or LDT, which focuses ¢
the design, development and licensing of techneképr lighting; and (4) Chief Technology Office,©TO, which focuses on the design,
development and productization of emerging tectgie® As of December 31, 2013, MID, CRI and CTOensgnsidered reportable segments
as they met the quantitative thresholds for disgl®ss a reportable segment. The results of thainémg operating segment were shown unde
“All Other”. For additional information concernirgggment reporting, see Note 7, “Segments and Majstomers,” of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements of this Form 10-K.

Our strategy is to evolve from providing primanigtent licenses to providing additional technolqgypducts and services while creating
and leveraging strategic synergies to increasentexaNe believe that the successful executionisfstinategy requires an exceptional busines:
model that relies on the skills and talent of cupéyees. Accordingly, we seek to hire and retadmlg¢class scientific and engineering
expertise in all of our fields of technological € as well as the executive management and opgagrsonnel required to successfully
execute our business strategy. In order to atthectjuality of employees required for this businesslel, we have created an environment anc
culture that encourages, fosters and supportsnasedevelopment and innovation in breakthroughnetogies with significant opportunities
for broad industry adoption. We believe we havatme a compelling company for inventors and innagatvho are able to work within a
business model and platform that focuses on teoggalevelopment to drive strong future growth.

As of December 31, 2013, our semiconductor, lightgecurity and other technologies are covered 8y71U.S. and foreign patents.
Additionally, we have 837 patent applications pegdiSome of the patents and pending patent applicaare derived from a common parent
patent application or are foreign counterpart paa@plications. We have a program to file applmadi for and obtain patents in the United
States and in selected foreign countries whereelieue filing for such protection is appropriatedamould further our overall business strategy
and objectives. In some instances, obtaining apjateplevels of protection may involve prosecutgamtinuation and counterpart patent
applications based on a common parent applicafibelieve our patented innovations provide outarusrs with the ability to achieve
improved performance, lower risk, greater costetifeness and other benefits in their productssendices.

Our inventions and technology solutions are offécedur customers through either a patent licemseswlutions license. Today, our a
majority of our revenues are derived from patesgrises, through which we provide our customerseadie to use a portion of our broad
portfolio of patented inventions. The license pdeg our customers with a defined right to use moovations in the customer's own digital
electronics products, systems or services, ascgipdi. The licenses may also define the spec#id fof use where our customers may use or
employ our inventions in their products. Licensesagnents are structured with fixed, variable oylarid of fixed and variable royalty
payments over certain defined periods ranging fotouten years. Leading consumer product, semiadndand system companies such as
AMD, Broadcom, Freescale, Fujitsu, GE, Intel, LBicron, Panasonic, Renesas, Samsung, SK hynix, &Dliectronics and Toshiba have
licensed our patents for use in their own produbh& majority of our intellectual property in MIDas developed in-house and we intend to
expand our business strategy of monetizing our MiBllectual property to include the sale of selattllectual property. As any sales
executed under this expanded strategy represemwhpanent of our ongoing major or central operatamg activities, we will record the rela:
proceeds as revenue.
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We also offer our customers solutions licensesipgpert the implementation and adoption of our tetbgy in their products or services.
Our customers include leading companies such apé&daghting, GE, IBM, Panasonic, Samsung, Sony Boshiba. Our solutions license
offerings include a range of technologies for ipayation into our customers' products and syst®esalso offer a range of services as part o
our solutions licenses which can include know-howt technology transfer, product design and devedsynsystem integration, and other
services. These solutions license agreements megytwih a fixed price (non-recurring) component andoing royalties. Further, under
solutions licenses, our customers typically recéibenses to our patents necessary to implemesetbelutions in their products with specific
rights and restrictions to the applicable patef#barated in their individual contracts with us.

The remainder of our revenue is contract servieesrrue which includes license fees and enginesangces fees. The timing and amot
invoiced to customers can vary significantly depegan specific contract terms and can therefoxe leasignificant impact on deferred
revenue or account receivables in any given period.

We intend to continue making significant expendituassociated with engineering, marketing, gema@diladministration and expect that
these costs and expenses will continue to be #isem percentage of revenue in future periodsethar such expenses increase or decree
a percentage of revenue will be substantially ddpehupon the rate at which our revenue or expesisasge.

Executive Summary

During 2013, we signed license agreements with @diiporation, EchoStar, LS|, Micron, SK hynix, Staif€ SAS, STMicroelectronics,
and Tiempo SAS and expanded our agreements wids€ate and Samsung. As a result of the patenskcagreements with LSI, Micron, SK
hynix and STMicroelectronics, we settled all outstiag claims with them, including resolution of pase of our patented innovations.

In 2013, we also sold a portfolio of patent assetsering display technologies to a subsidiary odéia Research Corporation ("Acacia”).
part of this transaction, we received an initiagirapt payment and expect to receive subsequent @atgmvhen Acacia is successful in licen
that portfolio.

During 2013, we initiated a restructuring prograstated primarily to our LDT group as a result af tthange in our business strategy to
reduce our focus on the lower margin bulb produstilitionally, we curtailed our immersive mediatfidem spending. As a result of these
actions, we recorded a non-cash charge for theifmpat of goodwill of $17.8 million and a restrudng charge of $3.4 million. Under
generally accepted accounting principles, whercatirs of potential impairment are identified, camies are required to conduct a review of
the carrying amounts of goodwill and other longetivassets to determine if impairment exists. Welgoted this impairment review as a resull
of the change of our strategy.

Research and development continues to play a keyrrour efforts to maintain product innovatiofir engineering expenses in the
aggregate for the year ended December 31, 2018akemnt $17.7 million as compared to 2012 primanky th decreased accrual of retention
bonuses related to acquisitions of $11.9 millieecréased patent legal costs of $4.5 million, dee@g@rototyping costs of $3.0 million,
decreased stock-based compensation of $2.9 mélwoihdecreased headcount related costs of $1.&millie to lower average number of
employees in 2013, partially offset by $4.6 millimecrease in engineering costs which are includexbst of sales due to the introduction of
lighting products and $2.5 million increase in furgdfor our 2013 CIP which was higher than our 2C1P.

Marketing, general and administrative expenseberaggregate for the year ended December 31, 2&¥8aked $36.2 million as comparec
to 2012 primarily due to decreased litigation exqgenof $15.8 million, decreased headcount relaists ©f $5.0 million from lower average
number of employees in 2013, decreased expensas/anous cost saving measures (which resulte@aneised consulting expenses of $3.9
million, decreased costs related to sales and rtiagkevents and activities of $3.0 million and dexsed facilities expenses of $1.9 million),
decreased stock-based compensation expenses ohibé and decreased accrual of retention bono§&2.4 million related to acquisitions,
partially offset by $2.3 million increase in fundifor our 2013 CIP which was higher than our 201R.C

Trends

There are a number of trends that may have a rahieypact on us in the future, including but natitied to, the evolution of memory
technology, adoption of LEDs in general lightinge use and adoption of our inventions or techne®agind global economic conditions with
the resulting impact on sales of consumer eleatreystems.

We have a high degree of revenue concentratioh, auit top five customers representing approximai@bs, 68% and 66% of our revenue
for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 antl, 284pectively. As a result of renewing with Sangsin 2013 and settling with SK hynix
and Micron in 2013, Samsung, SK hynix and Microm @xpected to account for a significant portiomaf ongoing licensing revenue. For the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, revenueSamsun
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accounted for 10% or more of our total revenueaitheyear. For the year ended December 31, 201dnuevfrom Elpida, NVIDIA and
Samsung each accounted for 10% or more of our@¢ahue. We expect to continue to experiencefiigni revenue concentration for the
foreseeable future.

The particular customers which account for revesareentration have varied from period to period assult of the addition of new
contracts, expiration of existing contracts, rensveé existing contracts, industry consolidatior dne volumes and prices at which the
customers have recently sold to their customerss@lvariations are expected to continue in thesémable future.

The semiconductor industry is intensely competitime highly cyclical, limiting our visibility withrespect to future sales. To the extent tha
macroeconomic fluctuations negatively affect oungipal customers, the demand for our technology brasignificantly and adversely
impacted and we may experience substantial pedquktiod fluctuations in our operating results.

The royalties we receive from our semiconductotamers are partly a function of the adoption of mahnologies by system companies.
Many system companies purchase semiconductorsicmgaur technologies from our customers and ddiawe a direct contractual
relationship with us. Our customers generally dbprovide us with details as to the identity orwmk of licensed semiconductors purchased
by particular system companies. As a result, we thfficulty in analyzing the extent to which owtdire revenue will be dependent upon
particular system companies. System companiesifis&ese competitive pressure in their markets, Wwhie characterized by extreme
volatility, frequent new product introductions aragbidly shifting consumer preferences.

The highly fragmented general lighting industryiiglergoing a fundamental shift from incandescesitrielogy to cold cathode fluorescent
lights and LED driven technology due to the neecktiuce energy consumption and to comply with gowent mandates. LED lighting
typically saves energy costs as compared to egigtistalled lighting. Our LDT group's patents in[Edge-lit lightguide technology can be
applied in the design of next generation LED ligbtproducts.

During 2013, we changed our business strategycte@se our focus on general lighting technologistead of lower margin bulb products.
With this shift to focus on the general lightingnket, the strategy of the LDT group is to focusppaviding the market with novel, patented
light guide technologies and products to customérs are leading the transition to solid-state LE&Xdd lamps and fixtures.

Another recent shift in our business strategy réiggrour core display patents led us in 2013 tbassét of patent assets to Acacia where
Acacia can proceed independently with a licensimgymm. We have a proceeds-sharing program in pl@beAcacia upon their licensing of
these patent assets. We retain the rights to utsrcapplication techniques and may selectivelyagre with customers who need our roll-to-
roll manufacturing intellectual property and cagipfor extra-large display panel designs.

Global demand for effective security technologiestiues to increase. In particular, highly integdadevices such as smart phones and
tablets are increasingly used for applications irgtgisecurity such as mobile payments, contentgat@mn, corporate information and user ¢
Our CRI group is primarily focused on positionitg DPA countermeasures and CryptoFirewall™ techgyosmlutions to capitalize on these
trends and growing adoption among technology pestaed customers.

Our revenue from companies headquartered outsitteedfnited States accounted for approximately 708% and 67% of our total
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2013,2812011, respectively. We expect that revenuigetbfrom international customers will
continue to represent a significant portion of taal revenue in the future. To date, all of theereue from international customers have been
denominated in U.S. dollars. However, to the extieat such customers’ sales to their customera@rdenominated in U.S. dollars, any
royalties that we receive as a result of such sadafl be subject to fluctuations in currency exgerates. In addition, if the effective price of
licensed products sold by our foreign customereweiincrease as a result of fluctuations in theharge rate of the relevant currencies,
demand for licensed products could fall, whichumtwould reduce our royalties. We do not use fam@rinstruments to hedge foreign
exchange rate risk.

For additional information concerning internationatenue, see Note 7, “Segments and Major Custghuérsiotes to Consolidated
Financial Statements of this Form 10-K.

Engineering costs in the aggregate and as a pagenf revenue decreased in the year ended Dec@&hp2013 as compared to the prior
year. In the near term, we expect engineering ¢odie higher as we intend to continue to makestments in the infrastructure a
technologies required to maintain our product iratmn in semiconductor, lighting, security and ettezhnologies.

Marketing, general and administrative expenseblérafggregate and as a percentage of revenue detinabe year ended December 31,
2013 as compared to the prior year. In the pastitigation expenses have been high and diffitulpredict due
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to litigation stemming from the use of our invemso Because we have successfully negotiated settksmand license agreements with SK
hynix and Micron, we should no longer have matditiglation expenses for these matters. We curyesitll use, and in the future may use,
litigation to protect our patented technologiesiclifcould cause us to incur material litigation expes until such litigation is resolved. In
general, our results before courts and regulatodjds that relate to our intellectual property tggtould impact the terms upon which we are
able to secure new or renew existing licenses diotechnology.

With respect to our nolitigation marketing, general and administrativetsowe expect a decrease due to our restructplamg undertake
in 2012 and 2013.

Our investment in research and development prqjastsof litigation and any lower revenue from oustomers in the future, will
negatively affect our cash from operations.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, the percentage of total revenue represédmytedrtain items reflected in our

consolidated statements of operations:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Revenue:
Royalties 97.2% 99.2% 95.7%
Contract and other revenue 2.7% 0.7% 4.2%
Total revenue 100.C% 100.C% 100.C%
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue* 12.2% 12.1% 7.7%
Research and development* 43.£% 60.C % 37.C%
Marketing, general and administrative* 28.2% 48.1% 52.€%
Restructuring charges 2.L% 3.1% — %
Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets 6.5% 15.2% — %
Gain from sale of intellectual property (0.5% — % — %
Gain from settlement (0.2% — % (2.0%
Costs of restatement and related legal activities, 0.C% 0.1% 5.2%
Total operating costs and expenses 91.7% 138.¢ % 100.t %
Operating income (loss) 8.2% (38.60% (0.5%
Interest income and other income, net (0.6% 0.C% 0.2%
Interest expense (12.1% (11.9% (8.0%
Interest and other income (expense), net (12.9% (11.9% (7.9%
Loss before income taxes (4.9% (50.9% (8.9%
Provision for income taxes 8.C% 7.C% 5E%
Net loss (12.9)% (57.9% (13.9%
* Includes stock-based compensation:
Cost of revenue 0.C% 0.C% 0.2%
Research and development 2.4% 4.1% 3.4%
Marketing, general and administrative 3.1% 5.5% 5.4%

Segment Results

Revenue from the MID reportable segment increappdoaimately $17.0 million to $232.0 million foretyear ended December 31, 2013
from $215.0 million for the year ended DecemberZ11,2. The increase was primarily due to revenoegeized from new license agreements
signed with SK hynix, Micron, STMicroelectronicscahSI Corporation during 2013. The increased reeespartially offset by lower
Samsung royalties which were allocated to the @Rbrtable segment and lower royalties reported flesreased shipments related to DDR2
technologies and lower royalties from XBRDRAM associated with decreased shipments of thy BdayStatiore 3 product.

Segment operating income from the MID reportabtgreent increased approximately $18.6 million to $8048illion for the year ended
December 31, 2013 from $185.2 million for the yeaded December 31, 2012. The increase was printaréyto increase in revenue as
discussed above and decreased headcount relatstloeso fewer average number of employees in.2013

Revenue from the CRI reportable segment incregspbaimately $14.8 million to $32.6 million for theear ended December 31, 2013
from $17.8 million for the year ended DecemberZ112. The increase was primarily due to the new
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license agreement signed with STMicroelectronius,license agreement signed with Samsung and nalwagion and test equipment contracts
during 2013.

Segment operating income from the CRI reportaldensmt increased approximately $1.4 million to $1@iBion for the year ended
December 31, 2013 from $9.4 million for the yeadeshDecember 31, 2012. The increase was primauiytd increase in revenue as discu
above, partially offset by increased headcountedlaosts from additional employees to supportoytography development efforts.

There was no revenue from the CTO reportable segfoehoth the year ended December 31, 2013 and.2®dgment operating loss from
the CTO reportable segment decreased approxin2elymillion to $25.7 million for the year endedd@enber 31, 2013 from $28.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2012. The decreas@rimarily due to decreased headcount relatets clwe to fewer average number of
employees in 2013.

Revenue from the All Other reportable segment msee approximately $5.6 million to $6.8 million the year ended December 31, 2013
from $1.2 million for the year ended December 3112 The increase was primarily due to the roll-afiytroducts using our LED edge-lit
waveguide in 2013.

Segment operating loss from the All Other repoeasgment decreased approximately $4.7 milliorl&4bmillion for the year ended
December 31, 2013 from $18.1 million for the yeaded December 31, 2012. The decrease was pringardyto increase in revenue as
discussed above and gain from sale of portfolipatént assets covering lighting technologies du?idd3, partially offset by increase in cos
sales due to introduction of lighting products 01.3.

Revenue from the MID reportable segment decreggpebgimately $77.1 million to $215.0 million foretyear ended December 31, 2012
from $292.1 million for the year ended DecemberZ11,1. The decrease was primarily due to recogndfmne-time royalty revenue during
2011 from patent license agreements signed in 28&labsence of new technology development costia@012 and lower royalties reported
by certain customers in the semiconductor industiy lower royalties reported from decreased shipsnefated to DDR2 technologies and
lower royalties from XDR~ DRAM associated with decreased shipments of thy tayStatiore 3 product. The decreased revenue was
partially offset by revenue recognized from varioesv patent license agreements signed in 2012.

Segment operating income from the MID reportabtgrsent decreased approximately $64.4 million to $84&illion for the year ended
December 31, 2012 from $249.6 million for the yeaded December 31, 2011. The decrease was prirdaglyo decrease in revenue as
discussed above, partially offset by decreasendifig for our 2012 CIP which was lower than our RTIP.

Revenue from the CRI reportable segment incredggtlg to $17.8 million for the year ended DecemB&, 2012 from $17.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2011, primarily duete evaluation and test equipment contracts in 2012

Segment operating income from the CRI reportakdensmt decreased approximately $4.6 million to $8ilion for the year ended
December 31, 2012 from $14.0 million for the yeaded December 31, 2011. The decrease was prindaréyto a full year of CRI operating
expenses in 2012 as compared to 7 months in 201 hareased headcount related costs from additiemaloyees to support our cryptogra
development efforts.

There was no revenue from the CTO reportable segfoehoth the year ended December 31, 2012 and.2®dgment operating loss from
the CTO reportable segment increased approxim&tdy3 million to $28.1 million for the year endedd@mber 31, 2012 from $17.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2011. The incnwaseprimarily due to increased consulting expeasesincreased headcount related costs
from additional employees (including employees fiithi® Unity acquisition) to support our developmeffiorts.

Revenue from the All Other reportable segment desere approximately $1.7 million to $1.2 million fhe year ended December 31, 2012
from $2.9 million for the year ended December 3112 The decrease was primarily due to the absefeew technology development
contracts in 2012. The decreased revenue waslpaditset by a new license agreement signed in2201

Segment operating loss from the All Other repodat@lgment increased approximately $6.0 millionli®. $ million for the year ended
December 31, 2012 from $12.1 million for the yermded December 31, 2011. The increase was prindu#yto decrease in revenue as
discussed above, increased consulting expensds@edsed headcount related costs from additiongl@yees to support our development
efforts.
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Years Ended December 31, 2012 to 2013 2011 to 2012
2013 2012 2011 Change Change

(Dollars in millions)

Total Revenue

Royalties $ 264.1 $ 232.¢  $ 299.( 13.7% (22.9%
Contract and other revenue 7.4 1.7 13.4 NM=* NM*
Total revenue $ 2718 $ 2341 % 312.¢ 16.(% (25.)%

*  NM — percentage is not meaning

Royalty Revenue
Patent Licenses

Our patent royalties increased approximately $4fildon to $249.1 million for the year ended DeceanB1, 2013 from $208.7 million for
the same period in 2012. The increase was primduéyto revenue recognized from new license agreensgned with SK hynix, Micron,
STMicroelectronics and LS| Corporation during 2013.

Our patent royalties decreased approximately $58l®n to $208.7 million for the year ended DeceanBB1, 2012 from $267.6 million for
the same period in 2011. The decrease was prindu#yto recognition of one-time royalty revenueinig2011 from new patent license
agreements signed in 2011 and lower royalties tegdoy certain customers in the semiconductor imguliring 2012. The decreased revenue
was partially offset by revenue recognized fromows new patent license agreements signed in 2012.

We are continuously in negotiations for licensethyrospective customers. We expect patent rogalti# continue to vary from period to
period based on our success in adding new custoamergell as the level of variation in our custoshegported shipment volumes, sales price
and mix, offset in part by the proportion of custampayments that are fixed or hybrid in nature.

Solutions Licenses

Royalties from solutions licenses decreased apprabaly $8.7 million to $15.0 million for the yeamded December 31, 2013 from $23.7
million for the same period in 2012. The decreaas primarily due to lower royalties reported froetrkased shipments related to DDR2
technologies and lower royalties from XBDRDRAM associated with decreased shipments of thy BtayStatiore 3 product.

Royalties from solutions licenses decreased apprabdly $7.7 million to $23.7 million for the yeamded December 31, 2012 from $31.4
million for the same period in 2011. The decreaas primarily due to lower royalties reported froetrkased shipments related to DDR2
technologies and lower royalties from XBDRDRAM associated with decreased shipments of thy BtayStatiore 3 product.

In the future, we expect solutions royalties withtinue to vary from period to period based onaustomers’ shipment volumes, sales
prices, and product mix.

Royalty Revenue by Reportable Segment

Royalty revenue from the MID reportable segmenticilincludes patent and solutions license royaltieseased approximately $17.7
million to $231.7 million for the year ended DeceanBB1, 2013 from $214.0 million for the year en@etember 31, 2012. The increase was
primarily due to revenue recognized from new ligeagreements signed with SK hynix, Micron, STMi¢eoctonics and LS| Corporation
during 2013. The increased revenue is partiallgaifby lower Samsung royalties which were alloctdettie CRI reportable segment and lo
royalties reported from decreased shipments retat@DR2 technologies and lower royalties from XBRODRAM associated with decreased
shipments of the Sony PlayStatie product.

Royalty revenue from the CRI reportable segmememsed approximately $13.9 million to $31.2 millfon the year ended December 31,
2013 from $17.3 million for the year ended DecenBer2012. The increase was primarily due to the lieense agreement signed with
STMicroelectronics and the license agreement sigridtdSamsung during 2013.
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Royalty revenue from the All Other reportable seghiecreased slightly to $1.2 million for the yearded December 31, 2013 from $1.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Royalty revenue from the MID reportable segmenticivlincludes patent and solutions license roygltiesreased approximately $67.6
million to $214.0 million for the year ended DeceenB1, 2012 from $281.6 million for the year endlEtember 31, 2011. The decrease was
primarily due to recognition of ont@me royalty revenue during 2011 from patent liagreements signed in 2011 and lower royaltiesrteg
by certain customers in the semiconductor industiy lower royalties reported from decreased shipsnefated to DDR2 technologies and
lower royalties from XDR+ DRAM associated with decreased shipments of thy $tayStatiore 3 product. The decreased revenue was
partially offset by revenue recognized from varioesv patent license agreements signed in 2012.

Royalty revenue from the CRI reportable segment$i&s3 million for both the year ended December2BiL2 and the year ended
December 31, 2011.

Royalty revenue from the All Other reportable seghiecreased approximately $1.0 million to $1.1lio for the year ended December
31, 2012 from $0.1 million for the year ended Deben8B1, 2011. The increase was primarily due tewa license agreement signed in 2012.

Contract and Other Revenue

Contract and other revenue consists of revenue feasimology development as well as sale of LED didlgeeoducts. Contract and other
revenue increased approximately $5.7 million tet$illion for the year ended December 31, 2013 fi&in¥ million for the year ended
December 31, 2012. The increase was primarily duecreased revenue from roll-out of lighting prottuand services in 2013.

Contract and other revenue decreased approxintitély million to $1.7 million for the year endedd@enber 31, 2012 from $13.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2011. The decreas@rimarily due to absence of new technology kigweent contracts in 2012.

We believe that contract and other revenue willéase over time as we continue to roll out new lgpdducts to the market. Revenue from
technology development contracts will continueltctuate over time based on our ongoing contractgirements, the amount of work
performed, the timing of completing engineeringwhbles, and the changes to work required, akasaiew technology development
contracts booked in the future.

Contract and Other Revenue by Reportable Segments

Contract and other revenue from the CRI reportabtgnent increased approximately $0.9 million tet$iillion for the year ended
December 31, 2013 from $0.5 million for the yeadesh December 31, 2012, primarily due to new evadoand test equipment contracts in
2013. Contract revenue from the All Other repodia@gment increased approximately $5.5 millionsd $nillion for the year ended Decem
31, 2013 from $0.2 million for the year ended Deben8B1, 2012, primarily due to the roll-out of puets using our LED edgdii#-waveguide ir
2013. Contract revenue from the MID reportable segfndecreased approximately $0.7 million to $0.Bioni for the year ended December
2013 from $1.0 million for the year ended Decenfier2012, primarily due to the absence of new teldgy development contracts in 2013.

Contract and other revenue from the MID reportaelgment decreased approximately $9.4 million t0 $dillion for the year ended
December 31, 2012 from $10.4 million for the yemded December 31, 2011. Contract revenue from th@ther reportable segment
decreased approximately $2.7 million to $0.2 millfor the year ended December 31, 2012 from $2ligomfor the year ended December 31,
2011. Both decreases were primarily due to theradesef new technology development contracts in 2@Hhtract revenue from the CRI
reportable segment increased approximately $0.Homilo $0.5 million for the year ended December 3112 from $0.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011, primarily due to new eNi@in and test equipment contracts in 2012.
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Engineering costs:

Years Ended December 31, 2012 to 2013 2011 to 2012
2013 2012 2011 Change Change

(Dollars in millions)
Engineering costs

Cost of revenue $ 723 % 07 $ 4.8 NM* (86.9%
Amortization of intangible assets 25.¢ 27.1 18.€ (6.5)% 48.€ %
Stock-based compensation 0.C 0.C 0.€ 0.C% (96.5%
Total cost of revenue 33.2 28.¢ 24.1 17.1% 17.£%
Research and development 1114 131.( 105.2 (14.9% 24.5%
Stock-based compensation 6.€ 9.t 10.5 (31.0% (9.2%
Total research and development 118.( 140.f 115.3 (16.0% 21.4%
Total engineering costs $ 151z $  168< §  139¢ (10.5% 20.€ %

*  NM — percentage is not meaning

Engineering costs are allocated between cost efnay and research and development expenses. Gestaile reflects the portion of the
total engineering costs which are specifically deddo individual customer development and suppentices, costs of lighting products sols
well as amortization expense related to variousiaed intellectual property for patent licensindnefbalance of engineering costs, incurred fo
the development of applicable technologies, isgéito research and development. In a given pettiedallocation of engineering costs
between these two components is a function ofithieg of the development and implementation scheslof individual customer contracts.

For the year ended December 31, 2013 as compatkd same period in 2012, total engineering costsahsed 10.5% primarily due to
decreased accrual of retention bonuses relatectigsations of $11.9 million, decreased patent legats of $4.5 million due to cost saving
measures, decreased prototyping costs of $3.0omillue to cost saving measures, decreased stoek-bampensation of $2.9 million and
decreased headcount related costs of $1.8 millienta fewer average number of employees in 2018apw offset by $4.6 million increase in
engineering costs which are included in cost cdsdle to the introduction of lighting products &2db million increase in funding for our
2013 CIP which was higher than our 2012 CIP.

For the year ended December 31, 2012 as compatkd same period in 2011, total engineering costeased 20.8% primarily due to
increased headcount related costs of $11.4 milfmm additional employees to support our reseanthdevelopment efforts, increased
amortization expense of $9.1 million related t@mgible assets acquired since the second quarB&1df, increased consulting expenses of
million and increased accrual of retention bonus&sted to acquisitions of $4.9 million, offset $¢.2 million decrease in funding for our 2012
CIP which was lower than our 2011 CIP.

In the near term, we expect engineering costs tudleer as we intend to continue to make investmenthe infrastructure and technolog
required to maintain our product innovation in sesniductor, security and other technologies.

Marketing, general and administrative costs:

Years Ended December 31, 2012 to 2013 2011 to 2012
2013 2012 2011 Change Change

(Dollars in millions)
Marketing, general and administrative costs

Marketing, general and administrative costs $ 70.7 % 86.£ % 86.2 (18.1)% 0.2%
Litigation expense (2.6) 13.2 61.C NM* (78.9%
Stock-based compensation 8.2 13.C 16.€ (35.6% (23.9%

Total marketing, general and administrative costs $ 764 $ 1126 $ 1641 (32.1% (31.9%

*  NM — percentage is not meaning
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Marketing, general and administrative expensesidekxpenses and costs associated with trade spobls; relations, advertising,
litigation, general legal, insurance and other ratirly and administrative efforts. Litigation expes$iave historically been a significant por
of our marketing, general and administrative expsrad have been declining over the past thres.y€ansistent with our business model,
licensing and marketing activities aim to develotwengthen relationships with potential and aureistomers. In addition, we work with
current customers through marketing, sales andhieghefforts to drive adoption of their produdtat use our innovations and solutions, by
system companies. Due to the long business develoipeycles we face and the semi-fixed nature oketarg, general and administrative
expenses in a given period, these expenses ggnéoatiot correlate to the level of revenue in feiod or in recent or future periods.

For the year ended December 31, 2013 as compagll & total marketing, general and administrativets decreased 32.1% which
included a decrease in litigation expenses relateohgoing major cases of $15.8 million (primadiye to the reversals of accrued related
litigation costs of $9.0 million related to the $knix and Micron lawsuits) and a decrease in stoafed compensation of $4.6 million. Non-
litigation and non-stock based compensation relatatketing, general and administrative costs deeea8.1% for the year ended December
31, 2013 as compared to 2012, primarily due toetesad headcount related costs of $5.0 million fteerlower average number of employees
in 2013, decreased expenses from various costgaweasures (which resulted in decreased consuiipgnses of $3.9 million, decreased
costs related to sales and marketing events andtiast of $3.0 million and decreased facilitiepexses of $1.9 million) and decreased accrue
of retention bonuses of $2.4 million related towsijjions, partially offset by $2.3 million increa@ funding for our 2013 CIP, which was
higher than our 2012 CIP.

For the year ended December 31, 2012 as compagll i total marketing, general and administrativets decreased 31.4% which
included a decrease in litigation expenses relat@mgoing major cases of $47.8 million. Non-litiga and non-stock based compensation
related marketing, general and administrative c@stsined relatively flat for the year ended Decengi, 2012 as compared to 2011,
primarily due to increased headcount related aafs#8.2 million from the increase in average numdfegmployees to support our business
during 2012, increased accrual of retention bono§&4.8 million related to acquisitions, increasadortization expense of $1.1 million rels
to intangible assets acquired since the secondequafr2011 and increased costs related to satksnamketing events of $1.0 million, offset by
$8.1 million decrease in funding for our 2012 GMPjch was lower than our 2011 CIP.

In the future, marketing, general and administeatests will vary from period to period based oatifade shows, advertising, legal,
acquisition and other marketing and administrasigtvities undertaken, and the change in salesketiag and administrative headcount in any
given period. In the near term, we expect our liigation marketing, general and administrativetsao decrease due to our restructuring |
undertaken in 2012 and 2013. Litigation expensesapected to vary from period to period due tovémgability of litigation activities.

Restructuring charges:

Years Ended December 31, 2012 to 2013 2011 to 2012
2013 2012 2011 Change Change

(Dollars in millions)

Restructuring charges $ 58 § 73§ — (24.0% N/A*

*  N/A — not applicable

During 2013, we initiated a restructuring prograstated primarily to our LDT group as a result af tthange in our business strategy to
reduce our focus on the lower margin bulb produktilitionally, we curtailed our immersive mediatidam spending. As a result of these
actions, we recorded a restructuring charge of 88lbn related primarily to the reduction in wddtce. We expect to substantially complete
our restructuring activities related to this plantbe end of 2014. Additionally, we recorded a geanf $2.1 million during 2013 related
primarily to the consolidation of certain facilisi@nd the reduction in workforce which was pamwf approved 2012 plan.

During 2012, we initiated a restructuring programeduce overall corporate expenses which was &qgbéa improve future profitability k
reducing spending on marketing, general and adtratiise programs and refining some of our researchdevelopment efforts. As a result of
the restructuring program, we recorded a charg¥ ¢& million during 2012 related primarily to theduction in workforce, which included
approximately $1.8 million in early termination pagnts to certain employees related to their prevvietention bonus arrangements. Refer to
Note 16,"Restructuring Charges,” of Notes to ConsolidatéthRcial Statements of this Form 10-K for furthescdission.
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Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets:

Years Ended December 31, 2012 to 2013 2011 to 2012
2013 2012 2011 Change Change
(Dollars in millions)
Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets $ 17.¢ $ 35f § — (50.0% N/A*

*  N/A — not applicabl

During 2013, we recorded a charge for the impaitoéfong-lived assets of $9.7 million related pairify to our LDT group as a result of
the change in our business strategy to reducecousfon the lower margin bulb products. Additiopalte recorded a charge for the
impairment of goodwill of $8.1 million related taioMTD group as we curtailed our immersive medatfokrm spending. Under generally
accepted accounting principles, when indicatongadéntial impairment are identified, companiesraauiired to conduct a review of the
carrying amounts of goodwill and other long-livessats to determine if impairment exists. We coretlithis impairment review as a result of
the change in our strategy related to the groups.

During 2012, we recorded a charge for the impaitmeégoodwill and long-lived assets of $35.5 mifliwithin our LDT group. We
conducted this impairment review as a result ofctienge in our business strategy with less focut@imigher margin display technology
licensing and an increased focus on general lightehnologies. Refer to Note 6, “Intangible Assatd Goodwill,” of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements of this Form 10-K for furtbéscussion.

Gain from sale of intellectual property:

Years Ended December 31, 2012 to 2013 2011 to 2012
2013 2012 2011 Change Change
(Dollars in millions)
Gain from sale of intellectual property $ 14 % — — N/A* N/A*

*  N/A — not applicable

During 2013, we sold portfolios of our patent assmtvering lighting technologies. As part of thes@sactions, we received an initial
upfront payment and expect to receive subsequgmeats when Acacia is successful in licensing ploatfolio.

Gain from settlement:

Years Ended December 31, 2012 to 2013 2011 to 2012
2013 2012 2011 Change Change

(Dollars in millions)

Gain from settlement $ 0t § — $ 6.2 N/A* (100.0%

*  N/A — not applicabl

The settlements with SK hynix and Micron are midtiplement arrangements for accounting purposesa Ralltiple element arrangement,
we are required to determine the fair value ofdleenents. We considered several factors in detémmihe accounting fair value of the
elements of the settlement with SK hynix and th#esaent with Micron which included a third partgluation using an income approach (the
“SK hynix Fair Value” and "Micron Fair Value", resptively). The total gain from settlement relatedhe settlements with SK hynix and
Micron was $1.9 million and $3.3 million, respeetiy. During the year ended December 31, 2013, wegrized $0.5 million as gain from
settlement, which represents the portion of theh@hix Fair Value and Micron Fair Value of the casimsideration allocated to the resolution
of the antitrust litigation settlements. Refer tot&l 19, “Agreements with SK hynix and Micron,” obtés to Consolidated Financial Statement
of this Form 10-K for further discussion.

Costs of restatement and related legal activities:
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Years Ended December 31, 2012 to 2013 2011 to 2012
2013 2012 2011 Change Change

(Dollars in millions)

Costs of restatement and related legal activities, $ 0C $ 02 §$ 162 (92.2% (98.5)%

Costs of restatement and related legal activitiesist primarily of settlement payments, invesimataudit, legal and other professional
fees related to the 2006-2007 stock option invatitg and the filing of the restated financial staénts and related litigation.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, we recogaiz@éuimaterial amount of costs related to costestatement and related legal
activities as we resolved all outstanding derivatawsuits related to the 2006-2007 stock optimestigation as of the end of 2012. For the
year ended December 31, 2012, costs of restateandmelated legal activities were $0.2 million paitity due to litigation expense associa
with the derivative lawsuit related to the 2006-2@fock option investigation.

Interest and other income (expense), net:

Years Ended December 31, 2012 to 2013 2011 to 2012
2013 2012 2011 Change Change
(Dollars in millions)
Interest income and other income (expense), net $ (1.6 $ 0C $ 0.t NM* (89.5%
Interest expense (32.9 (27.5) (24.¢) 19.5% 10.£%
Interest and other income (expense), net $§ (G495 § (279 $ (249 25.6% 13.1%

*  NM — percentage is not meaning

Interest income and other income (expense), nasists primarily of interest income generated fiagestments in high quality fixed
income securities. Additionally, in the second deraof 2013, during our review of the fair valueaefr $2.0 million investment in a non-
marketable equity security of a private compangedeon the information provided by the private camp we determined that there was a
decrease in the security's fair value. The faivgalf the non-marketable equity security was ddtexthbased on an income approach, using
level 3 fair value inputs, as it was deemed toheenhost indicative of the security's fair valuecéudingly, we recorded an impairment charge
of $1.4 million related to our investment in thenamarketable equity security for the year endedebdzer 31, 2013.

Interest expense consists of interest expenseiat=bavith our imputed facility lease obligations the Sunnyvale and Ohio facilities and
non-cash interest expense related to the amodizafithe debt discount and issuance costs on%hednvertible senior notes due 2014 (the
“2014 Notes”) and the 1.125% convertible senioesatue 2018 (the “2018 Notesijhich were issued during the third quarter of 2Ci3well
as the coupon interest related to these noteshEgrears ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2@ldecmgnized $4.4 million, $4.1 million
and $3.3 million, respectively, of interest expemseonnection with the imputed financing obligaisan our statements of operations. We
expect our non-cash interest expense to increaadilt as the notes reach maturity. See Note 1anv€rtible Notes,bf Notes to Consolidat:
Financial Statements of this Form 10-K for addiibdetails.

Provision for income taxes:

Years Ended December 31, 2012 to 2013 2011 to 2012
2013 2012 2011 Change Change
(Dollars in millions)
Provision for income taxes $ 217 $ 16.5 $ 17:c 32.1% (4.€)%
Effective tax rate (180.9% (14.0% (66.9%

*  NM — percentage is not meaning

Our effective tax rate for the year ended Decer8ie2013 was different from the U.S. statutoryrabe applied to oypretax loss primaril
due to the valuation allowance on our U.S. defetagdassets and foreign withholding and incomedaeir effective tax rate for the years
ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011di#Enent from the U.S. statutory tax
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rate applied to our pretax loss primarily due t® ¥aluation allowance on our U.S. deferred taxtasfereign losses with no current tax benefit
recorded, and foreign withholding and income taxes.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, we paid wliirig taxes of $19.3 million. We recorded a prawisfor income taxes of $21.7
million which was primarily comprised of withholdirtaxes, other foreign taxes and current statestd@ the year ended December 31, 2012
we paid withholding taxes of $15.7 million. We reded a provision for income taxes of $16.5 millishich was primarily comprised of
withholding taxes, other foreign taxes and curstate taxes. For the year ended December 31, 2@lfaid withholding taxes of $16.6
million. We recorded a provision for income taxé$d7.3 million which was primarily comprised oftwholding taxes, other foreign taxes ¢
current state taxes.

As of December 31, 2013, we continued to maintaialaation allowance against our U.S. deferredassets. Management periodically
evaluates the realizability of our deferred taxetsdased on all available evidence, both posithenegative. The realization of deferred tax
assets is dependent on our ability to generatérft future taxable income during periods prmthe expiration of tax attributes to fully
utilize these assets. Based on all available ecielene determined that it was not more likely thahthat the deferred tax assets would be
realized. Should we achieve sustained taxable iedarthe future, we would release the valuatioovedince to recognize the deferred tax a:
which would provide a valuable benefit to us.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

December 31,

2013 December 31, 2012
(In millions)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3387 $ 149.(
Marketable securities 49.C 54.:
Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable siesuri $ 3870 § 203

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In millions)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 51.z $ 17.5) $ 53.C
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities $ (23 % 2€ $ (24.7)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities $ 140.¢  $ 1.7 $ (81.9)

Liquidity
We currently anticipate that existing cash, cadhvedents and marketable securities balances astuft@avs from operations will be

adequate to meet our cash needs for at least #hd denonths. Additionally, substantially all ofrocash and cash equivalents are in the Unite
States. Our cash needs for the year ended Dec&@hp2013 were funded primarily from cash colledtedn our customers.

We do not anticipate any liquidity constraints aesult of either the current credit environmenvgstment fair value fluctuations or the
repayment of the 2014 Notes in June 2014. Duriri@32@e issued the 2018 Notes, in part, to provgigdity for the repayment of the 2014
Notes. Additionally, we have the intent and abitityhold our debt investments that have unrealiasses in accumulated other comprehen
loss for a sufficient period of time to allow faraovery of the principal amounts invested. Addiihyy we have no significant exposure to
European sovereign debt. We continually monitorctelit risk in our portfolio and mitigate our ciedsk exposures in accordance with our
policies.

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities of $51.3 imillfor the year ended December 31, 2013 was pilyregdtributable to cash generated
from customer licensing. Changes in operating assad liabilities for the year ended December 8132primarily included decreases in
accrued litigation expenses primarily due to the-tme reversal of accrued SK hynix and Micron tedditigation costs and accrued salaries
and benefits and other accrued liabilities prinyadile to the payment of retention bonuses, offgetdzreases in prepaid expenses and other
assets.

Cash used in operating activities of $17.5 millfonthe year ended December 31, 2012 was primatifibutable to the net loss, adjusted
for certain non-cash items, of $14.4 million, whiobluded the payment of $8.6 million for the irgst related to the 2014 Notes, and changes
in operating assets and liabilities. Changes inaipey assets and liabilities for the year ended
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December 31, 2012 primarily included decreasesepaid expenses and other assets and accountdgpapdbaccrued litigation due to
payments of invoices, offset by increases in actaadaries and benefits and other accrued liaslitprimarily due to our commitment to
purchase intellectual property from Elpida.

Cash provided by operating activities of $53.0 imrillfor the year ended December 31, 2011 was pilyredtributable to changes in
operating assets and liabilities and the net Idfssted for non-cash items, including stock-basmdpensation expense, non-cash interest
expense, depreciation and amortization expensendelsan operating assets and liabilities for tharysded December 31, 2011 primarily
included increases in accounts payable, accrugdtiiin and decreases in prepaid expenses andasbets.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities of $2.3 milliam the year ended December 31, 2013 primarily stediof purchases of available-for-sale
marketable securities of $125.6 million, partialyset by maturities of available-for-sale marké¢adecurities of $119.6 million and proceeds
from the sale of intellectual property of $2.3 noifi.

Cash provided by investing activities of $2.6 moiflifor the year ended December 31, 2012 primadhsisted of proceeds from the
maturities of available-for-sale marketable se@sibf $183.1 million, partially offset by cash ¢pdor purchases of available-for-sale
marketable securities of $110.7 million and theugsitjon of Unity and other businesses of $46.3iami| net of cash acquired. In addition, we
paid $21.8 million to acquire property, plant amghiipment, primarily related to building improvemgaind computer equipment, and $1.7
million for intangible assets.

Cash used in investing activities of $24.1 millfonthe year ended December 31, 2011 primarily isted of cash paid for the acquisition
of CRI of $167.4 million, net of cash acquired, anochases of available-for-sale marketable seéesritf $174.0 million, partially offset by
proceeds from the maturities of available-for-sabrketable securities of $337.9 million. In additive paid $19.4 million to acquire property
and equipment, primarily computer equipment, mastyirand software.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $140.8iom for the year ended December 31, 2013. Weivedenet proceeds of $134.4 million
from the issuance of the 2018 Notes. Additionallg,received proceeds of $8.4 million from the issgaof common stock under our plans.

Cash provided by financing activities was $1.7 imnilfor the year ended December 31, 2012 primaliky to proceeds of $4.1 million from
issuance of common stock under equity incentivalaartially offset by $1.9 million for paymentsder installment payment arrangement
acquire fixed assets and $0.5 million related ®ghncipal payments against the lease financinigation.

Cash used in financing activities was $81.9 millionthe year ended December 31, 2011 as a refstie sepurchase in August 2011 from
Samsung of approximately 4.8 million shares of@ammon stock for an aggregate amount of $100.Gamipursuant to a put option exercis
by Samsung in accordance with the terms of a gtackhase agreement with Samsung dated Januar@10, Phis was partially offset by $8.8
million received from the landlord for the tenamprovements related to the lease in Sunnyvale &BB3nillion from issuance of common
stock under equity incentive plans. We also magengaits of $2.5 million under an installment paymgah to acquire intangible assets and
computer software and $0.5 million related to thagipal payments against the lease financing alilg.

Contractual Obligations

On December 15, 2009, we entered into a lease mgrador approximately 125,000 square feet of ef§pace located at 1050 Enterprise
Way in Sunnyvale, California commencing on Jul2Q10 and expiring on June 30, 2020. The office sfigmased for our corporate
headquarters, as well as engineering, marketingadministrative operations and activities. We hawe options to extend the lease for a
period of 60 months each and a one-time optiognminate the lease after 84 months in exchangarf@arly termination fee. Pursuant to the
terms of the lease, the landlord agreed to reingbussapproximately $9.1 million , which was recdiby the year ended December 31, 2011.
We recognized the reimbursement as an additionalifed financing obligation as such payment fromlénellord is deemed to be an imputed
financing obligation. On November 4, 2011, to betian for future expansion, we entered into anraafed lease for our Sunnyvale facility for
approximately an additional 31,000 square feepats commencing on March 1, 2012 and expiring oe B30, 2020. Additionally, a tenant
improvement allowance to be provided by the lardilsas approximately $1.7 million . On SeptemberZf8,2, we entered into a second
amended Sunnyvale lease to reduce the tenant imxmevt allowance to approximately $1.5 million . &amuary 31, 2013, we entered into a
third amendment to the Sunnyvale lease to surrethee31,000 square-foot space from the first amemdinack to the landlord and recorded a
total charge of $2.0 million related to the surrendf the amended lease.
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On March 8, 2010, we entered into a lease agreefoeapproximately 25,000 square feet of office amghufacturing areas, located in
Brecksville, Ohio. The office space is used for L®&ngineering activities while the manufacturipgse is used for the manufacturer of
prototypes. This lease was amended on Septemb2029,to expand the facility to approximately 5D,@6tal square feet and the amended
lease will expire on July 31, 2019. We have anaypto extend the Lease for a period of 60 months .

We undertook a series of structural improvementgaoly the Sunnyvale and Brecksville facilitiesdar use. Since certain improvements
to be constructed by us were considered strudiursture and we were responsible for any costramer for accounting purposes, we were
treated in substance as the owner of the congtruptioject during the construction period. At tloenpletion of each construction, we
concluded that we retained sufficient continuingpirement to preclude de-recognition of the buiddimder the FASB authoritative guidance
applicable to the sale leasebacks of real estatsush, we continue to account for the buildingweed real estate and to record an imputed
financing obligation for our obligation to the légavners.

Monthly lease payments on the facility are alloddtetween the land element of the lease (whicbhdsunted for as an operating lease) an
the imputed financing obligation. The imputed fingay obligation is amortized using the effectiveenest method and the interest rate was
determined in accordance with the requirementsalef lsaseback accounting. For the years ended Deredi, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , we
recognized in our Consolidated Statements of Ojpera$4.4 million , $4.1 million and $3.3 milliomespectively, of interest expense in
connection with the imputed financing obligationtbese facilities. At December 31, 2013 and 202 jmputed financing obligation balance
in connection with these facilities was $39.7 noilliand $45.9 million , respectively, which was pafity classified under long-term imputed
financing obligation.

In November 2011, we entered into a lease agreefmeapproximately 26,000 square feet of officecgpen San Francisco, California to be
used for CRI's office space and is treated as @natimg lease. This lease has a commencementidagbiary 1, 2012 and a lease term of 75
months from the commencement date. The annualrbas@cludes certain rent abatement and incremsasally over the lease term.

In connection with the June 3, 2011 acquisitiolCB, we are obligated to pay a retention bonusttain CRI employees and contractors,
subject to certain eligibility and accelerationyisoons including the condition of employment, imee equal amounts of approximately $16.7
million . The first and second payments were paidash during the second quarter of 2012 and 2@%Bectively, and the remaining payment
payable on June 3, 2014 will be paid in cash arkstéd our election. As of December 31, 2013, #raaining retention bonus commitment is
$16.9 million and may be forfeited in part or whblethe covered employees and contractors upomtaryi departure from employment or
discontinuation of services. Any amounts forfeiw@ll be accelerated and paid by us to a designeltadity. See Note 5, “Acquisitions,” of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements offtbisn 1(-K for additional information regarding the acqtimn of CRI.

On June 29, 2009, we entered into an Indenture Wigh Bank, National Association, as trustee, idpto the issuance by us of $150.0
million aggregate principal amount of the 2014 Notn July 10, 2009, an additional $22.5 millioraggregate principal amount of 2014
Notes were issued as a result of the underwritegscesing their overallotment option. The aggregatacipal amount of the 2014 Not
outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 w&a.Shillion , offset by unamortized debt discoah$8.5 million and $24.9 million ,
respectively, in the accompanying consolidatedrizasheets. The debt discount is currently beingréred over the remaining 6 months u
maturity of the 2014 Notes on June 15, 2014. Sde Mb, “Convertible Notes,” of Notes to Consolidhiénancial Statements of this Form 10-
K for additional details.

On August 16, 2013, we entered into an Indentutk WiS. Bank, National Association, as trusteegtia) to the issuance by us of $138.0
million aggregate principal amount of the 2018 NofEhe aggregate principal amount of the 2018 reesf December 31, 2013 was $138.0
million , offset by unamortized debt discount i2&4 million in the accompanying consolidated be¢éasheet. The unamortized discount
related to the 2018 Notes is being amortized ter@dt expense using the effective interest methiedthe remaining 56 months until maturity
of the 2018 Notes on August 15, 2018. See NotéQdnvertible Notes,” of Notes to Consolidated Fioiah Statements of this Form 10-K for
additional details.

As of December 31, 2013, our material contracdiibations are as follows (in thousands):
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Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter
Contractual obligations (1)
Imputed financing obligation (2) $ 4026( $ 5872 $ 6,01 $ 6,15¢ $ 6,30z $ 6447 $ 9471
Leases and other contractual obligations 8,45¢ 3,75: 2,10¢ 1,23 1,01¢ 34C —
Software licenses (3) 8,71¢ 5,47 2,86¢ 373 — — —
Acquisition retention bonuses (4) 18,08: 18,01z 70 — — —
Convertible notes 310,50( 172,50( — — — 138,00( —
Interest payments related to convertible
notes 12,07¢ 5,86t 1,55 1,55 1,55 1,552 —
Total $ 398,09 $ 211,48! $ 12,60¢ $ 9,31¢ $ 8,87 $ 146,33¢ $ 9,471

(1) The above table does not reflect possible gagsin connection with uncertain tax benefitspfraximately $18.8 million includin§12.6
million recorded as a reduction of long-term defdrtax assets and $6.2 million in long-term incaaxes payable, as of December 31,
2013 . As noted in Note 17, “Income Taxes,” of Natie Consolidated Financial Statements of this FDOAK, although it is possible that
some of the unrecognized tax benefits could béesettithin the next 12 months , we cannot reasgnagtimate the outcome at this time.

(2) With respect to the imputed financing obligatithe main components of the difference betwbheramount reflected in the contractual
obligations table and the amount reflected on tbesGlidated Balance Sheets are the interest oimiiieted financing obligation and the
estimated common area expenses over the futuredsedditionally, the amount includes the amen@éib lease and the amended
Sunnyvale lease.

(3) We have commitments with various software wador non-cancellable license agreements gegdralling terms longer than one year.
The above table summarizes those contractual dligaas of December 31, 2013 which are also ptedean our Consolidated Balance
Sheet under current and other long-term liabilities

(4) In connection with acquisitions, we are obi@ghto pay retention bonuses to certain employedsantractors, subject to certain eligibility
and acceleration provisions including the condittbemployment. The remaining $16.9 million of Qetention bonuses payable on June
3, 2014 will be paid in cash or stock at our ettt

Share Repurchase Program

In October 2001, our Board of Directors (the “Bdaw@pproved a share repurchase program of our camstaxk, principally to reduce the
dilutive effect of employee stock options. Unddstbrogram, the Board approved the authorizatiaeparchase up to 19.0 million shares of
our outstanding common stock over an undefinedpesf time. On February 25, 2010, the Board appit@vaeew share repurchase program
authorizing the repurchase of up to an additio2ahb illion shares. Share repurchases under trgrgamomay be made through open market,
established plan or privately negotiated transastio accordance with all applicable securitiesslanles, and regulations. There is no
expiration date applicable to the program. The sbare repurchase program replaces the programrengtthin October 2001.

On August 19, 2010, we entered into a share repsechgreement (the “Share Repurchase Agreemeniti’Yvid. Morgan Securities Inc., as
agent for JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Associationdon Branch (“*JP Morgan”) to repurchase apprmtely $90.0 million of our
common stock, as part of our share repurchase @modonder the Share Repurchase Agreement, we pieepdP Morgan the $90.0 million
purchase price in the third quarter of 2010 forabemmon stock and JP Morgan delivered to us apprabely 4.8 million shares of common
stock at an average price of $18.88 at the congpletf the Share Repurchase Agreement in Decemidéx. 20

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201&idwet repurchase any shares of our common stoedknour share repurchase
program. As of December 31, 2013, we had repurchasimulative total of approximately 26.3 millishares of our common stock with an
aggregate price of approximately $428.9 milliorcsithe commencement of the program in 2001. Asagielhber 31, 2013, there remained ar
outstanding authorization to repurchase approxip&t@ million shares of our outstanding commorckto

We record stock repurchases as a reduction tosttades’ equity. We record a portion of the purehpsce of the repurchased shares as ¢
increase to accumulated deficit when the pricénefshares repurchased exceeds the average opgicakeds per share received from the
issuance of common stock.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial caodiaind results of operations are based upon msatiolated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with accountingiples generally accepted in the United Statbe fgreparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgrat affect the reported amounts of assetslitias, revenue and expenses, and relatec
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.a@@rongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates,dnjuhose related to revenue recognition,
investments, income taxes, litigation and othettiogencies. We base our estimates on historicamapce and on various other assumptions
that are believed to be reasonable under the cstames, the results of which form the basis fatinggjudgments about the carrying value:
assets and liabilities that are not readily apgarem other sources. Actual results may diffenirthese estimates under different assumption
or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting poésiaffect our more significant judgments and esdtmased in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition
Overview

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, we have delivered the praotuserformed the service, the fee is
fixed or determinable and collection is reasonasgured. If any of these criteria are not met, @ferdrecognizing the revenue until such time
as all criteria are met. Determination of whethenat these criteria have been met may require nsake judgments, assumptions and
estimates based upon current information and listloexperience.

Certain revenue contracts consist of service fessaated with integration of our solutions inta oustomers’ products and fees associate
with providing training, evaluation and test equgrhto our customers. Under the accounting guidahttee deliverables have standalone
value upon delivery, we account for each deliveraalparately. When multiple deliverables includedri arrangement are separated into
different units of accounting, the arrangement @eration is allocated to the identified separati#ésubased on a relative selling price
hierarchy. We determine the relative selling pfaea deliverable based on our best estimate tihggirice (“‘BESP”). We have determined
that vendorspecific objective evidence of selling price foclkaleliverable is not available as there lacksresisbent number of standalone s
and third-party evidence is not a practical altéweadue to differences in our service offeringsmpared to other parties and the availability of
relevant third-party pricing information. We deténed BESP by considering our overall pricing olijget and market conditions. Significant
pricing practices taken into consideration inclode discounting practices, the size and volumeunft@ansactions, the customer demographic,
the geographic area where our services are solgyrme lists, our go-to-market strategy, historst@andalone sales and contract prices. The
determination of BESP is made through consultatith and approval by management, taking into caersition the go-to-market strategy. As
our go-to-market strategies evolve, we may modifyricing practices in the future, which couldui$n changes in relative selling prices. In
most cases, the relative values of the undeliveoadponents are not significant to the overall agesnent and are typically delivered within
twelve months after the core product has beena@slilz In such agreements, selling price is detexthiar each component and any difference
between the total of the separate BESP and totdtami consideration (i.e. discount) is allocateat@ta across each of the components in the
arrangement.

During 2013, we expanded our business strategyooifetizing our patent portfolio to include the saleselected intellectual property. Our
MID business continues to grow its patent portfaiial actively engage with various external patbemonetize the patent portfolio and
explore new revenue opportunities. As the salesiof patents developed by our MID business unieutids expanded strategy represents a
component of our ongoing major or central operajave record the related proceeds as revenue.t8stmales executed under this expandec
strategy represent a component of our ongoing naajoentral operations and activities, we will netthe related proceeds as revenue. We
recognize the revenue when there is persuasivemrsgdof a sales arrangement, fees are fixed omdietble, delivery has occurred and
collectibility is reasonably assured. These reaquésts are generally fulfilled upon closing of tregnt sale transaction.

Our revenue consists of royalty revenue and conénad other revenue derived from MID, CRI and LOJemting segments. Royalty
revenue consists of patent license and solutiocessie royalties. Contract and other revenue cansigixed license fees, fixed engineering 1
and service fees associated with integration oftechinology solutions into our customers’ prodastsvell as sale of LED edge-lit products.

Royalty Revenue

We recognize royalty revenue upon natification by customers and when deemed collectible. The tefrtie royalty agreements
generally either require customers to give us iwatifon and to pay the royalties within a specifiggtiod or are based on a fixed royalty that is
due within a specified period. Many of our custosneave the right to cancel their licenses. In
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such arrangements, revenue is only recognizecetesxttent that is consistent with the cancellatimvisions. Cancellation provisions within
such contracts generally provide for a prospeatasecellation with no refund of fees already rendithy customers for products provided and
payment for services rendered prior to the datmaatellation. We have two types of royalty rever(@gpatent license royalties and

(2) solutions license royalties.

Patent licenses We license our broad portfolio of patented invemsi to companies who use these inventions in thelolement and
manufacture of their own products. Such licensigigaments may cover the license of part, or albusfpatent portfolio. The contractual ter
of the agreements generally provide for paymenés am extended period of time. For the licensingagents with fixed royalty payments,
generally recognize revenue from these arrangenasrasnounts become due. For the licensing agreemithtvariable royalty payments
which can be based on either a percentage of salasmber of units sold, we earn royalties at imetthat the customers’ sales occur. Our
customers, however, do not report and pay royatiesd for sales in any given quarter until after tonclusion of that quarter. As we are
unable to estimate the customers’ sales in anyngiugrter to determine the royalties due to usiemegnize royalty revenues based on
royalties reported by customers during the quamerwhen other revenue recognition criteria are met

In addition, we may enter into certain settlemerfitgatent infringement disputes. The amount of m®ration received upon any settlement
(including but not limited to past royalty paymertgture royalty payments and punitive damages)lixated to each element of the settlemer
based on the fair value of each element. In additievenues related to past royalties are recodnipen execution of the agreement by both
parties, provided that the amounts are fixed ogmieihable, there are no significant undeliveredgattions and collectability is reasonably
assured. We do not recognize any revenues priexdoution of the agreement since there is no feliadsis on which we can estimate the
amounts for royalties related to previous periodassess collectability. Elements that are relwadyalty revenue in nature (including but not
limited to past royalty payments and future royg@éayments) will be recorded as royalty revenudédonsolidated statements of operations.
Elements that are not related to royalty revenuwainire (including but not limited to punitive dageaand settlement) will be recorded as gain
from settlement which is reflected as a separateitem within the operating expenses sectionénctinsolidated statements of operations.

Solutions licenses We develop proprietary and industry-standard pectslthat we provide to our customers under solstlmense
agreements. These arrangements include royaltlégshwan be based on either a percentage of salestber of units sold. We earn royalties
on such licensed products sold worldwide by outausrs at the time that the customers’ sales o€r customers, however, do not report
and pay royalties owed for sales in any given quantil after the conclusion of that quarter. As are unable to estimate the customers’ sale
in any given quarter to determine the royalties tues, we recognize royalty revenues based ontreyaeported by customers during the
quarter and when other revenue recognition crigmamet.

Contract and Other Revenue

We recognize revenue from the sale of LED edgertilucts when risk of loss and title have transféito customers provided all other
revenue recognition criteria have been met. Revénoue distributors is recognized on the shipmendelivery of the related products, provi
all other revenue recognition criteria have beeh @ar agreements with these distributors havedesmich are generally consistent with the
standard terms and conditions for the sale of codycts to end users, and do not provide for prbohiation or pricing allowances. We accrue
for sales returns and warranty based on the stdmdarket experience, none of which are currentlyeni.

We generally recognize revenue using percentagernpletion for development contracts related terges of our solutions that involve
significant engineering and integration servicas. &l license and service agreements accounteasfag the percentage-of-completion
method, we determine progress to completion usipgtimeasures based upon contract costs incurredaie evaluated use of output
measures versus input measures and have deterthatezlr output is not sufficiently uniform withsgect to cost, time and effort per unit of
output to use output measures as a measure ofgggr completion.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of the net tangible and idieiiie intangible assets acquired in each
business combination. Goodwill is not subject tameimation, but is subject to at least an annuséssment for impairment, applying a fair-
value based test. We perform our impairment aralysgoodwill on an annual basis during the foalarter of the year unless conditions a
that warrant a more frequent evaluation.

Goodwill is allocation to the various reporting tsnivhich generally operating segments. The goodmilairment test involves a two-step
process. In the first step, we compare the fanealf each reporting unit to its carrying valueeTair values of the reporting units are
estimated using an income or discounted cash fapgsoach.
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Under the income approach, we measure fair valtleeofeporting unit based on a projected cash fimthod using a discount rate
determined by our management which is commensuwigttethe risk inherent in our current business nho@er discounted cash flow
projections are based on our annual financial fstscdeveloped internally by management for useainaging our business. If the fair value
the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, gabds not impaired and no further testing is réed. If the fair value of the reporting unit is
less than the carrying value, we must perform #oesd step of the impairment test to measure tlwiahof impairment loss. In the second
step, the reporting unit's fair value is allocatedll of the assets and liabilities of the repagtunit, including any unrecognized intangible
assets, in a hypothetical analysis that calcutliedmplied fair value of goodwill in the same manas if the reporting unit was being acquirec
by a market participant in a business combinatiotine implied fair value of the reporting unit's@pwill is less than the carrying value, the
difference is recorded as an impairment loss.

Given the current economic environment and the tiaicgies regarding the impact on our businessgtban be no assurance that the
estimates and assumptions made for purposes gfomawill impairment testing in the fourth quartér2013 will prove to be accurate
predictions of the future. If our assumptions reljay forecasted revenues or operating margin eesot achieved, we may be required to
record goodwill impairment charges in future pesioghether in connection with the next annual impant testing or prior to that if any
change constitutes a triggering event outside ®@piriod when the annual goodwill impairment tegiérformed. It is not possible at this time
to determine if any such future impairment chargei result or, if it does, whether such charge iddoe material. We believe that the
assumptions and rates used in our impairment teseasonable. However, they are judgmental, andtians in any of the assumptions or
rates could result in materially different calcidas of impairment amounts.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised of existing tedgylcustomer contracts and contractual relatigsstand other intangible assets.
Identifiable intangible assets resulting from tkgusitions of entities accounted for using thechase method of accounting are estimated by
management based on the fair value of assets egtdilentifiable intangible assets are being amedtiover the period of estimated benefit
using the straight-line method and estimated udiefes ranging from 1 to 10 years.

We amortize long-lived assets over their estimatgful lives. We evaluate long-lived assets forampent whenever events or changes ir
circumstances indicate the carrying value of aetassly not be recoverable. The carrying value is@wverable if it exceeds the undiscou
cash flows resulting from the use of the assetimnelventual disposition. Our estimates of futuastcflows attributable to our long-lived assets
require significant judgment based on our histdrécal anticipated results and are subject to maotofs. Factors we consider important whict
could trigger an impairment review include sigrafit negative industry or economic trends, signifidass of clients, and significant changes
in the manner of our use of the acquired assetseostrategy for our overall business.

When we determine that the carrying value of timgitived assets may not be recoverable based ingoexistence of one or more of the
above indicators of impairment, we measure therisiempairment based on a projected discountsti iaw method using a discount rate
determined by our management to be commensuratehdgtrisk inherent in our current business mo#lelimpairment loss is recognized only
if the carrying amount of the lonliyed asset is not recoverable and exceeds itv&hire. Different assumptions and judgments coudtenially
affect the calculation of the fair value of our ¢plived assets.

2013 Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

During the fourth quarter of 2013, as a resulthef thange in business strategy for our LDT repgtinit to reduce its focus on the lower
margin bulb products, we revised our projected dsins for LDT, triggering an impairment analyser fong-lived assets.

As a result of the impairment analysis, we conatutthat our LDT asset group was not able to rectheicarrying amount of its assets.
Determining the fair value of an asset group wjudgmental in nature and requires the use offgignt estimates and assumptions,
considered to be Level 3 fair value inputs, inchgdcurrent replacement costs, revenue growth eatéperating margins, and discount rates,
among others. Accordingly, we were required to mak@ous estimates in determining the fair valuethe LDT asset group. Due to the hig
customized nature of the LDT manufacturing equiptyner primarily utilized the cost approach to estienthe fair value of its property, plant
and equipment. To determine the estimated fairevafiits property, plant and equipment, adjustnfiectiors, including cost trend factors, were
applied to each individual asset's original cosiraer to estimate current replacement cost. Thectreplacement cost was then adjusted for
estimated deductions to recognize the effects trideation and obsolescence from all causes, dsaw@édirect costs such as installation.
Where appropriate, we utilized a market approadstonate the fair value of the property, plant agdipment. This approach included the
identification of market prices in actual transant for similar assets based on asking pricessfaeta currently available for sale, as well as
obtaining and reviewing certain direct market valbased quoted prices with
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manufacturers and secondary market participantsifiafar equipment. Upon completion of this anaysie recorded an impairment charge of
$3.5 million , $0.5 million and $0.2 million for Bding and related improvements, machinery and @gent, and software in our LDT asset
group, respectively.

The estimated fair value of the LDT acquired erigtiechnology intangible assets was determineddbas¢he income approach, using
Level 3 fair value inputs, as it was deemed tohigenbhost indicative of the fair value in an orddrgnsaction between market participants.

Under the income approach we determined fair veaged on the estimated future cash flows resuitorg the licensing of the technology
underlying the intangible assets. The estimatel flaw/s in the income approach were discountedrbgstimated weighted-average cost of
capital which reflects the overall level of inhetreisk of the reporting unit and the rate of retamoutside investor would expect to earn. Upor
completion of this analysis, we recorded an impairtrcharge of $4.0 million in the fourth quartei26f.3 related to the acquired intangible
assets.

Also, during the fourth quarter of 2013, as a resfithanges in one customer's business, we reg¢@&4.5 million impairment charge
related to our CRI favorable contracts due to dilledn the projected discrete cash flows from¢hstomer.

The long-lived asset impairment charges for LDT @R aggregating to $9.7 million were included impairment of goodwill and long-
lived assets" in the Consolidated Statements of@ijoms. As of December 31, 2013, we had $12.9anikhnd $99.4 million of long-lived
assets remaining in our LDT and CRI asset growgspecitvely.

2013 Impairment of Goodwill

During the third quarter of 2013, we curtailed sumersive media platform spending. We conductethgoairment review as a result of 1
change of our strategy related to the immersiveiangldtform. As a result of this impairment revieme recorded a charge of $8.1 million to
fully impair goodwill related to the MTD reportingnit which was part of the Chief Technology Offit€ETO") reportable segment. The
goodwill impairment charge was reflected in "Impaént of goodwill and long-lived assets" in the Gaitlated Statements of Operations. We
estimated the fair value of the MTD reporting wrstng the income approach which was determinedyuséwvel 3 fair value inputs. The
utilization of the income approach to determine Yailue requires estimates of future operatingltesund cash flows discounted using an
estimated discount rate. Cash flow projectionsbaeed on management's estimates of revenue gratethand operating margins, taking into
consideration industry and market conditions. Tisealint rate used of 36% is based on a weightecgeeost of capital adjusted for the
relevant risk associated with the characteristfdb®@ business and the projected cash flows.

In the fourth quarter of 2013, we performed ourwigoodwill impairment analysis for the MID and QBporting units, which are the
only reporting units with goodwill.

As of December 31, 2013, the fair value of the Mé&Pporting unit, with $19.9 million of goodwill, egeded the carrying value of its net
assets by approximately 480%; the fair value ofGRa reporting unit, with $97.0 million of goodwiléxceeded the carrying value of its net
assets by approximately 44%. To arrive at the 8ashprojections utilized in the income approacte used the reporting unit’'s forecast of
estimated operating results based on assumpti@hsasulong-term revenue growth rates, costs aimiasts of future anticipated changes in
operating margins based on economic and markemiafiion. Key assumptions used to determine thevidire of the MID and CRI reporting
units at December 31, 2013, were the revenue groawdis for the forecast period and terminal yeaminal growth rates and discount rates.
Certain estimates used in the income approachveviaformation for new product lines with limiteh&ncial history and developing revenue
models which increase the risk of differences betwihe projected and actual performance. The diggate of 14% for MID and 21%r CRI
is based on the reporting units’ overall risk gefielative to other guideline companies, the répgrunits’ respective industry as well as the
visibility of future expected cash flows. The tenal growth rate applied to determine fair valueldoth reporting units was 3%, which was
based on historical experience as well as antiethatonomic conditions, industry data and long teuttook for the business. These
assumptions are inherently uncertain. We hypotalifiassumed, while holding all other assumptiomsstant, a combination of a one
percentage point increase in the discount rateaasmk percentage point decrease in the terminaltiyn@te used, both of which would resul
lower estimates of fair value, and concluded thatestimated fair value of the reporting unit woetdeed the carrying value by 413% for b
and 26% for CRI.

It is reasonably possible that the businesses qmrddrm significantly below our expectations ateterioration of market and economic
conditions could occur. This would adversely impaat ability to meet our projected results, whiduld cause the goodwill in any of our
reporting units or long-lived assets in any of asset groups to become impaired. Significant difiees between these estimates and actual
cash flows could materially affect our future ficéal results. If the reporting units are not suselsn commercializing new business
arrangements, if the businesses are unsuccessfiginimg new
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license agreements or renewing its existing licemggeements, or if we are unsuccessful in managingosts, the revenue and income for
these reporting units could adversely and matgradliate from their historical trends and couldsEgoodwill or long-lived assets to become
impaired. If we determine that our goodwill or leliged assets are impaired, we would be requiragd¢ord a non-cash charge that could have
a material adverse effect on its results of openatand financial position.

Income Taxes

As part of preparing our consolidated financiatestzents, we are required to calculate the incomexpense or benefit which relates to the
pretax income or loss for the period. In additiame, are required to assess the realization of tferrdel tax asset or liability to be included on
the consolidated balance sheet as of the repaltites.

As of December 31, 2013, our consolidated balaheetsncluded net deferred tax assets, before tiatuallowance, of approximately
$195.3 million, which consists of net operatingslasirryovers, tax credit carryovers, amortizatemployee stock-based compensation
expenses and certain liabilities, partially redubgdieferred tax liabilities associated with thewertible debt instruments. As of December 31
2013, a valuation allowance of $192.8 million regdicet deferred tax assets to $2.5 million. Managemeriodically evaluates the
realizability of our net deferred tax assets basedll available evidence, both positive and negaflhe realization of net deferred tax assets
dependent on our ability to generate sufficientifettaxable income during periods prior to the etjon of tax statutes to fully utilize these
assets. Our forecasted future operating resultbighdy influenced by, among other factors, assuomgtregarding (1) our ability to achieve 1
forecasted revenue, (2) our ability to effectiveignage our expenses in line with our forecasteemes and (3) general trends in the industrie
in which we operate.

We periodically evaluate the realizability of owtmleferred tax assets based on all available esgjdoth positive and negative. The
realization of net deferred tax assets is depenaieur ability to generate sufficient future tabeaincome during periods prior to the expirai
of tax statutes to fully utilize these assets. Viéégived both positive and negative evidence andmé@ied that there is a continued need for a
valuation allowance. As of December 31, 2013, weavie a cumulative loss position over the previtiuse years, which we considered
significant negative evidence. A sustained peribplrofitability in our operations is required befowe would change our judgment regarding
the need for a full valuation allowance againstmetrdeferred tax assets. Although the weight ghtiee evidence related to cumulative losse:
is decreasing as the uncertainty around litigasiettiement is reducing, we believe that this objett-measured negative evidence outweighs
the subjectivelydetermined positive evidence of future profitabibind, as such, we have not changed our judgmgatdimg the need for a f
valuation allowance on our deferred tax assethérlinited States in 2013. However, continued imenoent in our operating results,
conditioned on our MID, LDT or CRI reporting ungaccessfully commercializing new business arranggésnsigning new or renewing
existing license agreements and managing costk] tead to reversal of almost all of our valuatatowance as early as 2014. Until such ti
consumption of tax attributes to offset profitslwélduce the overall level of deferred tax assetgext to valuation allowance. Should we
determine that we would be able to realize our reimg deferred tax assets in the foreseeable fuuradjustment to our remaining deferred
tax assets would cause a material increase to iméoithne period such determination is made.

Significant management judgment is required in meit@ing the period in which the reversal of a véiloa allowance should occur. We
consider all available evidence, both positive aedative, such as historical levels of income arndré forecasts of taxable income amongst
other items in determining whether a full or pdntedease of a valuation allowance is requiredaddition, our assessments sometimes require
us to schedule future taxable income in accordaitteFASB Accounting Standards Codification (*“ASCG740 Income Taxes, to assess the
appropriateness of a valuation allowance whichh&rtequires the exercise of significant managenuelgment. We will continue to evaluate
the ability to realize, by jurisdiction, our defedrtax assets and related valuation allowancesquaderly basis based on our cumulative
income position and income trend as well as owr&iprojections of sustained profitability and wietthis profitability trend constitutes
sufficient positive evidence to support a reveddalur valuation allowance (in full or in part).

Tax attributes related to stock option windfall detions are not to be recognized until they reisudt reduction of cash taxes payable. The
benefit of these excess tax benefits will be reedria equity when they reduce cash taxes payaldewiWonly recognize a tax benefit from
stock-based awards in additional paictapital if an incremental tax benefit is reatizter all other tax attributes currently avaitahbve bee
utilized. In addition, we have elected to accowantthe indirect effects of stock-based awards bermtax attributes, such as the research tax
credits, through the consolidated statement ofatjmers as part of the tax effect of stock-basedpmneation.

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves wrtainties in the application of complex tax lavdaagulations in a multitude of
jurisdictions. Although ASC 740 Income Taxes, pdms further clarification on the accounting for eriainty in
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income taxes, significant judgment is required lnagement. If the ultimate resolution of tax uraieties is different from what is currently
estimated, it could materially affect income taypense.

Stock-Based Compensation

We maintained stock plans covering a broad rangmtential equity grants including stock optionspwmested equity stock and equity stock
units and performance based instruments. In addii@ sponsor an Employee Stock Purchase Plan PESRhereby eligible employees are
entitled to purchase Common Stock semi-annuallynbgns of limited payroll deductions, at a 15% alistt from the fair market value of the
Common Stock as of specific dates.

The accounting guidance for share-based paymemigres the measurement and recognition of compiensaxpense in our statement of
operations for all share-based payment awards mhoaoler employees, directors and consultants inndimployee stock options, nonvested
equity stock and equity stock units, and employeekspurchase grants. Stock-based compensatiomsgpe measured at grant date, based o
the estimated fair value of the award, reducedrbgstimate of the annualized rate of expecteditarfss, and is recognized as expense ove
employees’ expected requisite service period, gdliyarsing the straight-line method. In additidme taccounting guidance for share-based
payments requires the benefits of tax deductiorex@ess of recognized compensation expense tqbeted as a financing cash flow, rather
than as an operating cash flow as prescribed wprégious accounting rules. Our forfeiture rate espnts the historical rate at which our stock
based awards were surrendered prior to vestinga€beunting guidance for share-based paymentsresgfairfeitures to be estimated at the
time of grant and revised on a cumulative basisedessary, in subsequent periods if actual forkst differ from those estimates. See Note 1:
“Equity Incentive Plans and Stock-Based Compengdtiaf Notes to Consolidated Financial Statememtis Form 10-K for more
information regarding the valuation of stock-basethpensation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 3, “Recent Accounting Pronouncement,” atell to Consolidated Financial Statements of tbisnFLOK for a full description ¢
recent accounting pronouncements including theewspe expected dates of adoption.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MakRisk

We are exposed to financial market risks, primaaiiging from the effect of interest rate fluctoat on our investment portfolio. Interest
rate fluctuation may arise from changes in the m@skview of the quality of the security issuer thverall economic outlook, and the time to
maturity of our portfolio. We mitigate this risk lipvesting only in high quality, highly liquid instments. Securities with original maturities of
one year or less must be rated by two of the tim@astry standard rating agencies as follows: ABtgndard & Poor’s, P1 by Moody’s and/or
F-1 by Fitch. Securities with original maturitiesgreater than one year must be rated by two ofdhewing industry standard rating agencies
as follows: AA- by Standard & Poor’s, Aa3 by Moodynd/or AA- by Fitch. By corporate investment pgliwe limit the amount of exposure
to $15.0 million or 10% of the portfolio, whichevisrlower, for any single non-U.S. Government isshesingle U.S. Agency can represent up
to 25% of the portfolio. No more than 20% of theatortfolio may be invested in the securitiespfindustry sector, with money market fund
investments evaluated separately. Our policy reguinat at least 10% of the portfolio be in semsitvith a maturity of 90 days or less. We
may make investments in U.S. Treasuries, U.S. Aigancorporate bonds and municipal bonds and matBsmaturities up to 36 months.
However, the bias of our investment portfolio isdlr maturities. All investments must be U.S. @lollenominated. Additionally, we have no
significant exposure to European sovereign debt.

We invest our cash equivalents and marketable iiesun a variety of U.S. dollar financial instremts such as U.S. Treasuries, U.S.
Government Agencies, commercial paper and corpoiatts. Our policy specifically prohibits tradingcsrrities for the sole purposes of
realizing trading profits. However, we may liquidat portion of our portfolio if we experience urgseen liquidity requirements. In such a ¢
if the environment has been one of rising interatds we may experience a realized loss, simildriie environment has been one of declir
interest rates we may experience a realized garnfAecember 31, 2013, we had an investment piorhd fixed income marketable securit
of $359.1 million including cash equivalents. If rket interest rates were to increase immediatetyamformly by 1.0% from the levels as of
December 31, 2013, the fair value of the portfalmuld decline by approximately $0.1 million. Actuakults may differ materially from this
sensitivity analysis.

The fair value of our convertible notes is subjednterest rate risk, market risk and other faxtwe to the convertible feature. The fair
value of the convertible notes will generally irase as interest rates fall and decrease as intatestrise. In addition, the fair value of the
convertible notes will generally increase as ounemn stock price increases and will generally desseas our common stock price declines i
value. The interest and market value changes dfiedair value of our convertible notes but do ingpact our financial position, cash flows or
results of operations due to the fixed nature efdabt obligation.
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We invoice our customers in U.S. dollars. Althodlgé fluctuation of currency exchange rates may thpar customers, and thus indirec
impact us, we do not attempt to hedge this indiaact speculative risk. Our overseas operationsisiomsmarily of a design center in India and
small business development offices in Japan, KaneaTaiwan. We monitor our foreign currency expestiowever, as of December 31, 2(
we believe our foreign currency exposure is notemalt enough to warrant foreign currency hedging.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

See Item 15 “Exhibits and Financial Statement Salesd of this Form 10-K for required financial #tatents and supplementary data.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéwnting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresydesi to ensure that information required to belossd in the reports we file or submit
pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Act of E&3dmended (“Exchange Act”) is recorded, processedmarized and reported within the
time periods specified in the rules and forms ef $ecurities and Exchange Commission, and thatisfmtmation is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Cihiefcutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, &gpropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.

Management, with the participation of the Chief &ixévse Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaledithe effectiveness of the design anc
operation of our disclosure controls and procedasedefined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) oEttehange Act as of the end of the period
covered by this report. Based on this evaluation Ghief Executive Officer and Chief Financial @#i have concluded that, as of
December 31, 2013, our disclosure controls andgohaes were effective.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting as defined in Rules 13a-15
() and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our inéicontrol over financial reporting is the procdssigned by, or under the supervision of,
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial io#fr, and effected by our board of directors, managnt and other personnel, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynafitial reporting and the preparation of finansiatements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes; and includes those policies and procedimas t

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in ressie detail accurately and fairly reflect our sactions and dispositions of ass

(i) provide reasonable assurance that transactoa recorded as necessary to permit prepardtiomacial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #rad our receipts and expenditures are being malydrmaccordance with the
authorization of our management and directors; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding priéwe or timely detection of unauthorized acqusitiuse or disposition of our assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohaver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadéegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Chief Executive €ffiand Chief Financial Officer, we
conducted an assessment of the effectiveness dfiteunal control over financial reporting as ofd@enber 31, 2013. In making this
assessment, our management used the criteriardetrfinternal Control — Integrated Framework of 1982ued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis§iGDSO"). Based on the results of this assessnmeabagement has concluded that, as
of December 31, 2013, our internal control oveafficial reporting was effective based on the catarinternal Control — Integrated
Frameworkissued by the COSO.
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The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has beditealiby PricewaterhouseCoopers,
LLP, an independent registered public accounting,fas stated in their report which appears herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in internal control over fim@meporting during the last fiscal quarter thasimaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal controber financial reporting.
Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Goventce

The information responsive to this item is incogied herein by reference to our Proxy Statemerddo2014 annual meeting of
stockholders to be filed with the Securities angltange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A riet than 120 days after the end of the
fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Fo¥KL The information under the heading “Our ExeeaitDfficers” in Part |, Item 1 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K is also incorporateceiveby reference.

We have a Code of Business Conduct and EthicdlIfof aur directors, officers and employees. Oud€of Business Conduct and Ethics is
available on our website at http://investor.rambos/documentdisplay.cfm?DocumentlD=8379. To d&exe have been no waivers under ou
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. We will pagtamendments or waivers, if and when granteduofdnde of Business Conduct and
Ethics on our website.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information responsive to this item is incogied herein by reference to our Proxy Statemertdo2014 annual meeting of
stockholders to be filed with the Securities andlange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A ret than 120 days after the end of the
fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on FofvKl

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners alianagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information responsive to this item is incogied herein by reference to our Proxy Statemerddo2014 annual meeting of
stockholders to be filed with the Securities angltange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A riet than 120 days after the end of the
fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on FofrKl

ltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, aDatector Independence

The information responsive to this item is incogted herein by reference to our Proxy Statemertido2014 annual meeting of
stockholders to be filed with the Securities andlange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A ret than 120 days after the end of the
fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on FofvKl

ltem 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information responsive to this item is incogied herein by reference to our Proxy Statemeriido2014 annual meeting of
stockholders to be filed with the Securities angltange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A riet than 120 days after the end of the
fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on FofrKl

49




Table of Contents

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(& (1) Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statementshef Registrant and Report of PricewaterhouseCoadpd?s Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm, are included herewith:

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfinm 51
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&13012 52
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 53
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomssjlfor the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@id 54
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equitytlieryears ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 55
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeaied December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 56
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 57
Consolidated Supplementary Financial Data (unadyite 100

(& (2) Financial Statement Schedule

All schedules are omitted because they are notcgly or the required information is shown in Bieancial Statements or the notes
thereto.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Rasnimg.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated foalstatements listed in the index appearing uitden 15(a)(1) present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Ramlmes and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 x@wember 31, 2012, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for eacthefthree years in the period ended December 3B, in0donformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Ame#dso in our opinion, the Company maintained, inadterial respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 113, based on criteria establishedhiternal Control - Integrated Framewo(992)issuec
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (COSO). The Company's manageeesponsible for these
financial statements, for maintaining effectivesimal control over financial reporting and foratssessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in Maeagent's Report on Internal Control over Financigp&ting under Item 9A. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on theserfoia statements and on the Company's internataomter financial reporting based on our
integrated audits. We conducted our audits in alzore with the standards of the Public Company Aeting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan erfidrp the audits to obtain reasonable assuranmat alhether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement and whether effedtiternal control over financial reporting was ntained in all material respects. Our audits
of the financial statements included examiningadast basis, evidence supporting the amounts ianlbsures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, and evaluagngverall financial statement
presentation. Our audit of internal control oveaficial reporting included obtaining an understagdif internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weskexists, and testing and evaluating the desidoperating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk. Our audits also irtjueléorming such other procedures as we consideredssary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable lasisur opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesasuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegeinerally accepted accounting princip
A companys internal control over financial reporting inclisdbose policies and procedures that (i) pertathéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsofdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witibaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readnaassurance regarding prevention or timely detectf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegibecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
February 21, 2014
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RAMBUS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2013 2012
(In thousands, except shares and per share
amounts)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 338,69t $ 148,98-
Marketable securities 48,96¢ 54,34¢
Accounts receivable 2,251 52¢
Prepaids and other current assets 8,25: 10,52¢
Deferred taxes 20t 78¢
Total current assets 398,37: 215,17¢
Intangible assets, net 117,17. 153,17:
Goodwill 116,89¢ 124,96¢
Property, plant and equipment, net 72,64 86,90:
Deferred taxes, long term 4,797 4,45¢
Other assets 3,49¢ 3,131
Total assets $ 713,37¢  $ 587,81
LIABILITIES & STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 7,001 $ 7,91¢
Accrued salaries and benefits 33,44t 23,99.
Accrued litigation expenses 49¢ 9,82
Convertible notes, short-term 164,04 —
Other accrued liabilities 7,84¢ 12,40:
Total current liabilities 212,84. 54,13«
Convertible notes, long-term 109,62¢ 147,55t
Long-term imputed financing obligation 39,34¢ 45,91¢
Long-term income taxes payable 6,561 6,53:
Other long-term liabilities 4,76¢ 12,07¢
Total liabilities 373,15( 266,21¢
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 12 and 18)
Stockholders’ equity:
Convertible preferred stock, $.001 par value:
Authorized: 5,000,000 shares; Issued and outstgndmshares at December 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012 — —
Common Stock, $.001 par value:
Authorized: 500,000,000 shares; Issued and outistgnil1 3,459,390 shares at December 31, 2
and 111,525,021 shares at December 31, 2012 11z 112
Additional paid in capital 1,128,14 1,075,76
Accumulated deficit (787,72) (753,979
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (305) (300)
Total stockholders’ equity 340,22¢ 321,59:
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 71337¢ 587,81

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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RAMBUS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenue:
Royalties $ 264,11 $ 232,38 % 299,00
Contract and other revenue 7,39( 1,66¢€ 13,35¢
Total revenue 271,50: 234,05: 312,36:
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue* 33,21¢ 28,37: 24,08¢
Research and development* 117,98: 140,50: 115,69¢
Marketing, general and administrative* 76,44¢ 112,59 164,13:
Restructuring charges 5,54¢ 7,301 —
Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets 17,75: 35,47: —
Gain from sale of intellectual property (1,38¢) — —
Gain from settlement (53%) — (6,200
Costs of restatement and related legal activities, 19 244 16,18"
Total operating costs and expenses 249,03 324,48 313,89¢
Operating income (loss) 22,46¢ (90,439 (1,53¢)
Interest income and other income (expense), net (1,596 59 563
Interest expense (32,889 (27,510 (24,829
Interest and other income (expense), net (34,48)) (27,45)) (24,265
Loss before income taxes (12,019 (117,88Y (25,807
Provision for income taxes 21,73: 16,45 17,25:
Net loss $ (33,74 $ (134,33) $ (43,059)
Net loss per share:
Basic $ (0.30 $ 1.20) % (0.39)
Diluted $ (0.30) % 1.2 $ (0.39)
Weighted average shares used in per share catmsgati
Basic 112,41! 110,76¢ 110,04:
Diluted 112,41! 110,76¢ 110,04:

* Includes stock-based compensation:

Cost of revenue $ 19 $ 20 % 57t
Research and development $ 6,597 $ 9,54¢ $ 10,51¢
Marketing, general and administrative $ 8,36t $ 12,98( $ 16,90:

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)
Net loss $ (33,749 % (134,331) $ (43,059
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securitiespheax 5) 89 27
Total comprehensive loss $ (33,75) § (134,24) § (43,080

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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RAMBUS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated

Common Stock Other
Additional Paid- Accumulated Comprehensive
Shares Amount in Capital Deficit Gain (Loss) Total
(In thousands)
Balances at December 31, 2010 102,67¢ $ 102 % 911,63. $ (576,59) $ (362) $ 334,78:
Net loss — — — (43,053 — (43,053
Unrealized loss on marketable securities,
of tax — — — — 27) (27)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
options, equity stock and employee stock
purchase plan 1,371 1 10,09z — — 10,094
Net issuance of common stock due to CR
acquisition 6,22( 6 86,137 — — 86,14
Settlement of Samsurgybption related to tr
contingently redeemable common stock — — 13,50C — — 13,50(
Stock-based compensation — — 28,354 — — 28,354
Balances at December 31, 2011 110,267 11C 1,049,711 (619,64 (389 429,79:
Net loss — — — (134,33 — (134,33
Unrealized gain on marketable securities, net
of tax — — — — 89 89
Issuance of common stock upon exercise
options, equity stock and employee stock
purchase plan 1,258 2 3,499 — — 3,501
Stock-based compensation — — 22,54¢ — — 22,54¢
Balances at December 31, 2012 111,52¢ 112 1,075,76. (753,979 (300 321,59:
Net loss — — — (33,748 (33,748
Unrealized loss on marketable securities,
of tax — — — — (5) (5)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
options, equity stock and employee stock
purchase plan 1,934 1 7,864 — — 7,865
Stock-based compensation — — 14,981 — — 14,981
Equity component of 1.125% convertible
senior notes due 2018 — — 29,542 — — 29,542
Ba]ances at December 31, 2013 113,45§ $ 11z $ 1,128,141 $ (787,72) $ (305) $ 340,22(

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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RAMBUS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss $ (33,749 $ (134,330 $ (43,05
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plextiby (used in) operating activities:
Stock-based compensation 14,98: 22,54¢ 27,99¢
Depreciation 15,45 13,19( 11,89
Amortization of intangible assets 28,90¢ 30,34¢ 20,19:
Non-cash interest expense and amortization of atibiesdebt issuance costs 19,29¢ 14,69¢ 12,62:
Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets 17,75: 35,47: —
Impairment of investment in non-marketable equégsity 1,40(C — —
Deferred tax (benefit) provision 1,91¢ 3,72¢ (24¢€)
Non-cash restructuring 653 — —
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 364 8 —
Gain from sale of intellectual property (1,389 — —
Non-cash acquisition of patents — — (3,000
Change in operating assets and liabilities, neffefcts of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable (1,729 497 2,71¢
Prepaids and other assets 6,174 8,37¢ 8,81(
Accounts payable (1,549 (9,664 10,45:
Accrued salaries and benefits and other accrubditias (7,119 1,847 (74])
Accrued litigation expenses (9,329 (680) 6,44:
Income taxes payable (71€) (3,527 (1,047%)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 51,34 (17,496 53,03
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (6,939 (21,809 (19,43))
Acquisition of intangible assets (2,656 (1,700 (1,210
Purchases of marketable securities (125,559 (110,716 (173,999
Maturities of marketable securities 119,60( 183,08t 337,88
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities 11,02( — 33
Proceeds from sale of intellectual property angerty, plant and equipment 2,25k — —
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired — (46,27¢) (167,38)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (2,279) 2,58: (24,104
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of convertible senior notes 138,00( — —
Issuance costs related to issuance of convernmisnotes (3,609 — —
Proceeds received from issuance of common stoc&remdployee stock plans 8,391 4,10z 12,28:
Payments under installment payment arrangement (1,829 (1,929 (2,53)
Principal payments against financing lease obligati (17¢) (522) (45€)
Payment to redeem contingently redeemable comnook gursuant to the settlement
agreement with Samsung — — (100,001
Proceeds from landlord for tenant improvements — — 8,80(
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 140,78: 1,65¢ (81,90%)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casbatnts (13¢) 5) (42
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent 189,71. (13,260) (53,019
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 148,98 162,24 215,26:

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 338,69t $ 148,98: $ 162,24




Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for:

Interest $ 8,62
Income taxes, net of refunds $ 18,72(
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Non-cash obligation for property, plant and equipme $ —
Property, plant and equipment received and acdruadcounts payable and other accrued
liabilities $ 5,90¢
Common stock, net, issued pursuant to acquisition $ =

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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RAMBUS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Formation and Business of the Company

Rambus Inc. (the “Company” or “Rambus”), the innix@&technology solutions company that brings ini@nto market, was incorporated
in California in March 1990 and reincorporated iel@wvare in March 1997. In addition to licensing @ompany is creating new business
opportunities through offering products and servisbere its goal is to perpetuate strong compaeyating performance and long-term
stockholder value. The Company generates revenliednsing its inventions and solutions, whethethie form of patent licensing, solutions
licensing, services or products, to market-leadiognpanies.

While the Company has historically focused its eff@n the development of technologies for eleétmemory and chip interfaces, the
Company has been expanding its portfolio of invargiand solutions to address additional markethiimand system security as well as LED-
based lighting. The Company also is exploring nesas within the semiconductor space such as cotgnahsensing and imaging. The
Company intends to continue to identify disruptiansl opportunities in both traditional and new tehgy fields, consistent with its goal of
creating great value through its innovations anchéie those technologies available through botliciéasing and non-licensing business
models. Key to the Company's efforts, both in itsent businesses and in any new area of diveasidic, will be hiring and retaining world-
class inventors, scientists and engineers to lead¢velopment of inventions and technology sahgtifor these fields of focus, and the
management and business support personnel necéssxgcute its plans and strategies.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Financial Statement Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemientade the accounts of Rambus and its wholly owsgusidiaries, Rambus K.K.,
located in Tokyo, Japan, Cryptography Research, located in California, U.S.A., Unity SemicondoicCorporation, located in California,
U.S.A., Mozaik Multimedia, Inc., located in Califda, U.S.A., and Rambus Ltd., located in George A,0@rand Cayman Islands, British W
Indies, which includes Rambus Chip Technologiedi@nPrivate Limited, Rambus Deutschland GmbH, tedan Pforzheim, Germany,
Kamiyacho IP Holdings, Rambus Korea, Inc., locatefieoul, Korea and Rambus France, located in Heiasce. In addition, Rambus
International Ltd. and Rambus Delaware LLC are aldosidiaries. All intercompany accounts and tratisas have been eliminated in the
accompanying consolidated financial statementedimaents in entities with less than 20% ownershiiR&mbus and in which Rambus does
not have the ability to significantly influence thperations of the investee are accounted for ubiegost method and are included in other
assets.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith generally accepted accounting principleguiees management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amourassats and liabilities and disclosure of contihgssets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amountsvefnge and expenses during the reporting periodidhcesults could differ from those
estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year balances were reclassified tdamn to the current year’s presentation. Nonéheke reclassifications had an impact on
reported net income (loss) or cash flows for anthefperiods presented.

Revenue Recognition
Overview

Rambus recognizes revenue when persuasive evidéacearrangement exists, Rambus has delivereprdukict or performed the service,
the fee is fixed or determinable and collectiore@sonably assured. If any of these criteria ateneb, Rambus defers recognizing the revenue
until such time as all criteria are met. Determimabf whether or not these criteria have beenmmest require the Company to make
judgments, assumptions and estimates based up@ntinformation and historical experien

Certain revenue contracts consist of service fessaated with integration of Rambus' solutions itg customers’ products and fees
associated with providing training, evaluation &est equipment to its customers. Under the accogmfilidance, if the deliverables have
standalone value upon delivery, Rambus accountsdoin deliverable separately. When multiple dedibkrs included in an arrangement are
separated into different units of accounting, ttrarsgement consideration
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

is allocated to the identified separate units based relative selling price hierarchy. Rambus whaitees the relative selling price for a
deliverable based on its best estimate of sellngpd“BESP”). Rambus has determined that venderciie objective evidence of selling price
for each deliverable is not available as theredackonsistent number of standalone sales andghitgt evidence is not a practical alternative
due to differences in its service offerings compaweother parties and the availability of relevtnitd-party pricing information. Rambus
determined BESP by considering its overall priadigectives and market conditions. Significant pricpractices taken into consideration
include discounting practices, the size and volafteansactions, the customer demographic, thergpbic area where services are sold, price
lists, go-to-market strategy, historical standalsakes and contract prices. The determination @BE made through consultation with and
approval by management, taking into considerati@ngto-to-market strategy. As the go-to-market sgjias evolve, Rambus may modify its
pricing practices in the future, which could resalthanges in relative selling prices. In mosesashe relative values of the undelivered
components are not material to the overall arramgtrmnd are typically delivered within twelve mantfter the core product has been
delivered. In such agreements, selling price ism@ined for each component and any difference lerviee total of the separate BESP and
total contract consideration (i.e. discount) i®edited pro-rata across each of the componentg iarthngement.

During 2013, the Company expanded its businesgegiraf monetizing its patent portfolio to incluttee sale of selected intellectual
property. The Company's Memory and Interface Divig{"MID") business continues to grow its patenttfidio and actively engage with
various external parties to monetize the patertf@ar and explore new revenue opportunities. As ghles of such patents developed by the
MID business unit under this expanded strategyessgrts a component of the Company's ongoing mejerdral operations, the Company
records the related proceeds as revenue. As kst executed under this expanded strategy repr@semponent of the Company's ongoing
major or central operations and activities, it wétord the related proceeds as revenue. The Cgmygllmecognize the revenue when there is
persuasive evidence of a sales arrangement, fedsad or determinable, delivery has occurred emitéctibility is reasonably assured. These
requirements are generally fulfilled upon closirigh® patent sale transaction.

Rambus’ revenue consists of royalty revenue anttracinand other revenue derived from MID, Crypt@imaResearch Inc. ("CRI") and
Lighting and Display Technologies ("LDT") operatinggments. Royalty revenue consists of patentdieand solutions license royalties.
Contract and other revenue consists of fixed liedrss, fixed engineering fees and service feexmded with integration of Rambus’
technology solutions into its customers’ productsvall as sale of LED edge-lit products.

Royalty Revenue

Rambus recognizes royalty revenue upon notificahipits customers and when deemed collectible.t&hmas of the royalty agreements
generally either require customers to give Ramhmtidication and to pay the royalties within a sgiex] period or are based on a fixed royalty
that is due within a specified period. Many of Raisilcustomers have the right to cancel their liesn#n such arrangements, revenue is only
recognized to the extent that is consistent withdancellation provisions. Cancellation provisianthin such contracts generally provide for a
prospective cancellation with no refund of feegadly remitted by customers for products providetiayment for services rendered prior to
the date of cancellation. Rambus has two typesyalty revenue: (1) patent license royalties ands@utions license royalties.

Patent licenses - Rambus licenses its broad piartibpatented inventions to companies who useetigentions in the development and
manufacture of their own products. Such licensigigaments may cover the license of part, or alRarhbus' patent portfolio. The contractual
terms of the agreements generally provide for paymever an extended period of time. For the lizepagreements with fixed royalty
payments, Rambus generally recognizes revenuetfiese arrangements as amounts become due. Farahsihg agreements with variable
royalty payments which can be based on either eepgaige of sales or number of units sold, Rambus eayalties at the time that the
customers’ sales occur. Rambus’ customers, howdweanpt report and pay royalties owed for salemniy given quarter until after the
conclusion of that quarter. As Rambus is unablestomate the customersales in any given quarter to determine the rasitiue to Rambus
recognizes royalty revenues based on royaltiestegpdy customers during the quarter and when ath@mue recognition criteria are met.

In addition, Rambus may enter into certain settieismef patent infringement disputes. The amouroisideration received upon any
settlement (including but not limited to past rdyglayments, future royalty payments and punitismeges) is allocated to each element of th
settlement based on the fair value of each elenreaddition, revenues related to past royaltiesracognized upon execution of the agreeme
by both parties, provided that the amounts aralfixedeterminable, there are no significant un@éeéd obligations and collectability is
reasonably assured. Rambus does not recognizeea@yues prior to execution of the agreement simeeetis no reliable basis on which it can
estimate the amounts
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for royalties related to previous periods or asseflectability. Elements that are related to royaévenue in nature (including but not limited
to past royalty payments and future royalty paymsewill be recorded as royalty revenue in the ctidated statements of operations. Elem:
that are not related to royalty revenue in naturelfding but not limited to punitive damage anttleenent) will be recorded as gain from
settlement which is reflected as a separate lama vithin the operating expenses section in theaiated statements of operations.

Solutions licenses - Rambus develops proprietadyiraustry-standard products that it provides gcciistomers under solutions license
agreements. These arrangements include royaltlégshwan be based on either a percentage of safesyber of units sold. Rambus earns
royalties on such licensed products sold worldviigdts customers at the time that the customeisssaccur. Rambugustomers, however,
not report and pay royalties owed for sales ingimgn quarter until after the conclusion of thatdar. As Rambus is unable to estimate the
customers’ sales in any given quarter to deterriiaeoyalties due to Rambus, it recognizes roy@tenues based on royalties reported by
customers during the quarter and when other revesaagnition criteria are met.

Contract and Other Revenue

Rambus recognizes revenue from the sale of LED-&tdgeducts when risk of loss and title have sfamred to customers, provided all
other revenue recognition criteria have been meteRue from distributors is recognized on the skipnor delivery of the related products,
provided all other revenue recognition criteriad&een met. The Company's agreements with thetsibdisrs have terms which are generally
consistent with the standard terms and conditionghie sale of the Company's products to end uaadsdo not provide for product rotation or
pricing allowances. The Company accrues for sa&®sms and warranty based on the standard marketience, none of which are currently
material.

Rambus generally recognizes revenue using peraeofagpmpletion for development contracts relatelicenses of its solutions that
involve significant engineering and integrationvéegs. For agreements accounted for using the pege-of-completion method, Rambus
determines progress to completion using input measbased upon contract costs incurred.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of the net tangible and itfiafiie intangible assets acquired in each
business combination. Goodwill is not subject ta&imation, but is subject to at least an annusésasment for impairment, applying a fair-
value based test. The Company performs its impaitraealysis of goodwill on an annual basis durtmg fourth quarter of the year unless
conditions arise that warrant a more frequent etan.

Goodwill is allocated to the various reporting snithich are generally operating segments. The gidladwpairment test involves a two-
step process. In the first step, the Company coespie fair value of each reporting unit to its'gimg value. The fair values of the reporting
units are estimated using an income or discourast #iows approach.

Under the income approach, the Company measuresalaie of the reporting unit based on a projeci&sh flow method using a discount
rate determined by its management which is comnrateswith the risk inherent in its current businesxiel. The Company'’s discounted cash
flow projections are based on its annual finanftiedcasts developed internally by management ferimsnanaging its business. If the fair
value of the reporting unit exceeds its carryinigagoodwill is not impaired and no further tegtis required. If the fair value of the reporting
unit is less than the carrying value, the Compangtrperform the second step of the impairmenttitesteasure the amount of impairment loss
In the second step, the reporting unit's fair vadualocated to all of the assets and liabilitéshe reporting unit, including any unrecognized
intangible assets, in a hypothetical analysis ¢a&tulates the implied fair value of goodwill ireteame manner as if the reporting unit was
being acquired by a market participant in a busircesnbination. If the implied fair value of the ogping unit's goodwill is less than the
carrying value, the difference is recorded as gmainment loss.

In the third quarter of 2013, the Company perforraednterim goodwill impairment analysis due to thetailment of operations for its
Mobile Technology Division ("MTD") reporting unit ch resulted in an impairment of all of the MTpogting unit's goodwill. See Note 6,
"Intangible Assets and Goodwill" for further detailThe Company also performed its annual goodmitldirment analysis as of December 31,
2013 and determined that the fair value of the mémmp units with goodwill exceeded their carryinglwes.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised of existing tedgylcustomer contracts and contractual relatigsstaind other intangible assets.
Identifiable intangible assets resulting from tlgusitions of entities accounted for using thechase method of accounting are estimated by
management based on the fair value of assets egtdilentifiable intangible assets are
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being amortized over the period of estimated bénsfing the straight-line method and estimateduldies ranging from 1 to 10 years .

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment includes computeipagent, computer software, machinery, leaseholddwgments, furniture and fixtures
and buildings. Computer equipment, computer softwarachinery and furniture and fixtures are statezbst and generally depreciated on a
straight-line basis over an estimated useful Iff8 p3to 5, 7 and 3 years , respectively. Then@any undertook a series of structural
improvements to ready the Sunnyvale and Breckshaldities for its use. The Company concluded ftatequirement to fund construction
costs and responsibility for cost overruns resuletie Company being considered the owner of thiklings during the construction period
accounting purposes. Upon completion of constractioze Company concluded that it retained sufficeamtinuing involvement to preclude
de-recognition of the buildings under the Finangietounting Standards Board ("FASB") authoritatiugdance applicable to sale leaseback
for real estate. As such, the Company continueg¢ount for the buildings as owned real estatet@amelcord an imputed financing obligation
for its obligation to the legal owners. The builgénwill be depreciated on a straight-line basis aveestimated useful life of approximately 39
years. See Note 10, “Balance Sheet Details,” and Not¢@@8mmitments and Contingencies,” for additionetails. Leasehold improvements
are amortized on a straight-line basis over thetshof their estimated useful lives or the initietms of the leases. Upon disposal, assets and
related accumulated depreciation are removed flamatcounts and the related gain or loss is indlirdéhe results from operations.

Long-lived Asset Impairment

The Company evaluates long-lived assets (inclugnegerty, plant and equipment and intangible as$atsmpairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carryingevafian asset group may not be recoverable. Thgicarvalue is not recoverable if it
exceeds the undiscounted cash flows resulting frmuse of the asset group and its eventual disposihe Company’s estimates of future
cash flows attributable to its long-lived assetugp®require significant judgment based on its hisaband anticipated results and are subject t
many factors. Factors that the Company considepsiitant which could trigger an impairment reviewlutde significant negative industry or
economic trends, significant loss of clients, aigghiicant changes in the manner of its use ofabguired assets or the strategy for its overall
business.

When the Company determines that the carrying vafidlee long-lived asset groups may not be recdlerbased upon the existence of on
or more of the above indicators of impairment, @menpany measures the potential impairment basedpoojected discounted cash flow
method using a discount rate determined by the @ompo be commensurate with the risk inherentéGompany’s current business model.
An impairment loss is recognized only if the camg/amount of the long-lived asset group is notvecable and exceeds its fair value. The
impairment charge is recorded to reduce the preximpent carrying amount of the long-lived assetebaon the relative carrying amount of
those assets, though not to reduce the carryingianud an asset below its fair value. Differentuaaptions and judgments could materially
affect the calculation of the fair value of the delived assets. During 2013 , the Company recognéeimpairment of its long-lived assets
related to its LDT asset group and CRI favorabletiaet asset group. During 2012 , the Company m@ized an impairment of its long-lived
and intangible assets related to its LDT assetgr8ae Note 6, "Intangible Assets and Goodwill"ftother details. During 2011 , Rambus did
not recognize any impairment of its long-lived asse

Litigation

Rambus is involved in certain legal proceedingsdslaupon consultation with outside counsel handtsidefense in these matters and an
analysis of potential results, if Rambus belieVes & loss arising from such matters is probabdecam be reasonably estimated, Rambus
records the estimated liability in its consolidatie@dncial statements. If only a range of estimdésdes can be determined, Rambus records a
amount within the range that, in its judgment,aef$ the most likely outcome; if none of the estamavithin that range is a better estimate tha
any other amount, Rambus records the low end afathge. Any such accrual would be charged to expenthe appropriate period. Rambus
recognizes litigation expenses in the period incltihe litigation services were provided.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using an assefaility approach, which requires the recognitidrdeferred tax assets and liabilities for
expected future tax events that have been recagjaifferently in Rambus' consolidated financiakstaents and tax returns. The measuremer
of current and deferred tax assets and liabilisdsased on provisions of the enacted tax law hadffects of future changes in tax laws or 1
are not anticipated. A valuation allowance is ds&hbd when necessary to
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reduce deferred tax assets to amounts expectedreabzed based on available evidence.

In addition, the calculation of the Company's takilities involves dealing with uncertainties lmetapplication of complex tax regulations.
As a result, the Company reports a liability foresognized tax benefits resulting from uncertaingasitions taken or expected to be taken in
its tax return. The Company considers many faatdrsn evaluating and estimating its tax positiors @x benefits, which may require
periodic adjustments and which may not accurateficipate actual outcomes.

Stock-Based Compensation and Equity Incentive Plans

The Company maintained stock plans covering a braage of equity grants including stock options)vested equity stock and equity
stock units and performance based instrumentdditian, the Company sponsors an Employee StockHase Plan (“ESPP”), whereby
eligible employees are entitled to purchase Com8tock semi-annually, by means of limited payrolfidetions, at a 15% discount from the
fair market value of the Common Stock as of specifites.

The Company determines compensation expense aegbeidih restricted stock units based on the falu® of its common stock on the
date of grant. The Company determines compenseatipanse associated with stock options based ogsthmated grant date fair value metl
using the Black-Scholes Merton valuation model. Tlenpany generally recognizes compensation expgsisg a straight-line amortization
method over the respective vesting period for ag#ndt are ultimately expected to vest. Accordingtgck-based compensation expense for
2013, 2012 and 2011 has been reduced for estif@afeitures. When estimating forfeitures, the Compaonsiders voluntary termination
behaviors as well as trends of actual option farfes. The Company will only recognize a tax berfedim stock-based awards in additional
paid-in capital if an incremental tax benefit ialized after all other tax attributes currently ifalsle have been utilized. In addition, the
Company has elected to account for the indireetcésfof stocksased awards on other tax attributes, such ag#sarch tax credits, through
consolidated statement of operations as part ofatheffect of stock-based compensation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments witiginal maturity of threenonths or less at the date of purchase. The Compairytains
its cash balances with high quality financial ingtons. Cash equivalents are invested in hightgeg@nd highly-liquid money market securities
and certain U.S. government sponsored obligations.

Marketable Securities

Available-for-sale securities are carried at failue, based on quoted market prices, with the linegbgains or losses reported, net of tax,
in stockholders’ equity as part of accumulated otteenprehensive income (loss). The amortized cidebt securities is adjusted for
amortization of premiums and accretion of discototsaturity, both of which are included in interaad other income, net. Realized gains
losses are recorded on the specific identificatr@thod and are included in interest and other irgamat. The Company reviews its
investments in marketable securities for possitiieiothan temporary impairments on a regular b#fsigy loss on investment is believed ta
a credit loss, a charge will be recognized in ofpamna. In evaluating whether a credit loss on a deburity has occurred, the Company
considers the following factors: 1) the Companyt®nt to sell the security, 2) if the Company inteto hold the security, whether or not it is
more likely than not that the Company will be regdito sell the security before recovery of theusgs amortized cost basis and 3) even if
the Company intends to hold the security, whetiherod the Company expects the security to recdweentire amortized cost basis. Due to th
high credit quality and short term nature of themany’s investments, there have been no crediesosecorded to date. The classification of
funds between short-term and long-term is basedhmther the securities are available for use inatms or other purposes.

Non-Marketable Securities

The Company has an investment in a non-marketailarity of a private company which is carried agtcdhe Company monitors the
investment for other-than-temporary impairment eswbrds appropriate reductions in carrying valuenvhecessary. The non-marketable
security is classified within other assets in tbasolidated balance sheets.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash equivalents, accourttsivable and accounts payable approximate theiv&iies due to their relatively short
maturities as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 . Mablke securities are comprised of available-foe-s&icurities that are reported at fair value
with the related unrealized gains and losses imtlud accumulated other comprehensive income (lass)mponent of stockholders’ equity,
net of tax. Fair value of the marketable securises

61




Table of Contents
RAMBUS
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

determined based on quoted market prices. Thenfaiket value of the Company's convertible notestdiates with interest rates and with the
market price of the stock, but does not affectddweying value of the debt on the balance sheet.

Research and Development

Costs incurred in research and development, whicludle engineering expenses, such as salarieskatdd benefits, stock-based
compensation, depreciation, professional servindsozerhead expenses related to the general dewetdpf Rambus’ products, are expensec
as incurred. Software development costs are cagathbeginning when a product’s technological feiéisi has been established and ending
when a product is available for general releasmigtomers. Rambus has not capitalized any softderelopment costs since the period
between establishing technological feasibility gederal customer release is relatively short arsliel, these costs have not been material.

Computation of Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated Wididg the net income (loss) by the weighted avenagmber of common shares outstani
during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per shiarcalculated by dividing the earnings (loss}tm®/weighted average number of common
shares and potentially dilutive securities outstagduring the period. Potentially dilutive commsimares consist of incremental common
shares issuable upon exercise of stock optionslogem stock purchases, restricted stock and resdrigtock units, and shares issuable upo
conversion of convertible notes. The dilutive effetoutstanding shares is reflected in dilutechazays per share by application of the treasury
stock method. This method includes consideratiah®famounts to be paid by the employees, the anod@xcess tax benefits that would be
recognized in equity if the instrument was exeitiard the amount of unrecognized stock-based cosafien related to future services. No
potential dilutive common shares are included exdbmputation of any diluted per share amount véheet loss is reported. The Company
reported approximately 4.8 million shares issueBdamsung as contingently redeemable common stazkodihe contractual put rights
associated with those shares. As such, the Compsat/the two-class method for reporting earningsipare for those periods where the
contingently redeemable common stock was outstgn@intil August 2011) prior to Samsung's redemptibthe shares.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the ahangquity of a business enterprise during a defriem transactions and other events
and circumstances from non-owner sources, incluftirgign currency translation adjustments and Uizeg gains and losses on marketable
securities. Other comprehensive income (loss)phttx, is presented in the consolidated statenentemprehensive income (loss).

Credit Concentration

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , the Companyghk,a@sh equivalents and marketable securities iweested with various financial
institutions in the form of corporate notes, boadd commercial paper, money market funds, U.S.movent bonds and notes, and municipal
bonds and notes. The Company’s exposure to maskefor changes in interest rates relates primaailits investment portfolio. The Company
places its investments with high credit issuers dgdnvestment policy, attempts to limit the ambahcredit exposure to any one issuer. As
stated in the Company’s investment policy, it wilisure the safety and preservation of the Compamyested funds by limiting default risk
and market risk. The Company has no investmentsrdirated in foreign country currencies and theefsmot subject to foreign exchange
risk from these assets.

The Company mitigates default risk by investindpigh credit quality securities and by positionitgyportfolio to respond appropriately to a
significant reduction in a credit rating of any @ment issuer or guarantor. The portfolio incluolely marketable securities with active
secondary or resale markets to enable portfoligidity.

The Company's accounts receivable are derived femenue earned from customers located in the Wdbiraernationally. As of Decemb
31, 2013, one customer accounted for approxima@¥g of the total $2.3 million of accounts receivalllhe Company's accounts receivable
balance as of December 31, 2012 was not material.

Foreign Currency Remeasurement

The Company’s foreign subsidiaries currently useWhS. dollar as the functional currency. Remeasard adjustments for non-functional
currency monetary assets and liabilities are tededlinto U.S. dollars at the exchange rate ircetiethe balance sheet date. Revenue,
expenses, gains or losses are translated at thagavexchange rate for the period, and non-monetawgts and liabilities are translated at
historical rates. The remeasurement gains anddaddbese foreign
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subsidiaries as well as gains and losses fromgoreirrency transactions are included in other egpenet in the consolidated statements of
operations, and are not material for any periodsemted.

3. Recent Accounting Pronouncement

In July 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standaldate (“ASU”) No. 2013-11 “Presentation of an Ltognized Tax Benefit When a
Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Lassa Tax Credit Carryforward Exis” ASU No. 2013-11 is a new accounting standards
update related to the financial statement presentaf unrecognized tax benefits. The new accogrgiandards update provides that a liability
related to an unrecognized tax benefit would begmted as a reduction of a deferred tax assetrfet aperating loss carryforward, a similar
tax loss or a tax credit carryforward if such settént is required or expected in the event thertaiogax position is disallowed. The new
accounting standards update becomes effectiviaédo€Company on January 1, 2014 and it should beegpptospectively to unrecognized tax
benefits that exist at the effective date withaspective application permitted. The Company gpuiteis the adoption may result in equal
reductions to both deferred tax assets and lomg texes payable of approximately $4.7 million .

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013R&gorting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumute@ther Comprehensive
Income.” ASU No. 2013-02 requires an entity to dg@gate the total change of each component of atieprehensive income either on the
face of the income statement or as a separatosdigel in the notes. The new accounting standardisteipecame effective for the Company's
interim period ended March 31, 2013. The Compamptat! this new accounting standards update anadibgtion did not have any impact on
its financial position, results of operations osltdlows as the amounts reclassified out of accatadlother comprehensive loss were de
minimis.

4. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation asic and diluted loss per share:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
CRCS* Other CS** CRCS* Other CS** CRCS* Other CS**
Basic net loss per share:
Numerator:
Allocation of undistributed earnings $ — $ (33,749 $ — $ (134,33) $ (1,180 $ (41,879
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares
outstanding — 112,41! — 110,76 4,78¢ 107,02:
Basic net loss per share $ — (030 $ — 1.2)) $ (0.2 $ (0.39)
Diluted net loss per share:
Numerator:
Allocation of undistributed earnings for basit
computation $ — $ (33,749 $ — $ (134,33) $ (1,180 $ (41,879
Reallocation of undistributed earnings — — — — — —
Allocation of undistributed earnings for dilute
computation $ — $ (33,749 $ — $ (134,33) $ (1,180) $ (41,879
Denominator:
Number of shares used in basic computat — 112,41! — 110,76¢ 4,78¢ 107,02:
Dilutive potential shares from stock options,
ESPP, convertible notes, CRI retention
bonuses and nonvested equity stock and
stock units — — — — — —
Number of shares used in diluted
computation — 112,41! — 110,76! 4,78¢ 107,02:
Diluted net loss per share $ — $ 030 $ — $ (1.2]) $ 0.2 § (0.39)
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* CRCS — Contingently Redeemable Common Stock
**  Other CS — Common Stock other than CRCS

For the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 atid,26ptions to purchase approximately 7.3 millid2.2 million and 12.0 million
shares, respectively, were excluded from the cafimul because they were anti-dilutive after comangdegproceeds from exercise, taxes and
related unrecognized stock-based compensation egpEor the years ended December 31, 2013, 2QL2¢ , an additional 3.3 million ,
6.8 million and 4.1 million potentially dilutive ahes, respectively, have been excluded from thghteidl average dilutive shares because ther
was a net loss for the periods. These shares daclotle the Company’s 5% convertible senior noligs 2014 (the "2014 Notes") and 1.125%
convertible senior notes due 2018 (the "2018 Ntddie par amount of convertible notes is payablesish equal to the principal amount of
notes plus any accrued and unpaid interest andthigetin-the-money” conversion benefit featurets tonversion price above $19.31 and
$12.07 , respectively, per share is payable in,cgtgres of the Company’s common stock or a cortibmaf both. Refer to Note 11,
"Convertible Notes” for more details.

5. Acquisitions
Unity Semiconductor Corporation

On February 3, 2012, the Company completed itsisitigun of a privately-held company, Unity Semicaietbr Corporation (“Unity”), by
acquiring all issued and outstanding shares oftalagtiock of Unity. Under the terms of the merggre@ment, the purchase price was $35.0
million subject to certain post-closing adjustmeistshe purchase price which were applied as oétigeof the second quarter of 2012. In
addition to the purchase consideration, the Companged to pay an aggregate of $5.0 million innt&d@ bonuses to certain Unity employees
over three years . The retention bonus payouts sugsgect to the condition of employment, and thenefwere treated as compensation and
expensed as incurred on a graded attribution blses Company acquired Unity’s technology and afpltict of nonvolatile solid state memoil
patents. The solid state memory technology is ami@l successor to the current NAND flash techgpl@r could be otherwise deployed in
growing non-volatile memory market. Devices usinig technology are expected to achieve higher deriaster performance, lower
manufacturing costs and greater data reliabiligntNAND Flash. Unity is part of the MID reportalsegment. The Company incurred
approximately $0.6 million in direct acquisitionsts in connection with the acquisition which wexpensed as incurred.

The purchase price allocation for the businessiesd|is based on managemeng'stimate of the fair value for purchase accogntimrpose
at the date of acquisition. The fair value of teeeds acquired has been determined primarily lmgusiluation methods that discount the
expected future cash flows to present value usstignates and assumptions determined by managewmieict) is a level three fair value
measurement. The Company performed a valuatiomeofi¢t assets acquired as of the February 3, 204idg date. The purchase price from
the business combination was allocated as follows:

Total
(in thousands)
Cash $ 182
Property and equipment 51
Other tangible assets 36
Identified intangible assets 19,28(
Goodwill 15,45
Total $ 35,00(

The goodwill arising from the acquisition is prirtamttributed to synergies related to the comborabf new and complementary
technologies of the Company and the assembled aadkiof Unity. This goodwill is not expected todeductible for tax purposes. The
identified intangible assets assumed in the adiprisof Unity were recognized as existing technglbgsed upon their fair values as of the
acquisition date. The acquired intangible assets laa estimated average useful life of 10 years fiflee date of acquisition.

Other Acquisition Activities
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For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Compaeyeel into one additional business combinationtaradpatent and technology
acquisitions for $13.2 million to expand the Comygarxisting technology, which resulted in approaiety $8.1 million of goodwill, $4.1
million of intangible assets (weighted average ulsife of 6 years ) and $1.0 million of other atss& he business combination was part of the
Chief Technology Office ("CTO") reportable segment.

The consolidated financial statements include therating results of these businesses from thealaequisition. The acquired assets did
not generate any revenue during the reported perfeid forma results of operations for the 2012rtmss combinations have not been
presented because their effects were not materthet Company’s consolidated financial statements.

2011 Acquisition ActivityDuring the year ended December 31, 2011 , the Comaequired CRI for a total purchase price of $257.
million which consisted of cash of $168.8 milliondaapproximately 6.4 million of the Company's conmstock. The Company expensed the
related transaction costs amounting to approximé&@l9 million . The acquisition of CRI expands thempany's technologies available for
licensing with complementary technologies from @it include patented innovations and solutionséattent protection, network security
and anti-counterfeiting. As part of the acquisititte Company agreed to pay $50.0 million to cer@RI| employees and contractors in cash o
the Company's common stock, at the Company's qptiaT three years following June 3, 2011. The Ipase price from the business
combination was allocated as follows:

Total
(in thousands)

Cash $ 1,42¢
Accounts receivable 1,14(
Identified intangible assets 159,20(
Property and equipment 96&
Other assets 13:¢
Goodwill 96,99
Liabilities (2,619

Total $ 257,24.

Of the identified intangible assets, $12.2 milliwas recognized as favorable contracts which areigetjpatent licensing agreements wt
the Company has no performance obligations. Casived from these acquired favorable contractsmedlice the favorable contract
intangible asset over the estimated useful lifecwlié based on the expected payment dates retathd tinderlying favorable contracts.

6. Intangible Assets and Goodwill
2013 Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

During the fourth quarter of 2013, as a resulthef thange in business strategy for the LDT repgpuimit to reduce its focus on the lower
margin bulb products, the Company revised its ptejg cash flows for LDT, triggering an impairmenalysis for long-lived assets.

As a result of the impairment analysis, the Compaoncluded that its LDT asset group was not able¢over the carrying amount of its
assets. Determining the fair value of an assetmumit is judgmental in nature and requires theafsggnificant estimates and assumptions,
considered to be Level 3 fair value inputs, inchgdturrent replacement costs, revenue growth eatéperating margins, and discount rates,
among others. Accordingly, the Company was requivedake various estimates in determining theviaines of the LDT asset group. Due to
the highly customized nature of the LDT manufactgrequipment, the Company primarily utilized thstcapproach to estimate the fair value
of its property, plant and equipment. To deterntiveeestimated fair value of its property, plant agdipment, adjustment factors, including
cost trend factors, were applied to each indivigisslet's original cost in order to estimate cunreplacement cost. The current replacement
was then adjusted for estimated deductions to rezedghe effects of deterioration and obsolescémee all causes, as well as indirect costs
such as installation. Where appropriate, the Compiéitized a market approach to estimate the falu@ of its property, plant and equipment.
This approach included the identification of mankegtes in actual transactions for similar assetehl on asking prices for assets currently
available for sale, as well as obtaining and reingveertain direct market values based quoted grdéh manufacturers and secondary marke
participants for similar equipment. Upon completain
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this analysis, the Company recorded an impairmieatge of $3.5 million , $0.5 million and $0.2 noltifor building and related improvemer
machinery and equipment, and software in its LD3eaigroup, respectively.

The estimated fair value of the LDT acquired erigtiechnology intangible assets was determineddbais¢he income approach, using
Level 3 fair value inputs, as it was deemed tohigenhost indicative of the fair value in an orddrgnsaction between market participants.

Under the income approach the Company determiriedatue based on the estimated future cash fl@sslting from the licensing of the
technology underlying the intangible assets. Thieneged cash flows in the income approach wereodisted by an estimated weighted-
average cost of capital which reflects the ovdeadt! of inherent risk of the reporting unit ane ttate of return an outside investor would
expect to earn. Upon completion of this analysis, Eompany recorded an impairment charge of $4lmin the fourth quarter of 2013
related to the acquired intangible assets.

Also, during the fourth quarter of 2013, as a resfithanges in one customer's business, the Commpanrded a $1.5 million impairment
charge related to its CRI favorable contracts (rieféIntangible Assets" table below for furthesdliission on favorable contracts) due to a
decline in the projected cash flows from the custom

The long-lived asset impairment charges for LDT @f aggregating to $9.7 million were included impairment of goodwill and long-
lived assets" in the Consolidated Statements of@joms. As of December 31, 2013, the Company H&d9million and $99.4 million of long-
lived assets remaining in its LDT and CRI assetigsp respectively.

2013 Impairment of Goodwill

During the third quarter of 2013, the Company dlethits immersive media platform spending. The @any conducted an impairment
review as a result of the change of its stratetpted to the immersive media platform. As a restithis impairment review, the Company
recorded a charge of $8.1 million to fully impdietgoodwill related to the MTD reporting unit whiakas part of the CTO reportable segment.
The goodwill impairment charge was reflected inghirment of goodwill and long-lived assets" in thensolidated Statements of Operations.
The Company estimated the fair value of the MTDorépg unit using the income approach which wagiheined using Level 3 fair value
inputs. The utilization of the income approach étedmine fair value requires estimates of futureraping results and cash flows discounted
using an estimated discount rate. Cash flow prigjestare based on management's estimates of regeowth rates and operating margins,
taking into consideration industry and market ctinds. The discount rate used of 36% is basedweighted average cost of capital adjusted
for the relevant risk associated with the charésties of the business and the projected cash flows

In the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company perfatnte annual goodwill impairment analysis for thélvand CRI reporting units, which
are the only reporting units with goodwill.

As of December 31, 2013, the fair value of the Mé&porting unit, with $19.9 million of goodwill, egeded the carrying value of its net
assets by approximately 480% ; the fair value ef@RI reporting unit, with $97.0 million of goodWiexceeded the carrying value of its net
assets by approximately 44% . To arrive at the flashprojections utilized in the income approattte Company used the reporting unit’s
forecast of estimated operating results based simgstions such as long-term revenue growth ratess @and estimates of future anticipated
changes in operating margins based on economimainkkt information. Key assumptions used to deteerttie fair value of the MID and Cl
reporting units at December 31, 2013, were themeegyrowth rates for the forecast period and teahyiear, terminal growth rates and
discount rates. Certain estimates used in the ircapproach involve information for new product $irveith limited financial history and
developing revenue models which increase the figkfferences between the projected and actuabpednce. The discount rate of 14% for
MID and 21% for CRI is based on the reporting druterall risk profile relative to other guidelim®mpanies, the reporting units’ respective
industry as well as the visibility of future expedtcash flows. The terminal growth rate applieddtermine fair value for both reporting units
was 3% , which was based on historical experiesceedl as anticipated economic conditions, indugata and long term outlook for the
business. These assumptions are inherently uncertai

It is reasonably possible that the businesses qmrirm significantly below the Company's expeota or a deterioration of market and
economic conditions could occur. This would advigrsapact the Company's ability to meet its progettesults, which could cause the
goodwill in any of its reporting units or long-lideassets in any of its asset groups to become iethaBignificant differences between these
estimates and actual cash flows could materiafigcathe Company's future financial results. If taporting units are not successful in
commercializing new business arrangements, if treinesses are unsuccessful in signing new licegreements or renewing its existing
license agreements, or if the Company is unsuageissinanaging its costs, the revenue and incoméhfsse reporting units could adversely
and materially deviate from their historical trersosl could cause goodwill or long-lived assetsaoodme impaired. If the Company determine:
that its goodwiill
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or long-lived assets are impaired, it would be nemglito record a non-cash charge that could hawatarial adverse effect on its results of
operations and financial position.

2012 Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In August 2012, as a result of the change in bgsisérategy for the LDT reporting unit, the Compawised its projected cash flows for
LDT, triggering an interim impairment analysis afgglwill and longhved assets. The decline in the projected cashsfiwr LDT resulted fron
a change in business strategy with less focus@hitther margin display technology licensing andnaneased focus on its general lighting
technologies.

As noted above, the Company tested for impairntedbng-lived assets in LDT as of August 31, 2012 Company determined its long-
lived asset group to be its LDT reporting unit caiegd primarily of finite-lived intangible assetsdaproperty, plant and equipment.

As a result of the interim impairment analysis, @@mpany concluded that its LDT asset group washlat to recover the carrying amount
of its LDT assets. Determining the fair value ofeset group unit is judgmental in nature and reguhe use of significant estimates and
assumptions, considered to be Level 3 fair valpets including current replacement costs, reveraeith rates and operating margins, and
discount rates, among others. Accordingly, the Camgpvas required to make various estimates in ohixéng the fair values of the LDT asset
group. Due to the highly customized nature of tB Lmanufacturing equipment, the Company primartiliaed the cost approach to estimate
the fair value of its property, plant and equipmémt determine the estimated fair value of its prog plant and equipment, adjustment fact
including cost trend factors, were applied to eadividual asset's original cost in order to estenaurrent replacement cost. The current
replacement cost was then adjusted for estimatedatiens to recognize the effects of deterioratiod obsolescence from all causes, as wi
indirect costs such as installation. Where appat@rithe Company utilized a market approach tonesé the fair value of its property, plant.
equipment. This approach included the identifigatth market prices in actual transactions for samédssets based on asking prices for assets
currently available for sale, as well as obtairamgl reviewing certain direct market values basedegliprices with manufacturers and
secondary market participants for similar equipméipon completion of this analysis, the Companyrded an impairment charge of $5.8
million and $0.6 million for building and relateshprovements and software in its LDT asset grougpeetively.

The estimated fair value of the LDT intangible éasseas determined based on the income approacty Level 3 fair value inputs, as it v
deemed to be the most indicative of the Compaayrs/alue in an orderly transaction between mapketicipants. Under the income approach
the Company determined fair value based on thmastd future cash flows resulting from the licegsifithe technology underlying the
intangible assets. The estimated cash flows ifnt@me approach were discounted by an estimateghtesl-average cost of capital which
reflects the overall level of inherent risk of tteporting unit and the rate of return an outside#tor would expect to earn. Upon completion o
this analysis, the Company recorded an impairmleatge of $15.4 million in the third quarter of 20E2ated to the LDT intangible assets.

Accordingly a long-lived asset impairment charggragating to $21.8 million was included in "Impaént of goodwill and long-lived
assets" in the accompanying Consolidated Stateroé@gperations.

2012 Impairment of Goodwill

In addition to the annual goodwill impairment arsady the Company performed an event-driven intémipairment analysis of goodwill as
of August 31, 2012 as noted above.

The fair value of each of the reporting units watedmined using the income approach as discussaabne of the key assumptions usec
in applying the income approach includes discoates which ranged from 20% to 35% depending omeperting units' overall risk profile
relative to other guideline companies, the repgrtinits' respective industry as well as the viiipdf future expected cash flows.

Upon the completion of the goodwill impairment giséd as of August 31, 2012, the Company recordeahacash goodwill impairment
charge of $13.7 million relating to the LDT repagiunit. The goodwill impairment charge is includedimpairment of goodwill and long-
lived assets” in the accompanying ConsolidatedeStants of Operations.

Goodwill

The following tables present goodwill informatiasr ach of the reportable segments for the yeatedeBecember 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012 :
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Impairment
December 31, Addition to Charge of December 31,
Reportable Segment: 2012 Goodwill Goodwill (1) 2013
(In thousands)

MID $ 19,90 $ — % — % 19,90¢
CTO 8,07( — (8,070) —
CRI 96,99 = — 96,99

Total $ 12496 $ — 3 (8,070 $ 116,89
(1) The Company recorded a non-cash goodwill inmpeitt charge of $8.1 million related to the MTD repg unit as
discussed above.

As of December 31, 2013
Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Reportable Segment: Amount Impairment Losses Amount
(In thousands)

MID $ 19,90t % — 19,90t
CTO 8,07( (8,070 =
CRI 96,99 — 96,99
All Other 13,70( (13,700 —

Total $ 138,66¢ $ 21,770 $ 116,89¢

Impairment
December 31, Addition to Charge of December 31,

Reportable Segment: 2011 Goodwill (1) Goodwill (2) 2012
MID $ 4,45 $ 15,45 % — 19,90t
CTO — 8,07( — 8,07(
CRI 96,99 = — 96,99
All Other 13,70( — (13,700 —

Total $ 115,14¢ $ 23,52, $ (213,700 $ 124,96¢

(1) The addition to goodwill resulted from two busss combinations in the first quarter of 2012. [Set 5, “Acquisitions” for further details.
(2) The Company recorded a non-cash goodwill inmpaitt charge of $13.7 million related to the LDTagmg unit as

discussed above.

As of December 31, 2012

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Reportable Segment: Amount Impairment Losses Amount
MID $ 19,90t % — 19,90t
CTO 8,07( — 8,07(
CRI 96,99 — 96,99
All Other 13,70( (13,700 —
Total $ 138,66¢ $ (13,700 $ 124,96¢

Intangible Assets
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The components of the Company’s intangible assets Becember 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 veciadlaws:

As of December 31, 2013

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Useful Life Amount Amortization Amount

(In thousands)

Existing technology (1) 3to1l0years $ 186,20: $ (80,96) $ 105,24:
Customer contracts and contractual relationships (2 1to 10 years 31,09: (19,209 11,88¢
Non-compete agreements 3 years 30C (25¢) 42

Total intangible assets $ 217,59t §  (100,42) $ 117,17

(1) The Company recorded a non-cash intangible immzant charge of $4.0 million related to the LDTgp which has been netted from the
gross carrying amount and accumulated amortizdioaxisting technology.

(2) The Company recorded a non-cash intangible immgant charge of $1.5 million related to a favombbntract which has been netted from
the gross carrying amount and accumulated amadizéar customer contracts and contractual relstgps.

As of December 31, 2012

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Useful Life Amount Amortization Amount

(In thousands)

Existing technology (1) 3tol0years $ 191,81! $ (57,240 $ 134,57!
Customer contracts and contractual relationships to 1D years 32,65( (14,199 18,45¢
Non-compete agreements 3 years 30C (15€) 142

Total intangible assets $ 224,76¢  $ (71,59) $ 153,17:

(1) The Company recorded a non-cash intangible immgant charge of $15.4 million related to the LDiDgp as discussed
above which has been netted from the gross cargimgunt and accumulated amortization for existaaphology.

The favorable contracts (included in customer @wigrand contractual relationships) are acquiréehpéicensing agreements where the
Company has no performance obligations. Cash reddiom these acquired favorable contracts recheéatvorable contract intangible asset.
During 2013 and 2012 , the Company received $2lBomiand $5.1 milliorrelated to the favorable contracts, respectivelyoADecember 3:
2013 and 2012, the net balance of the favorabigract intangible assets was $1.0 million and $4il8on , respectively. The estimated useful
life is based on expected payment dates relatttbtéavorable contracts. The group of acquiredhigitale assets had an original estimated
weighted average useful life of approximately 7rgdeom the date of acquisition. Refer to Note Acduisitions” for additional details.

As of December 31, 2013, as part of the Compamsibss strategy of monetizing its patent portfianclude the sale of selected
intellectual property, the Company had $2.3 millanntangible assets classified as held for salaarily in the MID reportable segment
which the Company expects to sell by the middi2ai4.

In addition to the business acquisitions discussédbte 5, "Acquisitions”, the Company acquiredestpatents in 2013, 2012 and 2011
aggregating $2.5 million , $1.7 million , $4.2 nwt (only $1.2 million was paid in cash), respeetyv

Amortization expense for intangible assets forytbars ended December 31, 2013, 2012 , and 201$2®8 million , $30.3 million and
$20.2 million , respectively. The estimated futargortization expense of intangible assets as oébber 31, 2013 was as follows (amounts ir
thousands):
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Years Ending December 31: Amount
2014 $ 27,48
2015 25,34¢
2016 24,35¢
2017 23,73¢
2018 10,821
Thereafter 5,42(
$ 117,17.

7. Segments and Major Customers

Operating segments are based upon Rambus' integaatization structure, the manner in which itsrapens are managed, the criteria t
by its Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") teaduate segment performance and availability obsae financial information regularly
reviewed for resource allocation and performansessnent. Since the fourth quarter of 2012, thegaomhas four operating segments: (1)
MID, which focuses on the design, development &ehking of technology that is related to memorg emterfaces; (2) CRI, which focuses on
the design, development and licensing of technelépr chip and system security and anti-countémfgi(3) LDT, which focuses on the
design, development and licensing of technologiedighting; and (4) CTO, which focuses on the dasdevelopment and productization of
emerging technologies. For the year ended DeceB8he2013 , MID, CRI and CTO were considered refimetaegments as they met the
guantitative thresholds for disclosure as repoetakligments. The results of the remaining operagagent are shown under “All Other”. The
presentation of the 2012 and 2011 segment datbdesupdated accordingly to conform with the 20d4dghsent presentation.

The Company evaluates the performance of its segnb@sed on segment operating income (loss), whidbfined as customer licensing
income ("CLI") minus segment operating expensegmiamt operating expenses are comprised of direratipg expenses and the allocatio
certain engineering expenses.

CLI includes the Company's measure of the totat cagalties received from its customers underiésrising agreements with them and
product sales. In 2011, the Company bifurcatedltpyayments that it received from Samsung betweganue and gain from settlement,
which was reflected as reducing operating expemseX)13, the Company bifurcated royalty paymehé it received from SK hynix and
Micron between revenue and gain from settlemenighvwvas reflected as reducing operating expendes Cbmpany has combined revenue
from its customers, including Samsung, SK hynix Btcron, and the gain from the Samsung, SK hynid Elicron settlement as customer
licensing income to reflect the total amounts reegéifrom all of its customers for the periods preed. In addition, customer licensing income
includes other patent royalties received but nocbgaized as revenue and proceeds from sale ofeictighl property. In certain periods
presented, certain patent royalties received frauséomer was not recognized as revenue as nevalhue recognition criteria were met.
Additionally, since the third quarter of 2011, iempany has received patent royalty payments fremain patent license agreements assL
in the acquisition of CRI which were treated asofable contracts. Cash received from these acqtaremtable contracts reduced the favorable
contract intangible asset on the Company's balsineet. The Company has combined these cash rggltyents as CLI to reflect the total
amounts received from its customers.

Segment operating expenses do not include gain $edttement discussed above, marketing, generahdmihistrative expenses and the
allocation of certain expenses managed at the catptevel, such as stoddlased compensation, amortization, and certain bandsicquisitiol
costs. The “Reconciling Items” category includesséhunallocated marketing, general and adminigtratkpenses as well as corporate level
expenses. The presentation of the 2012 and 20Meseglata has been updated accordingly to confdtintie 2013 segment operating
income (loss) definition.

The tables below present reported segment operiatiogne (loss) for the years ended December 313 22012 and 2011 :
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Revenue

Gain from settlement

Other adjustment from revenue to CLI
Customer licensing income

Segment operating expenses

Segment operating income (loss)
Reconciling items

Operating income

Interest and other income (expense), net

Loss before income taxes

Revenue

Gain from settlement

Other adjustment from revenue to CLI
Customer licensing income

Segment operating expenses

Segment operating income (loss)
Reconciling items

Operating loss

Interest and other income (expense), net

Loss before income taxes

Revenue

Gain from settlement

Other adjustment from revenue to CLI
Customer licensing income

Segment operating expenses

Segment operating income (loss)
Reconciling items

Operating loss

Interest and other income (expense), net

Loss before income taxes

For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

MID CRI CTO All Other Total
(In thousands)
$ 232,04( 32,62F $ — 3 6,83¢ $ 271,50:
53t — — — 53¢t
5,00( 2,30¢ — 2,25( 9,55/
$ 237,57 34,92¢ % —  $ 9,08¢ $ 281,59
33,76¢ 24,14¢ 25,70: 22,50: 106,11¢
$ 203,81: 10,78( $ (25,709 $ (13,410 $ 175,47.
(153,009
$ 22,46«
(34,48))
$ (12,01
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012
MID CRI CTO All Other Total
(In thousands)
$ 215,04° 17,80¢ $ — % 1,19¢ $ 234,05:
7,50(C 5,16¢ — — 12,66:
$ 222,54 22,97 % — % 1,19¢ $ 246,71t
37,35 13,61: 28,10¢ 19,33( 98,40(
$ 185,19 9,36z $ (28,10 $ (18,139 $ 148,31t
(238,75()
$ (90,439
(27,45))
$ (117,88)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011
MID CRI CTO All Other Total
(In thousands)
$ 292,07: 17,351 % — 3 2,93t $ 312,36
6,20( — — — 6,20(
(3,000 2,25( — — (750)
$ 295,27: 19,60! $ — % 2,93¢ $ 317,81
45,67( 5,60¢ 17,77: 15,02t 84,07:
$ 249,60 13,990 $ (17,77) $ (12,08) §$ 233,74
(235,27
$ (1,53¢)
(24,26%)
$ (25,80)

The Company’s CODM does not review information relggg assets on an operating segment basis. Addltig the Company does not

record intersegment revenue or expense.

Revenue from the Company’s major customers reptiegeb0% or more of total revenue for the yearseehdecember 31, 2013, 2012 anc

2011 were as follows:
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Customer A (MID and CRI reportable segments)
Customer B (MID reportable segment)
Customer C (MID reportable segment)

* Customer accounted for less than 10% of totaénere in the period

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
33% 38% 30%

* * 11%

* * 10%

Revenue from customers in the geographic regiossdan the location of customers' headquartersfisllaws:

South Korea
USA

Japan
Europe
Canada
Asia-Other

Total

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)

$ 112,80¢ $ 88,97. $ 94,19°
80,65: 63,39¢ 103,36

51,15¢ 63,68¢ 97,72¢

15,98t 5,23¢ 1,992

7,89¢€ 7,75¢ 14,75(

3,00¢ 5,001 331

$ 271,50. $ 234,05, $ 312,36:

At December 31, 2013, of the $72.6 million of tgeoperty, plant and equipment, approximately 8#illion were located in the United
States, $0.7 million were located in India and $4illion were located in other foreign locations. Becember 31, 2012 , of the $86.9 million
of total property, plant and equipment, approxirya$85.8 million were located in the United Stat®$,0 million were located in India and

$0.1 million were located in other foreign locason

8. Marketable Securities

Rambus invests its excess cash and cash equivalemerily in U.S. government sponsored obligatiammmmercial paper, corporate notes
and bonds, money market funds and municipal natd$ands that mature within three years. As of Dexar 31, 2013 and 2012 , all of the
Company’s cash equivalents and marketable seaihtige a remaining maturity of less than one year.

All cash equivalents and marketable securitieckssified as available-for-sale. Total cash, @glivalents and marketable securities are
summarized as follows:

As of December 31, 2013

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Weighted Rate
(Dollars in thousands) Fair Value Amortized Cost Gains Losses of Return
Money market funds $ 300,60 $ 300,60 % —  $ — 0.01%
Corporate notes, bonds and commercial paper 58,49: 58,50° — (15) 0.15%
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities 359,09 359,11: — (15)
Cash 28,56¢ 28,56¢ — —
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sisurit $ 38766:. $ 387,67 $ — (15
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As of December 31, 2012

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Weighted Rate
(Dollars in thousands) Fair Value Amortized Cost Gains Losses of Return
Money market funds $ 126,57( $ 126,57 $ — $ — 0.01%
Corporate notes, bonds and commercial paper 57,34t 57,35¢ 4 (15) 0.17%
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities 183,91! 183,92¢ 4 (15)
Cash 19,41¢ 19,41¢ — —
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sisurit $ 20333 $ 20334 $ 4 3% ¢5)

Available-for-sale securities are reported at ¥aiue on the balance sheets and classified asvgillo

As of
December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
(Dollars in thousands)
Cash equivalents $ 310,13: $ 129,56
Short term marketable securities 48,96¢ 54,34¢
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities 359,09 183,91!
Cash 28,56¢ 19,41¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sisurit $ 387,66: $ 203,33(

The Company continues to invest in highly ratedliguaighly liquid debt securities. As of Decemig, 2013 , these securities have a
remaining maturity of less than one year. The Campelds all of its marketable securities as awddldor-sale, marks them to market, and
regularly reviews its portfolio to ensure adheretwis investment policy and to monitor individuavestments for risk analysis, proper
valuation, and unrealized losses that may be dktzer temporary.

The estimated fair value of cash equivalents andketable securities classified by the length ofetitihat the securities have been in a
continuous unrealized loss position at DecembeRB13 and 2012 are as follows:

Fair Value Gross Unrealized Loss
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2013 2012 2013 2012

(In thousands)
Less than one year
Corporate notes, bonds and commercial paper $ 53,49. $ 51,81¢ $ (15 $ (15)

The gross unrealized loss at December 31, 2012@h2 was not material in relation to the Compangtal available-forsale portfolio. Th
gross unrealized loss can be primarily attributed tombination of market conditions as well asdbmand for and duration of the corporate
notes and bonds. The Company has no intent tatisetk is no requirement to sell and the Compalig\®s that it can recover the amortized
cost of these investments. The Company has foureligence of impairment due to credit losses ipdgfolio. Therefore, these unrealized
losses were recorded in other comprehensive in¢toag). However, the Company cannot provide anyrasge that its portfolio of cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities will notrhpacted by adverse conditions in the financial mkwhich may require the Company in
future to record an impairment charge for credisks which could adversely impact its financialiites

See Note 9, “Fair Value of Financial Instrumenfsj’discussion regarding the fair value of the Camys cash equivalents and marketable
securities.

9. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value measurement statement defines &irevas the price that would be received fromrsglin asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market partidipahthe measurement date. When determining &hirey the Company considers the
principal or most advantageous market in which@benpany would transact, and the Company considstsmaptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, sastinherent risk, transfer restrictions, and askon-performance.
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The Companys financial instruments are measured and recordfair aalue, except for cost method investment emvertible notes. T
Company’s non-financial assets, such as goodwitngible assets, and property, plant and equipraemimeasured at fair value when there i
an indicator of impairment and recorded at faitueabnly when an impairment charge is recognized.

Fair Value Hierarchy

The fair value measurement statement requiresodigid that establishes a framework for measurimy#édue and expands disclosure ab
fair value measurements. The statement requiresdhie measurement be classified and disclosedénof the following three categories:

Level 1:Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets thabacessible at the measurement date for identinegstricted assets or liabilities.
The Company uses unadjusted quotes to determineafaie. The financial assets in Level 1 includenmpmarket funds.

Level 2:Quoted prices in markets that are not active, putisiwhich are observable, either directly or iadily, for substantially the full
term of the asset or liability.

The Company uses observable pricing inputs inclpenchmark yields, reported trades, and brokdgdgaotes. The financial assets in
Level 2 include U.S. government bonds and notaparate notes, commercial paper and municipal bandsnotes.

Level 3:Prices or valuation techniques that require inthas are both significant to the fair value meamert and unobservable (i.e.,
supported by little or no market activity).

The financial assets in Level 3 include a cost stiment whose value is determined using inputsateaboth unobservable and significan
the fair value measurements.

The Company reviews the pricing inputs by obtairnpniges from a different source for the same sécon a sample of its portfolio. The
Company has not adjusted the pricing inputs itdiaained. The following table presents the finalnicistruments that are carried at fair value
and summarizes the valuation of its cash equivalent marketable securities by the above pricingldeas of December 31, 2013 and 2012 :

As of December 31, 2013
Quoted Market Significant

Prices in Active Other Significant
Markets (Level Observable Unobservable
Total 1) Inputs (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3)
(In thousands)
Money market funds $ 300,60 $ 300,60% $ — —
Corporate notes, bonds and commercial paper 58,49: — 58,49: —
Total available-for-sale securities $ 359,09 $ 30060 $ 5849: $ —

As of December 31, 2012
Quoted Market Significant

Prices in Active Other Significant
Markets (Level Observable Unobservable
Total 1) Inputs (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3)

(In thousands)

Money market funds $ 126,57C $ 126,57( $ — $ =
Corporate notes, bonds and commercial paper 57,34! — 57,34t —
Total available-for-sale securities $ 18391 $ 126,57( $ 57,34t $ —

The Company monitors its investments for other-tteanporary impairment and records appropriate réolug in carrying value when
necessary. The Company monitors its investmentstf@r-than-temporary losses by considering cuffeiors,
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including the economic environment, market condsicoperational performance and other specifiofaatlating to the business underlying
the investment, reductions in carrying values whecessary and the Company’s ability and intenotd the investment for a period of time
which may be sufficient for anticipated recoventhie market. Any other-than-temporary loss is reggbunder “Interest and other income
(expense), net” in the consolidated statement efains. For the year ended December 31, 20ECémpany recorded an impairment
charge related to its non-marketable equity secofit private company as described below. Foydsr ended December 31, 2012 , the
Company did not incur any impairment loss on itestments.

The Company made an investment of $2.0 million moa-marketable equity security of a private conypduring 2009. Prior to the second
quarter of 2013, the Company had not recorded mpgirment charges related to this investment ag thed been no events that caused a
decrease in its fair value below the carrying cbsiring the second quarter of 2013, as part giétsodic evaluation of the fair value of the
investment in the non-marketable equity security based on the information provided by the privatepany at that time, the Company
determined that there was a decrease in the sgsdair value. The fair value of the nomarketable equity security was determined basezh
income approach, using level 3 fair value inpussif a&/as deemed to be the most indicative of ticersty's fair value. Accordingly, the
Company recorded an impairment charge of $1.4anilvithin interest income and other income (expgnss, in the consolidated statements
of operations for the second quarter of 2013. Tomg@any evaluated the fair value of the investmeithé non-marketable security as of
December 31, 2018nd determined that there were no additional cistantes that caused a further decrease in iteghie below the carryin
cost. Additionally, the Company cannot provide asgurance that its non-marketable equity secuiltyhat be further impacted by adverse
changes in the general market conditions or detdiam in business prospects of the investee, wima require the Company in the future to
record additional impairment charges which couldeasely impact its financial results.

The following table presents the financial instruntsethat are measured and carried at cost on &cuming basis as of December 31, 2013
and 2012 :

As of December 31, 2013

Quoted
market Significant Impairment
prices in other Significant charges for the
active observable unobservable year ended
markets inputs inputs December 31,
(in thousands) Carrying Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 2013
Investment in non-marketable security $ 60C $ — 9 — 3 60C $ 1,40(

As of December 31, 2012

Quoted
market Significant Impairment
prices in other Significant charges for the
active observable unobservable year ended
Carrying markets inputs inputs December 31,
(in thousands) Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 2012
Investment in non-marketable security $ 2,00C $ — § — § 2,00C $ —

In 2013 and 2012 , there were no transfers of Girinstruments between different categories ofvalue.

The following table presents the financial instruntsethat are not carried at fair value but whiajuige fair value disclosure as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012 :

As of December 31, 2013 As of December 31, 2012
Face Carrying Fair Face Carrying Fair
(in thousands) Value Value Value Value Value Value
5% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014 $ 172,50( $ 164,04 $ 175,82 $ 172,50( $ 147,55¢ $ 172,71t
1.125% Convertible Senior Notes due 2018 138,00( 109,62¢ 142,42 — — —

The fair value of the convertible notes at eaclabed sheet date is determined based on recentguaidet prices for these notes which is
a level two measurement. As discussed in Note GQantertible Notes,” as of December 31, 2013, the
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convertible notes are carried at their face valu®1@2.5 million and $138.0 million , respectivelgss any unamortized debt discount. The
carrying value of other financial instruments, irdihg accounts receivable, accounts payable aret pyables, approximates fair value du
their short maturities.

Information regarding the Company's goodwill andgdived assets balances are disclosed in Notmtrigible Assets and Goodwill".
10. Balance Sheet Details
Property, Plant and Equipment, net

Property, plant and equipment, net is compriseti@following:

As of December 31,

2013 2012
(In thousands)

Building $ 40,32( $ 42,12¢
Computer software 22,06¢ 36,34¢
Computer equipment 29,86¢ 29,37
Furniture and fixtures 12,36( 12,70¢
Leasehold improvements 7,024 9,731
Machinery 11,53 13,50:
Construction in progress 282 9,55¢
123,45¢ 153,34¢

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (50,819) (66,447)
$ 72,64: $ 86,90!

As a result of the impairment analysis in the fhuqtiarter of 2013, the Company concluded thati$ khsset group was not able to recovel
the carrying amount of its LDT assets. Upon conigfetf this analysis, the Company recorded an impaint charge of $3.5 million , $0.5
million and $0.2 million primarily for building impvements, machinery and equipment, and softwaits DT asset group, respectively,
which have been netted from the gross carrying ainand accumulated depreciation. As a result ofrttexim impairment analysis in the third
quarter of 2012, the Company concluded that its la33et group was not able to recover the carryimguat of its LDT assets. Upon
completion of this analysis, the Company recordedrgairment charge of $5.8 million and $0.6 millifor building improvements and
software in its LDT asset group, respectively, \ihi@ave been netted from the gross carrying amawhtiacumulated depreciation. See No
"Intangible Assets and Goodwill" for additional dits.

As the Company undertook a series of structurat@wvgments to ready the Sunnyvale and Brecksvitiéities for its use and retained
sufficient continuing involvement to preclude dmsognition of the buildings under the FASB auttadive guidance applicable to sale leasel
for real estate, the Company accounts for the imgiidas owned real estate. On January 31, 201& dhgany entered into a third amendment
to the Sunnyvale lease to surrender the 31,000 sdaat space from the first amendment back tdahdlord and recorded a total charge of
$2.0 million related to the surrender of the 31,8G0are-foot space.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, for the Sunmyaatl Brecksville facilities, the Company capitdizs40.3 million and $42.1 millicim
building based on the estimated fair value of tbeipn of the unfinished spaces, capitalized irdeom the unfinished spaces and construction
costs related to the build-out of the facilities & December 31, 2012 , the Company capitalized #llion in construction in progress based
on the estimated fair value of the portion of tinfinished spaces and capitalized interest on tfieished spaces. See Note 12, "Commitment:
and Contingencies" for additional detalils.

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@033 , 2012 and 2011 was $15.5 million , $13ilEan and $11.9 million ,
respectively.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
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Accumulated other comprehensive loss is compri§éieofollowing:

As of December 31,

2013 2012

(In thousands)
Foreign currency translation adjustments, netxf ta $ 86 $ 86
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities,af tax (39)) (38¢€)
Total $ (309 $ (300

11. Convertible Notes

The Company’s convertible notes are shown in tHewviing table.

(Dollars in thousands) As of December 31, 2013  As of December 31, 2012
1.125% Convertible Senior Notes due 2018 $ 138,00( $ —
5% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014 172,50( 172,50(
Total principal amount of convertible notes 310,50( 172,50(
Unamortized discount - 2018 Notes (28,377) —
Unamortized discount - 2014 Notes (8,457 (24,94
Total unamortized discount $ (36,82 % (24,949
Total convertible notes $ 273,67t $ 147,55t
Less current portion 164,04 —
Total long-term convertible notes $ 109,62¢ $ 147,55

During the second quarter of 2013, the 2014 Not®weclassified from a long-term liability to soshterm liability as they will be due on
June 15, 2014.

1.125% Convertible Senior Notes due 2008 August 16, 2013, the Company issued $138.0anidlggregate principal amount of 1.12!
convertible senior notes pursuant to an indentine'{ndenture") by and between the Company and BaBk, National Association as the
trustee. The 2018 Notes will mature on August TB,&(the "Maturity Date"), subject to earlier reghase or conversion. In accounting for the
2018 Notes at issuance, the Company separated1i@&Nbtes into liability and equity components puanrst to the accounting standards for
convertible debt instruments that may be fully artjally settled in cash upon conversion. As ofdiage of issuance, the Company determined
that the liability component of the 2018 Notes W487.7 million and the equity component of the 28t8es was $30.3 millionThe fair valu
of the liability component was estimated usingragriest rate for a similar instrument without av@nsion feature. The unamortized discount
related to the 2018 Notes is being amortized ter@st expense using the effective interest methedfove years through August 2018.

The Company will pay cash interest at an annual oail.125% of the principal amount at issuancgapke semi-annually in arrears on
February 15 and August 15 of each year, commeraingebruary 15, 2014. The Company incurred tramsacbsts of approximately $3.6
million related to the issuance of 2018 Notes.docainting for these costs, the Company allocateatists to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of pext®from the issuance of the 2018 Notes to suclponents. Transaction costs allocated to
the liability component of $2.8 million were recertas deferred offering costs in other assets enHeang amortized to interest expense usin
the effective interest method over five years @kpected term of the debt). The transaction cdkstsated to the equity component of $0.8
million were recorded as additional paid-in capifdie 2018 Notes are the Company's general unskobimations, ranking equally in right of
payment to all of Rambus’ existing and future seniwsecured indebtedness, including the 2014 Nateksenior in right of payment to any of
the Company'’s future indebtedness that is expresgiprdinated to the 2018 Notes.

The 2018 Notes are convertible into shares of ti@gany’s common stock at an initial conversion oit82.8329 shares of common stock
per $1,000 principal amount of 2018 Notes, suliigetdjustment in certain events. This is equivaleran initial conversion price of
approximately $12.07 per share of common stockdetsl may surrender their 2018 Notes for convergi@r to the close of business day
immediately preceding May 15, 2018 only under tiiing circumstanceg:1) during any calendar quarter commencing aftecgiendar
guarter ending on December 31, 2013 (and only dwirch calendar quarter), if the closing sale pofdde common stock for 20 days or more
trading days (whether or not consecutive)
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during a period of 30 days consecutive trading éagding on the last trading day of the immediapgBceding calendar quarter is more than
130% of the conversion price per share of commocksbn the last trading day of the preceding cadewdiarter; (2) during the five business
day period after any five consecutive trading desiqa (the “measurement period”) in which thedinag price (as defined below) per $1,000
principal amount of notes for each trading dayhef measurement period was less than 98% of theigrodithe closing sale price of the
Company's common stock and the conversion rat@cin guch trading day; (3) upon the occurrence etifipd distributions to holders of the
Company's common stock; or (4) upon the occurrefspecified corporate events. On or after May2l8,8 until the close of business on the
second scheduled trading day immediately precetti@d/aturity Date, holders may convert their nateany time, regardless of the foregoing
circumstances. If a holder elects to convert itl8Rotes in connection with certain fundamentahges, as that term is defined in the
Indenture, that occur prior to the Maturity Dateg Company will, in certain circumstances, incraageconversion rate for 2018 Notes
converted in connection with such fundamental ckaray a specified number of shares of common stock.

Upon conversion of the 2018 Notes, the Companypeill cash up to the aggregate principal amourteofibtes to be converted and pay ol
deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of thg&uw/'s common stock or a combination of cash hates of the Company's common stock,
at the Company's election, in respect of the redwirif any, of the Company's conversion obligatioexcess of the aggregate principal
amount of the notes being converted, as specifi¢de Indenture.

The Company may not redeem the 2018 Notes at fiisroprior to the Maturity Date, and no sinking €lis provided for the 2018 Notes.

Upon the occurrence of a fundamental change, luay require the Company to repurchase for casin ahy portion of their notes at a
repurchase price equal to 100% of the principaluarhof the notes to be repurchased, plus accrugdiapaid interest to, but excluding, the
fundamental change repurchase date.

The following events are considered events of detmder the Indenture which may result in the magion of the maturity of the 2018
Notes:

(1) default in the payment when due of any princgfany of the notes at maturity, upon redemptiomipon exercise of a repurchase right
or otherwise;

(2) default in the payment of any interest, inchgdadditional interest, if any, on any of the noteken the interest becomes due and
payable, and continuance of such default for soplest 30 days;

(3) the Company's failure to deliver cash or cashshares of the Company's common stock (includimgadditional shares deliverable i
result of a conversion in connection with a makesl@fundamental change, as defined in the Indeptuinen required by the Indenture;

(4) default in the Company's obligation to provitgice of the occurrence of a fundamental changderwhole fundamental change or
distribution to holders of the Company's commorlstohen required by the Indenture;

(5) the Company's failure to comply with any of Bempany's other agreements in the notes or trentace (other than those referred to in
clauses (1) through (4) above) for 60 days afterGbmpany's receipt of written notice to the Conypafrsuch default from the trustee or to the
Company and the trustee of such default from heldénot less than 25% in aggregate principal amofithe 2018 Notes then outstanding;

(6) the Company's failure to pay when due the oadmf, or acceleration of, any indebtedness foney borrowed by the Company or any
of the Company's material subsidiaries in exce10fmillion principal amount, if such indebtednesaot discharged, or such acceleration is
not annulled, for a period of 30 days after writtextice thereof is delivered to the Company bytthstee or to the Company and the trustee b
the holders of 25%r more in aggregate principal amount of the nttea outstanding without such failure to pay haviegn cured or waive
such acceleration having been rescinded or ann(iflagplicable) and such indebtedness not havaenlpaid or discharged; and

(7) certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency orgaaization relating to the Company or any of tleenpany's material subsidiaries (as
defined in the Indenture).
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If an event of default, other than an event of diéfdescribed in clause (7) above with respechéo@ompany, occurs and is continuing,
either the trustee or the holders of at least 25%ggregate principal amount of the notes thentandég may declare the principal amount of,
and accrued and unpaid interest, including addtiotterest, if any, on the notes then outstantiinge immediately due and payable. If an
event of default described in clause (7) above ixcaith respect to the Company, the principal an@fitand accrued and unpaid interest,
including additional interest, if any, on the notal automatically become immediately due and fdga

5% Convertible Senior Notes due 20X3@n June 29, 2009, the Company issued $150.0 méiggregate principal amount of 58nvertible
senior notes due June 15, 2014. As of the datesafince, the Company determined that the lialsitityponent of the 2014 Notes was
approximately $92.4 million and the equity compdneas approximately $57.6 million . On July 10, 20@n additional $22.5 million of the
2014 Notes were issued as a result of the undensritxercising their overallotment option. As af thate of issuance of the $22.5 million 201+
Notes, the Company determined that the liabilittnponent was approximate$14.3 million , and the equity component was apjpnaxely
$8.2 million . The unamortized discount relatedht® 2014 Notes is being amortized to interest expersing the effective interest method ove!
five years through June 2014.

The Company will pay cash interest at an annual@6% of the principal amount at issuance, payabmi-annually in arrears on June 15
and December 15 of each year, beginning on Decetrige2009. During 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , the Compaid approximately $8.6 million
of interest related to the 2014 Notes in each yieanance costs were approximately $5.1 milliowleich $3.2 million is related to the liability
portion, which is being amortized to interest exgeenover five years (the expected term of the dahbt},$1.9 million is related to the equity
portion. The 2014 Notes are the Company’s genersgcured obligation, ranking equal in right of payinto all of the Compang’existing an
future senior indebtedness and are senior in gfpayment to any of the Company’s future indebésdrithat is expressly subordinated to the
2014 Notes.

The 2014 Notes are convertible into shares of ti@gany’s Common Stock at an initial conversion wdt81.8 shares of Common Stock
per $1,000 principal amount of 2014 Notes. Thisgaivalent to an initial conversion price of approately $19.3Jper share of common stoc
Holders may surrender their 2014 Notes for coneerprior to March 15, 2014 only under the followicigcumstances: (i) during any calendar
quarter beginning after the calendar quarter en8igtember 30, 2009, and only during such calemaianter, if the closing sale price of the
Common Stock for 20 days or more trading days énpifriod of 30 days consecutive trading days endinthe last trading day of the
immediately preceding calendar quarter exceeds 1#0d¥%e conversion price in effect on the lastimgdiay of the immediately preceding
calendar quarter, (ii) during the five business pasiod after any 10 days consecutive trading daiod in which the trading price per $1,000
principal amount of 2014 Notes for each trading dhguch 10 days consecutive trading day periodlessthan 98% of the product of the
closing sale price of the Common Stock for suctitrgeday and the applicable conversion rate, ({fidn the occurrence of specified
distributions to holders of the Common Stock, (ippn a fundamental change of the Company as spedifithe Indenture governing the 2014
Notes, or (v) if the Company calls any or all of 2014 Notes for redemption, at any time prioh®dlose of business on the business
immediately preceding the redemption date. On dted ®arch 15, 2014, holders may convert their 28bdes at any time until the close of
business on the third business day prior to thertatdate, regardless of the foregoing circumstanc

Upon conversion of the 2014 Notes, the Companypaijl (i) cash equal to the lesser of the aggrgmateipal amount and the conversion
value of the 2014 Notes and (ii) shares of the Camgis Common Stock for the remainder, if any, & @ompany’s conversion obligation, in
each case based on a daily conversion value cedduben a proportionate basis for each trading dafie 20 days trading day conversion
reference period as further specified in the Indent

The Company may not redeem the 2014 Notes at fitsroprior to June 15, 2012. At any time on or aftene 15, 2012, the Company will
have the right, at its option, to redeem the 20d#ehlin whole or in part for cash in an amount &tua00% of the principal amount of the
2014 Notes to be redeemed, together with accruédiapaid interest, if any, if the closing sale praf the Common Stock for at least 20 days
of the 30 days consecutive trading days immedigigbyr to any date the Company gives a notice déneption is greater than 130% of the
conversion price on the date of such notice.

Upon the occurrence of a fundamental change, oltay require the Company to repurchase some of tieir 2014 Notes for cash at a
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of 2044 Notes being repurchased, plus accrued andduimperest, if any. In addition, upon the
occurrence of certain fundamental changes, agalrmatis defined in the Indenture, the Company willgertain circumstances, increase the
conversion rate for 2014 Notes converted in conoeatith such fundamental changes by a specifiedlrar of shares of Common Stock, not
to exceed 15.5401 per $1,000 principal amount®f®il4 Notes.
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The following events are considered “Events of D#fainder the Indenture which may result in theederation of the maturity of the 2014
Notes:

(1) default in the payment when due of any priatgf any of the 2014 Notes at maturity, upon repigom or upon exercise of a
repurchase right or otherwise;

(2) default in the payment of any interest, inahgdadditional interest, if any, on any of the 2(dtes, when the interest becomes due
and payable, and continuance of such default fmrand of 30 days ;

(3) the Company'’s failure to deliver cash or cast shares of Common Stock (including any additishares deliverable as a result of
a conversion in connection with a make-whole funelatal change) when required to be delivered uperctimversion of any 2014
Note;

(4) default in the Compang’'obligation to provide notice of the occurrenca dindamental change when required by the Inde;

(5) the Company’s failure to comply with any of dther agreements in the 2014 Notes or the Indefother than those referred to in
clauses (1) through (4) above) for 60 days afterGbmpany’s receipt of written notice to the Compahsuch default from the
trustee or to the Company and the trustee of safduit from holders of not less than 2%%@aggregate principal amount of the 2(
Notes then outstandin

(6) the Company'’s failure to pay when due theqpal of, or acceleration of, any indebtednessrioney borrowed by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries in excess of $30 milliompipal amount, if such indebtedness is not dispbdy or such acceleration is not
annulled, by the end of a period of ten days aftétten notice to the Company by the trustee ahtoCompany and the trustee by
the holders of at least 25% in aggregate prin@padunt of the 2014 Notes then outstanding; and

(7) certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency arganization relating to the Company or any ofnigterial subsidiaries (as defined in
the Indenture).

If an event of default, other than an event of ditfia clause (7) above with respect to the Compaeours and is continuing, either the
trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregateipal amount of the 2014 Notes then outstagpdiray declare the principal amount of, anc
accrued and unpaid interest, including additiontdriest, if any, on the 2014 Notes then outstanttiige immediately due and payable. If an
event of default described in clause (7) above caith respect to the Company the principal amadistnd accrued and unpaid interest,
including additional interest, if any, on the 204dtes will automatically become immediately due gaglable.

Additional paid-in capital at December 31, 2013 &wtember 31, 2012 includes $93.4 million and $63ilBon , respectively, related to
the equity component of the 2018 and 2014 Notes.

As of December 31, 2013, none of the conversioritions were met related to the 2018 Notes o4 Notes. Therefore, the
classification of the entire equity component tog 2018 Notes and the 2014 Notes in permanentyeiguappropriate as of December 31,
2013.

Interest expense related to the notes for the yarated December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 waslaw$ol

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

2018 Notes coupon interest at a rate of 1.125% $ 582 $ — 3 =
2018 Notes amortization of discount and debt isse@ost at an additional effective interest rate of
5.5% $ 2171 — —
2014 Notes coupon interest at a rate of 5% 8,62°¢ 8,62¢ 8,62¢
2014 Notes amortization of discount at an additiefi@ctive interest rate of 11.7% 17,12¢ 14,69t 12,62:

Total interest expense on convertible notes $ 2850« § 2332 $§ 21,24

12. Commitments and Contingencies

80




Table of Contents
RAMBUS
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

On December 15, 2009, the Company entered intaselagreement for approximately 125,000 squarefe¥fice space located at 1050
Enterprise Way in Sunnyvale, California commenaingluly 1, 2010 and expiring on June 30, 2020.dffiee space is used for the
Companys corporate headquarters, as well as engineeriakating and administrative operations and acésitiThe annual base rent for th
leases includes certain rent abatement and inaeasmially over the lease term. The Company ha®ptions to extend the lease for a period
of 60 months each and a one-time option to terraitia lease after 84 montinsexchange for an early termination fee. Purstaiite terms o
the lease, the landlord agreed to reimburse thep@ognapproximately $9.1 million , which was receiv®y the year ended December 31,
2011 . The Company recognized the reimbursemes aslditional imputed financing obligation as spelgment from the landlord is deemed
to be an imputed financing obligation. On Novemde2011, to better plan for future expansion, thenfany entered into an amended lease
for its Sunnyvale facility for approximately an ditshal 31,000 -square-foot space commencing onckldr 2012 and expiring on June 30,
2020. Additionally, a tenant improvement allowanzd®e provided by the landlord was approximately’$tillion . On September 29, 2012,
the Company entered into a second amended Sunrigeake to reduce the tenant improvement allowamepproximately $1.5 million . On
January 31, 2013, the Company entered into a #mrendment to the Sunnyvale lease to surrendert®@@ square-foot space from the first
amendment back to the landlord and recorded a¢btabe of $2.0 million related to the surrendethefamended lease.

On March 8, 2010, the Company entered into a lagesement for approximately 25,000 square feeffimfieoand manufacturing areas,
located in Brecksville, Ohio. The office area igdidor the LDT group’s engineering activities whitee manufacturing area is used for the
manufacture of prototypes. This lease was amende&kptember 29, 2011 to expand the facility to axprately 51,000 total square feet and
the amended lease will expire on July 31, 2019.Cbmpany has an option to extend the lease foriachef 60 months .

The Company undertook a series of structural imgmoents to ready the Sunnyvale and Brecksvilleifes|for its use. Since these
improvements were considered structural in natotethe Company was responsible for any cost overifian accounting purposes, the
Company was treated in substance as the ownecbfaeamstruction project during the constructioriqguerAt the completion of each
construction, the Company concluded that it rethisificient continuing involvement to preclude meognition of the building under the
FASB authoritative guidance applicable to the ssdsebacks of real estate. As such, the Compartinoes to account for the buildings as
owned real estate and to record an imputed fingnaliigation for its obligations to the legal owser

Monthly lease payments on these facilities arecatied between the land element of the lease (whiabcounted for as an operating lease)
and the imputed financing obligation. The imputiéiicing obligation is amortized using the effeetinterest method and the interest rate wa
determined in accordance with the requirementsilef leaseback accounting. For the years ended Oesredia, 2013, 2012 and 2011 , the
Company recognized in its Consolidated Statemdr®perations $4.4 million , $4.1 million , and $38llion , respectively, of interest
expense in connection with the imputed financinligaition on these facilities. At December 31, 2@I@8l 2012 , the imputed financing
obligation balance in connection with these faeititwas $39.7 million and $45.9 million , respeelyy which was primarily classified under
long-term imputed financing obligation.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , the Companyategid $40.3 million and $48.8 million in properptant and equipment based on the
estimated fair value of the portion of the pre-damtion shell, construction costs related to thadsout of the facilities and capitalized interest
during construction period. At the end of the alitease term, should the Company decide not tewehe lease, the Company would reverse
the equal amounts of the net book value of thedingland the corresponding imputed financing oliiga

In November 2011, the Company entered into a lagesement for approximately 26,000 square feeffmfeospace in San Francisco,
California to be used for CRI's office space antldated as an operating lease. This lease hasmencement date of February 1, 2012 and a
lease term of 75 months from the commencement @atannual base rent includes certain rent abaieamel increases annually over the
lease term.

In connection with the June 3, 2011 acquisitio€Bf, the Company is obligated to pay a retentionusao certain CRI employees and
contractors, subject to certain eligibility and @lecation provisions including the condition of doyment, in three equal amounts of
approximately $16.7 million The first and second payments were paid in cashglithe second quarter of 2012 and 2013, resggtiand th
remaining payment payable on June 3, 2014 willdid ,m cash or stock at the Company’s electionof®ecember 31, 2013 , the remaining
retention bonus commitment is $16.9 million and rhayforfeited in part or whole by the covered ergpks and contractors upon voluntary
departure from employment or discontinuation ofmes. Any amounts forfeited will be accelerated gaid by the Company to a designated
charity. See Note 5, “Acquisitions,” for additionaformation regarding the acquisition of CRI.
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On June 29, 2009, the Company entered into an tndewith U.S. Bank, National Association, as teestrelating to the issuance by the
Company of $150.0 million aggregate principal antafrthe 2014 Notes. On July 10, 2009, an additi®22.5 million in aggregate principal
amount of 2014 Notes were issued as a result airiderwriters exercising their overallotment opti®he aggregate principal amount of the
2014 Notes outstanding as of December 31, 20126ab# was $172.5 million , offset by unamortizedtddibcount of $8.5 million and $24.9
million , respectively, in the accompanying condated balance sheets. The debt discount is currieeithg amortized over the remaining 6
months until maturity of the 2014 Notes on June2ld 4. See Note 11, “Convertible Notes,” for additl details.

On August 16, 2013, the Company entered into aarihde with U.S. Bank, National Association, astee, relating to the issuance by the
Company of $138.0 millioaggregate principal amount of the 2018 Notes. Hugemate principal amount of the 2018 notes asemfeihber 3:
2013 was $138.0 million , offset by unamortizedtdibcount of $ 28.4 million in the accompanyingsolidated balance sheet. The
unamortized discount related to the 2018 Notegiisghamortized to interest expense using the éffeaiterest method over the remaining 56
months until maturity of the 2018 Notes on August 2018. See Note 11, “Convertible Notes,” for siddal details.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company’s materiatrestual obligations are as follows (in thousands)

Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter
Contractual obligations (1)
Imputed financing obligation (2) $ 40,26( $ 587/ $ 601C $ 6,15 $ 6,30z $ 6447 $ 947
Leases and other contractual obligations 8,45¢ 3,75: 2,10¢ 1,23i 1,01¢ 34C —
Software licenses (3) 8,71t 5,471 2,86t 373 — — —
Acquisition retention bonuses (4) 18,08: 18,01 7C — — —
Convertible notes 310,50( 172,50( — — — 138,00( —
Interest payments related to convertible
notes 12,07¢ 5,86¢ 1,55¢ 1,55¢ 1,55¢ 1,552 —
Total $ 398,09 $ 21148 $ 1260¢ $ 9,31¢ $ 887: $ 146,33¢ $ 9,47]

(1) The above table does not reflect possible gagsin connection with uncertain tax benefitsggraximately $18.8 million includin§12.6
million recorded as a reduction of long-term deddrtax assets and $6.2 million in long-term incdaxes payable, as of December 31,
2013 . As noted below in Note 17, “Income Taxedthough it is possible that some of the unrecagphtax benefits could be settled wit
the next 12 months , the Company cannot reasomastilyate the outcome at this time.

(2) With respect to the imputed financing obligatithe main components of the difference betwbheramount reflected in the contractual
obligations table and the amount reflected on tbhesGlidated Balance Sheets are the interest oimiiieted financing obligation and the
estimated common area expenses over the futuredseridditionally, the amount includes the amen@éib lease and the amended
Sunnyvale lease.

(3) The Company has commitments with various safswendors for non-cancellable license agreengamsrally having terms longer than
one year. The above table summarizes those camttasdtligations as of December 31, 2013 which &e presented on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet under current and thgrterm liabilities.

(4) In connection with acquisitions, the Compasiplbligated to pay retention bonuses to certain@eps and contractors, subject to certain
eligibility and acceleration provisions includirfgetcondition of employment. The remaining $16.9iomlof CRI retention bonuses
payable on June 3, 2014 will be paid in cash akséd the Company’s election.

Rent expense was approximately $3.1 million , $dillion and $2.7 million for the years ended DecemB1, 2013, 2012 and 2011 ,
respectively.

Indemnifications

The Company enters into standard license agreernmetits ordinary course of business. Although tlhen@any does not indemnify most of
its customers, there are times when an indemnificas a necessary means of doing business.
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Indemnifications cover customers for losses suffeneincurred by them as a result of any patergyrdght, or other intellectual property
infringement claim by any third party arising asuk of the applicable agreement with the Compaimge Company generally attempts to limit
the maximum amount of indemnification that the Campcould be required to make under these agresirterthe amount of fees received
the Company.

Several securities fraud class actions, privatelsts and shareholder derivative actions were filestate and federal courts against certair
of the Company’s current and former officers anédtors related to the stock option granting astidks permitted under Delaware law, the
Company has agreements whereby its officers aegtdirs are indemnified for certain events or o@nees while the officer or director is, or
was serving, at the Company’s request in such d@gpdde term of the indemnification period is ftve officer’s or director’s term in such
capacity. The maximum potential amount of futurgrpants the Company could be required to make uthése indemnification agreements is
unlimited. The Company has a director and offiosurance policy that reduces the Company’s expasuteenables the Company to recover
portion of future amounts to be paid. As a restithese indemnification agreements, the Companyirmees to make payments on behalf of
primarily former officers and some current officeds of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , the Compadyntede cumulative payments of
approximately $32.2 million and $32.2 million , pestively, on their behalf. These payments werended under costs of restatement and
related legal activities in the consolidated staets of operations. Also, in 2011, the Companyheda settlement agreement that resolve
matter captione®tuart J. Steele, et al. v. Rambus Inc., etw&here the Company agreed to settle the claimsstgaand the individual
defendants for approximately $10.9 million whichswacorded under costs of restatement and relegrad dctivities in the consolidated
statements of operations. As of December 31, 2818 Company has cumulatively received $12.3 mmiffrom insurance settlements relatet
the defense of the Company, its directors andfiitsers which were recorded under costs of restaterand related legal activities in the
consolidated statements of operations. During #s gnded December 31, 2013, no insurance setttemere received.

13. Equity Incentive Plans and Stock-Based Compentan
Stock Option Plans

The Company has three stock option plans underhwgriants are currently outstanding: the 1997 S@gton Plan (the “1997 Plan”), the
1999 Non-statutory Stock Option Plan (the “199%Pland the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “200&nP). Grants under all plans typically
have a requisite service period of 60 months amé8ths , have straight-line or graded vesting sglesdthe 1997 and 1999 plans only) and
expire not more than 10 yedrem date of grant. Effective with stockholder amal of the 2006 Plan in May 2006, no further avgaaice being
made under the 1997 Plan and the 1999 Plan bpidhs will continue to govern awards previouslyrgeal under those plans.

The 2006 Plan was approved by the stockholdersay B006. The 2006 Plan, as amended, provides éassluance of the following types
of incentive awards: (i) stock options; (ii) stofpreciation rights; (iii) restricted stock; (i@stricted stock units; (v) performance shares and
performance units; and (vi) other stock or cashrdaarlhis plan provides for the granting of awaatikess than fair market value of the
common stock on the date of grant, but such graiatdd be counted against the numerical limits ditable shares at a ratio of 1.5 to 1The
Board of Directors reserved 8,400,0@0d shares in March 2006 for issuance under taigs pubject to stockholder approval. Upon stocttér
approval of this Plan on May 10, 2006, the 199 hRas replaced and the 1999 Plan was terminatedp@ih30, 2009 and April 26, 2012,
stockholders approved an additional 6,500,000 shamesach date for issuance under the 2006 PlaiseT™aho will be eligible for awards
under the 2006 Plan include employees, directadscansultants who provide services to the Compayits affiliates. These options typica
have a requisite service period of 60 months amé8ths , have straight-line vesting schedules,expite ten years from date of grant. The
Board will periodically review actual share consuimp under the 2006 Plan and may make a requesidfditional shares as needed.

As of December 31, 2013, 2,527,428 shares 021#00,000 shares approved under the 2006 Plasimemailable for grant. The 2006
Plan is now the Company’s only plan for providingck-based incentive compensation to eligible eryg#s, directors and consultants.
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A summary of shares available for grant under tbmg@any’s plans is as follows:

Shares Available for

Grant
Shares available as of December 31, 2010 5,348,16:
Stock options granted (2,357,001
Stock options forfeited 865,097
Stock options expired under former plans (503,526
Nonvested equity stock and stock units granted (1) (562,257
Nonvested equity stock and stock units forfeited (1 22,401
Total shares available for grant as of DecembefG11 2,812,87¢
Increase in shares approved for issuance 6,500,00(
Stock options granted (2) (7,789,220
Stock options forfeited (3) 2,610,81:
Stock options expired under former plans (576,763
Nonvested equity stock and stock units granted (1) (1,113,014
Nonvested equity stock and stock units forfeited (1 284,46¢
Total shares available for grant as of Decembef312 2,729,15¢
Stock options granted (2,084,276
Stock options forfeited 3,318,02:
Stock options expired under former plans (1,157,419
Nonvested equity stock and stock units granted (1) (709,611
Nonvested equity stock and stock units forfeited (1 431,55¢
Total shares available for grant as of Decembef313 2,527,42¢

(1) For purposes of determining the number ofshawailable for grant under the 2006 Plan agéiesinaximum number of shares
authorized, each restricted stock granted redieeaumber of shares available for grant by 1.5reshand each restricted stock forfeited
increases shares available for grant by 1.5 shares.

(2) Amountincludes 2,840,98Mhares that were granted from the stock optionangh program (discussed belc

(3) Amount excludes 6,449,255 shares that wemeisdered from the stock option exchange prograstgdised below) as the shares are no
longer available for grant.

Stock Option Exchange Program

On April 26, 2012, the Company launched a one-stoek option exchange program ("option exchangat$pant to which eligible
employees were able to exchange certain outstarstiiegg options for a fewer number of shares haaimgxercise price equal to the fair ma
value of the Company’s common stock on June 222 20thie Company's named executive officers, serida presidents and members of its
Board of Directors were not eligible to participatehe Program. Pursuant to the terms and comditi the option exchange, the Company
accepted for exchange, 6,449,255 options. All suleecd options were canceled effective as of tpgration of the option exchange, and
immediately thereafter, in exchange thereof, then@any granted new options with an exercise prickba3 per share (representing the
closing price of its common stock on June 22, 2@%2eported on the NASDAQ Global Select Markefuechase an aggregate of 2,840,986
shares of common stock under the 2006 Plan. Neioraphave a new contractual term of the longehefdriginal remaining contractual term
of the surrendered options or five years, and galyawill vest over a three -year period from thetel of grant, with one-third of the shares
vesting on the first year anniversary of the gdate and the remaining shares vesting monthly ffiere As a result of the option exchange,
total incremental compensation cost of the newonstivas approximately $1.0 million . The total rémrey unrecognized compensation cost
related to the original options of $19.9 milliondatthe incremental compensation cost of the newooptgranted of $1.0 million will be
recognized over the three years requisite senacieg.
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General Stock Option Information

The following table summarizes stock option acyiwvinder the 1997, 1999 and 2006 Plans for the yevated December 31, 2013 , 2012
and 2011 and information regarding stock optiortstanding, exercisable, and vested and expecteelstoas of December 31, 2013 .

Options Outstanding Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Average Exercise Contractual Aggregate
Number of Shares Price per Share Term Intrinsic Value

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Outstanding as of December 31, 2010 13,969,38! $ 18.8¢
Options granted 2,357,00. $ 18.8:
Options exercised (873,691 $ 8.4¢
Options forfeited (865,097 $ 14.5:
Outstanding as of December 31, 2011 14,587,59¢ $ 19.7:
Options granted 7,789,22( $ 5.81
Options exercised (221,934 $ 4.44
Options forfeited (2,610,812 % 10.97
Options surrendered in stock option exchange progra (6,449,255 $ 21.11
Outstanding as of December 31, 2012 13,094,81¢ $ 12.7¢
Options granted 2,084,27¢ $ 6.0¢
Options exercised (483,923 $ 6.72
Options forfeited (3,318,022 $ 14.5]
Outstanding as of December 31, 2013 11,377,14¢ $ 11.32 57 % 24,54(
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2013 10,685,89¢ $ 11.6¢ 55 % 22,11
Options exercisable at December 31, 2013 6,242,73: $ 15.3¢ 37 $ 6,77¢

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2@l4tock options that contain a market conditiomeagranted. During the year ended
December 31, 2012, 1,795,000 stock options thabtgooa market condition were granted. These opti@ss in three years if specified stock
prices are achieved. The fair values of the optgmasted with a market condition were calculatédgia binomial valuation model, which
estimates the potential outcome of reaching th&ketaondition based on simulated future stock griées of December 31, 2013 and 2012,
there were 1,315,000 and 1,535,000 stock optiotstanding, respectively, that require the Compargchieve minimum market conditions in
order for the options to become exercisable.

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abopeagents the total pre-tax intrinsic value forhie-money options at December 31, 2013,
based on the $9.47 closing stock price of Rambosiion Stock on December 31, 2013 on the NASDAQ &l8elect Market, which would
have been received by the option holders had ébioolders exercised their options as of tha¢ dghe total number of in-the-money options
outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2@%37,167,696 and 2,453,877 , respectively.

The following table summarizes the information abstock options outstanding and exercisable aseasehber 31, 2013 :
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Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average
Remaining
Number Contractual Life Weighted Average Number Weighted Average
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding (in years) Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$4.13 — $5.39 1,087,17¢ 86 $ 4.4F 93,47C $ 4.8C
$5.46 — $5.46 1,306,65¢ 9.0 $ 5.4¢ 240,29 $ 5.4¢
$5.49 — $5.49 36,91¢ 9.1 $ 5.4¢ 5,734 $ 5.4¢
$5.63 — $5.63 1,511,30" 53 % 5.6: 724,285 $ 5.6:
$5.76— $5.76 1,246,83¢ 85 ¢ 5.7¢ 219,24¢ $ 5.7¢
$6.39- $7.97 1,138,04¢ 73 $ 7.21 531,82¢ $ 7.21
$8.11 — $13.30 1,177,64. 57 $ 9.21 784,071 $ 9.1¢
$13.31 - $18.69 1,250,46: 28 $ 16.92 1,138,57( $ 17.1¢
$19.13 — $21.51 1,318,18: 25 $ 20.1¢ 1,237,247 $ 20.1(C
$21.95 — $40.80 1,303,91: 20 $ 26.1: 1,267,98¢ $ 26.21
$4.13 — $40.80 11,377,14t 57 $ 11.3: 6,242,730 g 15.3¢

Employee Stock Purchase Plans

During the three year period ended December 313 2@ie Company had one employee stock purchasethla 2006 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan.

In March 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 EmplS&teck Purchase Plan, as amended (the “2006 PRerétian” or "ESPP") and
reserved 1,600,000 shares, subject to stockhafgi@oval which was received on May 10, 2006. Oril&g, 2012, an additional 1,500,000
shares were approved by stockholders. On Septedih@013, the Company filed a Registration Stateraer-orm S-8, registering 1,500,000
additional shares under the ESPP in connectiontiwéltommencement of the next subscription periateuthe ESPP. Issuance of these
additional shares will be subject to shareholdg@rayal amending the ESPP to increase the numbshrasts reserved for issuancelbhy00,00(
shares at the Company’s next annual meeting oEbbéders in April 2014. Employees generally willdigible to participate in this plan if
they are employed by Rambus for more than 20 hpersweek and more than five months in a fiscat.yElae 2006 Purchase Plan provides
six month offering periods, with a new offering ijpelr commencing on the first trading day on or afiftrty 1 and November 1 of each year.
Under this plan, employees may purchase stockedbther of 85% of the beginning of the offeringipdr(the enroliment date), or the end of
each offering period (the purchase date). Emplogeegrally may not purchase more than the numbgharfes having a value greater than
$25,000 in any calendar year, as measured at ticbgse date.

The Company issued 1,063,283 shares at a weightzdge price of $4.87 per share during the yededDecember 31, 2013 . The
Company issued 731,449 shares at a weighted avprag of $4.21 per share during the year endex@@ber 31, 2012The Company issut
271,804 shares at a weighted average price 063Xer share during the year ended December 31, .284 of December 31, 2013, 19,232
shares under the ESPP remain available for issuanc

Stock-Based Compensation
Stock Options

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@bdl , Rambus granted 2,084,276 , 7,789,220 @muduoptions granted in the stock
option exchange program and options granted theagoa market condition) and 2,357,001 stock oygtjsespectively, with an estimated total
grant-date fair value of $5.4 million , $32.7 nali and $24.2 million , respectively. During the rgeanded December 31, 2013 , 2012 and
2011 , Rambus recorded stock-based compensateteddb stock options of $10.4 million , $15.0 foill and $19.6 million , respectively.

As of December 31, 2013 , there was $16.9 millibtotal unrecognized compensation cost, net of etqueforfeitures, related to unvested
stock-based compensation arrangements granted thedstock option plans. This cost is expectedetodlocognized over a weighted-average
period of 2.3 years . The total fair value of optosested for the years ended December 31, 200R2, &nd 2011 was $64.3 million , $80.0
million and $144.8 million , respectively.

86




Table of Contents
RAMBUS
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

The total intrinsic value of options exercised 84s3 million , $0.2 million and $6.2 million for ¢hyears ended December 31, 2013, 2012
and 2011 , respectively. Intrinsic value is thaltwtlue of exercised shares based on the pritteed€ompany’s Common Stock at the time of
exercise less the proceeds received from the eraptolp exercise the options.

During the years ended December 31, 2013 , 20126t , proceeds from employee stock option exesdistaled approximately $3.3
million , $1.0 million and $7.4 million , respectily.

Employee Stock Purchase Plans

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@bdl , Rambus recorded stock-based compensataiaddo the ESPP of $1.5
million , $2.2 million and $1.7 million , respectlly. As of December 31, 2013, there was an imr@teamount of unrecognized compensatior
cost related to share-based compensation arrangegramted under the ESPP. That cost is expectied tecognized over four months.

There were no tax benefits realized as a resudhgfloyee stock option exercises, stock purchaselechases, and vesting of equity stocl
and stock units for the years ended December 313 20012 and 2011 .

Valuation Assumptions

Rambus estimates the fair value of stock optioirsguthe Black-Scholes-Merton model (“BSMThe BSM model determines the fair va
of stock-based compensation and is affected by Rahgtock price on the date of the grant as wellssaimptions regarding a number of
highly complex and subjective variables. Thesealdeis include expected volatility, expected lifahe award, expected dividend rate, and
expected risk-free rate of return. The assumptionexpected volatility and expected life are twe assumptions that significantly affect the
grant date fair value. If actual results differréfgcantly from these estimates, stock-based corsgion expense and Rambus’ results of
operations could be materially impacted.

The fair value of stock awards is estimated asiefgrant date using the BSM option-pricing modslasing a dividend yield of 0% and the
additional weighted-average assumptions as listeka following tables:

The following table presents the weighted-averagiaptions used to estimate the fair value of stgtions granted that contain only
service conditions in the periods presented. Tharaptions used to estimate the fair value of stqtions granted under the stock option
exchange program are excluded from the following:

Stock Option Plans for Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Stock Option Plans
Expected stock price volatility 45%-47% 57%-68% 50%-75%
Risk free interest rate 0.8%-1.5% 0.6%-0.9% 1.4%-2.8%
Expected term (in years) 5.4-5.5 5.5-5.7 6.0-6.1
Weighted-average fair value of stock options grdinte $2.60 $3.57 $10.27

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coyngamted 1,795,000 stock options that contain &ketaondition. The fair values of
the options granted with a market condition welewated using a binomial valuation model, whicliraates the potential outcome of reacl
the market condition based on simulated futurekspoices. The weighted average fair value assatiatth these market condition options v
immaterial.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan for Years Ended Decemib31,

2013 2012 2011
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Expected stock price volatility 44%-48% 56%-63% 56%-78%
Risk free interest rate 0.1% 0.2% 0.1%
Expected term (in years) 0.5 0.5 0.5
Weighted-average fair value of purchase rightstgihnnder the purchase plan $1.96 $1.58 $6.16
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Expected Stock Price VolatilityGiven the volume of market activity in its marketded options, Rambus determined that it woutdthe
implied volatility of its nearest-to-theroney traded options. The Company believes thatskeof implied volatility is more reflective of mhat
conditions and a better indicator of expected Vdlathan historical volatility. If there is notdficient volume in its market traded options, the
Company will use an equally weighted blend of histd and implied volatility.

Risk-free Interest Rate: Rambus bases the risk-free interest rate ustekiBSM valuation method on implied yield currerdiailable on
the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with an etprivéerm. Where the expected terms of Rambusksbased awards do not correspond
the terms for which interest rates are quoted, Resnuises an approximation based on rates on thesti@sm currently available.

Expected Term: The expected term of options granted represbatpériod of time that options granted are expeittd outstanding. The
expected term was determined based on historigarence of similar awards, giving consideratiothi® contractual terms of the stock-based
awards, vesting schedules and expectations ofdf@nnployee behavior. The expected term of ESPRgismbased upon the length of each
respective purchase period.

Nonvested Equity Stock and Stock Units

The Company grants nonvested equity stock unitéficers, directors and employees. For the yeaedrdecember 31, 2013, 2012 and
2011 , the Company granted nonvested equity stoit& totaling 473,074 , 742,009 and 374,838 shaespectively, under the 2006 Plan.
These awards have a service condition, generalgnace period of four years, except in the casgraits to directors, for which the service
period is one year. The nonvested equity stoclsumére valued at the date of grant giving themravtdue of approximately $3.3 million ,
$4.8 million and $6.7 million respectively. The Company occasionally grantssasted equity stock units to its employees withingssubjec
to the achievement of certain performance conditi@uring the years ended December 31, 2013 , a0d2011 , the achievement of certain
performance conditions was considered probableaararesult, the Company recognized an immatmalunt of stock-based compensation
expense related to these performance stock umitdlfthree years.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 dtid,286e Company recorded stock-based compensatimmse of approximately $3.1
million , $5.3 million and $6.7 million , respectly, related to all outstanding equity stock grabtsrecognized stock-based compensation
related to all nonvested equity stock grants, fiancestimate of forfeitures, was approximately7$#8illion at December 31, 2013 . This cost is
expected to be recognized over a weighted averagedof 2.3 years .

The following table reflects the activity relatedrionvested equity stock and stock units for theetyears ended December 31, 2013 :

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair

Nonvested Equity Stock and Stock Units Shares Value
Nonvested at December 31, 2010 718,007 $ 18.2:
Granted 374,838 $ 17.8¢
Vested (314,401) $ 18.1¢
Forfeited (14,934) $ 21.7¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2011 763,510 $ 18.0z
Granted 742,009 $ 6.4%
Vested (393,383) % 17.3¢
Forfeited (189,645) $ 11.7%
Nonvested at December 31, 2012 922,491 $ 10.2¢
Granted 473,074 $ 6.92
Vested (478,214) $ 9.81
Forfeited (287,702) $ 9.1¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2013 629,649 $ 8.5¢€
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14. Stockholders’ Equity

During the second quarter of 2011, the CompanyieedCRI. As part of the acquisition, the Compassuied approximately 6.4 million
shares of the Company’s common stock, of which @pprately 161 thousand shares were used to satisfywithholding obligations for
certain former CRI employees and consultants. Sse Bl “Acquisitions,” for additional informatiomgarding the acquisition of CRI.

Share Repurchase Program

In October 2001, the Company’s Board of Directtie (Board”) approved a share repurchase prograits cbmmon stock, principally to
reduce the dilutive effect of employee stock opgiofo date, the Board has approved the authorizétioepurchase up to 19.0 millishares c
the Company'’s outstanding common stock over anfureteperiod of time. On February 25, 2010, the iBagpproved a new share repurchas
program authorizing the repurchase of up to antmadil 12.5 million shares. Share repurchases uthgeprogram may be made through open
market, established plan or privately negotiatadgactions in accordance with all applicable sé&eariaws, rules, and regulations. There is nc
expiration date applicable to the program. The skare repurchase program replaces the programriagithin October 2001.

On August 19, 2010, the Company entered into aestegrurchase agreement (the “Share Repurchasemeng®d with J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc., as agent for JPMorgan Chase Beational Association, London Branch (“JP Morgardyépurchase approximately $90.0
million of its common stock, as part of its shagpurchase program. Under the Share Repurchasemgntethe Company pre-paid to J.P.
Morgan the $90 million purchase price in the thjechrter of 2010 for the common stock and J.P. Modglivered to the Company
approximately 4.8 million shares of common stockratverage price of $18.88 at the completion ®Share Repurchase Agreement in
December 2010.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 20&2Cdmpany did not repurchase any shares of its @nstock under its share
repurchase program. As of December 31, 2013, tmep@ny had repurchased a cumulative total of apmbely 26.3 million shares of its
common stock with an aggregate price of approxim&428.9 million since the commencement of thegpam in 2001. As of December 31,
2013, there remained an outstanding authorizatioapurchase approximately 5.2 million sharedhef@ompanys outstanding common sto

The Company records stock repurchases as a redtotgiockholders’ equity. The Company records rtiquo of the purchase price of the
repurchased shares as an increase to accumuldigitiwlieen the price of the shares repurchaseded&¢he average original proceeds per
share received from the issuance of common stock.

15. Benefit Plans

Rambus has a 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan (the “4pR({&n") qualified under Section 401(k) of the i@l Revenue Code of 1986. Each
eligible employee may elect to contribute up to 66Rhe employee’s annual compensation to the 4RI@n, up to the Internal Revenue
Service limit. Rambus, at the discretion of its Bbaf Directors, may match employee contributiamshie 401(k) Plan. The Company matches
50% of eligible employee’s contribution, up to firet 6% of an eligible employee’s qualified eamsn For the years ended December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011 , Rambus made matching catitits totaling approximately $1.8 million , $2.1llion and $1.6 million , respectively.

16. Restructuring Charges
The 2012 Plan

During 2012, the Company initiated a restructupnggram to reduce overall corporate expenses whieRkpected to improve future
profitability by reducing spending on marketingngeal and administrative programs and refining sofrthe Company's research and
development efforts (the “2012 Planl®). connection with this restructuring program, @@mpany estimates that it will incur aggregate co$
approximately $10.0 million . During the year endetember 31, 2013, the Company incurred restringfeharges of $2.1 million related
primarily to the consolidation of certain facilsi@nd the reduction in workforce, of which a majowas related to corporate support functions
During the year ended December 31, 2012 , the Coynipaurred restructuring charges of $7.3 millietated primarily to the reduction in
workforce, of which $3.4 million was related to 1 68&0O reportable segment; $0.7 million was relatethe MID reportable segment; $0.1
million was related to the All Other reportable segnt; and $3.1 million was related to corporategpsupfunctions that impacted each of the
Company's operating segments. There were no rasting charges in 2011. Since the inception ofgtagram, the Company has incur&l4
million in restructuring related charges. The Compaxpects to substantially complete its restructuactivities in 2014.
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The following table summarizes the 2012 Plan restining activities during the years ended Decen®ie2013 and 2012:

Employee
Severance
and Related Benefits Facilities Total
(in thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2011 $ — 3 — 3 —
Charges 7,301 — 7,301
Payments (6,395 — (6,39%)
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 90€ $ — % 90¢€
Charges 13€ 1,96( 2,09¢
Payments (95¢) (1,309 (2,265
Non-cash settlements — (659 * (65%)
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 84 — % 84

*The non-cash charge of $653 thousand is relatéldetdermination of the Company's financing obligratassociated with abandoning a
construction asset at one of its facilities.

The 2013 Plan

During 2013, the Company initiated a restructupnggram related primarily to its LDT group as aulesf the change in its business
strategy to reduce its focus on the lower margib puoducts. Additionally, the Company curtailesliinmersive media platform spending (the
“2013 Plan”). In connection with this restructuripgpgram, the Company estimates that it will ineggregate costs of approximately $3.0
million to $4.0 million . During the year ended @ecber 31, 2013 , the Company incurred restructwhagges of $3.4 million related
primarily to the reduction in workforce, of whicl2 & million was related to the CTO reportable segim®0.1 million was related to the MID
reportable segment and $0.9 million was relateti¢cAll Other reportable segment. The Company especsubstantially complete its
restructuring activities related to this plan bg #nd of 2014.

The following table summarizes the 2013 Plan restining activities during the year ended Decemtiger2813 :

Employee
Severance
and Related Benefits Facilities Total
(In thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ — 3 —  $ —
Charges 3,25¢ 19t 3,45(
Payments (1,529 (62 (1,58%)
Non-cash settlements — — —
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 1,732 13 $ 1,86¢
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17. Income Taxes

Income before taxes consisted of the following:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)
Domestic $ (12,53 $ (61,030 $ (3,58¢)
Foreign 51¢ (56,849 (22,21Y)
$ (12,017 $ (117,88H) $ (25,80
The provision for income taxes is comprised of:
Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)
Federal:
Current $ 19,31¢ $ 15,04¢ $ 16,59¢
Deferred 2,20( 587 (25%)
State:
Current 47 (2,86¢) 17
Deferred (507) 2,93¢ —
Foreign:
Current 44¢€ 542 88¢
Deferred 22C 207 9
$ 21,73. % 16,45, % 17,25:
The differences between Rambus’ effective tax aatkbthe U.S. federal statutory regular tax rateaarfollows:
Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Expense (benefit) at U.S. federal statutory rate (35.0% (35.0% (35.0%
Expense (benefit) at state statutory rate (3.9 0.1 (0.2
Withholding tax 160.4 13.2 64.2
Foreign rate differential 4.1 17.¢ 33.C
Research and development (“R&D”) credit (36.7) — (2.0
Executive compensation 0.t 0.2 2.C
Non-deductible stock-based compensation 2.t 0.7 2.8
Foreign tax credit (163.9) (13.9) (197.%)
Capitalized merger and acquisition costs — 0.3 5.¢
Other (2.0 (2.2) 0.t
Valuation allowance 252 32.¢ 192.:
180.6% 14.0% 66.€ %
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The components of the net deferred tax assetssefmlaws:

As of December 31,
2013 2012

(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Depreciation and amortization $ 28,09: $ 20,23(
Other liabilities and reserves 18,57¢ 19,624
Deferred equity compensation 33,837 42 ,54¢€
Net operating loss carryovers 27,41€ 38,138
Tax credits 100,052 76,82¢€
Total gross deferred tax assets 207,97¢ 197,35¢
Convertible debt (12,664, (8,019)
Total net deferred tax assets 195,31 189,34(
Valuation allowance (192,82) (184,81)
Net deferred tax assets $ 2,48¢ § 4,52t

As of December 31,
2013 2012

(In thousands)
Reported as:

Current deferred tax assets $ 205 % 78¢€
Current deferred tax liabilities (797) —
Non-current deferred tax assets 4,797 4,45¢
Non-current deferred tax liabilities (1,729 (729

Net deferred tax assets $ 2,48¢ $ 4,52:

During the quarter ended December 31, 2013 , thmpaay identified a prior period error which resdlie an overstatement of the gross
deferred tax asset related to the deferred eqaitypensation balance and its related valuation alhme in the Income Taxes footnote
disclosures as reported on Form 10-K for the yaded December 31, 2012s the Company recorded a full valuation alloweafar this asse
the error did not have any effect on the Compafigancial results and position. The Company haserhd correction of the error in the
periods in which they originated and reflecteddbgection in the Income Taxes footnote on FornK1idr the year ended December 31,
2013.

Management periodically evaluates the realizabilftthe Company's net deferred tax assets basall amilable evidence, both positive
and negative. The realization of net deferred twets is dependent on the Company's ability torgemeufficient future taxable income during
periods prior to the expiration of tax attributedully utilize these assets. The Company weighatti positive and negative evidence and
determined that there is a continued need for @at@n allowance as the Company is in a cumuldtigs position over the previous three ye
which is considered significant negative evidecsustained period of profitability in the Compangperations is required before the
Company would change its judgment regarding thel fi@ea full valuation allowance against its netedleed tax assets. Although the weight of
negative evidence related to cumulative lossesésadsing as the uncertainty around litigationesatint is reducing, the Company believes
that this objectively measured negative evidendweighs the subjectively determined positive evigeaf future profitability and, as such, the
Company has not changed its judgment regardingekd for a full valuation allowance on its defertax assets in the United States in 2013.
However, continued improvement in the Company'satp® results, conditioned on its MID, LDT or CRlporting units successfully
commercializing new business arrangements, signéwgor renewing existing license agreements andagiag costs, could lead to reversal of
almost all of the Company's valuation allowanceasy as 2014. Until such time, consumption ofd#xibutes to offset profits will reduce the
overall level of deferred tax assets subject toatidn allowance. Should the Company determineitieduld be able to realize its remaining
deferred tax assets in the foreseeable futuredmstanent to its remaining deferred tax assets dvoalise a material increase to income in the
period such determination is made.
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The following table presents the tax valuationwaoce information for the years ended Decembe@13 , December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011 :

Balance at Charged Charged to
Beginning of  (Credited) to Other Balance at
Period Operations Account* Utilized End of Period
Tax Valuation Allowance
Year ended December 31, 2011 $ 66,39 — 64,15: — $ 130,54
Year ended December 31, 2012 $ 130,54 — 54,26¢ — $ 184,81
Year ended December 31, 2013 $ 184,81 — 8,00¢ — $ 192,82

*  Amounts not charged to operations are chargedher @omprehensive income or deferred tax assatslifies)

As of December 31, 2013, Rambus has federal alifb@ia net operating loss carryforwards of $4lion and $302.2 million ,
respectively. As of December 31, 2013 , Rambuddderal research and development tax credit cammgials of $30.7 million , alternative
minimum tax credits of $2.5 million , and foreigaxtcredits of $102.0 million . As of December 3Q12 , Rambus has California research anc
development tax credit carryforwards of $14.9 milli These carryforward amounts include $35.6 omlbf federal tax credits, $1.5 million of
federal net operating losses, and $97.3 millio@alifornia net operating losses for which no defdrax asset has been recognized because
they relate to excess tax benefits from stock optiax deductions. The excess tax benefits willdmorded to additional paid-in capital when
they reduce cash taxes payable. The federal neatimee loss begins to expire in 2031. The fedevedifyn tax credits and research and
development credits begin to expire in 2016 and20dspectively. Approximately $55 milliasf federal foreign tax credits expire in 2020. "
California net operating losses begin to expir2da8. The federal alternative minimum tax creditd the California research and developn
credits carry forward indefinitely.

In the event of a change in ownership, as defimetbufederal and state tax laws, Rambus' net apgraiss and tax credit carryforwards
could be subject to annual limitations. The andiunatations could result in the expiration of thetroperating loss and tax credit carryforwards
prior to utilization.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had $18.Bmibf unrecognized tax benefits including $12.@ion recorded as a reduction of
long-term deferred tax assets and $6.2 million réed in long term income taxes payabile. If recoguhi£1.6 million would be recorded as an
income tax benefit in the consolidated statemehtperations. As of December 31, 2012 , the Compeaty$16.8 million of unrecognized tax
benefits including $10.6 million recorded as a witun of long-term deferred tax assets and $6.8aniftecorded in long term income taxes
payable. If recognized, $2.0 million would be redext as an income tax benefit in the consolidat@eistents of operations. It is reasonably
possible that a reduction of up to $2.0 millioregfsting unrecognized tax benefits could occuhmmnext 12 months .

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amsusftunrecognized income tax benefits for the yeaded December 31, 2013 , 2GR
2011 is as follows (amounts in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Balance at January 1 $ 16,77 $ 16,61( $ 11,81¢
Tax positions related to current year:

Additions 1,15¢ 58¢ 60€
Tax positions related to prior years:

Additions 95¢€ 1,521 4,911

Reductions (92) (1,947 (725)

Settlements — — —
Balance at December 31 $ 18,79 % 16,77:  $ 16,61(

Rambus recognizes interest and penalties relateddertain tax positions as a component of themetax provision (benefit). At
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , an immaterial amdunterest and penalties are included in long-teroome taxes payable.
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In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-11, "Prestéont of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Netr@peg Loss Carryforward, a
Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exis The amendments of this ASU require that esgtithat have an unrecognized tax benef
and a net operating loss carryforward or similarltss or tax credit carryforward in the same jidion as the uncertain tax position present
the unrecognized tax benefit as a reduction ofi#ferred tax asset for the loss or tax credit éarward rather than as a liability when the
uncertain tax position would reduce the loss orcr@dit carryforward under the tax law. The disalesrequirements will be effective for
annual periods beginning after December 15, 20h8.Jompany expects to adopt this new standarckifirt quarter of tax year 2014. The
Company anticipates the adoption may result in le@aiuctions to both deferred tax assets and leng taxes payable of approximately $4.7
million .

Rambus files income tax returns for the U.S., ©atifa, India and various other state and foreigisglictions. The U.S. federal returns are
subject to examination from 2012 and forward. Thdif@rnia returns are subject to examination frod®2 and forward. In addition, any R&D
credit carryforward or net operating loss carryfardvgenerated in prior years and utilized in th@siiture years may also be subject to
examination. The India returns are subject to eration from fiscal year ending March 2006 and fadvdhe Company is currently under
examination by California for the 2010 and 2011years and by India for fiscal years ending Maré@&, 2009 and 2010. Management
regularly assesses the likelihood of outcomes tieguirom income tax examinations to determinedtequacy of their provision for income
taxes and believes their provision for unrecognizedbenefits is adequate. In January 2014, amrat&evenue Service examination covering
the 2010 through 2011 tax years was completed r&dw@gnition or remeasurement of unrecognized taefits from the audit will be reflected
in the Company’s financial statements for the qpraghding March 31, 2014 and is not expected tm&erial to the Consolidated Statement o
Operations because of the Company’s valuation alfm& position.

At December 31, 2013, no deferred taxes have pemided on undistributed earnings of approximagy4 million from the Company’s
international subsidiaries since these earnings baen, and under current plans will continue tgbemanently reinvested outside the United
States. It is not practicable to determine the arhofithe unrecognized tax liability at this time.

18. Litigation and Asserted Claims
SK hynix Litigation
U.S District Court of the Northern District of Cadinia

On August 29, 2000, SK hynix (formerly Hyundai diighix) and various subsidiaries filed suit agaiRaimbus in the U.S. District Court
for the Northern District of California. The compitiasserts claims for fraud, violations of fedexatitrust laws and deceptive practices in
connection with Rambus' participation in a standaetting organization called JEDEC, and seek<kamddory judgment that the Rambus
patents-in-suit are unenforceable, invalid andimfoinged by SK hynix, compensatory and punitivend@es, and attorneys' fees. Rambus
denied SK hynix's claims and filed counterclaimsgdatent infringement against SK hynix. The cass digided into three phases: (1) unclean
hands; (2) patent infringement; and (3) antitraguitable estoppel, and other JEDEC-related isResbus prevailed in all three phases and
judgment was entered against SK hynix. On applealFederal Circuit vacated the judgment and rentatitecase back to the district court
further proceedings consistent with its uncleandsaand spoliation opinions in the SK hynix and Mitcases. SK hynix was also awarded
costs of appeal. The Company had previously accappdoximately $8.1 million related to those costs.

On remand, the district court found that Rambusagrd in spoliation of evidence. Because the askpéatents were otherwise valid and
Rambus did not intentionally destroy particular dgimg documents, the court concluded that the gpjate sanction was to strike from the
record evidence supporting a royalty in excessrebaonable, non-discriminatory royalty. Accordinghe court ordered the parties to submit
briefs on what a reasonable and non-discriminatoyglty would be for the patents in suit.

On December 19, 2012, the district court held aihgan the reasonable royalty motion; SK hynix@tion for summary judgment of
invalidity, new trial, or a stay of the case, arahtbus' motion to amend the unclean hands deciNimecisions have issued to date.

SK hynix subsequently filed a motion for collateeatoppel based on the Micron spoliation decisionemnand. On February 27, 2013, the
district court issued notice that SK hynix's motlas been submitted without oral argument fronpmties.

On June 11, 2013, Rambus and SK hynix announcedhtiyahad entered into a settlement of all outitamdisputes between the parties,
which is described in Note 19, "Agreements with IBKix and Micron." As a result of the settlemehg t
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Company has reversed the cost accrual of $8.1lomiikferenced above during the second quarter18,28hich was included in marketing,
general and administrative expenses in the coraeliistatements of operations.

Micron Litigation
U.S District Court in Delaware: Case No. 00-792-SLR

On August 28, 2000, Micron filed suit against Rambuthe U.S. District Court for Delaware. The @agserts violations of federal antitrust
laws, deceptive trade practices, breach of conthiattd and negligent misrepresentation in conoaatiith Rambus' participation in JEDEC.
Micron seeks a declaration of monopolization by Ras) compensatory and punitive damages, attorfess'a declaratory judgment tieéght
Rambus patents are invalid and not infringed, &edatvard to Micron of a royalty-free license to Rembus patents. Rambus has filed an
answer and counterclaims disputing Micron's claama asserting infringement by Micron of 12 U.Sepas. Micron prevailed on its unclean
hands defense and judgment was entered againstuRaonkihe patent infringement claims. On appeelFéderal Circuit remanded the case
back to the district court for further proceedimgsisistent with its opinion.

On January 2, 2013, the court issued its decisiatirfy that Rambus had spoliated documents in aild, that Micron's inequitable condt
defense and JEDEC-based claims and defenses redgtatent misuse, antitrust, and unfair competiti@re prejudiced, and that the patents-
in-suit are thus unenforceable against Micron. dtwrt issued an order on January 24, 2013, diggtidlgment be entered against Rambus or
the patent infringement claims in 30 days , angistpthe remainder of the case pending appeal. Rarfiled a notice of appeal to the United
States Court of Appeals for the Federal CircuiMarch 27, 2013. Rambus' opening appellate brieffileds in July 2013 and Micron filed a
responsive brief in October 2013. Rambus filedpdyrerief in November 2013.

On December 9, 2013, Rambus and Micron announceedttey had entered into a settlement of all ontitey disputes between the parties
which is described in Note 19, "Agreements with IBKix and Micron."

U.S. District Court of the Northern District of Gfrnia

On January 13, 2006, Rambus filed suit againsttién the U.S. District Court for the Northern Dist of California. Rambus alleges that
14 Rambus patents are infringed by Micron's DDRRR3, GDDR3, and other advanced memory products.bRarseeks compensatory and
punitive damages, attorneys' fees, and injunctliefr This case has been stayed since Febru@&90®. On December 9, 2013, Rambus and
Micron announced that they had entered into aeseétht of all outstanding disputes between thegmrivhich is described in Note 19,
"Agreements with SK hynix and Micron."

European Patent Infringement Cas

In 2001, Rambus filed suit against Micron in ManinineGermany, for infringement of European pate,1E22 642. That suit has not been
active. Tworelated proceedings in Italy remain active. Ordates to Rambus' claim that Micron is infringingr&pean patent, EP 1 4 956. -
court in this proceeding has found the '956 patalit but not infringed. The court also dismis$&idron's claims for unfair competition based
on JEDEC as well as abuse of process. Micron dicippeal this decision so this case is now cloBkd.second case in Italy involves
Micron's purported claim resulting from a seizufe@wdence in Italy in 2000 carried out by Rambusspiant to a court order. The court in this
proceeding dismissed Micron's claim. Micron hagegped this decision to the Italian Supreme Cd&untDecember 9, 2013, Rambus and
Micron announced that they had entered into aeseéht of all outstanding disputes between thegmrntvhich is described in Note 19,
"Agreements with SK hynix and Micron."

DDR2, DDR3, gDDR2, GDDR3, GDDR4 Litigatior'DDR2")
U.S District Court in the Northern District of Cédirnia

On January 25, 2005, Rambus filed a patent infrimgg suit in the U.S. District Court for the Nonthdistrict of California against SK
hynix, Infineon, Nanya, and Inotera. Infineon andtera were subsequently dismissed from this titigaas was Samsung, which previously
had been added as a defendant. Rambus allege®ttah of its patents are infringed by certaithaf defendants’' SDRAM, DDR, DDR2,
DDR3, gDDR2, GDDR3, GDDR4 and other advanced merpoogucts. This case has been stayed since Fel8uag09. On June 11, 2013,
Rambus and SK hynix announced that they had eniet@d settlement of all outstanding disputes leetwthe parties.

European Commission Competition Director-General
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On or about April 22, 2003, Rambus was notifiedhsy European Commission Competition Directorate&ganDirectorate) (the
“European Commission”) that it had received compkafrom Infineon and SK hynix, which led to a staent of objections from the European
Commission alleging that through Rambus' partiégpein the JEDEC standards setting organizationsafidequent conduct, Rambus violated
European Union competition law.

On December 9, 2009, the European Commission aceduhat it had reached a final settlement with Rasrto resolve the pending case.
On March 25, 2010, SK hynix filed appeals with @eneral Court of the European Union purportinghallenge the settlement and the
European Commission's rejection of SK hynix's caiml

On June 11, 2013, Rambus and SK hynix announcedhtiyahad entered into a settlement of all outtitemdisputes between the parties,
which is described in Note 19, "Agreements with IBKix and Micron."

Superior Court of California for the County of SaRrancisco

On May 5, 2004, Rambus filed a lawsuit against BIcISK hynix, Infineon and Siemens in San Franc&aperior Court seeking damages
for conspiring to fix prices, conspiring to monogel under the Cartwright Act, intentional interfece with prospective economic advantage,
and unfair competition. This lawsuit alleges tlnre were concerted efforts beginning in the 198@eter innovation in the DRAM market
and to boycott Rambus and/or deter market accept@iiRambus' RDRAM product. Subsequently, Infineod Siemens were dismissed from
this action (as a result of a settlement with lafin) and three Samsung-related entities were aaklddfendants and later dismissed (as a res
of a settlement with Samsung).

A jury trial against Micron and SK hynix began amé 20, 2011. On November 16, 2011, the jury refiran verdict in favor of Micron and
SK hynix and against Rambus and judgment was ehtgréhe Court on February 15, 2012. The courtddsan order on January 29, 2013,
awarding costs to Micron and SK hynix of $0.5 moifliand $0.4 million , respectively.

Rambus filed a notice of appeal on April 3, 2018 #rereafter filed its opening brief on appeal ept®mber 19, 2012. Defendants filed
their responsive briefs on March 8, 2013. Rambes fiis reply brief on July 12, 2013.

On June 11, 2013, Rambus and SK hynix announcedhtiyahad entered into a settlement of all outtitemdisputes between the parties,
which is described in Note 19, "Agreements with [8)ix and Micron." As a result of the settlemehg Company has reversed the cost
accrual of $0.4 million referenced above duringgbeond quarter of 2013, which was included in mimk), general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statements of opesatio

On December 9, 2013, Rambus and Micron announegdhby had entered into a settlement of all onthtey disputes between the parties
which is described in Note 19, "Agreements with [8)ix and Micron." As a result of the settlemehg Company has reversed the cost
accrual of $0.5 million referenced above duringftherth quarter of 2013, which was included in nedithg, general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statements of opesatio

Broadcom, Freescale, LSI, MediaTek, and STMicrodiemics Litigation
International Trade Commission 2010 Investigal

On December 1, 2010, Rambus filed a complaint thighUnited States International Trade Commissibe (tTC") requesting the
commencement of an investigation and seeking alugiro order barring the importation, sale for imp&on, or sale after importation of
products that incorporate at least DDR, DDR2, DDIRZDDR, LPDDR2, mobile DDR, GDDR, GDDR2, and GDDR&mory controllers fror
Broadcom, Freescale, LS|, MediaTek and STMicroebeits that infringe patents from the Barth fangfypatents, and products having certair
peripheral interfaces, including PCI Express irteefs, DisplayPort interfaces, and certain SeriaP&chment (“SATA”") and Serial Attached
SCSI (“SAS”) interfaces, from Broadcom, Freeschi, and STMicroelectronics that infringe patentafrthe Dally family of patents. The
complaint names, among others, Broadcom, FreedcaleMediaTek and STMicroelectronics as responsiead well as companies whose
products incorporate those accused companies' gi®dnd are imported into the United States, irnyésustek Computer Inc. and Asus
Computer International Inc., Audio Partnership Rlisco Systems, Garmin International, G.B.T. I@ga-Byte Technology Co. Ltd., Gracom
Technologies LLC, Hewlett-Packard Company, Hita8BiT, Motorola, Inc., Oppo Digital, Inc., and Seagéechnology. The complaint also
names NVIDIA and certain companies whose produntisrporate accused NVIDIA products with certainipiegral interfaces, including PCI
Express and DisplayPort peripheral interfaces,s@ais to bar their importation, sale for importatior sale after importation. On
December 29, 2010, the ITC instituted the invesitiga On June 20, 2011, January 17, 2012, and MB®¢cR012, respectively, the
administrative law judge granted joint motionsémtinate the investigation as to Freescale, Braadmod Mediatek pursuant to the parties'
settlement agreement. A final hearing before thmiatrative law judge was held October 12-20, 2011
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On July 25, 2012, the ITC issued the notice ofl@germination to terminate the investigation wittinaling of no violation for the following
reasons: all of the asserted patent claims wedichdue to anticipation or obviousness, exceptéatain Dally claims that include multiple-
transmitters for which the ITC determined there wasnfringement; Rambus did not demonstrate thstexce of a domestic industry for both
the Barth and Dally patents; the Barth patents weenforceable under the doctrine of unclean haaat$the Barth patents were exhausted a:
to one respondent. The ITC's opinion setting fdgtleterminations was issued on July 31, 2012.Ranfiled a notice of appeal on Septembe
21, 2012. Rambus and LS| announced that they hideshinto a settlement of their disputes on Falyri, 2013. Rambus filed its opening
brief on May 23, 2013 and the appeal was dismissedline 24, 2013 as a result of the settlementSiitlicroelectronics as the only
remaining respondent.

U.S District Court in the Northern District of Cédirnia

On December 1, 2010, Rambus filed complaints ag8iremdcom, Freescale, LSI, MediaTek and STMicrctedaics in the U.S. District
Court for the Northern District of California alleg that 1) products that incorporate at least DDRR2, DDR3, LPDDR, LPDDR2, mobile
DDR, GDDR, GDDR2, and GDDR3 memory controllers frBnoadcom, Freescale, LSI, MediaTek and STMicrdebeics infringe patents
from the Barth family of patents; 2) those samedpats and products from those companies that incatp SDR memory controllers infringe
patents from the Farmwald-Horowitz family; and 8ygucts having certain peripheral interfaces, iditig PCI Express, DisplayPort, and
certain SATA and SAS interfaces, from BroadcomgBeale, LS| and STMicroelectronics infringe patdrim the Dally family of patents. On
March 20, 2011, June 7, 2011, December 29, 20HLFebruary 26, 2013, respectively, Rambus' comip#ajainst MediaTek, Freescale,
Broadcom and LS| was dismissed pursuant to théegasettlement agreement. Rambus and STMicroeldcs announced that they had
entered into a settlement of their disputes on Ii&013.

Potential Future Litigation

In addition to the litigation described above, camigs continue to adopt Rambus technologies intows products. Rambus has notified
many of these companies of their use of Rambustdahy and continues to evaluate how to proceethese matters.

There can be no assurance that any ongoing oeflitigation will be successful. Rambus has spabstantial company resources
defending its intellectual property in litigatiomhich may continue for the foreseeable future githenpending litigation. The outcome of any
litigation, as well as any delay in their resolaticould affect Rambus' ability to license its ligtetual property in the future.

The Company records a contingent liability wheis pprobable that a loss has been incurred andntfoeiiat is reasonably estimable in
accordance with accounting for contingencies. Aoeably possible loss in excess of amounts acdsusot material to the consolidated
financial statements.

19. Agreements with SK hynix and Micron
SK hynix

On June 11, 2013, Rambus, SK hynix and certaitelantities of SK hynix entered into a settlenagreement, pursuant to which the
parties have agreed to release all claims agaatst ether with respect to all outstanding litigatletween them. Pursuant to the settlement
agreement, Rambus and SK hynix entered into a sehictor patent license agreement on June 11, 20@@r which SK hynix licenses from
Rambus non-exclusive rights to certain Rambus patard has agreed to pay Rambus cash amountsheveestt five yearas described belo
Under the license agreement, Rambus has grant&d kynix (i) a paid-up perpetual patent licensedertain identified SK hynix DRAM
products and (ii) a five -year term patent licetwsall other DRAM and other semiconductor produEisch license is a non-exclusive, non-
transferable, royalty-bearing, worldwide patenetise, without the right to sublicense, solely uriderapplicable patent claims of Rambus for
such licensed products, to make (including haveayade, sell, offer for sale and/or import sucbkrised products until the expiration or
termination of the license pursuant to the termtheflicense agreement. The license agreementrescghiat SK hynix pay Rambus cash
payments over the next five years of a fixed amafi$12.0 million each quarter, commencing in tharter ended September 30, 2013.
Additional payments or certain adjustments to thgnpents by SK hynix to Rambus under the licenseeagent may be due for certain
acquisitions of businesses or assets by SK hyridwing unlicensed products. The license agreerapdtthe licenses granted thereunder may
be modified under certain conditions and may beitgated upon a material breach by a party of itgyabons under the agreement, a
bankruptcy event involving a party or a changeaftml of SK hynix subject to certain conditions.
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The agreements with SK hynix are considered a plalélement arrangement for accounting purposesa Raultiple element arrangement
under the applicable accounting rules, the Comjmmgquired to identify specific elements of theaagement and then determine when those
elements should be recognized. The Company idedtifiree elements in the arrangement: antitrugation settlement, settlement of past
infringement, and license agreement. The Compangidered several factors in determining the acéogriir value of the elements of the
hynix agreements which included a third party vrausing an income approach (collectively the “BHix Fair Value”). The inputs and
assumptions used in this accounting valuation vrera a market participant perspective and inclupieajected customer revenue, royalty
rates, estimated discount rates, useful lives aogine tax rates, among others. The developmenhofrder of these inputs and assumptiot
the model requires a significant amount of managefuelgment and discretion, and is based upon aeuf factors, including the selection
of industry comparables, market growth rates ahdratelevant factors. Changes in any number okthssumptions may have a substantial
impact on the SK hynix Fair Value as assigned thedement. These inputs and assumptions represaragemens best estimates at the ti
of the transaction. The following estimates donediect any agreement (expressed or implied) rehbleéveen the parties on the values
attributed to any aspect of this transaction. T$terated SK hynix Fair Value is determined as foo

Estimated SK hynix

(in millions) Fair Value

Antitrust litigation settlement $ 4.C
Settlement of past infringement 280.(
License agreement 250.(
Total SK hynix Fair Value $ 534.(

The total consideration of $240.0 million (as ger terms of the agreements with SK hynix) takes &ucount the court ruling in May 2013
that $250.0 million should be applied as a creglitiast the court’s March 2009 award to Rambuseén3K hynix litigation. Using the
accounting guidance from multiple element revenuangements, the Company allocated the considertdieach element using the estimatec
SK hynix Fair Value of the elements which includgitaust litigation settlement, settlement of padtingement, and license agreement as
shown in the table above. The following allocatidesnot reflect any agreement (expressed or implieached between the parties on the
values attributed to any aspect of this transachahinstead, reflect only what is required agldsure under the applicable accounting rules.
Based on the estimated SK hynix Fair Value, thal mnsideration of $240.0 million was allocatedte following elements:

Allocated
(in millions) Consideration
Antitrust litigation settlement $ 1.6
Settlement of past infringement 125.¢
License agreement 112
Total consideration $ 240.C

The consideration of $240.0 million (assuming njusitinents to the payments under the terms of theeagents) will be recognized in the
Company’s financial statements until 2018 as folow

$238.1 million as "royalty revenue" which renets the allocated consideration related to théessnt of past infringement ( $125.8
million ) from the resolution of the infringemeiitigation and the patent license agreement ( $14®l&n ); and
$1.9 millionas "gain from settlement” which represents thecatied consideration related to the resolution efahtitrust litigatior

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coyneived cash consideration of $24.0 million fr8i hynix. The amount was
allocated between royalty revenue ( $23.6 milli@mdl gain from settlement ( $0.4 million ) basedlmelements’ SK hynix Fair Value.

The remaining $216.0 million is expected to be paiguccessive quarterly payments of $12.0 millieconcluding in the second quarter of
2018.

The cumulative cash receipts through December @13 2nd the remaining future cash receipts fromatreements with SK hynix are
expected to be recognized as follows assuming justadents to the payments under the terms of theeagents:
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Received ) ) )

in Estimated to Be Received in Total Estimated
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Cash Receipts

(in millions)
Royalty revenue $ 23€ $ 47 % 47 $ 47¢ % 48.C $ 24.C $ 238.1
Gain from settlement 0.4 0.7 0.7 0.1 — — 1.€
Total $ 24C $ 48.C $ 48.C $ 48.C % 48.C $ 24.C $ 240.(

Micron

On December 9, 2013, Rambus, Micron and certaateélentities of Micron entered into a settlemegnéament, pursuant to which the
parties have agreed that they will release alhtdadgainst each other with respect to all outstanliigation between them and certain other
potential claims. Pursuant to the settlement ages¢nRambus and Micron entered into a semicondpetnt license agreement on
December 9, 2013. Under the license agreement, Bahds granted to Micron and its subsidiaries anthin affiliated entities (i) a paid-up
perpetual patent license for certain identified it DRAM products and (ii) a seven -year term palieense to other memory and
semiconductor products. The initial seven -yeantpatent license may be renewed and extended bg ftwars, or successive five years
following the initial renewal term, each solelyMicron’s option, whereby after each renewal terertain additional Micron products will be
covered under a paid-up perpetual patent licensetesl above. Each license is a non-exclusive trasferable, royalty-bearing, worldwide
patent license, without the right to sublicenséglgainder the applicable patent claims of Ramlousséich licensed products, to make
(including have made), use, sell, offer for sald/animport such licensed products until the exraor termination of the license pursuant to
the terms of the license agreement. The licensseaggnt requires that Micron pay Rambus cash pagnoéiain amount equal to 0.6% of sales
of certain identified Micron products on a quagdshsis, with such amounts not to exceed $10.0amilh any quarter, and $40.0 million
during a rolling twelve month period beginning cep&mber 1st and ending on August 31st duringritialiterm, and any renewal term
thereafter. Additional payments or certain adjustta¢o the payments by Micron to Rambus underittem$ée agreement may be due for ce
acquisitions of businesses or assets by Micronvinvg unlicensed products. The license agreemedhtlam licenses granted thereunder may b
terminated upon a material breach by a party afbtgyations under the agreement, a bankruptcytamenlving a party or a future change of
control of Micron subject to certain conditions.

The agreements with Micron are considered a mel@ggment arrangement for accounting purposesa Rarltiple element arrangement
under the applicable accounting rules, the Comjmmgquired to identify specific elements of themagement and then determine when those
elements should be recognized. The Company idedtifiree elements in the arrangement: antitrigation settlement, settlement of past
infringement, and license agreement. The Compangidered several factors in determining the acdogriir value of the elements of the
Micron agreements which included a third party atibn using an income approach (collectively thactdn Fair Value™). The inputs and
assumptions used in this accounting valuation \frera a market participant perspective and includegected customer revenue, royalty
rates, estimated discount rates, useful lives aooinne tax rates, among others. The developmenhofrder of these inputs and assumptior
the model requires a significant amount of manageuelgment and discretion, and is based upon abeuwf factors, including the selection
of industry comparables, market growth rates ahératelevant factors. Changes in any number okthssumptions may have a substantial
impact on the Micron Fair Value as assigned to edeiment. These inputs and assumptions represeragament’s best estimates at the time
of the transaction. The following estimates donediect any agreement (expressed or implied) rehbleéween the parties on the values
attributed to any aspect of this transaction. T$terated Micron Fair Value is determined as follows

Estimated Micron

(in millions) Fair Value

Antitrust litigation settlement $ 8.C
Settlement of past infringement 235.(
License agreement 440.(
Total Micron Fair Value $ 683.(

The total consideration of $280.0 milli¢as per the terms of the agreements with Microkgganto account the court ruling in January z
that Rambus' patents-in-suit are unenforceablenagilicron in the Micron litigation, but which wagnding appeal at the time of settlement.
Using the accounting guidance from multiple elenremenue arrangements, the Company allocated thgdmyation to each element using the
estimated Micron Fair Value of the elements whintiide antitrust litigation settlement, settlemeipast infringement, and license agreemer
as shown in the table above. The following
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allocations do not reflect any agreement (expresséuiplied) reached between the parties on theesgahttributed to any aspect of this
transaction, but instead, reflect only what is iegfias disclosure under the applicable accoumtifes. Based on the estimated Micron Fair
Value, the total consideration of $280.0 millionsaalocated to the following elements:

Allocated
(in millions) Consideration
Antitrust litigation settlement $ 8.2
Settlement of past infringement 96.:
License agreement 180.<
Total consideration $ 280.(

The consideration of $280.0 million (assuming njusitinents to the payments under the terms of theeagents) will be recognized in the
Company’s financial statements until 2020 as folow

$276.7 million as "royalty revenue" which remnets the allocated consideration related to théesstnt of past infringement ( $96.3
million ) from the resolution of the infringemeitigation and the patent license agreement ( $180lbn ); and

$3.3 million million as "gain from settlementhigh represents the allocated consideration reltatéie resolution of the antitrust
litigation.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coyngaeived cash consideration of $5.5 millfoom Micron. The amount was alloca
between royalty revenue ( $5.3 million ) and gaonf settlement ( $0.2 million ) based on the elesidvicron Fair Value.

The remaining $274.5 million is expected to be paiguccessive quarterly payments of $10.0 milliconcluding in the fourth quarter of
2020.

The cumulative cash receipts through December @L3 2nd the remaining future cash receipts fronatireements with Micron are
expected to be recognized as follows assuming justadents to the payments under the terms of theeagents:

Received
in Estimated to Be Received in

2018 and Total Estimated
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 thereafter Cash Receipts

(in millions)
Royalty revenue $ 53 $ 38.7 $ 38.7 $ 39t $ 40.C $ 114: $ 276.%
Gain from settlement 0.2 1.3 1.3 0.5 — — 3.2
Total $ 55 40.C $ 40.C $ 40.C $ 40.C $ 1145 $ 280.(

Supplementary Financial Data

RAMBUS INC.
CONSOLIDATED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL DATA
Quarterly Statements of Operations
(Unaudited)
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Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31,
2013 2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012 2012
(In thousands, except for per share amounts)

Total revenue $ 7342 $ 7329« $ 5791¢ $ 66,86t $ 5744 $ 5753( $ 56,21! $ 62,86!
Total operating costs and expenses (1) (2) $ 67,206 $ 64,22¢ $ 52,17t $ 65428 $ 6147( $ 10463 $ 7796: $ 80,42
Operating income (loss) $ 621« $ 906t $ 574 $ 1,441 $ (4,027) $ (47,100 $ (21,749 $ (17,55%)
Net loss $ 977) $ (b,72Y) $ (7849 $ (10,40) ¢ (16,13) $ (58,099 $ (32,216 $ (27,890
Net loss per share — basic $ (009 $ (005 $ (00) $ (009 $ (019H $ (052 (029 $  (0.29
Net loss per share — diluted $ (009 $ (05 $ (007) $ (0.09 $ (019 $ (0.52) 029 $ (0.25)
Shares used in per share calculations — basic 113,21° 112,64( 112,18: 111,59¢ 111,33 110,82t 110,55: 110,35¢
Shares used in per share calculations — diluted 113,217 112,64( 112,18: 111,59¢ 111,33; 110,82 110,55: 110,35

(1) The quarterly financial information includdetfollowing amounts related to the impairment oddwill and longlived assets as follow
$9.7 million in the quarter ended December 31, 2831 million in the quarter ended September 3,32and $35.5 milliorin the
quarter ended September 30, 2012. Refer to Notl@ngible Assets and Goodwill* of Notes to Condated Financial Statements

this Form 10-K.

(2) The quarterly financial information includdgetfollowing amounts related to restructuring cleargs follows: $2.2 milliom the quarte
ended December 31, 2013, $1.1 million in the quaneled September 30, 2013, $2.2 million in thertgn@&nded March 31, 20180.7
million in the quarter ended December 31, 2012, &d5 million in the quarter ended September 30, 2012. Refer dte N6
"Restructuring Charges" of Notes to ConsolidatethRcial Statements of this Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

RAMBUS INC.

By: /s/ SATISH RISHI
Satish Rishi
Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief FinanCéicer

Date: February 21, 2014

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each permsbhose signature appears below hereby constitugsppoints Satish
Rishi as his true and lawful agent, proxy and aggrin-fact, with full power of substitution andstéostitution, for him and in his name, place
and stead, in any and all capacities, to (i) a¢s@n, and file with the Securities and Exchangen@ission any and all amendments to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, together with all sahled and exhibits thereto, (ii) act on, sign, atelduch certificates, instruments,
agreements and other documents as may be necessqpropriate in connection therewith, and (aike any and all actions that may be
necessary or appropriate to be done, as fullylfantents and purposes as he might or could deeirson, hereby approving, ratifying and
confirming all that such agent, proxy and attorimeyact or any of his substitutes may lawfully docause to be done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

Signature Title Date
Chief Executive Officer, President and DirectoriiBipal Executive February 21, 2014
/s/ RONALD BLACK Officer)
Ronald Black
Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Finar@féiter (Principal February 21, 2014
/s/ SATISH RISHI Financial and Accounting Officer)
Satish Rishi
/sl ERIC STANG Chairman of the Board of Directors February 21, 2014
Eric Stang
/s/ 3. THOMAS BENTLEY Director February 21, 2014

J. Thomas Bentley

/s/ PENELOPE HERSCHER Director February 21, 2014
Penelope Herscher

/s/ CHARLES KISSNER Director February 21, 2014
Charles Kissner

/s/ DAVID SHRIGLEY Director February 21, 2014
David Shrigley
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10.15*

10.16**
10.17**
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23.1

24
31.1

31.2

Merger Agreement dated as of May 12, 2011, by among Rambus Inc., Padlock Acquisition Corp., Crgpaphy Researc
Inc. and the shareholder representative.

Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatioReygistrant filed May 29, 1997.
Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restatedifi@ate of Incorporation of Registrant filed Juhé, 2000.
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant dated 2pyr2013.

Form of Registrant’'s Common Stock Certificate.

Indenture between Rambus Inc. and U.S. Bank, Naltidgsociation, dated as of June 29, 2009 (inclydhe form of 5%
Convertible Senior Note due 2014 therein).

Indenture between Rambus Inc. and U.S. Bank, Naltidesociation, dated as of August 16, 2013 (iniclgdhe form of
1.125% Convertible Senior Note due 2018 therein).

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into lggRtrant with each of its directors and executiffcers.
1997 Stock Plan (as amended and restated as df46@2007) and related forms of agreements.

2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.

Forms of agreements under the 2006 Equity Incefiga, as amended.

2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan as amended.

Redwood and Yellowstone Semiconductor Technologgh$e Agreement, dated as of January 6, 2003, éetRegistrant,
Sony Corporation and Sony Computer Entertainment In

Triple Net Space Lease, dated as of December 18, 2§ and between Registrant and MT SPE, LLC.

Settlement Agreement, dated January 19, 2010, aiRegistrant, Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd, Saméilagtronics
America, Inc., Samsung Semiconductor, Inc. and 8am#wustin Semiconductor, L.P.

Semiconductor Patent License Agreement, dated 8ai8a2010, between Registrant and Samsung Elect€o., Ltd.
Stock Purchase Agreement, dated January 19, 2efi@eén Registrant and Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd.

First Amendment of Lease, dated November 4, 20yt Anlol between Registrant and MT SPE, LLC.

Employment Agreement between the Company and Rd@latk, dated as of June 22, 2012.

Settlement Agreement, dated June 11, 2013, amogigtRent, SK hynix and certain SK hynix affiliates.

Semiconductor Patent License Agreement, dated D1n2013, between Registrant and SK hynix.

Settlement Agreement, dated December 9, 2013, katiRambus Inc., Micron Technology, Inc., and carhicron
affiliates.

Semiconductor Patent License Agreement, dated Deees) 2013, between Rambus, Inc. and Micron Tdolgyolinc.
Amendment to Semiconductor Patent License Agreendattd December 30, 2013, by and between Rambuarid
Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd.

Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges.

Subsidiaries of Registrant.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.

Power of Attorney (included in signature page).

Certification of Principal Executive Officer, puisut to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of thesges Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Sect?oof 3de Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Principal Financial Officer, puraot to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of thestes Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Sect?oof 3de Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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Certification of Principal Executive Officer, puimut to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted purdaeBection 906 of the
321
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Principal Financial Officer, pursnt to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted purgaa@ection 906 of the
32.2
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS+ XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutne
101.LAB+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PREx XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenin
101.DEF+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen
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1)
(2)
3)
(4)
(%)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)
(19)

(20)

Management contracts or compensation plans or geraents in which directors or executive officere aligible tc
participate.

Confidential treatment has been granted with raspecertain portions of this exhibit. Omitted ports have been file
separately with the Securities and Exchange Cononiss

Confidential treatment has been requested withesp certain portions of this exhibit. Omittedtans have been filed
separately with the Securities and Exchange Conioniss

XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) imfation is furnished and not filed or a part of giseration statement |
prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 oSenaurities Act of 1933, is deemed not filed forgmses of Section 18
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and othernsis®t subject to liability under these sections.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q fileddoigust 5, 2011.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-K fileddmcember 15, 1997.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q filedvay 4, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filedAgril 30, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Form S-1/A (fibe 333-22885) filed on April 24, 1997.
Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filedJone 29, 2009.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filedfargust 16, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Form S-1 (file388-22885) filed on March 6, 1997.
Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-K filedSmptember 14, 2007.
Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed\vay 1, 2012.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed\tay 16, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed\vay 1, 2012.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q filedApnil 30, 2003.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-K filedrabruary 25, 2010.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q filedvay 3, 2010.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-K filedrabruary 24, 2012.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filedJane 25, 2012.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q/A filedJanuary 13, 2014.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q filedoly 29, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Form S-3 filedone 22, 2009.
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Exhibit 10.15

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

THIS SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT (the “ Agreement) is made and entered into as of the 9th day of
December, 2013 (the_* Effective Dateby and among Rambus Inc., a Delaware corporéti®&ambus’), on the one
hand, and Micron Technology, Inc., a Delaware caapon, together with its Subsidiaries (as defimedrticle 1),
Micron Semiconductors Products, Inc., an ldaho @aon, Micron Semiconductor (Deutschland) GmbH, a
corporation organized under the laws of Germang,Mitron Technology Italia Srl, a corporation orgasd under the
laws of Italy (collectively, “ Micror’), on the other hand. Rambus and Micron may haften be referred to
collectively as the * Partiésand individually as a " Party

WHEREAS , Micron and its Subsidiaries and Rambus and itssi8iaries are currently parties to a number of
Disputes (as defined in Article 1) relating to e@mtproducts of Micron and certain Rambus Pateagsiéfined in
Article 1), including but not limited to disputes # whether claims of such Rambus Patents anegefd by Micron’s
products, and disputes relating to the validityfpeseability and scope of such Rambus Patentstlandntitrust
Litigation (as defined in Article 1);

WHEREAS , the Parties desire to eliminate the risks assataith such litigation and to enter into a
comprehensive resolution to compromise, settleralese the Disputes, and to compromise, resold@anid other
disputes that may arise after the Effective Dath waspect to Micron's products and the RambusBate

WHEREAS, the Parties acknowledge that in resolving the Oesguand other disputes that may arise after the
Effective Date, the promises and covenants eadhegikive under this Agreement and the Patent Iseékgreement
(as defined in Article 1) represent a package,ardot intended to be severable from each othgraiticular (a)
Micron is receiving a full and final release of ttlaims asserted or that could be or could have beserted against it
in the Disputes and securing a license to certaime of the Rambus Patents, in exchange for tii@llPayment and
other payments set forth in the Patent License égent, and (b) Rambus is receiving the Initial Paryiand other
payments set forth in the Patent License Agreenmeetchange for granting such releases and licgasewell as othe
benefits provided for in this Agreement and theeRtiLicense Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Parties acknowledge that it is therefore egddahat their respective obligations under this
Agreement be certain and not subject to collattack, or otherwise subject to change or modibce¢xcept on the
terms expressly set forth therein;

WHEREAS , this Agreement is entered into for the purpossetfiement and compromise only,

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual covenants and jgescontained herein, and other
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficieoicyhich are hereby acknowledged by the PartiessParties agree as
follows:

[***] Confidential treatment has been requestedtfor bracketed portions. The confidential redapteion has been omitted and filed separately tiéhSecurities and Exchange
Commission.




Article 1

Definitions

In addition to the terms defined in other partshig Agreement, the following terms used hereirhwiitial capital
letters shall have the respective meanings spdadifi¢his Article 1.

1.1 Affiliate . The term “Affiliate” means, for an identified &yt any other entity that (a) is a Subsidiary of
such identified entity; or (b) Controls or is ungemmon Control of such identified entity, but osly
long as such Control exists.

1.2 Agreement The term “Agreementhas the meaning set forth in the introductory pajalg
1.3 Antitrust Litigation. The term “Antitrust Litigation” means the matatittedRambus Inc. v. Micron

Technology Inc. et aJ.No. 04-431105 (Supr. Ct. Cal., San Fran. Fileg a2004) and any appeals
therefrom and related proceedings, including speiy the appeal ilRambus Inc. v Micron Technology,
Inc., et al., in the Court of Appeal of the State of Calif@ankirst Appellate District, Division Two, Case

No. A135150

1.4 Change of ControlThe term “Change of Control” has the meaningah in the Patent License
Agreement.

1.5 Comprehensive Resolution Agreemeniike term “Comprehensive Resolution Agreementsdmsehis

Agreement and the Patent License Agreement.

1.6 Control. The term “Control’'has the meaning set forth in the Patent Licensedgen
1.7 DesignThe term “Design’has the meaning set forth in the Patent License&gen
1.8 Disputes The term “Disputes” means any and every litigatiawsuit, or similar proceeding pending

between the Parties as of the Effective Date incnyt, governmental body, or agency in any jugsdn,
including the Patent Litigation, the German Patatgation, the Italian Patent Litigation, the Amtist
Litigation, and the Patent Actions, and any andislibutes related thereto.

1.9 Effective Date The term “Effective Datehas the meaning set forth in the introductory paalg

1.10 Excluded Entity The term “Excluded Entity” means Broadcom Corpiorg LS| Corporation, MediaTek
Inc., SK hynix Inc., SK hynix America Inc., Hynixegiconductor Manufacturing America Inc., SK hynix
U.K. Ltd., SK hynix Deutschland, GmbH, Nanya Teclogy Corporation, Nanya Technology
Corporation U.S.A., NVIDIA Corporation, Samsung &lenics Co., Ltd., Samsung Electronics America
Inc., Samsung Semiconductor, Inc., Samsung Augimi&@nductor, L.P., STMicroelectronics N.V.,
STMicroelectronics Inc. and any other Third Paimygluding the Affiliates of such Third Party) thatan
adverse party to Rambus or its Subsidiaries inlanguit, litigation or other similar proceedingspéeng
as of the Effective Date.

[***] Confidential treatment has been requestedtfar bracketed portions. The confidential redaptation has been omitted and filed separately thiéhSecurities and Exchange
Commission.




1.11

1.12

1.13

1.14

1.15

1.16

1.17

1.18

1.19

1.20

1.21

German Patent Litigatiohe term "German Patent Litigation" means (a)itfitngement action based
on the German part of EP 0 525 068 and based o@dhman utility model DE 19 17 296.9 filed by
Rambus Inc. against Micron Semiconductor (Germ&mpH at the District Court Mannheim/Germany
(Court docket 7 O 451/00) on August 31, 2000, witiethm has been withdrawn on June 18, 2004 and
April 28, 2006, respectively, (b) the infringemextion based on the German part of EP 1 022 6142, fi
by Rambus Inc. against Micron Semiconductor (Déu#sal) GmbH at the District Court
Mannheim/Deutschland (Court docket 7 O 452/01) agust 9, 2001, which proceedings are stayed
(decision dated July 29, 2002), and (c) the infeimgnt suit based on the German part of EP 1 022 642
filed by Rambus Inc. against Micron Technologyret Administrative Court Karlsruhe/Deutschland
(Court docket 6 K 2021/01), which proceedings Haeen continued with the District Court
Mannheim/Germany (Court docket 7 O 131/02) andestggecision dated July 26, 2002) (the “value in
dispute”for such decision has preliminarily been fixed tdHE2.500.000 (decision dated March 3, 20C

Initial Payment The term “Initial Paymenthas the meaning set forth in the Patent Licensed&gen

Italian Patent LitigationThe term "ltalian Patent Litigation" means thettexs entitled (aMicron
Technology Inc. and Micron Technology Italia SrRambus Inc, Docket nos. 33560/01 and 61500/09,
District Court of Milan (J. Bichi), and (B)licron Technology Inc. and Micron Technology Itefid v.
Rambus Inc, Docket no. 18700/2011, Supreme Court.

Licensed ProductThe term “Licensed Product” has the meaningah fin the Patent License
Agreement.

Micron. The term “Micron”has the meaning set forth in the introductory paaalg

Micron PatentsThe term “Micron Patentdias the meaning set forth in the Patent License&wgen

Micron Product The term “Micron Producthas the meaning set forth in the Patent Licenseégen

Party The terms “Party” and “Partiesfave the meanings set forth in the introductoryageaph

Patent ActionsThe term “Patent Actions” means all United St&atent and Trademark Office, all
European Patent Office and all other governmep&tamination proceedings, oppositions, actions or
challenges filed, requested or supported by Mievih respect to any Rambus Patents, and any appeal
thereof, as of the Effective Date, including withbmitation all such reexaminations and/or opposi of
U.S. Patent, European Patent and or other govetaifeatent numbers.

Patent License Agreemerithe term “Patent License Agreemeh#’s the meaning set forth in Article

Patent Litigation The term “Patent Litigation” means the matterstiex Micron Technology, Inc. v.
Rambus Inc, No. 00-792 (D. Del. Filed Aug. 28, 2000) aRdmbus Inc.

[***] Confidential treatment has been requestedtfar bracketed portions. The confidential redaptation has been omitted and filed separately thiéhSecurities and Exchange

Commission.




v. Micron Technology, Inc., et aINo. C-06-00244 (N.D. Cal. Filed Jan. 13, 2006y any appeals
therefrom and related proceedings, including sp=diy the appeal in Micron Technology, Inc. v.
Rambus, Inc., Federal Circuit No. 13-1294 (“DelasvAppeal”).

1.22 _PatentsThe term “Patentdias the meaning set forth in the Patent License&gen

1.23 Rambus The term “Rambushas the meaning set forth in the introductory paxalg

1.24 Rambus Patent3 he term “Rambus Patentsas the meaning set forth in the Patent Licensed&ygen
1.25 Rambus Leadership Product$e term “Rambus Leadership Products” has thexmgaet forth in the

Patent License Agreement.
1.26 [***]
1.27 Subsidiary The term “Subsidiaryhas the meaning set forth in the Patent License&wgen

1.28 Third Party The term “Third Party” means with respect to acfied Party, or any Subsidiary of such
specified Party, any entity that is not the spedifParty or an Affiliate or Subsidiary of such sfied
Party.

Avrticle 2

Patent License Agreement

Concurrent with the execution and delivery of thggeement, and as an integral part of the oveaalkileration
received by the Parties in respect of their respeceleases, covenants not to sue, and otheratigligs under this
Agreement, Rambus and Micron shall enter into thiemt License Agreement in the form attached hexgtéxhibit A
(the “ Patent License Agreemeéit

Avrticle 3

Releases

Subject to the delivery of the Initial Payment atardance with the Patent License Agreement, amétkcution and
delivery of the Patent License Agreement in acawcdavith Article 2 (for the avoidance of doubt, parf the Parties’
releases, covenants not to sue, or other obligatioder this Article 3 shall be effective until Raus has received the
full amount of the Initial Payment in accordancéhwhe Patent License Agreement and the executidrdalivery of
the Patent License Agreement in accordance witiclarR):

3.1 Release by Rambus

Effective upon Rambus’ receipt of the Initial Payrhas set forth in the Patent License Agreement,
Rambus, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiariesl, izs and their respective former and current tgen
representatives, directors, officers, employeesjgressors,

[***] Confidential treatment has been requestedtfor bracketed portions. The confidential redapteion has been omitted and filed separately tiéhSecurities and Exchange
Commission.




successors, and attorneys (collectively, “Rambumi@h) hereby irrevocably releases, acquits, anevier
discharges Micron, its Subsidiaries, its and thespective former and current agents, represeagtiv
directors, officers, employees, predecessors, ssocg and attorneys (collectively, “Micron Grouffgm
any and all claims, counterclaims, defenses, dematanages, debts, liabilities, accounts, actiods a
causes of action of any kind, [***], including bnot limited to (i) any and all claims of any kinok f
infringement of the Rambus Patents arising fronntla@ufacture, use, importation, exportation, sale o
offer for sale of any products up until the EffgetDate and (ii) any and all claims that were atbgr
could have been alleged by Rambus Group in anyubesp

3.2 Release by Micron

Effective upon Rambus’ receipt of the Initial Payrhas set forth in the Patent License Agreement,
Micron, on behalf of Micron Group, hereby irrevobateleases, acquits, and forever discharges Rambt
Group from any and all claims, counterclaims, deésy demands, damages, debts, liabilities, acgounts
actions and causes of action of any kind, knowan&nown, suspected or unsuspected, that arisese ar
from or relate in any way to any act of Rambus @rptior to the Effective Date, where such act giwes
gave rise to a cause of action that Micron Groupgtanding to assert against Rambus Group, or stgain
any other Person as to whom Rambus Group was tiged by written agreement to indemnify,
including but not limited to (i) any and all claim$§any kind for infringement of the Micron Patents
arising from the manufacture, use, importation,ogtqiion, sale or offer for sale of any Design umpluhe
Effective Date and (ii) any and all claims that evatleged or could have been alleged by Micron @ia
any Disputes.

3.3 Releases Shall Remain Effectidieach of Rambus and Micron acknowledges thatr afteering into this
Agreement, they may discover facts different framin addition to, those they now believe to be twith
respect to the conduct of the other Party. EadRashbus and Micron intends that the releases and
discharges set forth in this Article 3 shall bed ahall remain, in effect in all respects as wnitte
notwithstanding the discovery of any different ddéional facts.

3.4 Waiver of California Civil Code 8 1542n connection with the releases and dischargssritbed in this
Article 3, each of Rambus and Micron acknowleddes it is aware of the provisions of section 1582 o
the Civil Code of the State of California, and Hgrexpressly waives and relinquishes all rights and
benefits that it has or may have had under thatose(r any equivalent law or rule of any other
jurisdiction), which reads as follow

A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICHHE CREDITOR DOES NOT
KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THEME OF EXECUTING THE
RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER MUST HAVE MAERIALLY AFFECTED HIS
OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR.

35 *kk
Rambus, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiariesghy covenants not to assert any claims of inénmgnt

of the Rambus Patents against Micron’s distribudmig customers or against Micron’s Subsidiaries’
distributors and customers solely arising fromuke,

[***] Confidential treatment has been requestedtfor bracketed portions. The confidential redapteion has been omitted and filed separately tiéhSecurities and Exchange
Commission.




importation, sale or offer for sale up until thdd€tive Date of any Micron Products.

3.6 Certain ExclusionsFor the avoidance of dou

(@) The releases and covenants not to sue codtarikis Article 3 shall apply solely to (i) thetavities
occurring prior to the Effective Date of each of fParties, (ii) the activities occurring prior bt
Effective Date of each of the Partieespective Subsidiaries existing on or prior toHffective Date
[***]. In no event shall the releases and covenartsto sue contained in this Article 3 apply te th
activities, whether occurring prior to or after thtfective Date, of (1) any Third Party with orant
which a Party merges or combines, whether or ngt flarty remains the surviving entity, or (2) any
Third Party and/or portion of the assets of anyirss of a Third Party that may be acquired by a
Party, through merger (including reverse trianguatarger), acquisition of stock, acquisition of asse
or otherwise, in each case, after the EffectiveeDat

(b)  The releases and covenants not to sue contairtbisiArticle 3 are not intended to and do not edi
to any Excluded Entity.

3.7 Dismissals and Other Provisions TerminatimgR@isputes

@) [***], Micron and Rambus, through their respige counsel, shall take all necessary and perbiessi
actions to obtain dismissal with prejudice of &lims, counterclaims, cross-claims and cross-
complaints asserted against one another and/camutber’'s Subsidiaries in the Patent Litigation an
the Antitrust Litigation and the withdrawal or dissal with prejudice of all appeals therefrom. Sucl
dismissals are final and not appealable.

(b) [***]. Both Parties shall, [***], withdraw ordiscontinue any formal or informal complaints, regis,
petitions, actions, or other proceedings they naselpending against the other Party or its
Subsidiaries before any court or regulatory bodyndrere in the world related to the claims,
counterclaims, demands, damages, debts, liabjlaEsounts, actions and causes of action releag
this Agreement or that relate in any way to the BasrPatents or the Micron Patents. For the
avoidance of doubt, this provision (i) requires Mit to withdraw and discontinue the German Pe
Litigation, (ii) requires the Parties, through thegspective counsel, to withdraw the Italian Paten
Litigation by executing, delivering and submittisgch documents as may be necessary to dismiss
those cases, and (iii) does not require Rambusthalkaw any complaint or other proceeding as
against parties other than Micron or its Subsidgri

(c) [***], Micron shall, to the full extent perntiéd by applicable law, withdraw, cease to proseoute
pursue and notify the U.S. Patent and Trademark&fthe European Patent Office, and/or other
applicable governmental agency, that it no longtarids to participate in, the Patent Actions.

(d) The Parties and their counsel shall coopenag@od faith to effect the dismissals and withdasv
required by Sections 3.7(a), (b), and (c) herein.
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3.8 Costs and AttorneyBees For any and all cases, lawsuits, proceedinggudes and Patent Actions,
including but not limited to the Patent LitigatidBerman Patent Litigation, the Italian Patent latign
and the Antitrust Litigation, the Parties agred trach will pay its own costs and attorneys’ feas that
neither will file requests for costs or fees oresthise seek to recover its fees and/or costs. Witho
limiting the foregoing, Micron shall not seek t@oger any costs previously awarded to it in theitfut
Litigation. Any bills of costs, judgments or othequests previously filed or awarded in such césas
have not yet been paid including without limitative judgment for costs awarded to Micron in the
Antitrust Litigation shall be withdrawn or vacated.

3.9 No Admission. Nothing contained in any of the ComprehensiveoRei®n Agreements, or done or
omitted in connection with any of the Comprehen&esolution Agreements, is intended as, or shall be
construed as, an admission by any Party of any, faability or wrongdoing.

3.10 No Further Actions. During the Initial Term-Product License Period (gefined in the Patent License
Agreement) and each Term-Product License RenewaldP@s defined in the Patent License
Agreement) , if any, and as part of the settlenoéctaims and releases contemplated by this Agregme
during the term of the Patent License Agreemert,iaeach case unless and to the extent required by
court order, summons, subpoena or judicial or |@@guy agency order or rule:

@) Micron covenants not to bring, or aid, asgigbarticipate in, any action or proceeding chajleg or
contesting the assertion, enforcement, validitgriforceability of, or any use or infringement by an
Third Party of, the Rambus Patents, including mitlimited to filing, requesting, participating or
assisting in any of the Patent Actions, provideat,thotwithstanding the foregoing, Micron may
assist (e.g., provide prior art and/or non-infrimgat analyses to) each Third Party to whom Micror
has distributed or sold a Micron Product beforeEffective Date or a Licensed Product during the
term of the license associated with such Licengsedu®t as set forth in the Patent License
Agreement, in its defense of any claim of a Ran®aient asserted against such Third Party by
Rambus to the extent that Micron is obligated twvfate such Third Party with such assistance
pursuant to an indemnification provision;

(b)  [*1;and

(c) Each Party covenants not to (i) file or brangomplaint against, or formally or informally resst or
urge investigation of, the other Party or any efSubsidiaries before any regulatory body, or (ii)
support, cooperate with or otherwise assist anydTRarty in any dispute against the other Party or
any of its Subsidiaries, or any regulatory bodgmy proceeding involving the other Party or any of
its Subsidiaries, in each case in any matter rkatehe claims, counterclaims, defenses, demands.
damages, debts, liabilities, accounts, actionscandes of action released by this Agreement,
including but not limited to filing, requesting, pigipating or assisting in any United States,
European, or other patent office reexamination @edngs, actions, challenges, oppositions or
interferences with respect to Patents of the ddagty or any of its Subsidiaries, and filiagnicus
curiaebriefs in the Patent Litigation, the Antitrust Igétion, or any other Dispute.
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Article 4

Warranties

Each Party represents, warrants and covenantetaiftof itself and its Subsidiaries, to the otRarty during the term
of this Agreement:

4.1 Due IncorporationSuch Party is duly incorporated, validly existangd in good standing under the laws
of its jurisdiction of formation with the requisit®rporate authority to own and use its propedres
assets and to carry on its business as currentigumed.

4.2 Due Authorization; EnforceabilitySuch Party has the requisite corporate or othoaity to enter into,
and to grant the releases and discharges, makeveaants, and consummate the transactions
contemplated by, this Agreement, on behalf offitaet! its Subsidiaries, and otherwise to carryitsuand
its Subsidiaries’ obligations hereunder. The exeaytdelivery and performance of this Agreement by
such Party and its Subsidiaries has been duly amétbby all necessary action of such Party and its
Subsidiaries, and no other act or proceeding opdneof or on behalf of such Party and its Sulasids is
necessary to approve the execution and delivetlyi@fAgreement, the performance by such Party &nd i
Subsidiaries of their obligations hereunder andctirssummation of the transactions contemplatedolyere
This Agreement has been duly executed and delivgresdich Party and constitutes a legal, valid and
binding obligation of such Party, enforceable aglsuch Party in accordance with its terms, exaept
such enforceability may be limited by bankrupteysdlvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar
laws relating to or affecting creditors generally,general equity principles or by limitations on
indemnification pursuant to public policy.

4.3 No Conflicts; No Consen. The execution, delivery and performance of thgge®ment by such Party ¢
its Subsidiaries, including but not limited to @nting of the releases and discharges contendplate
hereby, will not infringe any law, regulation, judgnt or order applicable to such Party and its
Subsidiaries and is not and will not be contrarth® provisions of the constitutional documentswh
Party and its Subsidiaries and will not (with othvaiut notice, lapse of time or both) result in &ngach o
the terms of, or constitute a default under, asyriiment or agreement to which such Party and its
Subsidiaries is a party or by which it or its prdpes bound. All consents and approvals of anyrgou
government agencies or other regulatory body reduiy such Party and its Subsidiaries for the
execution, delivery and performance of the termthisf Agreement have been obtained and are in full
force and effect.

4.4 No Assignment of Claim. Each Party represents and warrants that it heassggned, transferred or
granted to any Third Party any rights or interegth respect to any claim or cause of action, or @ght
(s) underlying any claim or cause of action, it Haals, or may have against the other or its Sudrsedi as
of, or prior to, the Effective Date of this Agreemhe

4.5 Micron Electronics, Inc.Micron represents and warrants that Micron E@eats, Inc. is not a Subsidiary
of Micron.
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Article 5

Notices and other Communications

5.1 All notices or other communication requiregpermitted hereunder shall be in writing and shalla)
mailed by first class air mail (registered or deztl if available), postage prepaid, or otherwiséwered
by hand, by messenger, addressed to the addretdests below, or (b) delivered by facsimile t@th
facsimile number set forth below. Each Party magnge its address or facsimile number for notices by
providing a notice to the other Party in the marserforth herein. Such notices shall be deeméave
been effective when delivered or, if delivery i2 aocomplished by reason of some fault or refusdi®
addressee, when tendered (which tender, in theofasail, shall be deemed to have occurred upon
posting, and in the case of facsimile, shall berdskto have occurred upon transmission). All natice
shall be in English.

If to Micron:

Micron Technology, Inc.
8000 S. Federal Way

Boise, Idaho 83716-9632

Telephone: 208-368-4500

Facsimile: 208-368-4540

Attention: General Counsel

If to Rambus:

Rambus Inc.

1050 Enterprise Way, Suite 700
Sunnyvale, CA 94089

Telephone: 408-462-8000
Facsimile: 408-462-8001

Attention: General Counsel

(with a copy, which shall not constitute noticethe following:)

Satish Rishi

Chief Financial Officer
Rambus Inc.

4440 El Camino Real

Los Altos, CA 94022
Telephone: 408-462-8000
Facsimile: 408-462-8001
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Article 6

Successors and Assigns

6.1

Article 7

Subject to the limitation in Section 3.6 and, 8his Agreement shall be binding upon and iraréhe
benefit of the Parties hereto and their respedttaies, successors and assigns, and upon any cbopora
limited liability partnership, limited liability cmpany, or other entity into or with which any Panmgreto
may merge, combine or consolidate. For the avoielafcloubt, this provision does not govern thetdagh
or obligations of successors or assigns of thad2aunder the Patent License Agreement. The redease
dismissals and covenants granted by each PartgsaBdbsidiaries under this Agreement (but not any
benefits received by such Party or its Subsidiareter this Agreement) shall run with (a) in theecaf
Micron, the Micron Patents or (b) in the case ofmRas, the Rambus Patents, and remain in full fance
effect regardless of any subsequent assignmeetpsaither transfer of any such Micron Patents or
Rambus Patents or any rights or interests thefgin.such assignment, sale, or transfer of rights in
contravention of the foregoing shall be null andthab initio and of no force or effect.

Dispute Resolution

7.1

7.2

7.3

Article 8

Governing Law This Agreement shall be governed by and constivedcordance with the laws of the
State of Delaware, without giving effect to any icleeof-law or conflict-of-law provision or rule (vether
of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdictitgt would cause the application of the laws gf an
jurisdiction other than the State of Delawe

English LanguageThis Agreement is executed in the English languatd no translation shall have any
legal effect.

Jurisdiction and VenueAny legal action, suit or proceeding arising unae relating to, this Agreement,
shall be brought in State or Federal Courts locatelde State of Delaware, and each Party agregstty
such action, suit or proceeding may be brought onuch courts. Each Party further waives any
objection to the laying of jurisdiction and venwe &ny such suit, action or proceeding in suchtsour

Miscellaneous

8.1

Entire AgreementThis Agreement and the Patent License Agreenmahbdy the entire understanding
the Parties with respect to the subject matterdigamd merges all prior oral or written communiicas
between them, and neither of the Parties shalbb@db by any conditions, definitions, warranties,
understandings, or representations with respebieto
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8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

8.7

subject matter hereof other than as expressly geavherein.

Relationship of the Partiedlothing contained in this Agreement or the Palergnse Agreement shall
construed as creating any association, partnenshmb venture or the relation of principal and age
between Rambus and Micron. Each Party is actirmpasdependent contractor, and no Party shall have
the authority to bind any other Party or its reprgatives in any way.

Headings and Recital¥he headings of the several articles and seciomfserted for convenience of
reference only and are not intended to be a paot tf affect the meaning or interpretation of this
Agreement. The recitals to this Agreement are heerio be a part of and affect the meaning and
interpretation of this Agreement.

Modification; Waiver No modification or amendment to this Agreement, any waiver of any rights,
will be effective unless assented to in writingtbg Party to be charged, and the waiver of anydbrea
default will not constitute a waiver of any othght hereunder or any subsequent breach or default.

No Assignmen. This Agreement is personal to the Parties, aadhireement and/or any right or
obligation hereunder is not assignable, whetheoimjunction with a change in ownership, merger,
acquisition, the sale or transfer of all, or subs#dly all or any part of either Party’s or anytagir
respective Subsidiariebusiness or assets or otherwise, voluntarily, ragon of law, reverse triangul
merger or otherwise, without the prior written cemisof the other Party, which consent may be withhe
at the sole discretion of such other Party. EactyRaderstands that, as a condition to such cangen
other Party may require it to convey, assign oentlise transfer its rights and obligations underdther
Comprehensive Resolution Agreements to the enggurming such Party’s rights and obligations under
this Agreement. Any such purported or attemptedyassent or transfer in violation of the foregoirizai
be deemed a breach of this Agreement and shalllband void. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either
Party shall be entitled to, and each Party hergbges to, assign this Agreement to a successdirdo a
substantially all of a Party’s assets in a transaantered into solely to change a Party’s pldce o
incorporation.

Interpretation Each Party confirms that it and its respectivensel have reviewed, negotiated and
adopted this Agreement as the agreement and uaddnsg) of the Parties hereto and the languageinsec
this Agreement shall be deemed to be the languaggea by the Parties hereto to express their mutual
intent. Regardless of which Party may have dratiedAgreement or any part thereof, no rule otstri
construction shall be applied against either P&ity.the avoidance of doubt “includes”, “including”
“included”, and other variations of such terms khaldeemed to be followed by the phrase “without
limitation”.

No Third Party Beneficiarie. Unless otherwise expressly stated herein, notininigis Agreement,
express or implied, is intended to confer upon engon other than the Parties hereto or their otispe
permitted assignees, successors in interest, dnsldtaries any rights or remedies under or by neado
this Agreement. The former and current agentsgsgtatives, directors, officers, employees, and
attorneys of the Parties and their Subsidiariesraeaded beneficiaries of Sections 0, 0, 0, 3, &5.
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8.8

8.9

8.10

8.11

8.12

Severability If any provision of any Comprehensive Resolu#@reement is held to be invalid or
unenforceable, the meaning of such provision sfetionstrued, to the extent feasible, so as tcerehe
provision enforceable and to effectuate the indent purpose of the Parties with respect to suchlicher
unenforceable provision, and if no feasible intetation shall save such provision, (a) a suitabte a
equitable provision shall be substituted therefioonder to effectuate, so far as may be valid and
enforceable, the intent and purpose of the Pastigssrespect to such invalid or unenforceable [siori,
and (b) the remainder of such Comprehensive Rasnldgreement shall remain in full force and effect

Counterparts; Facsimile Transmissidinis Agreement may be executed in two (2) or nconterparts,
all of which, taken together, shall be regardedresand the same instrument. Each Party may rely on
facsimile or .pdf signature pages as if such fatdsior .pdf pages were originals.

Bankruptcy CodeAll rights, licenses, privileges, releases, anchunities granted under this Agreement
shall be deemed to be, for the purposes of Se866(n) of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, as amended (the
“Bankruptcy Code”), licenses of rights to “inteltaal property” as defined under Section 101(35Ahef
Bankruptcy Code. The Parties agree that each dPaniges shall retain and may fully exercise atihair
respective rights and elections under the Bankyu@tade. [***].

Further ActionsEach of the Parties hereto agrees to take arskamuSubsidiaries to take any and all
actions reasonably necessary in order to effecthatentent, and to carry out the provisions, @ th
Agreement.

Public Disclosures and Confidentialiffhe Parties shall issue a press release witlecespthe
Comprehensive Resolution Agreement in a mutualbgptable form. Each Party agrees that, after the
issuance of such press release, each Party shettitiled to disclose the general scope and nafiuitds
Agreement, but that the terms and conditions &f Agreement, to the extent not already disclosed
pursuant to such press release, shall be treatashéidential information and that neither Partyl wi
disclose such terms or conditions to any ThirdyParthout the prior written consent of the othertipa
provided, however, that each Party may discloséetmas and conditions of this Agreement:

(@) asrequired by any court or other governmental |

(b) as otherwise required by le

(©) as otherwise may be required by applicablersges and other law and regulation, includindetgal
and financial advisors in their capacity of advisaparty in such matters, so long as the disajosin
Party shall seek confidential treatment of suchngeand conditions to the extent reasonably possib

(d)  tolegal counsel, accountants, and other profeakamvisors of the Partie¢

(e) in confidence, to banks, investors and other fimansources and their advisc

(f)

in connection with the enforcement of this Agreetrarights under this Agreeme
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(9) during the course of litigation so long as dmclosure of such terms and conditions are @sttiin
the same manner as is the confidential informatiasther litigating parties and so long as (i) the
restrictions are embodied in a coaritered protective order limiting disclosure toside counsel ar
(i) the disclosing party informs the other pamywriting at least ten (10) business days in adearic
the disclosure and discusses the nature and certetite disclosure, in good faith, with the other
party (for purposes of this provision, the ProteeiDrder entered in the Antitrust Litigation is
acceptable, as long as the disclosure is desigaatedth "Highly Confidential-BP and Highly
Confidential-IP");

(h) in confidence, in connection with an actual or pexgive merger or acquisition or similar transag;
or

0] in confidence, in connection with a Party’dightion(s) under any most favored nation, or samil
clause, whereby such Party is contractually obdidad disclose and offer terms given to Third
Parties.

In addition, upon execution of this Agreement,fareafter, Rambus, in its discretion, shall betlextito file a copy
of this Agreement with the U.S. Securities and Exge Commission, so long as Rambus seeks conadlenti
treatment of such agreement to the extent reasppaikible. In addition, [***].
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the duly authorizedenf$ of
the Parties hereto as of the date first writtervabo

RAMBUS INC.
By: /s/ Kevin Donnelly
Name: Kevin Donnelly

MICRON TECHNOLOGY, INC.
By: /s/ Brian M. Shirley
Name: Brian M. Shirley

MICRON SEMICONDUCTOR PRODUCTS, INC.
By: /s/ Thomas L. Laws Jr.
Name: Thomas L. Laws Jr.

MICRON TECHNOLOGY ITALIA, SRL
By: /s/ Thomas L. Laws Jr.
Name: Thomas L. Laws Jr.

MICRON SEMICONDUCTOR (DEUTSCHLAND) GMBH
By: /s/ Thomas L. Laws Jr.
Name: Thomas L. Laws Jr.
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EXHIBIT A

PATENT LICENSE AGREEMENT

SEMICONDUCTOR PATENT LICENSE AGREEMENT

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to thmal Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2013
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Exhibit 10.16

SEMICONDUCTOR PATENT LICENSE AGREEMENT

This SEMICONDUCTOR PATENT LICENSE AGREEMENT (“Agreent”) is effective as of December 1, 201Effective
Date”) by and between Rambus Inc., a corporation dulyrorgd and existing under the laws of Delaware, Al,Shaving it
principal place of business at 1050 Enterprise V&ayte #700, Sunnyvale, California 94089, U.S.RAeréinafter “Rambus anc
Micron Technology, Inc., a corporation duly orgadzand existing under the laws of Delaware, U.ShAvjng its principal plac
of business at 8000 S. Federal Way, Boise, |daffd®3U.S.A., (hereinafter “Micron"Micron and Rambus shall be referre
herein individually as a Party, and collectivelytlas Parties.

WHEREAS, Rambus and Micron are currently parties to a nuntbedtisputes, including, but not limited to, the tiust
Litigation and disputes relating to Rambus Patents;

WHEREAS , the Parties recognize that litigation of suctpdtes is inherently uncertain, and is subject ttage risks and 1
various possible outcomes, some of which may beenf@vorable to Rambus, and some of which may beerferorable t
Micron;

WHEREAS , concurrent with the execution and delivery ofstiligreement, the Parties have entered into a Bettl
Agreement (the “Settlement Agreement) eliminate the risks associated with such litigatand to enter into a comprehen:
resolution to compromise, settle and release cedaisting claims and disputes between them, armggolve and avoid ott
disputes that may arise after the Effective Date;

WHEREAS , as part of such comprehensive resolution, theeRdrave agreed to enter into this Agreement; and,

WHEREAS , because this Agreement is part of such comprérenssolution, the Parties acknowledge that éssential thi
their respective obligations under this Agreemanceértain and not subject to collateral attackptberwise subject to change
modification except on the terms expressly sehfbdrein.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual covenants and [gesncontained herein, and other valu
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of whiethereby acknowledged by the Parties, the Padiebehalf of themselves ¢
of each of their respective Subsidiaries, agreelbsvs:

1. Definitions

1.1 “Acquired Businessineans (a) a Third Party, (b) substantially allh# business or assets of a Third Party, (c) aninest
unit and/or product line of a Third Party, or (djpstantially all of the business and assets useal Dlyird Party in connectii
with a Qualified Product Line, that either Partyaory of its Subsidiaries acquires in an Acquisition

1.2 “Acquisition” means, as to a Party, a transaction or a serietabéd transactions in which such Party acquirgeugh merge
(including reverse triangular merger), acquisitidrstock, acquisition of assets or otherwise,h@ €ontrol of a Third Party, (
ownership of substantially all of the assets oriress of a Third Party, (iii) ownership of any mess unit and/or product li
of a Third Party, or (iv) ownership of substantiadlll of the business and assets used by a Thiry Faconnection with
Quialified Product Line.

1.3 “Acquisition Date” means the closing date of &tquisition.
1.4 “Acquisition Products” means DRAMs, DRAM Corlters, SerDes ICs, Resistive RAMs, and RAM Flashniddes.

1.5 “Affiliate” means, for an identified entity, any other entitgtt(a) is a Subsidiary of such identified entity(lm) Controls or i
under common Control with such identified entityf bnly for so long as such Control exists.

1.6 “Antitrust Litigation” means the matter entdl®ambus Inc. v. Micron Technology IndNo. 04431105 (Sup. Ct. Cal., S
Fran. Filed May 5, 2004).

1.7 “Change of Control” as applied to any specifiedity means a transaction or a series of relatedactions in
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which (a) a Third Party or Related Parties who mhid previously Control such entity obtain(s) Cohtwb such entity, or (t
such entity merges with or transfers substantiallyof its assets to a Third Party and the shadshel of such enti
immediatelybefore the transaction or series of related tradiwacown less than a fifty percent (50%) interashe acquirin
or surviving entity immediately after the transantor series of related transactions.

1.8 “Component'means any product comprised of one or more Intedr@ircuits physically connected, stacked, or a#ddo :
unitary substrate, directly, or through supportingterial such as silicon interposers, or the likepther Integrated Circi
where all other elements of such product operateguily to provide physical support, packaging amdfonnectivity witl
respect to such Integrated Circuits. Examples eh@ments include DIMMs, SIMMs and other moduleg eards, multichip
packages (MCP), system-on-chip, system-in-paclagtem-on-insulator, solid state storage deviaas$osher form factors.

1.9 “Control” (including “Controlled”and other forms) of an entity means (a) benefimmhership (whether directly or indirec
through entities or other means) of more than figycent (50%) of the outstanding voting securibiethat entity or (b) in tt
case of an entity that has no outstanding votigritées, having (whether directly or indirectly)one than fifty percent (509
of the power to direct the management and confrslich entity.

1.10 “CRI” means Cryptography Research, Inc., asilidry of Rambus.
1.11 “CRI Patents” means Patents of CRI or its Blidoses.

1.12 “Custom Memory IC'means each Memory IC that substantially implemémsminimum set of features, parameters,
protocols defined in a Technical Specification deped by Micron for a specific customer, by suckedfic customer, (
jointly by Micron and such specific customer, ircle@ase where such Memory IC is Sold by Micron 8ubsidiary of Micro
as a Micron Product solely to such customer.

1.13 “DDR DRAM" means each double data rate DRAM that (a) subalignimplements the minimum set of featu
parameters, and protocols defined in any Techi8pakification published by JEDEC as of the Effexidate, as well as a
JEDEC Minor Updates thereto, for DDR DRAM, (b) cans features enabling communication with any otinéegrate:
Circuit in accordance with substantially all of tmandatory requirements in such Technical Spetificaand (c) is not Sold
specified as being capable of operating (i) atta ti@ansfer rate exceeding [***] or (ii) with datat width other than x4, x
x16, and/or x32.

1.14 “DDR Mobile RAM” means each low-power DDR DRAM

1.15 “DDR2 DRAM” means each double data rate DRAM that (a) subalignimplements the minimum set of featu
parameters, and protocols defined in any Techi8pakification published by JEDEC as of the Effexidate, as well as a
JEDEC Minor Updates thereto, for DDR2 DRAM, (b) tains features enabling communication with any oilhégrate
Circuit in accordance with substantially all of tmandatory requirements in such Technical Spetidicaand (c) is not Sold
specified as being capable of operating (i) atta ttansfer rate exceeding [***] or (ii) with dalét width other than x4, x8, X:
and/or x32.

1.16 “DDR2 Mobile RAM" means each low-power DDR2 BM.

1.17 "DDR3 DRAM” means each double data rate DRAM that (a) subatignimplements the minimum set of featu
parameters, and protocols defined in any Techi8pakification published by JEDEC as of the Effexidate, as well as a
JEDEC Minor Updates thereto, for DDR3 DRAM, (b) tains features enabling communication with any oilhégrate
Circuit in accordance with substantially all of timandatory requirements in such Technical Spetificaand (c) is not Sold
specified as being capable of operating (i) atta ttansfer rate exceeding [***] or (ii) with dalét width other than x4, x8, x:
and/or x32.

1.18 "DDR4 DRAM” means each double data rate DRAM that (a) subatignimplements the minimum set of featu
parameters, and protocols defined in any Techi8pakification published by JEDEC as of the Effexidate, as well as a
JEDEC Minor Updates thereto, for DDR4 DRAM, (b)sdely capable of communicating with any other ¢méed Circuit il
accordance with substantially all of the mandateyuirements in such Technical Specification, ands(not Sold or specifit
as being capable of operating (i) at a data tramate exceeding [***] or (ii) with data bit widtbther than x4, x8, x16 and
X32.
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1.19 “Design”’means any human or machine readable representdtéodesign, such as a circuit layout in a drawdn@ registe
transfer level description (RTL) file, for any prad.

1.20 “DRAM” means a randoraecess Memory IC which requires periodic refrestttie maintenance of the bits stored withil
memory cells at least every ten (10) seconds, dmdhnwdoes not guarantee said bits to be retain¢sinrmhe memory cel
when they cease to receive electrical power. Tim t®BRAM” shall not include RAM Flash Memory or Retve RAM.

1.21 “DRAM Controller’ means any Integrated Circuit having circuitry imtdgd thereon or contained therein that is ca
through an Interface of transmitting and/or receivilata from a DRAM.

1.22 “Effective Date” has the meaning assignedhnfirst paragraph of this Agreement.
1.23 “Elpida” means Elpida Memory, Inc., a Subggiaf Micron, and also known as Micron Memory Japac.

1.24 “Elpida Patent License Agreememtieans that certain Memory Products Patent Licergmeeinent entered into by ¢
between Rambus and Elpida as of January 1, 201&maaded by that certain Amendment No. 1 to Men®snducts Pate
License Agreement dated August 12, 2012 and th&dioceAmendment No. 2 to Memory Products Patenehse Agreeme
dated September 14, 2013.

1.25 “Elpida Technology License Agreememtieans that certain Direct Rambus DRAM Semicondu€eshnology Licens
Agreement entered into by and between Rambus gpidaEbs of the later of (a) May 26, 2006 or (b) tle upon whic
Elpida became an Ultimate Parent Entity (as such te defined in such agreement) and provided Rambth written notic
thereof in accordance with Section 9.3 of suchemgent.

1.26 “Elpida XDR License Agreemenihieans that certain Yellowstone DRAM Semiconductechhology License Agreem
entered into by and between Rambus and Elpidatieféeas of March 18, 2003.

1.27 “Existing Rambus Agreement” has the meanisigasd in Section 5.2(b).
1.28 “Expiration Date” means the seventi'{anniversary of the Effective Date.
1.29 “Former Subsidiary” has the meaning assigoetlin Section 4.2.

1.30 “GDDR DRAM” means each graphics double date rate DRAM thatuagtantially implements the minimum set of fea
parameters, and protocols defined in any Techi8pakification published by JEDEC as of the Effexidate, as well as a
JEDEC Minor Updates thereto, for GDDR DRAM, (b) tins features enabling communication with any othéegrate:
Circuit in accordance with substantially all of timandatory requirements in such Technical Spetificaand (c) is not Sold
specified as being capable of operating (i) atta ttansfer rate exceeding [***] or (ii) with dakit width other than x16 ai
x32.

1.31 “GDDR2 DRAM” means each graphics double date rate DRAM thasyb}tantially implements the minimum se
features, parameters, and protocols defined inTacynical Specification published by JEDEC as efHffective Date, as w
as any JEDEC Minor Updates thereto, for GDDR2 DRAM), contains features enabling communication veitty othe
Integrated Circuit in accordance with substantiallyof the mandatory requirements in such TecHr8gecification, and (c)
not Sold or specified as being capable of operdt)rat a data transfer rate exceeding [***] o)) (iith data bit width other thi
x16 and x32.

1.32 “"GDDR3 DRAM” means each graphics double date rate DRAM thasyb¥tantially implements the minimum se
features, parameters, and protocols defined inTacynical Specification published by JEDEC as efHffective Date, as w
as any JEDEC Minor Updates thereto, for GDDR3 DRAM), contains features enabling communication veitty othe
Integrated Circuit in accordance with substantiallyof the mandatory requirements in such TecHr8gecification, and (c)
not Sold or specified as being capable of operdt)rat a data transfer rate exceeding [***] o)) (With data bit width other thi
x16 and x32.

1.33 “GDDR4 DRAM” means each graphics double data rate DRAM thasib}tantially implements the minimum se
features, parameters, and protocols defined inTacynical Specification published by JEDEC as efHffective Date, as w
as any JEDEC Minor Updates thereto, for GDDR4 DRAWN), is solely capable of communicating with anfiestintegrate
Circuit in accordance with substantially all of timandatory requirements in such Technical Spetificaand (c) is not Sold
specified as being capable of operating (i) atta ttansfer
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rate exceeding [***] or (ii) with data bit width ber than x16 and x32.

1.34 “GDDR5 DRAM” means each graphics double data rate DRAM thasulstantially implements those interface feat
parameters, and protocols in the same manner matkrial respects as the DRAM Sold by Micron srSubsidiaries on
before the Effective Date as “GDDR5 DRAMY implements the minimum set of features, pararagéand protocols defined
any Technical Specification published by JEDEC fathe Effective Date, as well as any JEDEC Minordaies thereto, fi
GDDR5 DRAM, (b) contains features enabling commatim with any other Integrated Circuit either,gprio the publicatio
of such Technical Specification, through the protamntained in such DRAM Sold by Micron or its Sidiaries on or befo
the Effective Date as “GDDR5 DRAMbor, after the publication of such Technical Speaeifion, in accordance w
substantially all of the mandatory requirementsunh Technical Specification, and (c) is not Saldmecified as being capa
of operating (i) at a data transfer rate exceeffitfy or (i) with a data bit width other than x1énd x32.

1.35 “Hybrid Memory Cube 1.X DRAM'means each DRAM that (a) substantially implemehés rhinimum set of feature
parameters, and protocols defined in any Techi@pakification published by the Hybrid Memory Cuben€ortium as HM:
Specification 1.X, (b) contains features enablimgnmunication with any other Integrated Circuit iocardance wit
substantially all of the mandatory requirementsunh Technical Specification, and (c) is not Saldmecified as being capa
of operating at a data transfer rate exceeding][***

1.36 “Hybrid Memory Cube 2.X DRAM'means each DRAM that (a) substantially implemehés rhinimum set of feature
parameters, and protocols defined or recommendethynTechnical Specification published by the Hgbkemory Cub
Consortium as HMC Specification 2.X, (b) contaiestfires enabling communication with any other Irattegl Circuit il
accordance with substantially all of the mandateyuirements in such Technical Specification, ands(not Sold or specifit
as being capable of operating at a data trangkeeseceeding [***].

1.37 “IMFT” means IM Flash Technologies, LLC, a kin Joint Venture that is jointly owned by Microndaintel Corporation.

1.38 “Indirect Infringement’'means any form of patent infringement where theused infringer is not directly infringing t
subject patent right(s), but who contributes tondluces the direct infringement of the subject pateght(s) by a Third Par
by, for example (without limitation), and with kntedge of the subject patent right(s) alleged toirfenged, supplyin
designs, parts or instructions to the Third Pdrat enable such Third Party to infringe directlg Hubject patent right(s).

1.39 “Industry Standards Setting Bodyieans any industry standards setting organizaian,(a collection of companies t
cooperate, under contract or applicable law, indrefting and publication of a Technical Specificatthat is intended,
implemented, to increase the compatibility betwearious products), including, but not limited t&DEC and the Hybr
Memory Cube Consortium, that publishes for induatigption one or more Technical Specifications tieine a minimum s
of features, parameters and protocols for one oenmerfaces for Memory ICs.

1.40 “Initial Paid-Up Productimeans each Micron Product that is an SDR DRAM, ODFRAM, DDR2 DRAM, DDR3 DRAM
GDDR DRAM, GDDR2 DRAM, GDDR3 DRAM, GDDR4 DRAM, GDD®R DRAM, LPSDR DRAM, LPDDR DRAN
LPDDR2 DRAM, LPDDR3 DRAM, RLDRAM, DDR Mobile RAM, DR2 Mobile RAM, Wide /0O Mobile DRAM, anc
Hybrid Memory Cube 1.X DRAM. Notwithstanding therégoing sentence, any product that constitutesmabida Leadersh
Product shall be deemed not to be an Initial Pgad”bduct.

1.41 “Initial Paid-Up Product License” means thghts and licenses granted pursuant to Section)2.1(b
1.42 “Initial Payment” has the meaning assignei ito Section 5.1(a).

1.43 “Initial Term-Product License Periodieans the period of time that starts on the EffedDate and ends on the earlier o
the Expiration Date or (b) the date, if any, onethihe Term-Product License is terminated.

1.44 “Initial Term-Product License Renewal Peribd’s the meaning assigned to it in Section 7.1(d).

1.45 “Inotera” means Inotera Memories, InCLl{(J[1010000107), a company incorporated under the laws of the Répul
China.
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1.46 “Integrated Circuittneans a single, discrete integrated circuit chipetiver in wafer, singulated die or packaged dimfdfol
clarity, the term “Integrated CircuitSpecifically excludes any substrate on which owtich such integrated circuit chip
packaged form may be physically attached.

1.47 “Interface”means an electrical, optical, RF, mechanical, dtwswe data path that is capable of conveying miatior
between two or more (a) Integrated Circuits or bjtions of an Integrated Circuit, in each casestiogr with the set
protocols defining the electrical, physical, timiagd/or functional characteristics, sequences amafutrol procedures of su
data path.

1.48 “JEDEC"means the JEDEC Solid State Technology Associatinginally known as the Joint Electron Device Eregring
Council, a non-stock corporation organized andtegsunder the laws of the Commonwealth of Virgiride term “JEDEC”
shall include any Industry Standards Setting Bdat tlisplaces or replaces JEDEC as the entity ptymasponsible for tr
publication of Technical Specifications formerlylgished by JEDEC with respect to any Memory IC oy ather product.

1.49 “JEDEC Minor Update'means a Technical Specification published by JEDEAE (a) updates or revises any Techi
Specification that was published by JEDEC as of Hfkective Date, (b) corrects, clarifies, or enhtemcsuch previous
published Technical Specification without adding aignificant new features or functionality to subibchnical Specificatio
and (c) in no way reduces interoperability betwaed among any versions of such Technical Speaticge.g., JEDEG
LPDDRS3-E Technical Specification is a JEDEC Mingrdate to JEDEC’s LPDDR3 Technical Specification.)

1.50 “[***] Acquisition Products” has the meaningsagned to it in Section 5.2(b).

1.51 “Licensed Product” means, individually, a giveerm Product, a given Initial Paid-Up Productaaggiven Subsequent Paid:
Up Product; “Licensed Products” means, collectivelgch Term Product, each Initial Pélg-Product, and each Subseq
Paid-Up Product.

1.52 “LPDDR DRAM” means each lowewer double data rate DRAM that (a) substantiatplements the minimum set
features, parameters, and protocols defined inTacynical Specification published by JEDEC as efHffective Date, as w
as any JEDEC Minor Updates thereto, for LPDDR DRA(M), contains features enabling communication veitty othe
Integrated Circuit in accordance with substantiallyof the mandatory requirements in such Techr8gecification, and (c)
not Sold or specified as being capable of operdt)rat a data transfer rate exceeding [***] o)) (iith data bit width other thi
x8, x16 and/or x32.

1.53 “LPDDR2 DRAM” means each lopewer double data rate DRAM that (a) substantimiplements the minimum set
features, parameters, and protocols defined inTacynical Specification published by JEDEC as efHffective Date, as w
as any JEDEC Minor Updates thereto, for LPDDR2 DRAW) contains features enabling communication vaitly othe
Integrated Circuit in accordance with substantiallyof the mandatory requirements in such Techr8gecification, and (c)
not Sold or specified as being capable of operdt)rat a data transfer rate exceeding [***] o)) (iith data bit width other thi
x8, x16 and/or x32.

1.54 “LPDDR3 DRAM” means each lopewer double data rate DRAM that (a) substantimiplements the minimum set
features, parameters, and protocols defined inTacynical Specification published by JEDEC as efHffective Date, as w
as any JEDEC Minor Updates thereto, for LPDDR3 DRAB) contains features enabling communication vaitly othe
Integrated Circuit in accordance with substantiallyof the mandatory requirements in such Techr8gecification, and (c)
not Sold or specified as being capable of operdt)rat a data transfer rate exceeding [***] o)) (iith data bit width other thi
x8, x16 and/or x32.

1.55 “LPDDR4 DRAM” means each lopewer double data rate DRAM that (a) substantiatiplements the minimum set
features, parameters, and protocols defined inTacynical Specification published by JEDEC as efHffective Date, as w
as any JEDEC Minor Updates thereto, for LPDDR4 DRAB) contains features enabling communication vaitly othe
Integrated Circuit in accordance with substantiallyof the mandatory requirements in such Techr8gecification, and (c)
not Sold or specified as being capable of operdt)rat a data transfer rate exceeding [***] o)) (iith data bit width other thi
x8, x16 and/or x32.

1.56 “LPSDR DRAM” means each low-power SDR DRAM.
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1.57 “Memory IC"means any Integrated Circuit that is configuredttoe bits of data in memory cells within a memamay an
that has as its primary purpose the storage anidval of such electronic data. For clarity, a Meynt shall include any log
functions on such Integrated Circuit necessangtmh storage and retrieval.

1.58 “Memory Module” means a Component that hassgsimary purpose the storage and retrieval eftebnic data.

1.59 “Micron Applicable Patent Claimsire defined and determined separately for eachfgppmduct. For each such produc
Micron Applicable Patent Claim means each claina ®flicron Patent that, absent a license, is [***fiimged by the makir
(including having made), use, Sale, offer for Salénportation of such product, in each case, staadalone basis and not
combination with any other circuits, products omgmnents.

1.60 “Micron JV Partnerineans any Third Party(ies) with whom Micron or achdn Subsidiary owns a joint venture entity th
directly or indirectly at least twentywe percent (25%) owned by Micron or by a MicroabSidiary, and whereby such jc
venture entity is subject to one or more joint veatagreements by and among the joint ventureyeMitron, and at least o
of the other such Third Party(ies) setting forth tihgoing governance and operating relationshigarding such joint ventu
entity.

1.61 “Micron Joint Venturemeans any entity owned by Micron or by a Subsid@rivicron, in combination with one or mc
Micron JV Partners.

1.62 “Micron Patents” means Patents of Micron aatkfts of its Subsidiaries.

1.63 “Micron Product'means any product Sold by Micron or by a Micron Sdiary under a Micron Trademark, and for wi
Micron or any of its Subsidiaries either:

(a) owns or cawns the entire design of such product and aretéreset the price and other terms with respectith produc
and not subject to limitation on how it may use amxgloit such design except for field of use lirtidas agreed at arms-
length with one or more JV Partners; or,

(b) owns, or coewns, only a portion of the entire design of suobdpct with no limitations on how it may use angblex suct
portion and where, with respect to the remainindipa(s) of such design, (i) Micron or any of itat$sidiaries has a licer
from the entity or entities that own(s) such renrmanportion(s) of the design to (A) make (and/owvdanade) suc
remaining portion(s) as embodied in such produdt(@®) Sell such made (or have made) remaining @ot) as embodit
in such product without restriction as to whom Mitrand/or its Subsidiaries may Sell such remairpogion(s) a
embodied in such product and (ii) Micron and/orStssidiaries are free to set the price and o#ivers with respect to su
remaining portion(s) as embodied in such produgt; o

(c) has a license from the entity or entities that @jitlje entire design of such product to (i) makedfer have made) su
product and (ii) Sell such made (or have made) ymwbdithout restriction as to whom Micron and/a& 8ubsidiaries mi
Sell such product and Micron and/or its Subsid@aee free to set the price and other terms withaet to such product.

[*-k*]
1.64 “Micron Trademark” means a trademark, tradeadogo or other indicia of origin of Micron or bMbn Subsidiaries.

1.65 “Net Salesmeans, for a given Quarter and for one or morergpeducts, the gross amount received in such @uadn
Third Parties by Micron and/or by one or more &f 8ubsidiaries for the Sale of such products angsvire the world b
Micron and/or its Subsidiaries, less (a) amourgslited in such Quarter for returns of such prodbygt$hird Parties to Micr¢
and (b) insurance, handling, duty, freight and sawéere such items are separately invoiced to aitifpr by a Third Part
Where a product is transferred by Micron througle @n more Subsidiaries for Sale to a Third Partgf Rales shall |
calculated only on the Sale to such Third Partgepkas otherwise provided herein.

1.66 “New Subsidiaries” has the meaning assigneidinoSection 4.1.

1.67 “Patents” means, with respect to an identifietity, patents and utility models and applicagitimerefor, including,
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without limitation, all continuations, continuatisiinpart and divisionals thereof, in all countries bé tworld that now ¢
hereafter are (a) owned or controlled by such yemtitd/or one or more of its Subsidiaries and/orofberwise licensable
such entity and/or one or more of its Subsidiariesgach case of (a) and (b) where such entitycaraiie or more of i
Subsidiaries have the right to grant the licensellicenses or other rights and covenants of tbpesgranted herein.

1.68 “Qualified Product Line” means a portion diwsiness transferred by a Third Party to a Pargnidcquisition, [***]

1.69 “Quarter’shall mean each successive period of three congeaalendar months (the first of which begins loa Effective
Date).

1.70 “Quarterly Payment” has the meaning ascribexuith term in Section 5.1(b).
1.71 “Quarterly Payment Cap” has the meaning assigm it in Section 5.1(b).
1.72 “Quarterly Payment Cap Increase” has the mgeaagsigned to it in Section 5.2(a).

1.73 “RAM Flash Memory'means a Memory IC that (a) stores bits of dataemuory cells by storing charges within a transi
(b) is capable of retaining, for more than 10 sespmlata stored in such memory cells when theyectaseceive electric
power, (¢) has an Interface which is capable ofsi@rring data in a synchronous fashion relativedth the rising and fallir
edges of a timing signal, such as a clock or stralpel (d) has an Interface over which commandsratipa codes, ar
addresses are transferred primarily by one or rnoeses that are separate from the data bus.

1.74 “Rambus Applicable Patent Clainmege defined and determined separately for eachfspeduct. For each such produc
Rambus Applicable Patent Claim means each claimR®&mbus Patent that, absent a license, is [*ft]Jrnged by the makir
(including having made), use, Sale, offer for Salénportation of such product, in each case, staadalone basis and not
combination with any other circuits, products omgmnents.

1.75 “Rambus Leadership Product” means (a) anygbesi RDRAM®, XDR ™, XDR ™ 2 and/or Mobile XDR™, (b) any othe
Design that implements a Rambus Proprietary Spetifin, and (c) any Rambus Proprietary Specificatiocluding, withot
limitation, the Technical Specifications for RDRARM, XDR ™ , XDR ™ 2 and/or Mobile XDR™ . For clarity, the teri
“Rambus Leadership Produdpecifically excludes any physical embodiment aftsDesign, including any Integrated Cir
or device.

1.76 “Rambus Patents” means Patents of RambugsaSdbsidiaries, in each case other than the Ciehisa

1.77 "“Rambus Proprietary Specificatiomieans any Technical Specification that is firstigiesd and developed (as demonstr
by customary means, including, but not limited émgineering notebooks) by, or on behalf of, Rambusany of it
Subsidiaries, over which Rambus and/or any of ubsliaries has exclusive control and that neitR@mbus nor any of |
Subsidiaries has voluntarily (a) disclosed excepden a confidentiality or nodisclosure agreement or (b) propose:
disclosed to any standards setting organizatioradidition to the foregoing sentence, Rambus PrigpyieSpecification als
includes any Technical Specification exclusivelguiced by Rambus from a Third Party where such fieeh Specificatio
would otherwise meet the definition of a RambuspHeatary Specification had Rambus, and not thevegle Third Party, bet
the original developer and owner of such TechniBpkcification. Notwithstanding the above, a Techihi8pecificatio
developed independently of Rambus by or on belidifioron, by an Industry Standards Setting Bodybgone or more Thil
Parties, shall not be deemed to be a Rambus Payri€pecification, even if it describes similaridentical functions. .
Technical Specification shall not be deemed todeelbped independently of Rambus for purposeseopteceding sentence
the extent such Technical Specification, or anytiporthereof, was developed or derived based oornmdition (i) whicl
Micron, such Industry Standards Setting Body, @hsone or more Third Parties received in confiddnm® Rambus and wi
respect to which Micron, any of its Subsidiarias;ts Industry Standards Setting Body, or such onmane Third Parties,
bound by an obligation of confidentiality or nase to Rambus; (ii) obtained from any other Thiedty?in violation of suc
Third Party’s obligation of confidentiality or narse to Rambus; or (iii) obtained by Micron, anytsfSubsidiaries or any ott
Third Party based on reverse engineering of angiymtothat instantiates a Rambus Proprietary Spadidin.
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1.78 “Related Partiegheans two or more entities (a) who are Affiliaté®we another or (b) who, through contract, arramgye
or agreement, are bound or have otherwise agreedexrise their aggregate beneficial ownershightsigand/or contract
power under any of the circumstances as describddriSection 1.7 with respect to any subject emityrder to Control suc
subject entity.

1.79 “Released Design” means each Design subjeketreleases as provided for under Section 3tReoSettlement Agreement.
1.80 “Released Produdtiieans each product subject to the releases aslptbfar under Section 3.1 of the Settlement Agrewr

1.81 “Resistive RAM"'means a Memory IC that is capable of storing Hitdada in memory cells by changing the resistarfca
storage element, other than a transistor, andpiagbta of retaining, for more than 10 seconds, deeed in such memory ce
when they cease to receive electrical power. ResiRAM shall not include RAM Flash Memory or DRAM.

1.82 “"RLDRAM” means each reducéatency DRAM that is incapable of communicatinghwdany DDR4 DRAM, LPDDR
DRAM, LPDDR4 DRAM, Wide I/O 2.X DRAM, Wide I/O Mol DRAM, Hybrid Memory Cube 1.X DRAM, Hybr
Memory Cube 2.X DRAM, and/or any other DRAM andtt{& is configured to support a read/write addressnode that do
not distinguish row and column addresses, (b) iigored to use a simplified command set that oraitivate/prechart
commands, and (c) is not Sold or specified as bedpgble of operating at a data transfer rate eliogd***].

1.83 “SDR DRAM” means each single data rate DRAM that (a) implesnégm® minimum set of features, parameters,
protocols defined or recommended in any TechnipaicBication published by JEDEC as of the Effectdege, as well as a
JEDEC Minor Updates thereto, for SDR DRAM, (b) ededy capable of communicating with any other Iméggd Circuit il
accordance with substantially all of the mandateyuirements in such Technical Specification, ands(not Sold or specifit
as being capable of operating (i) at a data tramate exceeding [***] or (ii) with data bit widtbther than x4, x8, x16 and
X32.

1.84 “Sell” (including “Sale” and “Soldand other forms) means to sell, lease, or othertvésesfer or dispose of a product, t
Party to a Third Party or by a Subsidiary of a ytota Third Party.

1.85 “SerDes IC” means any Integrated Circuit hgugmcuitry integrated thereon or contained thethat is configured to (a) de-
serialize data received by such Integrated Cirfcorh a different Integrated Circuit and/or (b) séime data originating on su
Integrated Circuit prior to transmitting such dadaa different Integrated Circuit. Notwithstanditige foregoing, any Memo
IC shall be deemed not to be a SerDes IC.

1.86 “Settlement Agreement” has the meaning asdignthe recitals to this Agreement.
1.87 “Subsequent Paid-Up Product” means:

(a) for the Initial Term-Product License Period®*J* and,

(b) for each Term-Product License Renewal Peritd]. [

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any product that stitites a Rambus Leadership Product shall be déeme to be
Subsequent Paid-Up Product.

1.88 “Subsequent Paid-Up Product License” meansghés and licenses granted pursuant to SectibfcR.
1.89 “Subsequent Term-Product License Renewal éehias the meaning assigned to it in Section 7.1(d)

1.90 “Subsidiary'means, with respect to an identified entity, antitgControlled by such identified entity, but orfiyr so long a
such Control exists.

1.91 “Technical Specificationtneans a final specification for an optical, RF,ceieal, mechanical or software product
describes substantially all of the characteristitsuch product necessary for such product to t@erss an example, t
written description of an electrical interface (uding timing and signaling parameters and charesties) for a data bi
connecting two (2) Integrated Circuits would mdet definition of a Technical Specification, prowidthat such interfa
specified all of the signals necessary for such 8as to function.
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1.92 “Term Product'means each Micron Product that is either an Intedr&ircuit (including each Micron Product thata
Memory IC) or a Component (including each MicromdRrct that is a Memory Module), but that is neitaerlnitial Paiddp
Product nor a Subsequent Palg-Product. Notwithstanding the foregoing senterar®g;, product that constitutes a Rarmr
Leadership Product shall be deemed not to be a Peodiuct.

1.93 “Term-Product License” means the rights aoenses granted under Section 2.1(a).

1.94 “Term-Product License Renewal Period” meamsegcally, the Initial TermRroduct License Renewal Period and
Subsequent Term-Product License Renewal Period.

1.95 “Third Party"means with respect to a specified Party, or anysiigry of such specified Party, any entity thah@ the
specified Party or a Subsidiary of such specifiaty?

1.96 “Ultimate Parentimeans with respect to an identified entity, anyitenhat Controls such identified entity and wherect
Controlling entity is not under the Control of anther entity.

1.97 “[***] Acquisition Products” has the meaningsigned to it in Section 5.2(a)(ii).

1.98 “Wide I/O Mobile DRAM”"means each single data rate DRAM that (a) subatgnitnplements the minimum set of featu
parameters, and protocols defined in any Techi@pakification published by JEDEC as of the Effecidate, as well as a
JEDEC Minor Updates thereto, for WIDE 1/O SINGLE DA RATE (WIDE 1/0O SDR), (b) contains features enag
communication with any other Integrated Circuitaocordance with substantially all of the mandat@aguirements in su
Technical Specification, and (c) is not Sold orcsfoed as being capable of operating at a datsstemmate exceeding [***].

1.99 “Wide 1/0 2.X DRAM”means each single data rate DRAM that (a) subatgnimplements the minimum set of featu
parameters, and protocols defined in any Techi@pakification published by JEDEC as of the Efferidate, as well as a
JEDEC Minor Updates thereto, for WIDE I/O DOUBLE DA RATE (WIDE I/O DDR-TBC), (b) contains features enabl
communication with any other Integrated Circuitaiccordance with substantially all of the mandataguirements in su
Technical Specification, and (c) is not Sold orcsfoed as being capable of operating at a datesstesmmate exceeding [***].

2. Grant of Rights

2.1 License to Micron

(a) TermProduct License Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreet, Rambus, on behalf of itself and
Subsidiaries, hereby grants to Micron and, sulie&ection 5.2 below, its Subsidiaries, for eaadpct that falls within tF
definition of a Term Product, a non-exclusive, namsferable, worldwide license, without the righitsublicense, sole
under the Rambus Applicable Patent Claims applkcabkuch Term Product, to make (including haveepadse, Sell, offi
for Sale, transfer from Micron and its Subsidiatiegheir Affiliates, and import such Term Productil the expiration ¢
termination of this license pursuant to Sectior{&).below, provided that such license:

(i) is expressly conditioned upon Rambteteipt of the Initial Payment in accordance witdtti®n 6.2 below or during t
cure period set forth in Section 7.2 below; and,

(if) shall be renewable in accordance with Seciidr{d) below.

(b) Initial PaidUp Product License Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreet, Rambus, on behalf of itself anc
Subsidiaries, hereby grants to Micron and, sulie&ection 5.2 below, its Subsidiaries, for eaadpct that falls within tr
definition of an Initial Paid-Up Product, a non-txive, nontransferable, worldwide license, without the righsublicenst
solely under the Rambus Applicable Patent Claimdiegble to such Initial Paitlp Product, to make (including he
made), use, Sell, offer for Sale, transfer from mdicand its Subsidiaries to their Affiliates, amngpiort such Initial PaidJp
Product until the termination of this license puansuto Section 7.1(b) below, provided that suclerlge, is express
conditioned upon Rambuséceipt, in accordance with Section 6.2 below airgduthe cure period set forth in Section
below, of (i) the Initial Payment and (ii) each @ealy Payment that becomes due on or before tiper&tion Date.

(c) Subsequent Paidp Product LicenseSubiject to the terms and conditions of this Agrest, Rambus, on beh
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of itself and its Subsidiaries, hereby grants tergi and, subject to Section 5.2 below, its Subsiel, for each product tl
falls within the definition of a Subsequent Paid-Bmpduct, a non-exclusive, ntransferable, worldwide license, with:
the right to sublicense, solely under the Rambuglidgble Patent Claims applicable to such Subsddge@idUp Product, t
make (including have made), use, Sell, offer fde Smansfer from Micron and its Subsidiaries teittAffiliates, and impol
such Subsequent Pdi¢p Product until the expiration or termination bistlicense pursuant to Section 7.1(c), providexd
such license, in its entirety and with respectuohsSubsequent Paid-Up Product, is expressly dondd upon Rambus’
receipt, in accordance with Section 6.2 below onrduthe cure period set forth in Section 7.2 belaiv (i) the Initia
Payment and (ii) each Quarterly Payment that besodue on or before the date of the expiration ef TermProduc
License Renewal Period that immediately follows @walifying TermProduct License Renewal Period for such Subse
Paid-Up Product.

2.2 License to RambusSubiject to the terms and conditions of this Agreet, Micron, on behalf of itself and its Subsidia
hereby grants to Rambus and its Subsidiaries aerolusive, nortransferable, worldwide license, without the righ
sublicense, solely under the associated Micron idable Patent Claims to make (including have maa®), Sell, offer for Sa
and import Rambus Leadership Products during thigalliTerm-Product License Period and each Té&moduct Licens
Renewal Period (if any).

2.3 Obligations When Transferring PatenEsach Party agrees that it shall take all actreasonably necessary to ensure tha
Third Party to whom any Patents containing one orerclaims that are licensed hereunder are tramsfeassigned
exclusively licensed or any right to enforce isrjea (including any successor or assignee in isteteereto) is bound
writing to all covenants, licenses and other rigivanted hereunder with respect to such transfeassigned or exclusive
licensed Patents.

2.4 Previously Divested Rambus Patents]

(a) Rambus, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiariepreésents and warrants that Exhibit A sets fortlpatents and pate
applications that have been assigned, between Rtit] the Effective Date, to one or more Third Rarby Rambus and
Subsidiaries.

(b) Rambus, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiariepresents and warrants tl
(i) [**]; and,
(if) such assignment is subject to the followingeoant:
(A) [**]; and,
(B) [
[#+4]

2.5 CRI Representation [***]Rambus represents and warrants that, to the beis¢ &howledge, Micron does not currel
infringe or otherwise need a license under thogerm of CRI that have an effective filing dateliearthan the Effective Dat

[***]
2.6 No Implied or Other Rights and Licenses

(&) The rights and licenses granted herein apply sdielyhose products and activities expressly praviftr under thi
Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deioneand shall not be construed to, constituteratease, forbearan:
forfeiture or other waiver of any rights of eithBarty or their respective Subsidiaries to enfonog af their respecti
intellectual property rights with respect to anyidties undertaken by the other Party, its Sulasids, and/or any ott
Third Party to the extent not expressly grantethade hereunder.

(b) Except as expressly provided for under this Agregnmeo authorization, release, license, covenauwtiogr right is grante
or made, by implication, estoppel, acquiescenceothierwise under this Agreement, to either Partyg, rigspectiv
Subsidiaries, and/or any other Third Party undey patents, utility models, patent or utility modehims, or othe
intellectual property rights now or hereafter owmedontrolled by either Party or their respectBuésidiaries.
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(c) Except as expressly provided for under this Agregmone of the terms of this Agreement shall bented to, and shall r
be construed to, constitute, whether by implicgtestoppel, acquiescence or otherwise, (i) an aatdton by either Part
its Subsidiaries, and/or any Third Party to Sdfierofor Sale and/or import any product (A) in @r fcombination with ar
other element (including, but not limited to anydtion or feature), product or instrumentality;(8) unconditionally fo
use in or for combination with any other elememci@iding, but not limited to any function or fear product c
instrumentality or (ii) a waiver by either Party ity Subsidiaries of any liability for infringemebased on the other Pary’
its respective Subsidiaries, and/or any other TRiadty’s making, use, Sale, offer for Sale and/or impbrny product i
combination with any other element (including, bat limited to, any function or feature), productimstrumentality.

3. [***] and Covenants

3.1 Rambus [***] and Covenants

(@) [***]. Provided that and for so long as Micron aiiid Subsidiaries are not in breach of either thgge®ment or tt
Settlement Agreement, and subject to Sections33%4,and 3.6 below, Rambus, for itself and on Hetfaits Subsidiarie:
agrees that [***].

(b)[***] . Provided that and for so long as Micron and itdbstdiaries are not in breach of either this Agreetror th
Settlement Agreement, and subject to Sections3354,and 3.6 below, Rambus, for itself and on Hebfalts Subsidiarie:
agrees that, [***].

(c) Covenants [***].

(i) Components Provided that and for so long as Micron and itbsidiaries are not in breach of either this Agreeto
the Settlement Agreement and subject to subsetipbelow and Sections 3.4, 3.5, and 3.6 beloaRus, on behalf
itself and its Subsidiaries, covenants, that [***].

(i) ***]. Provided that and for so long as Microand its Subsidiaries are not in breach of eithex Agreement or tt
Settlement Agreement and subject to subsectignbigliow and Sections 3.4, 3.5, and 3.6 below, Ramnbn behalf ¢
itself and its Subsidiaries, covenants that [***].

(iif) Conditions on CovenantsThe foregoing covenants are personal and carmassigned, transferred or delegated tc
Third Party (except as otherwise set forth in $&cf.5 below). For the avoidance of doubt, thegonmeg covenants a
not and shall not be construed to be (A) an awthtidn by Rambus for any Third Party, including artyird Part
customers of Micron or of any of its Subsidiarigs*] (B) a covenant by Rambus that [***].

(d) Benefits Not TransferableThe benefits under Sections 3.1(a), 3.1(b), ahtbBabove are personal and cannot be ass
transferred, or delegated by Micron to any Thirdpa

3.2 Micron [***] .

(a) Designs and Released Desigisovided that Rambus and its Subsidiaries arennoteach of either this Agreement or
Settlement Agreement, and subject to Sections33%4,and 3.6 below, Micron, for itself and on béladlits Subsidiarie:
agrees that [***].

(b) Other Rambus DesignsProvided that Rambus and its Subsidiaries areimditreach of either this Agreement or
Settlement Agreement, and subject to Sections33%4,and 3.6 below, Micron, for itself and on béldlits Subsidiarie:
agrees that, [***].

(c) Benefits Not Transferable The benefits under Sections 3.2(a) and 3.2(byeal@e personal and cannot be assig
transferred, or delegated by Rambus to any ThirtyPa

3.3 No Waiver of Liability. Rambus and Micron each agrees that Sectionsri2i132 above do not grant, and shall nc
construed, argued, or relied upon as grantingrig)iaense, covenant [***] or the like under anyt@at of the other Party (
implication, estoppel or otherwise) or (b) any aske or waiver with respect to any liability, danmge claims for infringeme
of any Patent of the other Party. Furthermore, dafty, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiariesteiy irrevocably [***], al
applicable statutes of limitations shall be tolledon the Effective Date and shall remain tolledilutite expiration c
termination of the Term-Product License. Nothinghis Section 3.3
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shall operate to impact or limit the application3éfU.S.C. § 287.

3.4 Notice of [***] . Notwithstanding the [***] as described above heit Party shall be free during the Initial TeRmduc
License Period and each Tefneduct License Renewal Period (if any) to putdtier Party on notice or otherwise engag
discussions regarding any [***].

3.5 Patent [***]. A Party (and its Subsidiaries) is [***].

3.6 [***] . Nothing in this Agreement or in the Settlementréament shall preclude either Party, during thgalnierm-Produc
License Period and each Term-Product License Rdrgavind (if any), [***].

4. Subsidiaries

4.1 Subsidiaries Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreet (including Sections 4.3 and 5.2 below), thei€ainten
that this Agreement, and the licenses and bengsfitsted herein, shall extend to all of each ParBubsidiaries. The Part
agree that, to the extent they are not already dboeach Party shall ensure that all of its Subs&Bsa(including, withot
limitation, all entities that become Subsidiariéeathe Effective Date (“New Subsidiaries”)) areulmd bythe terms of th
Agreement. Without limiting the foregoing:

(a) Each Party shall ensure that the Patents ¢f Bagv Subsidiary are included within the definitiohthe applicable Party’
Patents; and,

(b) Each Party shall ensure that each New Subsididgusd as applicable, by this Agreem

4.2 Former SubsidiariesAll rights and licenses granted and covenantsemiadany Subsidiary of either Party shall immedi
and automatically terminate upon a Party ceasingadotrol such entity (“Former SubsidiaryHlowever, if a Subsidiary of
Party that holds any Patent that is subject taitites, licenses and covenants granted hereundent®s a Former Subsidie
such rights, licenses and covenants granted by Boher Subsidiary (including every successor gimtitinterest to any su
Patents) shall continue in accordance with thegeshthis Agreement after such entity becomes anEoSubsidiary.

4.3 No Release The releases granted and covenants made und&ettlement Agreement shall not apply to any Acgp
Business of Micron.

4.4 Prior Agreements

(a) Rambus agrees that the Elpida Technology Licengeefgent and the Elpida XDR License Agreement ach &areb
amended such that, from and after the EffectiveeDilpida will be licensed (i) to sell Direct RansbDRAMs and Dire«
Rambus Multichip Modules to Micron, as a Semicotdu€ompany, for resale as an integrated circuithe case of Dire
Rambus DRAMSs, or Direct Rambus Multichip Moduleddi) to make, use and sell Yellowstone Rambus B3Aalone ¢
incorporated into Yellowstone Rambus Multichip My Yellowstone Rambus Boards, and Yellowstone iRen®ysten
to Micron as a Semiconductor Company, for resal®limron to Third Parties, where the meaning of eatthe foregoin
capitalized terms has the meaning ascribed to énBipida Technology License Agreement or the EIpizR Licenst
Agreement, as the case may be.

(b) The Elpida Patent License Agreement shall be dedmédve terminated on September 30, 2013 andhéavoidance
doubt, Elpida shall be licensed hereunder as aidabs of Micron. Notwithstanding Section 7.6 (Siwal) of the Elpidi
Patent License Agreement, the following provisioh¢he Elpida Patent License Agreement are herefrgibated and shi
not survive this termination: Section 5.2 (Quastericense Payment), Section 6 (Payments), and @e&il (DRAN
Revenue).

(c) The Semiconductor Technology License Agreementreditmto by and between Rambus and Micron, effeditarch 24
1997 shall be deemed to have terminated on thectisféeDate, if and to the extent such agreemerstiilsin place an
effective as of the Effective Date.

5. Consideration

5.1 Payments
(a) Initial and Fixed 28th Quarterly Payments
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(i) Micron shall pay to Rambus five-million five-hdred and thirty-three thousand and three-hundnddtairty-four Unitec
States Dollars (US $5,533,334.00; the “Initial Pawyir).

(ii) In lieu of a Quarterly Payment based on NeeSahat occur within the twenty-eighth (28 Quarter of the Initial Term-
Product License Period, Micron shall pay to Ramiousuch Quarter the fixed amount of four-milliaouf-hundred an
sixty-six thousand and six-hundred and sixty-sixtéth States Dollars (US $4,466,666.00; thexed 28th Quarter
Payment”).

(b) Quarterly PaymentsSubject to Section 5.3 below, Micron shall payRembus

(i) an amount equal to sbkenths of a percent (0.6%) of the Net Sales thatdi and each of its Subsidiaries received di
the first twenty-seven (27) Quarters that occuhinithe Initial TermProduct License Period for the Sale worldwid
(A) DRAMSs, (B) DRAM Controllers, (C) SerDes ICs, (Resistive RAMs, and (E) RAM Flash Memories;

(i) an amount equal to sitenths of a percent (0.6%) of the Net Sales thatrdti and each of its Subsidiaries rece
during each Quarter that occurs within the Inifiarm-Product License Renewal Period (if any) for theeSabridwide
of (A) DRAMs, (B) DRAM Controllers, (C) SerDes ICH)) Resistive RAMs, and (E) RAM Flash Memories,eiacl
case of (A) through (E), excluding the Sale of eladtial Paid-Up Product; and,

(ii) an amount equal to sitenths of a percent (0.6%) of the Net Sales thatrdvi and each of its Subsidiaries rece
during each Quarter that occurs within each Sulm@qliermProduct License Renewal Period (if any) for thee
worldwide of (A) DRAMs, (B) DRAM Controllers, (C)&Des ICs, (D) Resistive RAMs, and (E) RAM Flashnueies
in each case of (A) through (E), excluding the Sdld) each Initial Paid-Up Product and (II) ea8hbsequent Paidp
Product for which the Qualifying Term-Product LisenRenewal Period preceded such Subsequent Feyduc
License Renewal Period (each such amount associdtiedhe Sales for a given Quarter set forth )ntirough (iii), ¢
“Quarterly Payment”);

provided that:

(A) each given Quarterly Payment shall not exceedraount of temnillion United States Dollars (US $10,000,000)sast
tensmillion dollar amount may be increased by one orauarterly Payment Cap Increases in accordartbeSeictiol
5.2(a) below (such temillion dollar amount limit, as it may be increasbyg one or more Quarterly Payment ¢
Increases in accordance with Section 5.2(a) betwsv,Quarterly Payment Cap”); and,

(B) the cumulative amount of any four consecutiveat@erly Payments shall not exceed the greatet)dbity-million
United States Dollars (US $40,000,000) or (II) tuen of the four Quarterly Payment Caps (as oneaemmay hav
been increased by one or more Quarterly Paymentri€apases in accordance with Section 5.2(a) betmsdciated wii
each Quarter of such four consecutive Quarterlynfeays, provided that if any Quarterly Payment wcdde, abse
the Quarterly Payment Cap, exceeded the QuartegynEnt Cap, the amount in excess of the Quarterjyniént Ca
that would have otherwise been due shall be aduedd¢h subsequent Quarterly Payment that is lassttie Quarter
Payment Cap (as if such excess was attributat$ales that had occurred in the Quarter associatedsuch subseque
Quarterly Payment).

5.2 Acquired Businesses

(a) Acquisition of Business with [***] Productdf (i) Micron or any of its Subsidiaries complsten Acquisition for whicl
(A) [*]; and,
(B) [**]; and,
(it) [T,

[***] For the avoidance of doubt, [***].

(b) Acquisition of Business with [***] Products [***] If Micron or any of its Subsidiaries completesAgquisitior

[***] Confidential treatment has been requestedtfar bracketed portions. The confidential redactiortion has been omitted and filed separately thiéhSecurities and Exchar
Commission.




for which [***], then:
(0 [™1;

(ii) [***]; and,

(iii) [***].

For absence of doubt, [***].

(c) Acquisition Report and Audit RightsWithin thirty (30) days after the end of each Qea(until all Quarterly Paymer
payable hereunder have been reported and paidhichwone or more Acquisition Dates occurred, Micsirall notify
Rambus in writing of such event and Micrsrdetermination of the associated Quarterly Payr@apt Increase, if any, a
provide Rambus with a written detailed statememts(iitable form) containing all information necegstm calculate suc
Quarterly Payment Cap Increase. Each Quarterly Bay@ap Increase will become effective in the (araidllowing the
Quarter in which the associated Acquisition Datevoed. If, for any reason, Rambus disagrees wittrdvi’s determinatio
of the associated Quarterly Payment Cap IncreaambBRs may conduct an audit pursuant to subseatiobglow. If thi
Parties cannot reach agreement on the determinafitime associated Quarterly Payment Cap Increathenvihirty (30
days following the conclusion of such audit, eitfRarty may, as its sole and exclusive remedy tolvessuch disput
submit such dispute to binding arbitration pursuanthe terms of Section 9.1. Unless and until Plagties resolve su
disagreement, none of the rights, licenses andnamte granted under Sectiéh.1 shall apply to any activity of any st
Acquired Business (“Audited Acquired Business”).

()=
(e)[=].

() =]
5.3 Revenue Attributablg**].

5.4 Rates and Collateral Attack

(a) Given the worldwide scope of this Agreement, th@riaaticality of monitoring by Micron of the moventeof License:
Products through international markets, and thahtites will be issued new patents and/or utility medmntinually ir
various countries throughout the Initial Term-ProdLicense Period and the Tefneduct License Renewal Periods (if ¢
that will be licensed hereunder, it is agreed awbgnized that paying Quarterly Payments basetieworldwide Sales
certain DRAMs, DRAM Controllers, SerDes ICs, RagstRAMs, and RAM Flash Memories at the rates edhfin this
Agreement, is fair and reasonable, representirgjanbe between the concerns and interests of lzotle®and resulting ir
convenience for both Parties.

(b) The Parties acknowledge that it is essential tigit respective obligations under this Agreementédrain and not subje
to collateral attack. Accordingly, each Party agréhat it will not seek, through litigation or ettwvise, to adjust the amol
of payments required under this Agreement, or tmichwdefer or modify their respective obligationsréunder, and tr
Micron shall make the full amount of such paymeetgardless of whether any of the Rambus Patemtstesmined not -
be infringed by any particular Licensed Product, wdrether any court, patent office or other govemiale agenc
determines any Rambus Patent to be invalid or ameedble in any reexamination, action or other @eding, provided th
the foregoing shall not prevent the Parties fromkis®y enforcement of the terms or conditions of tiie Agreement «
taking any action expressly contemplated by thise&gent.

6. Reports; Payments; Records and Audits

6.1 Reports Within thirty (30) days after the end of each @eaand until all Quarterly Payments payable hedeu have be¢
reported and paid, Micron shall furnish to Rambssaéement, in a form acceptable to Rambus, tleatsh

(a)the total revenue and Net Sales, each in UnitegtStaollars, that Micron and each of its Subsidminvoiced or otherwi:
charged during such Quarter for the Sale worldwideRAMs, DRAM Controllers, SerDes ICs,
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Resistive RAMs, and RAM Flash Memories (excludingidl Paid-Up Products and Subsequent RidProducts to tt
extent that they are so excluded under Sectiompal{ove), provided that if no such revenue an&irSales were invoic
or otherwise charged during such Quarter, thatdaall be shown on such statement;

(b)an itemized accounting of the number of DRAMs, DRAB®Ntrollers, SerDes ICs, Resistive RAMs, and RAMSsE
Memories (excluding Initial Paid-Up Products andb$equent Paitbp Products to the extent that they are so excludee
Section 5.1(b) above) Sold worldwide during sucla@ar by Micron and each of its Subsidiaries; and,

(c) an itemized accounting (by associated customeragadciated Technical Specification) of the numiieZuwstom Memor
ICs Sold worldwide during such Quarter by Micrordaach of its Subsidiaries and the total revenubNet Sales, ea
itemized (by associated customer and associatelahicad Specification) and in United States Dolldmst Micron and eau
of its Subsidiaries invoiced or otherwise chargadrdy such Quarter for the Sale worldwide of easthsCustom Memol
IC (excluding Initial Paid-Up Products and SubsequeaidUp Products to the extent that they are so excludede
Section 5.1(b) above), provided that if no sucheneae and/or Net Sales were invoiced or otherwisegell during suc
Quarter, that fact shall be shown on such statement

(d)the associated Quarterly Payment payable theream @ich itemized statement, a “Quarterly ltemBRelts Repory).

6.2 Payments

(a) Micron shall, by electronic transfer, pay tonibaus the Initial Payment by the earlier of (i) teath (10th) day immediate
following the date of the later signature below(igr December 31, 2013. The Initial Payment paidlemthis Agreeme
shall not be, in whole or part, refundable, carad®# or subject to any credit against any amoumtfyding future Quarter
Payments, that are owed under this Agreement, giedvihat, in the case of a material breach ofAgiement by Rambt
Micron may seek monetary compensation for damaggisa@ from such breach.

(b) Within thirty (30) days after the end of eachagter, Micron shall pay to Rambus by electronamsfer, as applicable,
Quarterly Payment or the Fixed 28th Quarterly Paynpayable hereunder for such Quarter. No Quartedyment, i
whole or part, paid under this Agreement shall éirrdable, cancellable or subject to any crediirsgaany amount
including future Quarterly Payments, that are oweder this Agreement, provided that, in the case ofaterial breach
this Agreement by Rambus, Micron may seek monetanypensation for damages arising from such breach.

(c) Each such electronic transfer shall be madéniited States Dollars either directly to or via federal Reserve Bank of ¢
Francisco for credit to the following account op#rer designated in writing by Rambus:

Rambus Inc.

[***]

6.3 Records and Auditswith respect to the Quarterly Payments set foettein, Micron shall keep complete and accurateros
These records shall be retained for a period deadt five (5) years following the date of eachresponding paymel
notwithstanding the termination of this Agreemdaxcept with respect to Quarters in which MicrorQuarterly Payme
equaled or exceeded the Quarterly Payment Cap, Bantirough its designated independent accountinigcensing aud
firm, shall have the right, upon thirty (30) daysior written notice, to initiate an examinationdaaudit, not more than [***
and during normal business hours, of all such dsc@and such other records and accounts as mayirgomtaer recognize
accounting practices, information bearing uponaimmunt of Quarterly Payments payable to RambusruhdeAgreement. |
addition to the results of any such audit, the taundihall be permitted to disclose to Rambus tlogmss of the audit and nr
identify to Rambus any materials required, butfuotished, to complete the audit. Micron shall pdevall reasonable acc
to such applicable information in both electromic dangible form. Micron shall promptly make Rambuwle for any
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underpayments of the Quarterly Payments that adadied by such examination or audit. To the exteitany underpaymel
revealed by such audit exceed [***] percent ([***)%f the total Quarterly Payments due for the pknmder audit, the
Micron shall alsg***] .

6.4 Currency and Late Paymentall payments to Rambus hereunder shall be inddn$tates Dollars. Late payments heret
shall be subject to interest at the gmar United States Government Treasury ConstanuritiatRate, as published by 1
Federal Reserve ( www.federalreserve.yjon the date the amount payable was due, pluspfiveent (5%) (or the maximt
interest rate allowed by applicable law, if low&He amount of interest shall be calculated fromghgment due date to |
date of electronic transfer.

6.5 No Escrow. Payment of amounts due under this Agreement yopanson, firm or entity, other than Rambus, incigg
without limitation, any escrow fund or escrow agemtless agreed to by Rambus or ordered by any oogovernment agen
of competent jurisdiction or arbitration panel, Islsanstitute a material breach of this Agreemémty payment once made
Micron to Rambus shall not be refunded or refunelablMicron for any reason, provided that, in theecof a material bree
of this Agreement by Rambus, Micron may seek magateampensation for damages arising from such breac

7. Term and Termination of Licenses and Agreement

7.1 Term and Renewal of Licenses

(a) TermProduct License The TermProduct License shall, unless earlier terminateacicordance with Section 7.1(e) bel
continue in full force and effect until:

() the Expiration Date if Micron fails to reneweahlerm-Product License for the Initial TefPneduct License Renev
Period in accordance with Section 7.1(d) below; or,

(ii) the expiration of any Term-Product License Bemal Period (if any) in which Micron fails to fughrenew the Term-
Product License in accordance with Section 7.1ét)w.

For avoidance of doubt, the Tefmeduct License shall automatically be renderedf mald, and without effect as if ne\
granted if Micron breaches this Agreement by fgilio pay Rambus the Initial Payment in a timely nearand fails to cu
such failure in accordance with Section 7.2 below.

(b) Initial PaidUp Product LicenseThe Initial Paiddp Product License shall, continue in full forcedaeffect unless and ur
terminated in accordance with Section 7.1(e). Fordance of doubt, the Initial Paldp Product License shall automatic:
be rendered null, void, and without effect as iweregranted if Micron breaches this Agreement binfgto pay Rambt
(A) the Initial Payment in a timely manner and @jch Quarterly Payment that becomes due on orebdier Expiratio
Date in a timely manner and fails to cure suchufaiin accordance with Section 7.2 below.

(c) Subsequent Paidp Product LicenseThe Subsequent Paidpp Product License shall, with respect to eachrg®ebseque
PaidUp Product qualifying as such under Section 1.8(aless earlier terminated in accordance withi&edat.1(e) below
continue in full force and effect until the datetbé expiration of the Initial TerrRroduct License Period, if Micron fails
renew the Term-Product License for the Initial TéPnoduct License Renewal Period in accordance waittiéh 7.1(d
below, and in perpetuity following the date of #aeiration of the Initial TernRroduct License Renewal Period, if Mic
renews the Term-Product License for the Initialmi-€troduct License Renewal Period in accordance vétii@ 7.1(d) ar
Micron has satisfied all of its payment obligatioget forth in this Agreement during such InitialrifieProduct Licens
Renewal Period. The Subsequent Paid-Up Produch&é&ashall, with respect to each given SubsequddtWa Produc
qualifying as such under Section 1.87(b), unleseederminated in accordance with Section 7.16&Jpw, continue in fu
force and effect until:

(i) the date of the expiration of the QualifyingrireProduct License Renewal Period for such Subsedqe@dUp Produci
if Micron fails to renew the Term-Product Licengg &in immediately following Terr®roduct License Renewal Per
in accordance with Section 7.1(d) below; or,

(i) in perpetuity, following the date of the exaiion of the Term-Product License Renewal Periothédiately
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following the Qualifying Term-Product License RerawWeriod for such Subsequent Paid-Product, if Micron renev
the Term-Product License for such an immediatelipfong Term-Product License Renewal Period in accordance
Section 7.1(d) below.

For avoidance of doubt, the Subsequent Paid-Upuetddcense for Subsequent Paig- Products shall automatically
rendered null, void, and without effect as if negeanted if Micron breaches this Agreement by fiigilio pay Rambus t
Initial Payment in accordance with Section 6.2 tedmd fails to cure such failure in accordance Wiittion 7.2 below, al
each Quarterly Payment that becomes due on or éoe¢f@r date of the expiration of the Initial TeRmduct Licens
Renewal Period (if any) in accordance with Sec@ighand fails to cure such failure in accordandé 8ection 7.2 below.

(d) Term-Product License RenewaMicron shall have the option

(i) renew the Term-Product License for a singlee¢hyear renewal term upon the expiration of th&alnTerm-Produc
License Period, in accordance with its terms, am Expiration Date (such renewal term, the “Iniff@rm-Produc
License Renewal Period”); and,

(ii) upon the expiration of the Initial Terfroduct License Renewal Period in accordance watterms, successively ren
the Term-Product License for additional five-yeams (each such five-year period in which the T@momduct Licens
has been renewed by Micron in accordance with ghissection (i), a “Subsequent TeRmduct License Renev
Period”),

provided that, in each case of (i) and (ii), Micrdelivers to Rambus, no later than ninety (90) daysr to, as applicabl
the Expiration Date, the expiration date of theidhiTerm-Product License Renewal Period (if aror),the thensurren
Subsequent Term-Product License Renewal Periaghyff, a written notice of Microg’election to exercise such optiol
renew the Term-Product License for an additiora@plicable, three-year or five-year term.

(e) Effect of Termination of Agreement

(i) Upon any termination of this Agreement thatwscbetween the Effective Date and the Expiratiatelfinclusive of bot
dates), the Term-Product License, the Initial Rfjidkicense, and the Subsequent Paid-Up Licens8udbsequent Paid-
Up Products will each immediately terminate.

(i) Upon any termination of this Agreement thatois during the Initial Ternfrroduct License Renewal Period (if any),
Term-Product License and the Subsequent Paid-Uenke& for Subsequent Paigh Products will each immediatt
terminate.

(iif) Upon any termination of this Agreement thatcars during any Subsequent TelPreduct License Renewal Perioc
any), the Term-Product License and the SubsequedtW Product License for any Subsequent RidProduct fc
which such Subsequent Term-Product License Reneerdd is the Qualifying TerrRroduct License Renewal Per
will each immediately terminate.

7.2 Material Breach Rambus may terminate this Agreement upon notiddigron materially breaches its payment obliga¢
under this Agreement and does not correct or cuch $reach within ninety (90) days after receivingtten notice
complaining thereof. Failure of Micron to pay amgyment due and payable in accordance with the tefrtisis Agreemet
shall constitute a material breach of this AgreemEar the avoidance of doubt, any payments taledccordance with tl
terms of this Agreement shall not be due and paydibting such tolling period.

7.3 Bankruptcy. Either Party may terminate this Agreement effectipon written notice to the other Party if thhestParty i
adjudicated insolvent or bankrupt at the conclusibproceedings initiated by a voluntary or invdlany petition in bankruptc
or any proceeding relating to insolvency, or conims for the benefit of creditors, and such Parhdergoes a Change
Control during or following the pendency of suclbgeedings.

7.4 [***].
7.5 Change of Control

(a) In General [***] in the event of [***] Change of Control, Rabus may, in addition to the rights set fort
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Sections 7.2, 7.3, and 7.4 above, terminate thiedé&gent effective upon written notice thereof tacidn or the releva
successor or assignee in interest. Notwithstanitiedgoregoing, if Rambus receives written noticaswéh Change of Contl
from Micron (or its successor or assignee in irggreo later than ten (10) business days after §ilednge of Contrc
Rambus agrees to negotiate in good faith with suctessor or assignee in interest, for a periaxhefhundred and eigt
(180) days after receipt of such notice, the appibn of this Agreement to such successor’'s ogasss business activiti
prior to terminating this Agreement based on subar@e of Control. Rambugiilure to terminate this Agreement afte
given Change of Control by Micron (or any successoassignee in interest) shall not in any way tliR@mbus’right tc
exercise these rights for any subsequent Chan@ootrol. Termination of this Agreement based onharie of Contr
shall be deemed to be effective immediately padhe effective date of such Change of Control.

(b) ]

7.6 Survival. All payment obligations accruing prior to anynémation of this Agreement shall survive any sustmination. li
addition, the following sections shall survive amednain in full force and effect after any termioatiof this Agreement, b
only to extent relevant to rights, obligations, &f#s, or liabilities that had accrued under suettisns prior to such terminati
of this Agreement: Sectiod (Definitions), Section 2.6 (No Implied or OthergRts and Licenses), Section 3.3 (No Waiv¢
Liability), Section 4.1 (Subsidiaries), Section 4Ebrmer Subsidiaries), Section 4.3 (No ReleasegtiGn 5 (Consideration
Section 6 (Reports; Payments; Records and Audits), this &ecti.6 (Survival), Section 8.2 (Confidentiality), and Seat 9
(Miscellaneous).

8. Confidentiality

8.1 Press Releasd@he Parties intend to issue a press releasd &xitein the Settlement Agreement in the form asdagreed |
the Parties.

8.2 Confidentiality. Each Party agrees that only after the announceneéerenced in Section 8.1 above, each Party $l&
entitled to disclose the general nature of thise&gnent but that the terms and conditions of thieAgent, to the extent 1
already disclosed pursuant to Section 8.1 abowad|, Isé treated as Confidential Information and tigither Party will disclos
such terms or conditions to any Third Party withthe prior written consent of the other Party, jpied, however, that ea
Party may disclose the terms and conditions ofAlgieement:

(a) as required by any court or other governmental |
(b) as otherwise required by e

(c) as otherwise may be required by applicable seearédnd other law and regulation, including to leagad financial adviso
in their capacity of advising a Party in such matt0 long as the disclosing Party shall seek denfial treatment of su
terms and conditions to the extent reasonably plessi

(d)in confidence to legal counsel, accountants, ahdrgirofessional advisors of the Par
(e)in confidence, to banks, investors and other filrapsources and their advisc

(f) during the course of litigation so long as the ldisere of such terms and conditions are restristele same manner a:
the confidential information of other litigating tgres and so long as (A) the restrictions are edidgx in a courentere:
protective order limiting disclosure to outside neel and (B) the disclosing Party informs the ofParty in writing at lea
ten (10) business days in advance of the disclamnlaliscusses the nature and contents of thesgligel, in good faith, wi
the other Party;

(g)in confidence, to a Third Party to whom either Padsigns one or more of its Patents, but solethécextent necessary
inform such Third Party of the encumbrances coethimerein on such Patents;

(h)in confidence, in connection with an actual or pextive merger or acquisition or similar transag,
() in confidence, by Rambus to [***]; ¢

() in confidence, in connection with a Pagyobligation(s) under any most favored nation, iomlar clause, whereby su
Party is contractually obligated to disclose arféraierms given to Third Parties.
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Upon execution of this Agreement, or thereaftemBas, in its discretion, shall be entitled to fileopy of this Agreement w
the United States Securities and Exchange Commissmlong as Rambus seeks confidential treatmfestich agreement
the extent reasonably possible.

9. Miscellaneous

9.1 Dispute ResolutionAny dispute submitted to binding arbitration puast to the terms of this Agreement shall take gla
New York City, NY before one arbitrator, and shb# administered byudicial Arbitration and Mediation Services, |
pursuant to its Streamlined Arbitration Rules amdcBdures.Judgment on the award may be entered in any c@awing
jurisdiction.

9.2 Disclaimers Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be twresl as:
(a)a warranty or representation by either Party aleovalidity, enforceability, and/or scope of angellectual property right

(b)imposing upon either Party any obligation to ingétany suit or action for infringement of any ligetual property right, ¢
to defend any suit or action brought by a ThirdtyPathich challenges or concerns the validity, eoéability or scope of ai
intellectual property rights;

(c) imposing on either Party any obligation to file application or registration with respect to antellectual property righ
or to secure or maintain in force any intellectuaperty rights;

(d)imposing on either Party any obligation to furnisty technical information or knotvew; or

(e)imposing or requiring, whether by implication orhetwise, any support, maintenance or any technolbgjiverabl
obligations on either Party’s or their respectiwdSdiaries’part under this Agreement (and neither Party ngrcirthei
respective Subsidiaries are providing any suppagintenance or technology deliverables under tgieAment).

9.3 Notices. All notices and other communications requiregpermitted hereunder shall be in writing and shal&) mailed b
first class air mail (registered or certified ifadlable), postage prepaid, or otherwise delivergddnd, by messenger, addre:
to the addresses set forth below, or (b) delivénetacsimile to the facsimile number set forth bel&cach Party may char
its address or facsimile number for notices by fgliog a notice to the other Party in the mannerf@eh herein. Such notic
shall be deemed to have been effective when deliver, if delivery is not accomplished by reasors@ne fault or refusal
the addressee, when tendered (which tender, icade of mail, shall be deemed to have occurred ppsting, and in the ce
of facsimile, shall be deemed to have occurred u@orsmission). All notices shall be in English.

If to Rambus:

Rambus Inc.

1050 Enterprise Way, Suite 700
Sunnyvale, California 94089
U.S.A.

Telephone: +1-408-462-8000
Facsimile: +1-408-462-8001
Attention: SVP, Licensing
With copy to: General Counsel

If to Micron:

Micron Technology, Inc.
8000 S. Federal Way

Boise, Idaho 83716-9632
Telephone: 208-368-4500
Facsimile: 208-368-4540
Attention: General Counsel
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9.4 Governing Law & Venue

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by and constrnestcordance with the laws of the State of Delawarthout giving
effect to any choice-of-law or conflict-d¢dw provision or rule (whether of the State of Dedae or any other jurisdictio
that would cause the application of the laws of jamigdiction other than the State of Delaware.

(b) This Agreement is executed in the English languageno translation shall have any legal ef

(c) Any legal action, suit or proceeding arising undarrelating to, this Agreement, shall be broughthie State or Fede
Courts located in the State of Delaware, and eacty Rgrees that any such action, suit or proceeghiay be brought on
in such courts. Each Party further waives any digedo the laying of jurisdiction and venue foryasuch suit, action
proceeding in such courts.

9.5 No Assignment Subject to Section 7.5, this Agreement is perstmahe Parties, and the Agreement and/or anyt rig
obligation hereunder is not transferable, assignadhd/or delegatable whether in conjunction witbthange in ownershi
merger, acquisition, the sale or transfer of atl,sabstantially all or any part of either Pastyor any of their respecti
Subsidiaries business or assets or otherwise, tavllyn by operation of law, reverse triangular geror otherwise, without t
prior written consent of the other Party, which sam may be withheld at the sole discretion of soitfer Party. Any suc
purported or attempted assignment or transferatation of the foregoing shall be deemed a bred¢his Agreement and sh
be null and void. Subject to the foregoing, thisdament shall be binding upon and inure to the fitesfethe Parties and the
permitted successors and assigns. Notwithstantimdoregoing, either Party shall be entitled taj each Party hereby agr
to, assign this Agreement to a successor to alibstantially all of a Partg’assets in a transaction entered into solely dogx
a Party’s place of incorporation.

9.6 No Rule of Strict ConstructionRegardless of which Party may have drafted tlgse@ment or any part thereof, no rul
strict construction shall be applied against eitRarty. For the avoidance of doubt “includes”, fuding”, “included”, anc
other variations of such terms shall be deemea tiollowed by the phrase “without limitation”.

9.7 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held toibealid or unenforceable, the meaning of such miowi shall b
construed, to the extent feasible, so as to retideprovision enforceable, and if no feasible iptetation shall save sL
provision, (a) a suitable and equitable provisiballsbe substituted therefore in order to carry, sotfar as may be valid ¢
enforceable, the intent and purpose of such invalidnenforceable provision, and (b) the remairafethis Agreement shi
remain in full force and effect.

9.8 Entire Agreement This Agreement and the Settlement Agreement erebdtie entire understanding of the Parties
respect to the subject matter hereof, and merdgsrial oral or written communications between theand neither of tt
Parties shall be bound by any conditions, defingjovarranties, understandings, or representatigthsrespect to the subje
matter hereof other than as expressly providedimdi® oral explanation or oral information by @thParty hereto shall al
the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

9.9 Modification; Waiver. No modification or amendment to this Agreement, any waiver of any rights, will be effective usd
assented to in writing by the Party to be charged, the waiver of any breach or default will nohstitute a waiver of at
other right hereunder or any subsequent breackfauld.

9.10 Counterparts This Agreement may be executed in two (2) or mmyenterparts, all of which, taken together, sha
regarded as one and the same instrument.

9.11 Bankruptcy CodeAll rights, licenses, privileges, releases, amdhunities granted under this Agreement shall bengeletc
be, for the purposes of Section 365(n) of the Wn&&ates Bankruptcy Code, as amended (the “Bardyrupode”),licenses ¢
rights to “intellectual propertyas defined under Section 101(35A) of the Bankrufoge. The Parties agree that each c
Parties shall retain and may fully exercise althadir respective rights and elections under thekBaicy Code. The Parti
further agree that, in the event that any procegsiall be instituted by or against a Party seetoragjudicate it as bankrupt
insolvent, or seeking liquidation, winding up, rganization, arrangement, adjustment, protectidiefrer composition of thi
Party or that Partg’ debts under any law relating to bankruptcy, veaty, or reorganization or relief of debtors, eelang a
entry of an order for relief or the appointmentafeceiver, trustee or other similar official foat Party or any substantial f
of its property or if
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a Party hereto shall take any action to authonged the foregoing actions, the other Party shalle the right to retain a
enforce their respective rights under this Agreemen

9.12 Ultimate Parent Entity Each of Micron and Rambus hereby represents aardamts that on the Effective Date it is
Ultimate Parent.

REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK; SIGNATURE PA GE FOLLOWS
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have causesl Agreement to be signed by duly authorizedcef§ o
representatives as of the date first above written.

RAMBUS INC. MICRON TECHNOLOGY, INC.

By: /sl Kevin Donnelly By: /s/ Brian M. Shirley

Name: Kevin Donnelly Name: Brian M. Shirley

Title:  Senior Vice President Title: Vice President of DRAM Solutions
Date: December 9, 2013 Date: December 9, 2013
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EXHIBIT A
ASSIGNED RAMBUS PATENTS (BETWEEN [***] AND THE EFFE CTIVE DATE)

ASSIGNED UNITED STATES PATENTS
[***]
ASSIGNED FOREIGN PATENTS

[***]

[***] Confidential treatment has been requestedtfar bracketed portions. The confidential redactiortion has been omitted and filed separately thiéhSecurities and Exchar
Commission.



Exhibit 10.17

AMENDMENT
TO
SEMICONDUCTOR PATENT LICENSE AGREEMENT

This Amendment (“Amendment”) to the Semiconductatet License Agreement dated January 19, 2010LEJPis
effective as of October 1, 2013 (“Amendment EffeetiDate”) and entered into by and between Rambus Ir
corporation duly organized and existing under thesl of Delaware, U.S.A., having its principal pladfebusiness .
1050 Enterprise Way, Suite 700, Sunnyvale, CA 94QBS.A., (“Rambus”on behalf of itself and its subsidiaries,
Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd., a Korean corpordtawving its principal place of business at San /Bl#wolDong
Hwasung-City, Gyeonggi-Do, Korea, 445-701 (“Samsungn behalf of itself and its subsidiaries. Rambusl
Samsung are each individually a “Party” and coiety the “Parties.”

RECITAL

A. Samsung, Rambus (or Rambssabsidiaries) are parties to various agreementgythat licenses under the pat:
of Rambus and its subsidiaries. Such agreemertglmthe SPLA and the Tamper Resistance Licenseehgent date
January 1, 2009 (“TRLA”") between Samsung and Ciygatphy Research, Inc. (“CRI”).

B. The Parties wish to (1) extend the grant of licamsaer the SPLA to include additional patents oimBas and i
subsidiaries, (2) extend the scope of the liceasmver additional Samsung products, and (3) terekthe duration «
the SPLA for a longer term.

The Parties agree as follows:
TERMS
1. The following shall replace Section 1.17 of the 8Rh its entirety:
“1.17 “Expiration Date” means September 30, 2023.”

2. The following shall replace Section 1.26 of the 8Rh its entirety:

“1.26 “Integrated Circuit’'means a single, discrete integrated circuit cim@ny form factor, including waft
cingulated die, or packaged die, such as, withimitdtion, packaged system-on-chips (SOCs), packegeackage
(POPs), package-in-packages (PIPs), memory cardst sards, and solid-state drives (SSDs).

3. The following shall replace Section 1.34 of the 8Rh its entirety:

“1.34 “Paid-up Product” means each double-data rate DR#&RIuding each graphics-based and Ipawe!
DRAM) that (a) implements the minimum set of featjrparameters, and protocols defined or recomndeimdany
JEDEC published specification for such douttéa rate DRAM, (b) is solely capable of communigatvith any othe
Integrated Circuit through the protocol definedrecommended in such JEDE@Dblished specification, and (c) |
been sold in armkength transactions to Third Parties by Samsungoamhe or more of its Subsidiaries prior to [*4t
a volume of not

less than [***] units, where such units have beelddor a cumulative amount of not less than [*¥hited State
Dollars (US$[***]). Notwithstanding the foregoingeatence, any product that constitutes a Rambuselsiaip Produc
and each physical instantiation thereof, shall dented not to be a Paid-up Product.”

4. The following shall replace Section 1.49 of the 8Rth its entirety:
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“1.49 “Rambus Patentstheans all Patents owned or controlled by Rambufoaiitd Subsidiaries, includil
without limitation (a) all Patents owned or conledl by CRI (as set forth in Section 1.63), andgby and all Pater
acquired by Rambus or its Subsidiaries during tenl in either caseexcluding Patents that are or become licens
Samsung in any way in separate agreements (“EnaechiBatents”)For avoidance of doubt, Samsung shall contin
enjoy all rights and be subject to all obligatiomg;luding payment obligations with respect to auwch Encumbers
Patents, including without limitation the rights {a) terminate the license (if applicable) undechsisepara
agreements, or (b) obtain a license in perpetuitg do change of control (if applicable) under sisdparat
agreements.”

5. The following new sentence shall be added at tleoéiSection 1.63 of the SPLA:

“For avoidance of doubt, Cryptography Research, (f€€RI”) duly organized and existing under the law
Delaware, U.S.A., having its principal place of ibess at 425 Market Street, 11th Floor, San FraociSA 94105 is
Subsidiary of Rambus.”

6. The following new paragraph shall be added at titkaf Section 2.3 of the SPLA:

“Any Rambus Patents transferred, assigned, or exelyslicensed to a Third Party shall be subjec
Samsung’s right to purchase or take a fully paidicgnse for the lives of any such Patents (“Tramsfd Patents”)l'he
parties shall negotiate in good faith regardingphecess by which Rambus Patents shall be offer&htsung and/
any Third Party in advance of any proposed transfer avoidance of doubt, unless Rambus grantates8ng a [***
to any Transferred Patents for the life of suclepts, Rambus may not reject a Samsung offer ofideration either fc
purchase or for license under such TransferrednBathat is greater in value than any offer by &drRarty for th
same Transferred Patents.”

7. The following shall replace Section 4.1 of the SHbAS entirety:

“4.1 In consideration of the extended terms herein, Samshall pay Rambus: (a) twenty two million {
dollars ($22,000,000) by no later than Decembe2813; (b) subject to timely invoices by Rambusspant to Sectic
5.1(a), by the end of each of the following ninet€&9) quarters starting on January 1, 2014, [fiftten million U.S
dollars ($15,000,000) [***]; and (c) further, sulbjeto timely invoices by Rambus pursuant to Sectidi{a), by the er
of each of the subsequent twenty (20) quartersirgjaon October 1, 2018, the [***] Quarterly as $etth in Sectio
1.72. For the avoidance of doubt, payments undetid®e4.1(b) and (c) shall be subject to any ajabie adjustme
under Section 3.3 of the SPLA, and payments undetié 4.1(c) shall be further subject to [***].”

8. The following shall be added as new Sections hi@igh 1.77:

“1.72  “[***] Quarterly”, as determined at any time durirthe Term, shall mean, either: [**for purpose
herein, (i) “[***]Quarterly” means the average quarterly payment [***] under walied License, which shall
deemed to have become effective [***], (ii) “Quadifl License’means an agreement under which Rambus and/
or more of its Subsidiaries grants [***] a licensevering at least [***], and such agreement is @ity in the nature (
a [***] as opposed to being primarily in the natuséa [***], and (iii) “[***]” means either (x) [***] million U.S
dollars ($[***], or (y) [***] million U.S. dollars ($[***] as of the then-applicable quarter.

[***]

“1.73  [**]

“1.74 “Set Products” means all products that are noghatied Circuit made by or for Samsung including
without limitation consumer products such as molhidndsets and high definition televisions; providadt suc

products (a) are sold under a Samsung brand; andiqbld have qualified as Samsung Products if thagt bee
Integrated Circuits.”
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“1.75 “CRI Patents” means all Patents owned or contrde@€RI.”

“1.76 [***] and “Qualified License” shall take the meamyrset forth in Section 1.72.”

“1.77 “Initial Quarterly” means the amount determineckither Subsection 4.1(b)(i) or (ii) herein.”
9. The following shall be added as new Section 2.4{¢)e SPLA:

“2.1(e) Set Product LicenseRambus grants Samsung and its Subsidiaries &xwduasive, nortransferable
worldwide license, without the right to sublicenselely under the CRI Patents, other than EncuncbBaents, f
make (including have made), use, Sell, offer fde Sand/or import the Set Products during the teftihe SPLA.”

10. The following shall be added as new Section 2. thefSPLA:
“2.7  [***]
11. The following shall be added as new Section 3.8{¢)e SPLA:

“Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if Sangwor its Subsidiaries acquires an entity or businés
making, using, selling or importing DRAMs that waret licensed under all necessary rights to the lRePaten
prior to the acquisition, then nothing in the SPIbA the TRLA shall operate to license such DRAMsafthe
acquisition, and Samsung shall promptly notify Rambf such acquisition, and the Parties shall caipen good fait
to amend the SPLA to expand the license theregower such DRAMs, taking into consideration, amotiter factor:
[***]; or (b) making, using, selling or importingrpducts that were not licensed under all necessghys to the CF
Patents, then nothing in the SPLA or the TRLA sloglérate to license such products after the adgunsibut the
Parties shall negotiate in good faith to extend ahyhe existing licenses or granting a new licetseover suc
products, taking into consideration, any additiop@ayment and any other relevant terms and conditioraccount fc
such acquisition.”

12. The following shall be added as new Section 3.tHhefSPLA:
“3.5 [***]

13. The following shall replace Section 5.1(a) of tHeL8 in its entirety:

“5.1(a) Samsung shall pay Rambus each payment set foifedtion 4.1 within ten (10) business days
determined for notices under Section 9.2 of thiseggient) of Samsung’s receipt of Ramhuosgbice therefor. Rambt
during the Term, shall invoice Samsung by no ldtan twenty (20) days prior to the end of each gudor each of tr
payments set forth in Section 4.1(b) and (c).”

14. The following shall be added as new Section 7.3:

“7.3  [**] Audit . Notwithstanding any of the provisions in this &@t 7, Samsung shall have the righ
audit Rambus’ Qualified Licenses with [***] throughmutually acceptable thifgarty accounting or law firm only wi
respect to those provisions in such agreementsaiel¢o determining compliance of [***] provisiorigerein includin
without limitation [***] Quarterly terms;_providediowever, that with respect to any preexisting agreemeoitsagning
confidentiality obligations restricting disclosubgy Rambus, the foregoing shall not require Ramloudigclose suc
agreements, but Rambus shall provide Samsung witkpeesentation and warranty that Rambus’ [*®Larterly
calculation pursuant to Section 1.72 is accurateli@tion to such preexisting agreements. Rambab, s good faith
provide Samsung with timely notices of any futuxeaited Qualified Licenses [***].”

15. Amendment Press ReleaseThe Parties shall issue a mutually acceptablssprelease upon signing |
Amendment.

16. TRLA . The Parties hereby agree that, during the Telinerans of the TRLA shall remain full force andfesft
except that: (a) on account of Section 3.3(e) efSPLA, Section 2.3.5(c) of the TRLA is deemed
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inapplicable during the Term; and (b) on accountSefction 4.1 of the SPLA, all payment and paynmefstec
obligations of Samsung under the TRLA are deemdy $atisfied (including without limitation all siacobligation:
under Sections 2.3.2, 2.3.3, 2.3.4 and 3.1). Fordance of doubt, Samsung retains its right to iteate the TRL/
pursuant to Section 6.2 of the TRLA upon terminatiof the SPLA. Samsung represents that neitheroiit its
Subsidiaries have made, had made, used, soldedffer sale, or imported any products covered lmehsed DP.
Patents (as defined in the TRLA), other than LieehBPA Products (as defined in the TRLA), priotlte Amendmel
Effective Date.

Agreed on behalf of Rambus:

/sl Kevin Donnelly

Name: Kevin Donnelly

Title: Senior Vice President
Date: December 30, 2013

Agreed on behalf of Samsung:

/sl Jay Shim
Name: Jay Shim
Title: Senior Vice President of IP

Date: December 23, 2013
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Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

Rambus Delaware LLC

Rambus Deutschland GmbH (Germany)
Rambus International Ltd.

Rambus K.K. (Japan)

Rambus Ltd. (Grand Cayman Islands, BWI)
Rambus Chip Technologies (India) Private Limited
Rambus Korea, Inc. (Korea)

Rambus France

Cryptography Research, Inc.

Unity Semiconductor Corporation
Kamiyacho IP Holdings

Mozaik Multimedia, Inc.



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No8-33697, 333-38855, 333-67457, 333-
93427, 333-48730, 333-52158, 333-86140, 333-103F8%,115015, 333-124513, 333-146770, 333-159518,183072 and 333-191432) and
Form S-3 (No. 333-174754) of Rambus Inc. of ouorepated February 21, 2014 relating to the codatdid financial statements and the
effectiveness of internal control over financigdoeting, which appears in this Form-1.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
February 21, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) AND RULE 1 5D-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ronald Black, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on FornKl®F Rambus Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dalnare responsible for establishing and maintgjmisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andéav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesjor caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over finaneoégdorting, or caused such internal control oveaditial reporting to be designed undel
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeagisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) ilas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasi's internal control over financial reporting;dan

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)danhave disclosed, based on our most recent ei@uaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that ined management or other employees who have aisagttifole in the registrant’s

internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 21, 2014

By: /s/ Ronald Black
Name: Ronald Black, Ph.D.
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) AND RULE 1 5D-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Satish Rishi, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on FornKl6F Rambus Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opgerstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)danare responsible for establishing and maintgmisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andéav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesjor caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over finaneoggdorting, or caused such internal control oveaditial reporting to be designed undel
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargaadang the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeagisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestegnt's internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) ilas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regastt’s internal control over financial reporting;dan

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dainhave disclosed, based on our most recent e@iuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aism@mtifole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 21, 2014

By: /sl Satish Rishi
Name: Satish Rishi
Title: Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Finan€#icer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ronald Black, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. t8et 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906eo8trbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Annual Report of Rambus Inc. on Form 10-K for tlsedl year ended December 31, 2013, fully compliigls the requirements of Section 13
(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 198&lamended, and that information contained ih susual Report on Form 10-K fairly
presents in all material respects the financiabidwn and results of operations of Rambus Inc.

Date: February 21, 2014

By: /s/ Ronald Black
Name: Ronald Black, Ph.D.
Title:  Chief Executive Officer and President




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Satish Rishi, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 881350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906eoStrbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Annual Report of Rambus Inc. on Form 10-K for tlsedl year ended December 31, 2013, fully compliigls the requirements of Section 13
(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 198lamended, and that information contained ih susual Report on Form 10-K fairly
presents in all material respects the financiabidwn and results of operations of Rambus Inc.

Date: February 21, 2014

By: /sl Satish Rishi
Name: Satish Rishi
Title: Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief FinanCéicer




